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Highlights

Financial highlights

Group revenue Net debt [inclusive of lease obligations)
Adjusted profit/{loss) before tax** Reported profit/{loss) before tax*
Adjusted net cash/{debt) EBITDA to cash conversion®®*

{exclusive of lease obligations)

Statutory diluted EPS* Adjusted diluted EPS*

Qrder book Accident frequency rate

*  Oncontinuing activities.
**  Oncentinuing activities, stated before excemionsl costs and amortisation of acquisition intangibles.
*** Being EBITDA divided by cash inflow from operating activities of continuing operations.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Strategic highlights

- New client relationship with the
Ministry of Justice to provide
nousing services

- Significant capabllities to support the
decarbanisation of the UK's housing
stock Including an end-to-end offer
{or clients, enabling projects (o be
designed, funded, Implemented
and measured

— Good progress in managing the
controlled closure of our
Developmeni activities, releasing
working capital absorbed In that area

- Excellent working capitat
management

— Underlying net debt (before lease
obNgations} at close 1o 2ero

ESG highlights

- Staff deiivered 1,500 local community
projects generating over £29.4m of
soclal value

- Plans 1o eliminate our carbon footprint
by 2030

- Awarded Order of Distinction by the
Royal Soclety for the Prevention of
Accldents (RoSPA)}, having achieved
Gold Award standard In our safety
record for 19 consecutive years

- Recognised as one of the Best
. Big Companies to work for by the
Sunday Times

Reconcdliations between the statutory
figures and the ahernative parformance
measures are reconciled on pages 55 and
56 of the Financial review. The Financlal
review also provides detalled analysis

of the financlal Impact from the
discontinved operations.
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Strategic Report

Specialists in housing solutions

QUR PURPOSE

Working together to heip people and
communities thrive. This is the guiding
principle that defines cur brand and drives

our activities. It is what makes Mears distinctive
and is the starting point for all of our activities.

QUR VISION

To be the eading provider of housing
services and solutions to the affordable
housing market it the UK.

OUR VALUES

Wea value tesmworl,
supporting each other,
sharing ideas and niver
axciuding others.

‘We valus cur customars

and communities, putting

thelr neods at the haart of
everything we do.

Our business at a glance

WHAT WE DO

Mears has s single-minded focus on the howsing market ang delivering
services 1o tha residents of these homes. We operale within the
sffordabie housing sectar, which is an area thai will see continued
Investment given the sigalficant housing shorlage and the rising number
of people who are regarded as statutorly homeless. We are also a key
player in the Net Zero agenda. As the largest provider of repaws and
maintenance o the social housing sector, we are already delivering Net
Zaro housing sotutions with our partners.

OUR SERVICES

Our core services are In the mainténance and managemeril of homes.
ncreasingly we aperate an intelligant approach to maintenance, using
echnoiogy and experience O operate preventative maintenance
programmes that reduce levels of emergency repairs. As negards
managernent, we collect rent and ensure homas are managed and
maintained 10 a decent standard. whilst often providing other welfare
services to the tenants, Qur particular focus is on providing sustainable
alternatives 10 hamelessness, helping reduce the rising problems
created by the housing shortage In the UK.

OUR CUSTOMERS

We work predominsntly with Central Government snd Local
Govemment, in the delivery of housing services. These are typicaity
through tong-term contracts. We equally consider the residents of the
homes that we manage and/or maintaln to e aur customars, and we
take pride in the high levels of customer satisfaction that we achieve,

02

We value Innovation,
being Inventive in our
approach and smpowering
paople to tahs reasonable
action without fear o
dlsarimination.

LONG-TERM DRIVERS

The shonage of housing in the UK has made Invesiment in housing both
a political and an economic priority. The Social Housing White Paper wil
ead to greater focus on tenant engagement and safiety. UK casbon
reduction targets will slso mean that significant further investment In
housing is needed, including the replacement of gas boilers.

We are already seeing rising Investment In our markets and a greater
attention to the quality of geltvery.

Demographic change I5 also a key lang-term driver, given the growing
ang ageing papulation of the UK, This will create opportunity for mare
specighist housing, where management and maintenance senvices can
be effectively combined through a singte partner.

Maars Group PLC Annual Report and Aceounts 2021
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Strategic Report

2021 accreditations

An organisation that actively
promotes support to Armed
Forces Veterans

An organisation that promotes
a safe working environment

ROYAL SOCIETY FOR THE PREVENTION
OF ACCIDENTS

Health and salety is paramount to our business.

In 2021 Mears Group was awardad the RoSPA
Crdey of Distinction alongside fts ¥kh conseaudtive
Sold Award in the internationally renowned
Health and Safety Awards run by ROSPA.

ARMED FORCES COVENANTY —

GOLD AWARD

Mears has sighed up 1o the Armed Forces
Covenant 1o demonstrate our commitment lo
ensure that those who serve or who have
served in the srmed forces, and thelr fames,
are irested fairly,

An organisation that engages

i A
with customers great employer

TPAS CONTRACTOR ACCREDITATION
AND AWARD WINNER

Mears has continuovsly held the TPAS
Conractor accreditation since 2015. tis an
independent evidence-based accreditation
scheme that 3555565 and recognises resident
engagement arangements. Mears is privileged
o have baen awarded the TPAS Award for best
contracior — {enant engagement.

BEST COMPANIES

Mears was named in 2021 as one of the Top 25
large businesses to work for in the Sundasy Times
Best Companies to work for list. Best Companies
recogrises businesses that take workptace
engagement seripusly in orter to build a happier,
healthier workforce. Our listing in the top 25 has
been maintained for 3 years.

An organisation that

: . A diverse and inclusive business
delivers quality

CUSTOMER SERVICE EXCELLENCE
Mears aims to put customers atthe heart of
everything we do. The Customer Service
Excellence accreditation is a practical tool lor
driving customer-focused change.

EW GROQUP INCLUSIVE

CULTURE PLEDGE

Mears is proud to have signed the Ew Group
inciusive Culture Pledge. The Pledge will
focus on keeping the equality #nd diversity
conversation alive in our organisation and how
we continue 1o progress ow diversity and
inclusion agenda and achievements.,

Mears Group PLC Annual Repart and Accounts 2021



An organisation that
champions Social Mobility

SOCIAL MOBILITY INDEX

Mears is listed as a top 75 Social Mobility Employer in the Social
Mobility Index. The index is an important bench-marking Infiative
that ranks Britain's employers on the actions they are taking to
ensure they are upert lo accessmng and progressing talent from
all backgrounds and it showcases progress towards improving
soGial mobility.

A socially responsible business

FTSE4AGOOD

Mears Group s placed in the top 9% of the UK's most socially
responsible businesses in the FTSE4Good Index which recognises
excellent environmental, social and governance {ESG) praciices.

Delivering excellent
customer service

ICS SERVICEMARK

Mears aims 1o pul customers at the heart of everything we do.
The ICS ServiceMark helps organisations undersiand how
effective their customer service strategy i5, and identifies areas
for improvement.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

An organisation that believes good
people make a great business

INVESTORS IN PEOPLE
Mears is proud {0 have long held the lnvestors in People standard.
Investors in People is the industry standard for people management.

Colleagues receive best
in class training

ICS TRAININGMARK

The institute of Customer Service (ICS) TrainlngMark demonstrates
that owr Customer Excellence Tralning (Making 8 Posltive
Dlfference) programmes meet national standards for customer
sarvice, as independently recognised by the ICS.

Backing our essential workers

1CS — SERVICE WITH RESPECT

Mears is proud to support the 1ISC's new 'Service with Respect’
campalign combatting the abuse and anti-social behaviour
experienced by essential workers in customerfacing roles.
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Strategic Report

Chairman’s letter

For much of the last two years,
Mears’ strategy has been to
streamline and refocus its
activities on the core provision
of low capital intensity housing
services to public sector clients
and in doing so to reduce its
indebtedness. This has now
been achieved.

Kieran Murphy
Chairman

06

~

INTRODUCTION

The most obvious theme for 2021 was the
gradual and progressive retum ta normal
warking &cross most of Mears' activitles.

Al the start of the year, a version of lockdown
was siill In place, our repair and maintenance
activittes were restricted and a number of
contracts continued, as they had for much of
2020, to repay our cosls but eliminated the
scope for profit generation. By the half year, -
we had returmed to almost normal operations
and ¢ontractual canditions. Activity continued
to bulid throughout the second half of the
year, with growing work volumes and a more
active bidding process. The resilience of our
markets and our aperations was underined
by the fact that the appearance lale In the year
of the Omicron Covid variant, while creating
soime Oparational chalienges, had very little
Impact on activity ievels, service quatity or
financial performance. We entered 2022 with
a strong trading and financial position, a good
pipeline of work and continued high levels of
customer service.

This resilence in performance owes much

to three factors. The first, and most impaortant,
is the quatity of our stafi. | have seen many
examples of extracrdinary deditation and
resliience in the face of difficult drcumstances
and a determination 1o delivey a good
expetience for customers, not simply to
execuie 3 piece of work. The secand Is the
strength of our customer refationships, fostered
by our beiiefl that excehent customer service
Is the key to effective cooperative working
between chent and provider. Finakly, our
information technology platform has been
integral to the delivery of our high quality,
responsive service, Mears' peopie have much
to be proud of in the way they navigated 2021,

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021



Continuing revenues

£878.4m

(2020; £805.8m}

Adjusted diiuted EPS

18.23p

(Statutory diluted EPS 11.50p)

Mears in 2022 1s a financially strang group
whose business Is to fulfll contracts from UK
Local and Central Govemmment bodies to
provide essential services to customers in
need, No UK company will be entirely immune
1o the consequences of the current
deterioration in the world geopolitical climate,
but Mears’ financlal stability and Increasing
certainty of revenue provides the Group with
strong defensive qualties and confidence In
our sustainable future.

RESULYS

Mears' resuits for the year reflect this pattern
of underlylng activity, with activity and
profitability growing as the year progressed.
Full year revenue from continuing activities
reached £878.4m, very close to that achleved
in 2019 {€881.5m) and a significant increase
on 2020 (£805.8m). Adjusted profit before
tax reached £25.6m (2020: £3.4m loss).

Cash generation throughout the year was
particularly strong, both in the core operations
and in proceeds from realisations in the
rasidual development business. The year end
adjusted net cash balance was £54.6m but,
more importantly, average daity adjusted

net debt for the year was effectively zero.
Underlying cash conversion of over 100% in
the lasl two years, {8s deflned and detailed in
the Finance Review), has, along with strategic
disposals, ransformad the Group's financial
positlon and created the current balance
sheet strength which Mears is determined

to retain into the future,

The value of new contracts bid and secured

in the year was relatively low given the delay
caused by Covid. The Group was pleased to
develop a new Central Government client
relationship with the Ministry of Justice (Mo.J) to
provide housing services, supporting low and
medium risk prisoners upon their release into
Initial accommodation and then providing a
clear pathway to a settled home. Whiie the
initiat value of the contract Is modest, there |s
scope 10 extend the longevity and geographic
coverage of this work as we become femiliar
with the requirements of a new and different
customer base snd a new client.

We were delighted that in early 2022, the
Ministsy of Defence {(MoD) notified Mears that
it had been successful in its bid to continue to
provide housing services to miltary personnel
in the community under the new RLAP, This is
an extremely important client and contract for
the Group, and we 100k forward (¢ continuing
{o provide a very high quality service to our
military customers for a number of years.
Including this successful retention, the
Company’s onder book remains strong

at soma £2.4bn (2020: £2.6bn).

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

DIVIDEND

The Board is proposing a flnal dividend of 5.50
pence per share, bringing the total dividend for
the year to 8.00 pence per share. We are
pleased to have been able 10 reinstate
dividend payments as our trading returned
towards normal during 2021 and it is the
Board's policy tc pay a progressively growing
dividend, keeping cover at between 2x and
2.5x normalised earnings.

STRATEGY

Formuch ofthe last two years, Mears' strategy
has been to streamiine and refocus Its activities
on the core provision of low capital intensity
housing services to public sector cllents and

in dolng so has realised value from non-core
activities to reduce its indebtedness. This has
now been achleved. During the last year, the
Board has invested considerable time in
working with the management team, supported
by external advisers, 10 assess the scope for
the Group's fuiure deveiopment,

The backdrop is encovraging. Demographic
trends are increasing the demand for
affordatie housing and more sophisticated
retirement living solutions. Scclal housing
walting lists remain long and there Is growing
pressure on Local Authorities and Housing
Associations to find, service and maintain
homes to a igh standard. Finally, the
Govemment's commitment to national carbeon
reductlon targats cannot be achieved without
both a very substantial investment in the
quality of the existing housing stock as

well as signilicant changes in the way

houses are heated.

Mears is positioned to benefit from all of these
trends. We expect to use our position as the
market leader In housing maintenance to win
new business at good margin and to
progressively extend our range of services o
cllents. We wili explore ways in which we might
be abie to operate piofitably with private sector
clients. We will grow our capabilities, especially
In relation to the ‘greening’ of housing and,
once effective funding mechanisms are found
10 pay for this work, expect to be a market
leader in this transformation of the country’s
soclal housing stock. We will maintain a strong
financial position and our focus on excellent
cash generation,
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Strategic Report

Chairman’s ietter continued

Cur commtmen to ail of cur stakehoiders wiilt
remain at the forefrant of our development.

We will continue 1o support customers and
communities, both in how we underake our
core wark and in the social vale projects we
suppoart. We wilt invest In our business to
generate incremental opportunity and quality
improvements in the service we cgn provide
customers and chents. Cur commillment to our
slaff's weltare and their personal 8nd coreer
devalopment will also be strengthened. We will
Institule & programme Lo eliminate our own
carbon footprint by 2030. We will maintain
close relationships with our bank lenders,
although our facititjes wift be smafler than in
past years. And we will keep a close eye on the
need o balance retained financial strength for
the Group whh a sieady and growing retum of
value 10 our shareholders.

BOARD DEVELOPMENTS

As foreshadowed in tast year's repart, both Roy
Irwin and Geraint Davies stood down fram the
Board at the 2021 Annual General Meeting
(AGM). The Board Is grateful for thair sesvices.
Al that time, the Boand proposed to add one
new Non-Executive Direcior during 2022,

Much work was undertaken by the
Nomnations Committee 10 identify both what
skils and experience would ba of most value in
recruiling & new direcior and In examinlng our
need far a continued effort Lo reflect sl Board
level the Group's overall commitment to
diversity. This work 1s discussed further in

the Report of the Nominations Committee.
Following an extensive process, the Board
was pleased to announce the appointment of
Angela Lockwood as Its new Non-Executive
Diractar with effect from 1 January 2022.
Angela has held serior rales in the affordable
housing sector for many years and her in-depth
understanding of that community will be of
immeanse veiue to Meers as it continues to
develop its buginess.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH
SHAREMOLDERS

For a number of years, Mears' largest
shareholder was Primestone Capital, which
held over 12% of the Company’s shares.

Over the [ast 12 manths, Primestone
progressively reduced its holding and, by the
end of 2021, it was no longer & shareholder,
Mears' current shareholder base is dominated
by a small number of funds with significant
holdings, most of whom have been substantial
and supportive owners of the Company for
many years.

08

“We will continue to emphasise
the need to support customers

and communities, both in how we
undertake our core work and in the
social value projects we support.”

White day-lo-day dlalogue with sharehoiders
is led by the senior management team, itls
importanit for me as Chairman 1o heve the
opportunity 1 tak with shiareholders from time
to time so that | can undersiand the key issues
which underpin thei support for Mears.

During 2021, 1 hetd discussions on o feast

ona oceasion with most of the largest 15
shareholders in the Group, which allowed
them to quastion me about the position and
prospects for the Group and facliitated my
undersianding of what matters for them in their
cantinuing suppori for the Company. | Intend

10 continue that disiogue. both reactively

and proaciively, through 2022,

ESG

\ referved atrove to the impartance of the
‘carbon zero agenda’ in the future development
of the Mears' husiness. and this is discussed
further in the CEQ's reviaw. Mears is
devaloping its pfan to eliminate its own caron
footprint by 2030. This plan will be closely
monitored by the Board as il is rolled out across
the Group to ensure that the changes we make
are sustainable, affective, and permanent.

Mears' commitment to responsible business
snd the creation of social value Is an intagral
parl of the fabric of the Group, We »re pleased
that It continues to be recagnised by a wide
range of outside observers. We were
delighted to be awarded the Order of
Distinetion by RoSPA (the Royal Society for
the Prevention of Accidenis), having achievad
Gold Award standard in aur safety record for
18 consecutive years. We remain: one of the
Best Big Companies to work for in the annual
sunday Times survey. We have continued to
develop a range of programmes 10 support
staff from apprentices thrgugh 16 middle
managemet in their career development.
Qur commitment to customer service was
reflected in ihe retention of the ICS's
ServiceMark Accreditation for Housing.

Wa remain in the forefront of the development
of good business practice with the production
of our repon on Ethical Procurement and in the
development of our Scottish Business Charter.

Further detalls of cther inttiatives are Inchuded
in the ESG seclon of the Strategic Report,

CONCLUSION AND OUTLOOK

Much has been achleved by Mears over the
last three years tc optimisa its position and
prospects, despite the strong headwinds of
the Covid pandemic for much of that period.
Credit far this must go 10 the management
1eam and the workforce genarally, and Iy

Is 8 pleasure, on behslf of the Board, 1o
acknawledge the hard and effective work
which has been putin over this perod.

We ace confident in our capabilities. our
ability to add value and our capacity to
generate sustainable profitable growth.

Mears Group PLC Annual Repott and Accounts 2021




An interview with the

Chief Executive Officer

There has been so much publicity around
the challenges in the asylum system.

How Is this tkely to impact the business
golng forward?

itis correct to say that there have been major
chalenges this year and our staff have been
brilliant In reacting to very high levels of
demand, often at very short notice. We find
initlal and dispersed accommodiation, on
bahalf of the Home Office across Scotland,
Northern Ireland and parts of the north of
England. At the time of writing this respanse,
there ts no sign of the number of people
requesting asylum decreasing. although we
have assumed that this will start to happen
from the middie of 2022, We wll continye

to focus on providing good quality housing
and to work with other groups o support the
welfare of the Individuals concerned.

“Our staff have
been brilliant
in reacting to
very high levels
of demand,
often at very
short notice.”

What is the situation regarding materials
availability and inflation, as well as the
pressures arlsing from labour shortages?
Waorldwide demand had put pressure on
both the supply and price of some materials.
We are fortunate that all our major cantracts
provide for increases In inflation, but we still
have a duty to mitigate the impact on our
clients. We have close working relationships
with ocur supplers and ensured there Is
good vislbllity of forward demand. There are
some prassures on front line trade roles.

To mitigate this, we have put increased focus
on apprenticeships, invested k1 the Kickstart
Scheme and developed new entry level
roles. Our continued focus on promoting
diversity Is also Important in ensurtng that we
reach out 1o all people in society. The most
important thing ks staff retentton, and it is
obviously helpful that we are recognised as
tieing one of the best large companies to
work for in the UK. We have, however, gone
further, improving lerms and conditions for
staff. in areas such as holidays, flexible
benefits and sick pay.

Covid must still be presenting challenges to
Mears. How are you dealing with them?
Covid has almost become a business-as-
usual chakenge within Mears. By this | mean
staff have been excellent in'sticking 1o
stringen safety procedures and being able to
balance working from home and the office,
sometimes changing at very short notice.
We have tried and tested procedures, and
whilst it is possible that more severe
lockdowns may happen, itis evident that the
work will not disappear, but just get delayed.
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Do you believe that the facus on carbon
reduction is a real oppartunity for Mears?
Without doubl The business is already
winning work in this space and had
developed an end-to-end service capabilily
to support clients' work towards net zero
within their housing stock. | am also excited
by the benefit this work has on reducing
fuel poverly. While being ambitious in our
development planning and specifically in
broadering the skills in ow workforce here,
we are being cautious as regards to the
speed at which clients invest, given sarme
uncenainties with grant funding availabitity.
Owverall, though, this is probably the biggest
opportunity for Mears over the next & years.

What steps are you taking to promote
diversity in Mears?

Ouwr clients are very diverse and 5o Is owr
workiorce. | am pleased that stalf have readily
shared EDi data with us, SO we have a very
good plcture of our workforce, and we
monitor closety how our workforce s
progressing. It's been goad to see significant
growth in the percentage of managers who
sre women in Mears and that the gender pay
gap Is closing. We have an Employee Director
an the main Board and a Deputy Employee
Director, who Is also the disability chamglon
for the Group. Diversity training has taken
place at every level In the Group, including al
the main Board. We have a Social Diversity
and Inclusion Board, with thvee independent
Directors, that reports to the main Board on
the progress the Group Is making,

Dur succession planning procedures, at all
levels, fuly consider diversity aspects and
our ongolng goal to be a |eaderin this fleld.

“Our clients are
very diverse
and so is our
workforce.”

Now the cash position of the Group has
improved so much, do you see a role

for acquisitions?

We don't befieve that any major acquisithons
are likely, We have a very clear strategy with
some good opportunities for organic growth.
We will, of course, continue to have this
pasition under review,
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Strategic Report

Chief Executive Officer’s review

We are trusted partners to our
Local and Central Government
clients, who increasingly recognise
the need for a high quality housing
specialist to help them provide a
wide range of accommodation and
related services to often vulnerable
people within their care.

David Miles
Chief Executive Officer

INTRODUCTION

402t was a strong year for the Group,
characterised by high quaiity cperations and
CuSIOMEs Service, a robust inancial posinon
and trading outperformance. Our track recard
of operatianal excellence underpins everything
we go; from winning new work, attracting and
retaining the best siaff, delivering & strong
and sustainabie financiat performance.

The pandesnic again placed additional
operating challenges this yesr. Prior long-term
Investment in client relationships, our pacple
and systems ensured the business continued
to perform well retative 10 its peers.

We are a rusted partner to our Local ang
Centrat Government clients, who increasingly
recognise the need for a high quality housing
specialist 1o help them provide a wide range of
accommodation ang related services Lo often
vulnerable people within thelr care.

1am keen ta put onrecord s appreciation for
the ongoing dedication and commiment shown

by all staff and the coaperation and suppont
raceived from our dients and cusiomers.

Accident frequency rete

0.19

(2020: D15

Order book

£2.4bn

{2020: 2.6bn)
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GROUP REVIEW

The trading performance of the Group continued to recover strangly over the course of the year as
the financlal impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic receded. The recovety in revenue in the continuing
operatlons to near 2019 tevels in 2021, and the rise in operating margins, especially in the second

half. were very poshive.

Continuing activities

H1 2021 H2 20 2021 2020
Revenue £m £m £m £m
Maintenance-led 2865 2579 544 4 536.9
Management-led 139.5 168.9 308.4 2538
Development 177 79 256 153
Total 4437 4347 878.4 805.8
Operating profit before tox measures:
Statutory operating profitfloss) 97 uw7 244 (6.3)
Adjusted cpersting profitiloss) 156 181 337 6.6
{past-IFRS 16§
Adjusted operating profititoss) 137 15,9 2856 06
{pre-iFRS 16y
Adjusted operating margin 3% ¥y 4 I4% oM
{pre-IFRS 15)
Profit before tax measures
Statutory profit/fless) before tax 56 07 163 {15.2)
Adijusted profit/{loss) before tax? ni u.5 25.6 (3.4)

1. Steiutory operating profitfloss) includes share of profitin associates.
2. Adjusted measures are defined In the Alternative Performance Measures section of the Finance Review,

Group revenues for the yvear were £878.4m
[2020: £805.8m), a 9% increase on the prior
year, driven by elevated volumes across the
Management-led conlracts, repair volumes
returning to pre-pandemic levels within
responshve Maintenance and a goad sell-
through in Devetopment, especially in the
first half of 2021.

Opersting profits and margins continued to
strengthen aver the course of the year as
lockdown restrictions eased, volumes
increased, and the business reverted to its
original commercial mechanisms with clients.
Pre-IFRS 16 adjusted operating profit for the
year wes £29.5m (2020: £0.6m), with pre-IFRS
16 adjusted operating margins recovering from
3.1% in the first half to 3.6% by the second half,

Adjusted profit before tax for the year was
£25.6m (2020: £3.4m loss), benefitting from
the improved trading performance and lower
interest costs given the Group’s much
improved debt position throughout 2021,

OPERATING REVIEW

Maintenance-lsd

Through its portfollo of Maintenance-led
contracts, Mears is responsible for the upkeep,
repair, and maintenance of soclal housing
across the UK, on behalf of around 50 Local
Authorities and Housing Asscclations.

The Group's Mainienance-led contracts saw

an Improving volume and revenue trend during
2021 as restrictions eased and more normalised
trading conditions returned to most branches.
All contracis reverted to their original
commerclial mechanisms,

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

We experienced particularly high volumeas in
reactive maintenance activity in the second
half of 2021 as we worked with cllents and
customers to clear the backlog of lower priority
maintenance jobs that had been delsyed by
lockdowns. Higher Covid-related levels of
sickness in our workforce during 2021, togethar
with some reduction in productivity given
ongoing social-distancing protocols, has
resulted in a highet level of overdue works
orders. Planned maintenance works have been
slower to return to normal levels. However, this
spand Is non-discretionary over the langer
term and we are canfident these works will
return during 2022,

QOur procurement procedures have maant that
we have not experienced significant problems
with material supply. Where lead times have
lengthened, we have managed to plan for this
in our operational delivery. Howewver, as
evidenced across the industry, we have
experlenced input price inflatlon in the periad,
impacting upon both materals and labour.
The Group's custormer contracts inciude
inflationary uplift mechanisms which negate
much of this risk over the medium term,
although there can be timing differences In the
short term. The Mears model has always been
to invest In and retain our own staff as much as
possible, with lesser reliance than peers on
sub-contracted and other short-term labour.
Our emplovee turnover remains ow relative
to the Industry and, accardingly, we are

better protected from the shortages and
accompanying price inflation seen in the
broader construction labour markets.

Management-led

Mears’ Management-led contracis include the
precurement, management, and meintenance
of over 10,000 affordable homes and support
{o the peapie in those homes. Most of the
revenues in this area are genesated through
contracts with Central Gavernment.

Our contracts in this Management-led
calegory performed strongly throughout 2021,
with revenues up 22% year on year. This was
largely driven by the Asylum Accommadation
and Support Contract {AASC) in which we find
initial and dispersed accommodation on
behalf of the Home Office across Scotiand,
Northarn Ireland, and parts of the north of
England. AASC continued to experience
elevated volumes across the entire ssylum
process, with more service users entering

the system than exiting. The process of
supporting these vulnerable people into
dispersed accommodation is continuing.
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Strategic Repott

Chief Executive Officer’s review continued

tam immensely proud of how the Mears AASC
weam and Group Infrastructure have managed
sych high demand (often at short notice)

© and continued to provide good guakty
accommaodation and tengnt support
throughout the year. White volumes remain
elevated at the bme of writing, we anticipate
that numbers within the system will start to
normalise from the middie of 2022,

Mears was swarded a contract with the MoJ
Mo} 1o provide transitional housing services.
and support ta low and medium risk prisoners
upon their release, from initial accommodation
into & settled home. A key aim of this pilot
scheme {s to ensure that no vne keaves prison
without the offer of 8 Go0OC Quality place 1o five
from their first fight in the community, and a
clear pathwey lo a settied long-term home.
This Is a new customer for Mears. We will
provide an integrated service including the
provision of the property, maintenance,
management, and welfare support. The contract
mobilised in July 2021and has ramped up
siawly during the infilal six-months, reaching an
annuaised run-rate value of circa £6m revenue
by the year end. lnitial feedback from the Mo
hag been posifve and discussions continue in
respect of extending both the tenm and
geographic reach of the programme.

Mears was delighted to be awarded the new
RLAP contract, providing & wide range of
housing services 10 1he Dafence infrestruciure
QOrganisation (DIO). The new contract Is far &
periad of up ta $even yesrs and has 4 contract
value In excess of £50m 8 year Under the
contract, Mears wik provide a wide range of
accommodation and propefty servites to
service personnel and their families across the
UK. Services inclikie property search, sefection
and Jeasing, relocation services, tenancy
management, responsive repairs, And
maintenance. The new contract is expected

o commence in April 2022. Mears has been
successfully providing simiar services since
2015 under e predecessor Substinsie Service
Accommodation contract, delivering & high
ievel of service and operational delivery,

which has conurlbuted to this successful re-bid.
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Development

Our few remaining development sites schieved 8 strong sellthrough, particularly m the first half year.
The Group sold S0 units in the year, generating cash and revenues of £25.6m [2020: £15.1m).
The Group anticipates a full &xit from the remaining Development portfolio during 2022

Cevel piots Units
Completed units as at 1 January 2021 49
Units complated during period 7
Units sold duting pedod =0
Completed unlts at 31 December 2021 16
Buiiding In progress at 31 December (in addition to completed units) 26
Net working capital absorbed (31 December 2021) £2m
(2020: £25m)

Energy eHiclency

The Social Housing sector, comprising some
20% of the total number of 28 million dwellings
in the UK, has been tasked by Government to
fead the way in the decarbontsation of the UK's
housing stack, in line with the UX's overall
ciimate change ambitions. Furthermore, rising
levels of fuel poverty as energy prices suge
demane further action on energy efficiency.
Mears has twilt significant capabifities in this
area and Is haavily engaged with its Local
Authority and Housing Associatlon client base
to help them rise 1o these challenges.

An analysis by inside Housing put the
asimated cast of decarbonising the UK's sociat
housing stock 8t £104bn or circa £21.000 per
proparty. While Central Government has not
yet released enough funding for clients to
achieve thelr 2030 targets. there are now
incregsing funding commitments available to
enable progress 1o be made, Apell 2022 wil
see £8C0m relezsed for the English Saclal
Haousing Decarbonisation Fund {SHDF), with
simitar funds existing in devoived nations.

The Warm Homes Front and Energy Company
Ohligation [ECO4) scheme alsa present
significant investment opportunities,

Mears has createt an ent1o-end offer for
cilents, enabling projects to be designed,
funded, imptemented, and measureqd.

Mears has worked coliaborstively with several
chents to design taliored retrofit Solutions and
secure funding through the SHDF. This is

the first tranche of funding from Central
Government, which will be released over

the next 10 years {o improve the energy
performance of social rented homes on the
journey 10 achieve net zero by 2050 In England.
The funding applications were facilitated by
Mears in partnership with Livin Housing, Crawiey
Hames andg Miiton Keynes Coundil. The Group
craated & ‘carpon reduction Yeam' focused on
developing solutions 1o support our exdsting
clients 10 decarhonise their housing stock by
taking a resident fiest approach that is centred
on regucing fuel stress, improving residerts”
quaikty of lile, and improving the condition and
energy performance of clients’ housing stack.

The successful funding awards to date,
combined with cient investment, will dekver
schemes 1o our Milton Keynes Councll, Crawley
Homes and Livin Housing 10 8n aggregete
value of over £15m (including grant funding of
clrca £5m), with works to be completed before
March 2023
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it Is obviously important for dients & Integrate
green Investment with other planned
maintenance work and for this work to be well
maintainad atter instakation. Mears is uniquely
placed to Integrate such projects efficiently Inta
cllents' ongoing maintenance and regeneration
programmes. Crealing energy effickency is not a
one-off piece of work, it will become an ongoing
key part of the management of housing stock.
along with rising standards of buliding ssafety
and tenant engagement. The current Decent
Homes standards revicw can only glve furller
momentum 10 these Improvernerss.

Of course, we have a respansibllity to teke
action an our own direct operations to increase
carbon efficiency and alm to achieve Net Zero
on Scope 1and 2 emissions by 2030, We will
publish our roadmap o this target in 2022,

CUSTOMERS

The Graup conducts over 36,000 ‘Voice of the
Customer’ surveys a year to demonstrate 1o
ourselves and our clients that the highest
standards of customer service are maintained.
These show that the Group's ‘Satisfied with
Service’ and ‘Ukely lo Recommend {NPS)'
scores remalned consistently above 80%

and 60% respectively, throughout the year,
Such scores are substantially above the
benchmark for the'industry across both the
public and private sector, with 35% being

the average. Integral to this performance was
the Mears Contract Management (MCM)
technology platform, which facilitated a
seamless transition to and from remote
working, for both Mears employees and
crucially our clients.

“At a time when competition for
skilled labour is high, it has never
been more important for Mears to
continue its commitment to being
a great place to work for our staff.”

EMPLOYEES

At a time when competition for skilled labour
is high, it has never been more important for
Mears to continue its commitment to being 8
great place to work for ouwr staff. For the third
year running, we have secured our place in the
2021 Sunday Times Best Companles listof top
25 large companies to wark for In the UK, and
encouragingly our score is higher than both
2019 and 2020. Ouwr culture is defined by

our values, as set out in the ‘Red Thread'.

We recognise that thwough great employee
engagement we will achleve commercial and
customer success, A cuiture of investment,
inclusion and development in the workforce
ensured that the Group saw only modest
increases in staff turnover and costs during

the year, despite labour markets tightening
significantly across the sector.

The benefits of this effort can be seeninthe
extraordinary effort and commitment from our
staff during the Covid period, which has had
such a big impact on our operational defivery.
As new apporiunities arise, such as enengy
efficiency, open up, we will have to comtinue
investing in our staff to develop both the
capabllity and capacity of our teams to take
advantage of such opportunities.
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During the year, we have used staff feedback

to further strengthen our workforce propasition,

with the following key initiatives implemented
during the year:

— Improved holiday and sick pay for front
line operatives

= Building the workforce of tomariow,
through investing in apprentices,
supporing the Kickstart programme
and creating new entry level roles o
drive social mobiliily

= Introducing flexible benefits and enabling
a better balance between home and
office working

- Providing excellent communication and
suppon around Covid and maintaining the
highest standards of internal
communication more broadly”

— Incressing investment In staff, through
bespoke training such as cur ‘Emerge’
development programme, for staff loaking

to progress to senior management positions

— Externally appointed Soclal and Diversity
Impact Board and accredited by the
Housing Diversity Network, inciuding
growing the number of women in
management posithons and reducing the
gender pay gap. We will publish our first
‘ethnicity gap' report by the end of 2022

- The development of new low carbon
technology end awareness training to
help transition our staff to these new
opportunity areas

— Providing comprehensive mental health
and wekbaing support, especially given
the difftcult situations many of our staff
face on a day-to-day basis
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Strategic Report

Chief Executive Officer’s review continued

HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group's health and safety record across
the year was exceptlonally good, 8s evidenced
by cur Health and Ssafety Team being gwarded
its 191h Consecutive RoSPA Gold Award and
retaining its place on RoSPA's Order of Merit.

The Health and Safety team workeg closely
with the operational team mobllising the
Minisiry of Justice conract, 10 ensure rabust
govemance policies and procedures were
embedded into contract delivery. i this
regard, the Group's knowledge, expertise, and
experience derived from managing AASC was
hugely beneficial and was a key elemen in the
very successiul deployment of services during
Lhe fatter part of the year.

The ever-increasing importance of data
security IS a key strategic consideration for

the Group and, In this regard, | have recently
widened the role of the Compliance Commiltee
to encompass greater scrutiny of this essential
area mowving forward into 2022, to enhance the
level of information avallable to the main Board.

SOCIAL VALUE AND

RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS

COwr business is founded In Yocal communities
where we deilver \he highest standards of
care to people, thelr hames and thelr lived
enviranment. By caring about the peopke and
communities we work with, we are welcomed
into people’'s homas, are B Yrusted parner o
ow tliems, and an attractive and valued tocal
employer. Despite a challanging year in which
10 engage wih our local communities, the
Group’s staff dekvered over 1,500 local
community projects genecating over £29.4m of
social value. Our AASC stalf dellvered Bptops
ta schools and supported children through
lockdown with setf-isolation packs in 11 differem
languages. Our Key Worker contract teams
cantrbuted over £1tm of social value through
the ‘Reuse’ initlative that donsies and

distributes used furniure 1o those in local need.

We have targeted each employee 1o generate
£5.000 of social vaiue In 2022 and the Mears
Foundation lour in-housa, company/employee
funded charity} 10 award £200.000 in funding
to support kocal projects.
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QRDER BOOK AND PIPELINE

The order ook as at 31 December 2021 stood
at £2.4bn (2020: £2.6bn), reflecting the timing
of contract renewals over the last 12 months
and lower levels of re-tender Activity across the
Industry due to Covid.

Whiist Mears itself enjoyed several shari-term
exiensions. such as at Tower Hamiets, the
Group was also pleased 10 secure important
longer-term exiensions to a few existing
coniracts, notably:

= 85-year contract extension with Orbit
Housing which will see Mears continue 10
provide services, with an annual value of
circa £20m, until at least March 2027,

- & 3-year contract extensian with Livin
Housing, based in Sedgefield, which wi
see Mears continue to provide services,
with an annual value of around £12m per
annum until at least April 2025; and

-= 3% discussed sbove, the Group was

delighied 1o secure work with 8 new
Central Government client, the Mo,

‘We are seeing increasing levels of big
activity and the Group's bid pipeline
currently stands at circa £ibn. The Group
continues to prioritise the retention and
expansion of work within existing cfient
relationships. The reponed pipefine excliudes
the North Lanarkshire Future integrated
Housing Services conract re-tender
estimated at more than £1.0bn, whare the
Group Is well placed, with further feedback
expected during Q2 2022, The Grouwp has
#iso had positive Initial feedback from the
Mol in respect of the CAS 3 temporary
accommodation pilot programme and
discussions cantinue around the potential
extension and expansion of these services,

STRATEGY REVIEW

We are leaders in the affordable housing
market in the UK. Qur services include
responsive rapair, refurbishment, and
regeneration of housing stack, as well as the
procurement and management of temporary
accommadation and tenent support for Local
and Central Governmant clients. The fulure
demand profile for these specialist housing
services remains positive, given the
fundamental shortage and poor quatity

of sffordable tousing in the LK,

In 2021, we completed a S-year strategic plan
for the Group, focused on this atfordable
housing sector, We see apportunities to grow
conststently and sustainably over the medivm
term, given the fokowing market drivers:

- Increased Govarnment investment in the
affordable housing sector given expanding
soclal housing waning ists and renewed
palitical focus on quakty housing pest-Cowd.

- Socia Housing White Paper and
Government policy lowards higher
standards for salety and customer
engagement. Changes in procirement
procedures, post-Brexdt, are afso likely
1o bring advenisges 1o those companies
wha have high focus on soclal vatue and
service quality.

= The commitmeni 1o raise the carbon
efficiency of ait social housing stock
by one EPC band by 2030 presents
significant investment requirements.

We are now starting to see increased
funding come through.

- Increasing Local Authority spend
on lgng-lerm, cost-effective
homelessrass solutions,

= Ongoing demoegraphlc pressure on
the UK housing shorage, particuiary in
Mears’ core competencles of sifordable
rental and specialist retiremeant living.

~ Delivering ESG commitments in line with
the high standards of social responsibility
that are the foundations of cur business.
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Mears will address these market opportunities
through the following measures:

- Leveraging our market-leading position in
housing maintenance to better cross-sellf
upsell our broader houslng services
through more effective cllent planning and
thereby growing our share of wallet with
existing clients.

—  Continuing tn svnive our affardable
rental, temporary accommaodation,
and integrated housing nfier tn meet
increasing market demands.

— Participation in larger, integrated
housing contracts, across Locat and
Central Government.

— Driving greater operational efficiencies
through more centralised administrative
and support services such as qur regional
Hub network.

— Continued digital innovation to increase
the agilty of front line aperatinns whilst
continuing to drive improvements to the
customer experience.

- Opesational consistency across the Group
and driving Improvements where contracts
are underperforming.

Even with the potential post-Covid ecanomic
challenges, Housing is 8 sector that will gain
tvestment to support economic recovery

and to meet longer term challenges, such as
those posed by climate change. There is clear
opportunity to grow both our maintenance-led
and management-led work and indeed we see
8 number of opportunities that will integrate all
of our services. The responsible approach that
we have taken to business through Cowvid, and
from the siart of Mears, has left us well placed
o benefit.

The business continues 1o make Strategic
progress towards the vision to be the UK's
most respected and trusted provider of
housing solutions.

CAPITAL ALLOCATION

Ower the last couple of years, the Group has
significantly reduced lts Indebtedness anc
re-established its cash generative, lease-based
business model. Following this successful
de-gearing process, the Board will continue to
keep under close review Its policy as to the
appropriate allocation of the Group's capital
resowces, Atleast in cumrent market conditions,
itis intended 1o continue to operate the Group
with no more than modest levels of debt.

The Board considers that the Group can
continue to deliver organic growth within that
framewark, with a relatively modest level of
capital expenditure, This business model will
comtinue 1o generate strong free cash flows.

The Board is committed 1o investing in the
business and to innovation, and willl be willing
10 increase cepital investment, espedally In
technology, to develop new digital solutions
both to drive operational efficiency and to
develop business lines. Opportunities may also
arise to complete small strateglc acquisitions,
again particularty of technology or data-criented
businesses, where they ¢an add vaiue to the
development of the Group's business lines,
espedally In carbon reduction. The Group's
current view Is that larger acquisitions are
unfikely to drive shareholder vatue, but the
Group wili retain the flexibility to act where
opportunities arise at short notice. Mears

will continue to promote ils objective of

being the most socially responsible business
working with the public sector and in that
context wauld expect to continue o drive
improvements in payment practices.

Having restored the payment of regular
dividends 10 shareholders, the Board intends
to continue 1o maintain a progressive dividend
policy and would expect to reduce eamings
cover over the relatively short term toward two
umes. The scope to make further distributions
to shareholders, whether by way of share
buybacks or spedal dividends, will be kept
under review as the investment policy
described above unfolds.
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Accident frequency rate

0.19

{2020: 0.15)

Order book

£2.4bn

{2020: 2.6bn)
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Strategic Report

Case study

Repairs and
aintenance

in partnership with North Lanarkshire Council

Mears delivers an allencompassing service
carried aut in partnership with North
Lanarkshire Council, to fully mainiain and repair
every property within the Council's portfolic.

In 2022 we will be bidding for a new contract
with the Council — one of the largest contracts
in our pipeline, which will deliver repairs and
maintenance to evary property within the
Council’s portfalio of 36,700 tenanted
properties and over 1,000 public buildings.

f successiut, the new cantract will significantly
grow our wark volume across the Authority.

16

North Lanarkshire Council and Mears are

Joint pariners in the LLP, ensuring we have
continuad investment In the North Lanarkshire
community for the long term, The twa
organisations are truly integrated, witl a shared
cornmitment to deliver excelient services to
residents, whilst bringing community end
training henefits to the Nonh Lanarkshire
community in @ sustainable way. Contrect KPIs
have baen increased (fom 90% tc 95% as part
of this commitment.

These include the following:

Flexitie warking pauens to address
emergencies - to ensure Mears offers
emengency repairs 7 days per week,
365 days a year with coverage from
8.00am o 10.00pm.

485

employed within North
Lanarkshire contract

Jolnt contact centre — joint working
arrangements between Mears and North
Lanarkshire have delivered efficiencies
ecross the contract and enable closer
warking for both parties.

Van stock review — the strategic review has
minimised down Lime and driven efficiencles.
Vald property appraact — through a jaiol
pre-inspection of all void prorerties, lhe
delivery of matedsls is now automated 1o
site b0 advance of works. This has
minimised travel and down time of tha
team 1o focus on productive instahatien,

INVESTMENT IN NORTH LAMARKSHIRE
Salaries totalling £19m per annum
Locsl procurement of materials totalling
£8m per anmum
Payments of £14m per annum to local
supply chain partners
Training 150 and employing 5
apprentices, schieving a 58%
retention rate on all apprenticeships
Employment of 485 employees within
North Lanarkshire working on the contract

Read more
about new contracts
In our strategy sectlon
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Case study

Changin

Lives

with the Ministry of Justice

Read more
about new contracts
In our strategy section

We have added to our stable of contracts for
housing services 1o Central Government with
our successiul bid 1o win the Ministry of Justice
CAS 3 project. This is one part of a wider £70m
project to reduce reofiending, through the
provision of tempaorary accommoedation.

CAS 3 will accommodate and provide services
to people on probation — this means adult
offenders of all genders who are 18 or above
who have been released as homedess from
prison following a custodial sentence.
Residents will be sccommodated for up to

84 days in Mears managed properties and

will receive suppaort and assistance to enable
a successful move on to thelr own home.,

The MoJ's key requirement is ‘to ensure that no
one leaves prison without the offer of a place 1o

‘Ive, from their first night in the community and

a pathway to settled accommodation’.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

£70m

dedicated to the provision of

temperary accommodation

MEARS HOUSING MANAGEMENT
CHIEF OPERAYING OFFICER

JOMN TAYLOR SAID:

“We knew when bidding for the contract that
we had the necessary skills and expertise

of working with vulnerable people to deliver

a supporting service, Enabling people to
move on with thek Iives is so important to

us. We understand that even the risk of
homelessness ang the instability caused
means that people are more likely 10 reoflend.
Mears is proud {o be part of @ joumey to reduce
the fikelihood of a downward spinal once
people heve served their time and deserve 1o
be rehabilitated.”

The contract will run for 1 year, subject 1o an
option to extend for a further 3 years based on
value for money and positive autcomes, and we
are in the process of bidding for further housing
opportunities with the Ministry of Justice.
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Strategic Report

Case study

Building an
Exemplar Relationship

in outer London — London Borough of Havering

The Lorden Borough of Haveting has
announced Mears as its new repalrs and
maintenance piovider. The Loce! Authority is
3 dynamic organisation with a core ethas of
continyous improgvement and the client has
made i clear thal its intention is 1o build the
highest performing contract thal is seen &8s
the bestin Landon.

With over 12,000 dwellings, the contract builds
oh our existing presence in East London with
our cutrent contract In Redbridge.

CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER

AT MEARS, LUCAS CRITCHLEY,
WELCOMED THE NEW RELATIONSHIP:
“From the outset we have made i clear that we
will work with Havering to make this contract
the best in Loncion and an exemglar for other
councils to folow. Mears will be a safe pair of
hands for residents, and we will bring our
specialist approach to each property.

Mears will start from the beginning with

strong communicaton with residents and

give them every apportunity to feed back

on our performance.

“ pariclarty welcome (he focus On developing
lacal empioyment opporiunities — for both
cwrent residents who are unemployed and
existing local supply chains. We (ook forward

ta meating our new suppliers and to a great
partnership for the future.”

Mears will be a safe pair
of hands for residents,
and we will bring our
specialist approach

to each property.

Lucas Critchley
Chief Operating Qfficer

Mears will bring its {T expertise to the new
pannership Lo ensure the best customer
epproach possible. Customers waiting for
a repalr will he informed by sutornated text
and will have access to a live tracker — our
In-house approach, MCM Live, A key part
of the software (s that It directly finks the
cusiomér with an immediate satisfaction
survey so both Mears and the client can
see how we are parfarming,

Qur social value commitment looks 10 deliver
for the residents of Havering. This includes
cammiiments to careers advice, [ocal
empigytnent, apprenticeships, job mentoring
and suppofl. We aiso have a firm commitment
to use the local supply chain,

Read mare
about new contracls
In Qur strategy section
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Case study

Mears and Livin
Partnership

to give Shildon estate a £6m revamp to address major
issues including fuel poverty and carbon reduction

Mears and Livin have embarked on a muitl-
million-pound preject to regenerate &
housing estate, addrassing fuel paverty
and carbon reduction in County Durham.

Following extensive engagement with tenants,
residents, owners, private landlords and
stakeholders, The Courts an the Jubilee Fields
estate In Shildon will undergo an extensive
transformation that will inciude:

introducing private garden spaces;
providing allocated parking;

converting unwanted flats into
spacious famity homes;

creating an knpraved estate layout; and
energy efficlency.

The Courts will be made more energy-efficient
and economical to heat.

Mears will deliver the £6m scheme between
November 2021 and spring 2023, creating
20 homes for rent and 1S homes for sate,
available In phases.

ALAN BODDY, LIVIN'S CHIEF EXECUTIVE,
SAID: “Owr place making spproach is a proven
way of addressing issues on estates, balancing
investment in existing aad new homes and
addressing community needs and aspirations.

“By listening to our ienants and local residents,
and through working with our trusted partners,
we have designed a £6m scheme that
transforms homes and lives, and creates an
estate that is sustainable and fit for the future.®

As a business, Mears is
committed to generating
zero carbon housing in
the UK and this project
brings us one step cioser
to meeting our target

of zero carbon emissions
by 2030.

Lucas Critchley
Chief Operating Officer

MEARS CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER,
LUCAS CRITCHLEY, SAID: “We are delighted
to be working In partnership with Livin and the
residents of Shildon on a project that wii make
a massive difference to the community.

“As & business, Mears is committed to
generating zera carbon housing in the UK and
this project brings us one step claser to meeting
our target of 2er0 carbon emissions by 2030,

“We are looking forward ta revitatising
the estate to create something special —
samething that everyone can be proud of”

Read more
about decarbonisation
In aur ESG section

Mears Group PLC Annya| Report and Accounts 2021
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Strategic Report

Market drivers

HOUSING MARKET

Affordable housing continues to be an
attrective sector for the longer term, given
the UK housing shertage, decarbonisation
contracts, long social housing waiting tists,
cycles o outsourcing, polficy changes
encouragding more social house buikling
and broader resilence of demand.

Market position

A leading provider of
affordable housing solutions
Inthe UK

A go-to, end-o-end expert
on decarbanising our sociatl
housing stock

A large provider of repairs to
the sffordable housing secter

Pravider of affordable rental
marnagement solutions

A private registered provider of

housing sits within the Group

Leading pasiner 10 both

Central and Locsl Government

20

Political and
economic landscape

The Govemment's facus on
a#chieving Net Zero and » particulsr
focus on housing

The Sacial Hoysing White Paper wilt
be implemented with an increased
focus on tenants and a new Decent.
Hames Standard

Changes to the procusernent framework
in 2022

We face a national! skills gap for new
Net Zero works

Opportunities

Retrofitting and fulure proofing exsting
housing stock

A funther commitment to better repairs
theough the Futwe Homes Programme
and the Soclal Housing Regulation Bill

" 2022

The Procurement White Paper will
hopetully see a more transparent and falr
biciding process which takes Inlo account
SOCIa valwe with more Impact

—

A rellance on plecemeal Government
Tunding for Net Zero which could prevent
owr clients delivening Net Zera plans
whilst maintaining stock in a strategic way
Further Covid restrictions

Maars’ respanse

—

We will continue to deliver 8 mariet-
leading service as a pure-play specialist
in housing solutlons

We are winning more wark with Centrat
Government, with contracts 1o provide
housing provision for three Governmem
depariments

We have developed a clear carbon offer
for our dients, including funding models,
and have already won contracts to aid our
clents’ carbon joumey

Through aur independent Scrutiny Board,
we have gone further then we believe
legisiation will require t6 ensure lenants
have a say In how aur seivice runs

We have remodelied our apprenticeship
approach 1o bring through the next
generation of skills, whilst creating
technical positions for those who bre
retired (o enable them to continye working
withowt 3 longer-term commitment.

We have aiso Deen an active supporter
of the Kickstart programme

Rising levels of homelessness,
asylum claims and hausing need
for the most vuinerable

— The UK is experiencing the highest influx
of refugees and economic migrants ¥
recent history, all of whom have a right
to be haused

- Councils lack funding lo provide thelr
statutory hemelessness duties

— The 5cotland 2040 Housing plan
adopled by the Scottish Government
envisages a role for privale providers
in maeling housing largets

Opportunities

-~ Innovative and rapi¢ solutions needed,
given likely continued slow growth on
new build provision

= Hometessness silll growing, with
cowncils fooking for solutians which
innovate and support

- A growth in the market for housing and
suppor for vuinerable individuals

Risks
— Assotlated reputational risks through
working with the most vutnerable

Mears' response

= We have award winning solutions for
more homelessness and aftiordable
homes, such as our partnership with
the London Borough of Waltham Farest,
which we hope will sea a further tranche
of housing over 2022

~ We nave hecome the leading provider of
cost-efective homelessness solutions

— In 2021 we have further troadened our
fooiprint to areas of specific need
following our successiul bid o the
Ministry of Justice

— Our Housing Associatians Plexus and
Omega now represant the largest Private
Registered Socia! Landiord in the UK

- We gwalt confirmation from the Scotlish
Housing Reguiator that we will be the
{irst private Housing Association in
Scotland, wilh our Shadow Baard
already up and running

— Wa are working weR with the Home
Office to continue housing supply in
the face of increased migration

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021



Demographic change

— The UK's over B5 population
will grow from 1.6 milllon in
2020 to 2.1 million in 2030,
and 3.7 milion by 2050

— Funding for social care
has now been announced
but a White Paper is stilt
to be delivered

- Ofthe UK's care homes,
an estimated 70% are now
aged 20 years or older.
Conversion homes and
even 1990s purpose-built
homes are becoming
increasingly outdated

Qppertunities

- More specialist houslng is
needed to limit escalating
cost to the NHS and
social care

— A growth in the market and
concept of retirement living

— The next generation of over
855 will have many affluent
and high income members
who won't qualify for state
funded care and will also
want 1o pay a prermium
far the best possible
residential care

Mears' rasponse

- We are developing
750 exira care units
in partnership with
Cornwall Council

-  We continue to service our
speclalist housing solutions
such as extra care and
Supported Living

— We have shown that the
cost to the NHS per
person Is over £2,400 when
not in extra care through
comrmissioning independent
data from HousingLin

— All of our services are rated
adequate or betterin
England and Scotiand

Pace of technological
development

— There are rising Government
and customer expectations
that services will be easierto
navigate through technology

— Technology Is playing an
increasing role in all aspects
of service management

Opportunities

«= Our customers will experience

a service which gives them
control over appointments

- Fewer customer complaints
as we introduce rmore easlly
navigable services

Mears’ response

— We have market-leading
technology to reduce
long-lerm ¢osts and enable
us to integrate our services

= We are making use of
seif-service technology in
support of changing
expectations such as MCM
Live and chatbot

— There is a greater use of
customer Insight and
development of bespoke
consultation tools with cur
Volce of Customer
programma

— We will be introducing more
technology 1o improve every
step of the customer journey

The impact of Covid
and Brexit

Supply chains to the UK
are stressed due to Covid
and Brexit

Opportunities

To further demanstrate our
health and safety expertise
and risk management
approach

Further deveiop workforce
engagement

Risks

Loss of work
Rising cost of materials
Sefety challenges

Mears' response

Mears has emerged healthity
from the pandemic,

Qur procedures are tried and
tested and, white it is possible
that there will be interruptions
in work levels, it is ikety thal
any delay work will be
subsequently delivered.

We have strong relationships
with suppliers and a good
understending of demand
levels, enabling us to manage
materlal supply challenges well
We have an excellent
workforce engagement
appraach that gives us the
best possible chance of
recruiting new people as well
as retaining our staff.

While there are Inflationary
pressures, our major contracts
have built-in uplift
mechanisms that limit these
Impacts significantty

Rising customer
expectations

There are rising resident
expectations

The Government focus on
Hevelling up' and a commitment
to the renewal of democracy so
people's voices can be heard
A new Future Homes Standard
is expected in the next 3 years

Opportunities

Customers' quality,
communication and speed
expectations continue to
increase

Stronger tenant voice
demanded by White Paper
Opportunity 1o demonstrate
the core strengths of our
business modael

Our social value impact is the
basis of ow business

Maara' response

We now have 3 sole focus on
housing, having divested
unprofiteble, non-housing
related businesses

We are benchmarking well
against the best across all
industries

We continue 10 support
regulatory change that gives
service users a bigger voice,
as promised in the farthcoming
White Paper

We continue to demonstrate
our approach to outsourcing
proactively

We are working to continuously
improve tenant engagement,
highlighted by accreditation
from TPAS and winning the
Inside Housing Award for
Qutstanding Tenant
Engagament — Contrector

We are continuing to suppart
better communitles in which
service users |ive, with 8 focus
on developing skills for the next
generation and bringing people
back into the workplace

Our commitment ta social value
and teriant engagement
through Your Volce and our
Independent Scrutiny Board
Our social value work remains
at the heart of our business and
is bolstered by the work of the
Mears Foundation

1043y 31931VELS
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Strategic Report

Our value creation model

QUR PURPOSE

Working together 1 help people and communities thrive. This is the guiding principle that defines our brand and drives
aw activities. it is whast makes Mears distinclive and is the starting paint for all of our activities.

QUR VISION

To be the leading provider of housing services and solutions 1o the affordable housing market In the UK.

Key resources and relationships

OUTSTANDING PARTNERSHIPS;
Firmy rooted in Local Government and Housing Associations, we are also

an important pariner for Central Government. Qur end service users are the

recipients of housing services and extra care kving.

A RESPONSIBLE APPROACH:

Creating soclal value is a8 key par! of our business strategy. as this enables
us 10 be seen as a rusted partner by our clients and is an essential part of
building stronger relationships. Our new ESG strategy sets out how we will
continue on our sociafly responsible journey

see pages 33046

EXCEPTIONAL PEOPLE:

Proud to be in the Sunday Times Top 25 Big Companies 1o work for.

We fecagnise our staff as our greatest asset, Mears employees are skilled
in delivering an excellant service whilst showing a strong customar service
ethos and an empathy for our service users.

MARKET-LEADING TECHNOLOGY:
Our performance is bullt on a bedrack of first-class IT platkorms, giving

market-leading capabiiity and driving Innovatian and reslident engagement.

SUPPLY CHAIN PARTNERS:
We choose suppliars who share our values and meet our standards.

We wark closely with suppliers 1o develop Innavative services and intagrate

them with our core Systems.

FINANCIAL STRATEGY:

We ace funded frorn & combination of shareholder funds, retained profits
ang moderate Jevels of bank debt. Qur underlying business has goot
torward visibility, stable margins. strong cash conversion and Iimited capital
requirements. Accardingly, freée cash flow Can predominantly be used 1o
invest further in the business, to maintain low levels of detd and 1o provide
rewrns to capital provigers.

INNOVATION:

The chalienge of debivering senvce improvements at lower cost requires
nnovetive thinking and the use of technoiogy. We cresle and lead nest
praclice in our markels.

22

What we do and how

HOUSING
MANAGEMENT

— Procure, manage and maintain portfolios of
attordable howsing stock

HOUSING
MAINTENANCE

- Regenerate, refurbish and re-purpose stock
— Intelligent maintenance
= Decarbonise homes

SUPPORTING PEOPLE
IN THESE HOMES

~ Tenancy management
«-— Tenant weifare and support

REVENUE GENERATION

Mears’ revenue |s gendsated (rom payments from
Govermnment, Local Authority and Housing Assoclation
clients In respect of its Housing services. Whilst the end
service users are a1 the centre of our business moded,
they do not pay for the service directly. These payments
are made under long-term contracts {average 7 years).

STABLE MARGINS AND GOOD CASH
CONVERSION

We have a lang-standing record of stable profk margins
on contracts ionce mobifised) and converting profit Into
cash, utilising strong financial managemeni combined
with good refaticnships with ciients and the supply chain.
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Value 9

We value our cusiomers
and communities, putting
thelr needs at the heart of
everything we do.

Value 2

We valve teamwork,
supporting each other,
sharing ideas and never
excluding others.

Community outcomes

Create better
places to live

Reduce
homelessness

KEY STATISTICS

>£165m

wages and salaries paid 10
circa 5,400 employees

>Im

service users

>30%

wamen in senior positions

>£160m

taxes paid

Reduce
pressures on the
NHS and the
pubtic purse

improve life
chances for
people

£878m

revenue deljvered to over
100 clients

>200

apprentices

>£2,800

average soclal value
delivered per employee

C. £9m

dividends paid and proposed

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Value 3

Value &4

We value personal We value innovstion, being
responsibllity, seiting consistanlly  inventive in our approach and
high standards for our wark and empowering people (o take
holding oursetves accountable reascnable action withoul fear

for achieving them. or discrimination.

The value we share

SHAREHOLDERS:

Given the public health emergency, in 2020 Mears did
not pay a dividend for the first time In 25 years, as we
believed thal given the over-riding importance of cash
management meant it would be imprudent to declare a
dividend during 2020. In 2021 we were able to restore
the dividend to our shareholders.

GOVERNMENT:

In 202V we paid an aggregate sum in direct and indirect
taxes of €167.4m. In addition, through the services

we pravide (10 the public sector, we are delivering
significant cost savings and better value to Central
Government, Local Authoritles and the NHS.

CUSTOMERS

We maintain homes throughout the UK, undertaking
around 5,000 repairs per day. Mears has extended
Its activitles to provide solutions to resolve the
challenges of homelessness, asylum housing,

Mol ang MoJ Becommodation.

COMMUNITIES

At the heart of Mears lies a strong sense of
responsibility towards improving peaple’s lives.

We cresie opportunities and enable peaple to develop
new skills within some of the most disadvantaged and
marginallsed communities in the UK, Every branch of
Mears makes a soclal value pledge, which focuses on
specific activities to improve Its local community in at
least one of our social value prioritles.

EMPLOYEES

Mears is committed to tralning. We have an extensive
apprenticeship programme and provide a number of
altevnstive training solutions for upskiling employees
and for the professional development of Mears
managers. We are proud to be rated as one ofthe
best 25 large compariles in the UK to work for by

the Sunday Times,
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Strategic Report

Our strategy

The Board has fully
reviewed the strategy
for the business in 2021,

Our vision is to be the
leading provider to the
resilient and growing
affordable housing market
in the UK. A provider that
operates with a strong
sense of social conscience,
tackling issues that matter

to people and communities.

Against this vision, we have tour
strategic prioflties;

Yo be recognised as the most
trusted large private provider
warking with the pubfic sector

Ta have the highes! levels ol
customer service in the
affordable housing sector
where we cpesate

To embrace innavation that
drives positive change such as
digital and carbon reduction

To mairtain and grow & resifient
business with fong-term
partnerships, a strong batance
sheet and cash position, along
with a comsmitted, engaged
woikforce

24

Strategic priorities

To be recognised as the
most trusted large private
provider working with the
public sector

What we achleved

To have the highest levels
of customer service inthe
affordable housing sector
where we operate

What we achleved

- Secured wark with 8 new Central
Govemment department. being the
Ministry of Justice

— Consulted across Scovland and lsunched
a charter as 1o how we will operate
ethicaily in this country. Simitar work
will follow with other nations

2022 priarities

— Through the Cowid pertod, we maintained
our aready high service scores

— Recogaised for the quality of our service
and customer engagement, through
several national awards

— Qur new Independent Customer
Scrutiny Board has published a report
on our performance

- We have faced some chatenges with
Covid refated work backiogs and high
levels of asylum seekers

2022 priorities

— Continue 1o achieve bid win rates
ahead of hisiorical norms

— Launch our new ESG plan with clear
roadmaps towards goal achievement

= Coninue o operate ko the highest
ethicat standards

How we maasure success

~ Manage the challenges assoclated with
high demands beoth from maintenance
and from the asylum system

How we measure Succass

= Extending services with existing clenis
Retaining contracts at sustainable pricing
Winning work with naw chents who share
our values .
— Being seen as a trusted, responsible and
ethical provider to Central Govemment

Risks

- Service user and client feedback

Risks

- Economic pressures on some cients
will mean price witi continue ta grive
decisions on some contracts

Lirk to KPis

= Hising customer expeclation requiring
ever more individual responses

— Shortages in some areas of the labour
market and some delays in materialis
Bvailabikty

Link to XPia

000000

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021



To embrace innovation
that drives positive
change such as digital
and carbon reduction

What wa achleved

To maintain and grow

a resilient business with
long-term partnerships,
a strong balance sheet
and cash position,
along with a committed,
engaged workforce

What we achleved

== The establishment of carbon reduction
capability in house to assist clients

— The conlinued improvements to core
systems, which enable our customers 10
interact in real time with us and 16 report
and track thelr work requests

2022 priorities

Continued to reduce debt

Secured long-term contracts with

both existing and new clients

= Retained our pesition in the Sunday
Times Top 25 Best 8ig Companies list

== Provided a wide range of 100ls to assist

with memal health and wellbeing

2022 priorities

— Establish Mears as leaders in carbon
reduction in Social Housing

«— Expand our sustainable housing solutions
ihat address homelessness, an ageing
population and challenges to the health
and social care system

How we meoasure success

— Continue to improve margins

= Maintain our Sunday Times Best
Companies position

— ' Continue t¢ increase the diversity of our
workforce st all levels

- Maintain focus on employee engagement
and helping tackle the challenges of
wellbeing and mental health

How We malsure success

= Levels of new wark won

Risks

Staff retention leve)

Benchmarking v other organisations
Margin improvements

A happler, healthier and more engaged
workforce based on Best Companies
survey results snd mental health and
wellbeing working group policles

Risks

- There remains same uncertainty as 1o
how fast Central Government funding will
flow through to enable housing landlards
to meet iheir carbon reduction targets

Link te KPIs

— inflationary pressures in some areas
= The importance of diversity and Inclusion
has never been clearer

Link ta KPIs

00006000000
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Strategic Report

Key performance indicators

Non-financiai

CUSTOMER SATISFACTION

in order for customers to recommend us, we must
deltver excellent service, The Group completed over
1.5 million repairs In 2024 and we subsequentty post
inspect araynd 10% of works orders and encourage
tenants o peovide feedback 50 we can deliver further
Service improvements.

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

86%

2071 TARGET

85%
@ Outperiormance

2022 TARGET

86%

CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS

Incidents resulting from poor service result in a complaint
per thousand jobs. We are committed 10 dealing with ail
compiaints on an indiviqual basis,

RESULYS FROM THE YEAR

22%

2021 TARGETY

22%
) onirack

2022 TARGET

21%

EMPLOYEE TURNOVER

Qur employees are fundamentai to meeting our strategic
priorities. We recognise the impornance in atiracting and
retaining skilled staff, and al a time when compedtition for
skilled labour is high, it has never been more Important.
The staff chum figure s calcylaled as the total number
of leavers during the year as a propottion of the
average headcournt.

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

22%

2021 TARGET

26%

@ Outperformanca

2032 TARGET

22%

Business development

NEW CONTRACT SUCCESS

Conmtract success is measwed by the o1l revenues
secured as a proportion of the total value of tenders
submitted. We typicaily tender around £1bn of rew
opportunities each year. The average contract kength is
around six years. in ordér to achieve our organic growth
forecasts, it is important that we Secure Around ¢ne in
three, by value.

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

35%

2021 TARGET

33%
@ Outperformance

2022 TARGET

33%

ORDER BOOK

Our order book provides us good visibility of those
revenues secured for future periods. ft ts helpfyl that

we have long-term coniracts that allow us to plan with
confidence, in the knowledge that we have significant
revenues alkeady contracted. It is also posithve for all our
stekeholders, proviging stability to our supply chain,
funders and, most importantly, for recruiting and
motivating our workforce.

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

£2.4bn

2021 TARGET

£2.4bn

@ Underperformance

2022 TARGET

£2.1bn
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Financial performance

REVENUE GROWTH (CONTINUING ACTIVITIES)
Cur key performance Indicator (KPY) target relates (o 1atal
revenue although it is imponant to also identify the spiit
between organic growth and growth thet has been
delbvered through acquisilions. We believe that organic
growth gives a betier indication of business performance,
heing an 8ggregation of success in new vontract kdaing
and contrect retention. The reduction expected in 2022
reflects an expectation that the elevated revenues
enjoyed in 2021 will norma|ise.

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

+9%

2021 TARGET

+2%
@ Outperformance

2022 TARGET

-5%

ADJUSTED OPERATING MARGIN
(CONTINUING ACTIVITIES)

Operating margin is the KPj used to measure and
understand the profitability of our activities. The
opetating profit measure s taken before exceptional
costs and the amortisation of acquisition intangibles.
The measurs is stated on a pre-IFRS 16 basis, being
the measure thal is utiised within the business and
understood by gur investors and bamkers.

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

+3.4%

2021 TARGET

+3.7%

@ Underperformance

2022 TARGET -

+3.8%

AVERAGE DAILY NET DEBT

[EXCLUDING LEASE QBLIGATIONS)

Good working capltal management remains a cormersione
of the business. The Group's IT systems are designed 10
deal with the challenges of high volume and low value
activities. The Group has made significant progress in this
orea over the last 2 years, and now I0oKS 10 masntain a low
level of debl or even a small net cash balance,

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

£nil

2021 TARGET

£60m

@ Qutperfarmance

2022 TARGET

£nil debt

GROWTH IN NORMALISED DILUTED EPS
Normalised earnings are stated before exceplional costs
and exclude the amortisation of acquisition intangibles
logether with an adjustment to reflect a full tax charge.

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

18.23p

2021 TARGET

18.0p

@ Qutperformance

2022 TARGET

19.5p

Health and safety

©

ACCIDENT FREQUENCY RATE

The heakh, safety and welbeing of our employees s our
primary consideration in the way we do business, Heatlth,
safely and enwironmental risks gre fulty embedded in the
governance structures of the Group. Providing our
employees with a safe working emvironment remains
paramount. Our accident frequency rate (AFR) is
cakuiated as the number of reportable incidents (by both
employees, service users and third parties) divided by the
number of hours worked, multiplied by 100,000,

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

0.19

2021 TARGET

0.24

@ Qutperfarmance

2022 TARGET

0.22
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Strategic Report

Listening to our stakeholders

Stakeholder engagement is central to our strategy.

We are focused on delivering positive outcomes for all our stakeholders

28

Clients

HOW WE ENGAGE

Qur clients are from Cental and Local
Government and Housing Assacistions.
Our model has always been based on
establishing long-term partnerships that
address the significant housing chatlenges
and sohutions to help our cliens.
Transparency end responsibliity are at the
heart of our approach, and we focus on
solutions thal establish sustainable
solutions, rather than quick fixes,

STAKEHOLDER EXPECTATIONS

Our clienls expect  trusted partner that
can contribute 10 wider sector and
stratagic thinking as weh as deliver
Innovative operational soluticns that
improve service and lower long-tecm cost.

Partners now look beyond the contract and

rightly demand good governance, a
responsible financis position and high
levels of social responsibility (¢ be at the
heart of whal we go.

RELEVANCE TO BUSINESS MODEL
AND STRATEGY

We aperate as a trusted long-term pariner
10 the public sector. As partners we have (o
demonstrate that our values complement
their own. We are not Kke many ather
ovlsource organisations, in that both the
focused nature of our services and the
cultural fit with our chents continue 1o
position us 1o win major new contracts, such
as with the Ministry of Justice, and 10 retain
fong-standing contracts irr the way that we
0. We also Iry 10 lead 1he seclor in good
practice, as demonstrated by our thorough
independent scrutiny arrangements which
take the beast of public sector scrutiny.

Tenants and customers

HOW WE ENGAGE

Our “Your Voice” programme engages
tenants via our independent and resident-
lad Sceutiny Board, our customer forums
and owr opline customer network.

We have strengthened our tenant
engagement to ensure that we go above
and beyond requirements suggested in the
Government White Paper. At a local ievel we
have a sysiem to engage cuslomers as
500N as they interacl with Mears, shouid
they wish 10 do s0. This enables usto create
a network of our customers via feedback
and onlfine forurns which can keed into ow
Scrutiny Board to creste a genuinety
resident designed service.

HOW WE ENGAGE OUR BOARD

The Your Voice Independent Scrutiny Board
reports direclly into our PLC Board 10
ensura that its findings anre repocted at the
highest level of cur organisation.

STAKEHQLDER EXPECTATIONS

Our tenants and sarvice usels expect 10 be
part of developing sohutions rather than to
be simply a recipiant. Expectations from
tenants are rightly fising and they should be
seen nol merely as service users but as
consumers who have the right ta levels of
service. The greater requiremems for
complaint handiing and reporting emerging
from the Government White Paper are
something we have slready gone above
and beyond, Meats welcomes any further
regulation fram Government In this area
over 2022.

RELEVANCE TO BUSINESS MODEL
AND STRATEGY

As an organisation with a clear objective 1o
be the leader in terms of customer service,
wherever we operate, this cannot be done
without goeog engagement. Our outstanding
customer service pecformanceis &
1estament 1D OUT SUCEESS.

KEY ISSUES

Clients want us to demonstrale a strong set
of fingncial, culural and community-led
vaiues. We demonstrale an ethical and
transparent approach and bring the best of
private sector innovation in areas such as
technology and access to institutional
finance. We do this whitst maimaining the
spirit of public service delivery whilst putting
customers at the heert of what we do.

QUTCOMES

Our commitmant 10 putling our customers
first was demonstrated by our winning the
TPAS award for best coniractor
engagement with tenants In 2021,

KEY {SSUES

In¢reased requlation is coming in 2022 and
we have spent the Iast year praparing to go
above and beyond, Our customar forum has
hasted the Housing Ombudsman to test
whether the Mears approach is working and
to ensure that we are leading the sector
rAther than responding to future legisiation.

OUTCOMES

- Crealed the Youw Voice scruliny
approach with customers Involved af
every level

= Provided a direct line from the Your
Voice board to the PLC Board - our
resident board members can speak to
ow Non-Exgcutive and Executive Boargd
members directly

-~ Engaged with the Housing Ombudsman
1O ensune our processes ere aiready in
place before legislation is passed

— innovated with our repairs platform
MCM Live. which gives tenants more
Information about when their repair is
due and enables them to change the
time/date without having to call us
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Communities

HOW WE ENGAGE

All of our branches develop their own

local specific sodial value plans which
demonstrate where we will add value to

the community, often over and above any
contract commitmeants. QOur social value
activity target Is £2,500 per employee,
Examples include supporting communities
10 develop green spaces, {0 provide access
tothe inteinet for asylum seekers 5o they do
not suffer from social isolation and to heip
develop the skills of whole communities
through careers advice and support,
training and ultimately through job creation.

HOW WE ENGAGE OUR BOARD

An Executive board membar sits on our
independent Social and Diversity kmpact
Board which is led by independent experts
and helps us to drive our social value
resources to achieve meaningful community
outcomes. The independent board repons
directly into the PLC Board.

Colleagues

HOW WE ENGAGE

We are proud 1o be on the list of the Sunday
Times 25 Bes! Big Companies to work for,
and on the Soclal Mobility Index of the top
75 employers in the UK for our commitment
to social mobility. We have a natlonal
Waorkforce Group that is responsible for
setting the approach to staff engagement
and each jocal branch has a People plan,
which sets out what it will do in each year.
We have an Employee Director who sits on
the Mears Group Board, which also helps
ensure that the views of the workforce are
listened 1o and actioned,

Qur Say What You see survey |s aligned
with the Sunday Times Reslt Companies
portal, providing independent and
anonymous leedback.

We communicate with our colleagues

with the aim to ensure that every single
employes has a right to understand how our
company |s performing. We do this through
regular briefings trom our Executive Board
and through two-way COmmunication.

STAKEHOLDER EXPECTATIONS
Stakeholders expect, giventhelr long-term
commitment, that we cantribute positivety to
the communities In which they live, They want
vs to help local people into work, to upskill
people and to work with them to address local
Issues where we can. This is our continuing
contribution to the Govemment's Leveling Up
egenda, and something we have committed
to for many years.

RELEVANCE TO BUSINESS MODEL
AND STRATEGY

Belng a soclally responsible organisation
with a firm commitment to supporting
communities Is essential 10 being a valued
pariner to our cllents. Estabiishing strong
community inks also heips us attract the
right paople into our workiorce and to
establish Enks with other community-based
crganisations, which can contribute to our
service offer. ’

STAKEHOLDER EXPECTATIONS
Throughout 2021 we have developed

our employee offer to [ntroduce an
Increase in pay and hollday entitlement
for those who earn the least. Our regular
surveying shows that our colleagues want
transparent and regular communication
from the business about how we stand
financially and an honesty In our approach
to any business changes.

Qur staff want to work for an organisation
that values them and the communities #n
which they live. They want an organisation
that treats people fairly and gives them the
opportunity for personal development,

RELEVANCE TO BUSINESS MODEL
AND STRATEGY

Our workforce engagement is built around
the Mears ‘Red Thread' model, which
works 1o establish ihe type snd culture of
workforce that we know wiil lead to both
customer and flnancial success.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

KEY ISSUES

Cost of iiving crisls In the communities
we serve, including fuel stress.
Opportnities to address our sector's
skills gap as & large employer.

Gaovernment has begun to release
tranches of funding for the net zero
carbon challenge and have allocated
funding for retrofitting, for which Mears
is already a successful applicant.

OUTCOMES

— Providing free learmning provision
to our colleagues, ctients and
communities we work in.

— Ensuring we have the right local skills
In place through our apprenticeship
programmes,

— Focusing on playing cur part o tackle
fuel stress and poverty, and doing ow
bit for the nation’s Net Zero targets

KEY ISSUES

Security in the workplace during a ime
of financlal fluctuation. A focus on mental
health, wellbelng, and encouraging hard
to reach groups into our workforce.
Creating a more diverse workforce.

A constant focus on communicating better
and performance management.

QUTCOMES

— We have worked with independent
experts, through our Social and
Diversity impact Board and colleague
engagement to logk at where ocur
sector needs to Improve in rectuiting,
pramoeting and retaining colleagues
from backgrounds who suffer from
discrimination. This has formed our
new proactive policies ta which we
will be held account.

- We have placed a primary focus on
performance management 1o ensure
that our workforce is appraised and
able to develop in the best way for
eachindividual.
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Strategic Report

Section 172 statement

Our duty

Statement by the Directors In performance
of thelr statutory duties in accordance with
Saction 172{1) of the Compantes Act 2008

The Board of Directors of Mears Group PLC
consider, both individually and together, that
they have actad in the way they consider, in
goad faith, would be most Ikely 10 promote the
success of the Company for the benefit of s
mernbers as a whole in the decisions laken
during the year ended 31 December 202V,

The Boerd recognises a wide range of
stakehotder interests and seeks to creste

a culture wherehy decisians are made with
consideration to the wider impact upon the
organisation as wall as financial performance
and strateqic objectives. The Company's
Directors recognise ther legal duties under
Section 372{1) of the Companies Act 2006, to
actin the way that Is most fikely io promote the
success of the Company for the benefit of its
meémbers as a whole whilst alsq having regard
for the interests of employesas. the success

of thekr relationships with supplers and
<customers, the impact of our operations on
the cammunity and the emironment, whilst
maintaimng a reputation for high standards

of business conduct.

30

Non-Execulive Directors and
senor menagement recefve raining
on Directors’ duties 1o ensure
awareness of the Board's respansibilities

Stakeholder engagement
activities recorded, and detail
included in Board papers

y

3

Soclal Valug report reviewed
and approved by Board

Board information

Customer Scrutiny Board:
independently chaired and
working aiongside PLC Board

The Group's culture ensures that
there is preper consideration of
the potential impacts of decisions

Mears Foundation, 8 charitable
trust with an independent
chair, provides regular updates
to the PL.C Bosrd

Board strategic decision

Signiticant focus given
to workforce engagement
and customar service
during Board discussion

5,472 factors considered in the
Board's discussions on stratagy
and in setting the 5-year plan

Board decision

v

Engegement and dialogue
with stakehoiders

v

Follow up actions
with Soard oversight
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Section 172 factor

The likely consequences of any decision on the long term

Annual Report disclosures

Company purpose and vision page 02
Qur value creation model pages 22 and 23
Performance review page 26

The interests of the Group's employees

Performance review page 26

Listening 1o our stakeholders pages 28 and 29
Diversity and inclusion page 38

Social Mobillty page 04

The succeass of our relationships with suppliers
and custoamers

Responsible payment practices page 40
Modern slavery page 40

Sustainabliity pages 33 10 37

Non-financlat information statement page 45

The impact of our operations on the community and
the enviranment

TCFD pages 42 to 45
ESG pages 331045

Maintaining high standards of business conduct

(O A

Anti-bribery and cormuption page 41
Whistleblowing page 41

Modern slavery page 40

Risk management pages 4610 49
Internal controts pages 76 to 81

Acting for the benefit of our members

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

— Listening to our stakeholders pages 28 and 29

Shareholder engagement pages 71and 72
Annual General Meeting page 72, 98 and 169
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Strategic Report

Section 172 statement in action

Promoting the success of the Company

Stakeholder engagement is central

to our strategy. Our key stakeholder
groups are detailed on pages 28 ang 29.
The Basrd is mindful ihat it Is nat slways
possible 1o provide 2 positive oulcome
for all stakeholders and the Board
sometimes has to make decisions based
on competing prorilles of stakeholders.

The differing inlerests of stakeholders are
considerad in the business decisions we
make a5 3 company, at all levels, and are
reinforced Yy our Board setting the tone right
from the 1op. All of the Board's significant
decisions are subject lo an $172 evaluation
to identify the likely consequences of any
decision In the long term and the impact of
our dedsion on aur stakeholders.

Qutcomaes and impacts for our

workforce, cllents and communities

The Mears S-year plan addresses the most
Important socia! and business questions of our
generation, We alm o create 8 more diverse,
soclally responsible, safe and grean envirgnment
in which to serve our clients’ needs and for our
own workfarce to benefit from. Through the
Board's decisions, we have created a plan which
embeds Mears &s a great place (0 work, with the
right facus on skills and communlljes; i has also
led to the direci award of three energy Coniracis
with our clients to decarborise homes thanks ta
the investment in our sustainability tearmn.

Examples of dacisions taken by the Board and how stakeholder views and inputs, as well as

Qutcomes and impacts for our
workforce, cllents and communities
Through daily direction and dialogue with
aur workfarce and cllents, Mears was abte
o weather the pandemic by supporling
emergency works to homes which people
were not able lo leave. We were able 10
continually update financial and weltbeing
support for our workforce and ta build on
ourn health and safety expertise through out
Partners in Salety Programme. This enabled
us to continue to repalr the homes of our
mostvulnarable sanvice users whilst assuring
them and our employees of their safety.

Stakeholder groups

S Service Users
£ Employeces

1 Investors

1 Community
D Debt Funders
€2 Customers,

G Govenment

other 5472 considerations, have been d in its decision making are set out below:
Stakehokier
Board considerations group
= The plan will deliver growth in prafit and value for shareholders 1
Approval of 5-yearplan, ™ The plan commits 1o invest in our worklorce, improving the qualily and capabtity of staff, E
The visionunderpinning the . The plan looks for the Group lo be more diverse at every level of the organisation. E
plan is 1o ba the ieading )
provider o the resillent and - The plan aspires 1o be recognised as the most socially responsible business working with CLES
grawing affqrdable housing the public sector, meintaining the highest standards of governance, customer and client
market in the UK. A provider engagement, and worklorce safety.
that operates with a strong - The plan commitied to being leaders in carbon reduction within Social Housing, whitst C\E
sense of sacisl conscience, focusing on developing a stronger climate change response with our ambition to be carbon
tackiing lssues that matier to nautra! by 2030,
people and communities. ' |
- The plan commits o invest further in digital platforms, embracing new technologies that can C2,8,E
enhance operational performance, both internally 10 Mears and in the home environment.
- Daity communications throughout lockdawn. E
- Decision taken to furlough colleagues: howevear, lop-up mechanism introduced to ensure 1,D,E
lawes! paid staff were not financially disadvantaged.
— Rapid provision af additional mobile technology 1o enable pecple 1o waork from home. E
Covid-19 crisls — Topping up salaries of stafi required to Setf-isolate and hardship fund for staff in finandial difficulty. E
management. = Putting heatth and safety first at 21 times, Inchuding agreeing with clients to focus on EC.S
As the Covid-19 pandemic emergency and essential works ordy.
unfolded. the Board = Rapid respanse to PPE shorlage, enabling Mears o secure stocks when many others did not. EC
increased its interactions '
maintain continual dialogue — Voluntary repayment of furlough received In 2021 G
on the patential impact to = Canceliation of the final dividend far 2018 and subsequently reinsiating the intesim dividend (o8 ]

coliltagues, chents, service
users and shareholders.
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ESG

“Our ambition is to become the most
socially responsible business in the
housing sector by 2025.”

David Miles
Chief Executive Officer

ESG COMMITMENT -~ PUTT|NG OUR
CLIENTS FIRST

Through our approach, we will put gur
clients fwst, working in partnership 1o
achieve our comblned ESG ambitions,

To achieve this we will focus on:

= Haalthy Planet — our ransition to
nel zero, by decarbanising homes,
reducing emissions across the
Mears Group and making a positive
contribution to our planet

-~ |mproving Lives ~ making 8 positive
differance by delivering great service
safely, giving something back and
treating everyone faidy and equaity,
specific to their needs

- Good Governance — running gur
business in the most ethical and
transparent way, operating fopust
governance processes Covering:
ethics, risk, {T, procurement and
partnership working

DIVERSITY
Womaen on the Board

B Male

3 Female

(2020: 2 female, 3 male)

By everyone working together and delivering
our ESG ambitions, we will maintain strong
business credentials and demonstrate our
commitment to always doing the right thing.
Successful delivery means, by 2025, we

will have:

— enhanced our ESG reputation ang
articulated a clear story to the CRy, our
investors, clients, customers and partners;

— aitracted new investors 1o our business;

- retained all agreed ESG related
accreditations;

- cChampioned external themes that
demonstrate our values;

— established ourselves as a Thought Leader
- staying ahead of, and being involved in,
future policy and regulation changes;

- ©established Mears Foundation as the
cornerstone of our community
investment work;

= Grown diversity, actoss ow business,
especialty in senior positions;

— demonstrated commitment and internal
leadership to ESG;

Women In senlor leadership roles

36 Male

9 Female

[2020: 7 female, 31 male)

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

supported work winning and retention;
developed strong partnership working with
supply chain;
— enhanced our employer brand story

and colleague |oyalty; and
— become leaders in reducing carbon and
fuel poverty in sacial housing.

With the above in mind, this document sets out
our plans to develop our ESG Approach. We want
to become 2 trusted friend to our clients and heip
them realise thelr ESG ambitions, as well as bulid
trust with all our stakehoiders,

Our approach prioritises where we can have
the greatest impact ane supports a culture that
fully Integrates sustainability and

purpose beyond profit.

Together we can raise standards across the
sector, o the benefit of every resident.

Employees by gender

3,917 Male

1587 Female

{2020: 1,633 female, 3.971 male)
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Strategic Report

ESG continued

SOLID FOUNDATIONS TO SUPPORT
QUR 2025 AMBITION

Ou culture and values centre around our
ambition to be the most socially respansible
business in the housing sector by 2025.

We value:

= CUl customers and communities, putting
their needs ak the heart of everylhing
we do;

~ teamwork, supporting each other, sharing
Ideas and never excluding others:

-~ personal responsibility, setting consistently
high standards for our work and hokding
aurselives accountable for achieving them;
and

~— inngvation, being invenlive in cur approach
and ampowering pecple io take reasonable
action withaut fear of recricnination

ESG RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board ieads and provides strategic direction
10 the Group and carres ulimate responsibility for
management of the Group's activites, ESG and
financial parformance.

The Board acknowledges accountabliity

to shareholders, clients, employeées and
customers, for proper conduct of the business,
effective assessment of risk angd the long-term
success of the Group, having regard 1o the
interests of all stakeholders.

OUR MATERIALITY REVIEW

- Through an cnline survey, we consulled
with 32 of our internat stakeholders ta
identiy the matters thal arg impartant to
them and asked them to rank a number
of specific ESG and sustainability lopics
on a relalive basis. We also assessed
these topics on the incremenal impact
that they can have on our business

— White all items shown are important,
some have greater urgency. Interms
of focus, to our business than others

- We will use the results {opposhe) to
help inform our approach and
development ptans

= NB - the key materiality lopics used
were sawced from relevant ESG
framewarks and secior inskghts

- N 2022 we will witien our consultation
to external stakeholders, led by our
ndependent ESG Board

34

“The Mears Board places our
responsibilities to society

at the heart of our business.
Through robust governance

and identifying risks, we will
ensure that our company is ready
to fully commit to the measures
set out in our ESG Approach.”

Andrew Smith
Chief Financial Officer

HIGH interest

Stakeholder Imerest (importance)

Tnterwest

Priority Business Impact Priority to Mears Group PLC High Priority
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UNITED NATIONS' SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS

The UN has Identified 17 Sustainable Development Goals {SDGs) which aim to achieva a better and more sustalnable future for all.

Mears has identified the 10 following goals and fully aligned them to our own 2025 Strategy and ESG Approach. The goals we have identified
are those which we believe are highly relevant to ow business and the housing sector, in which we operate.

3. Good heaith and wellbaing: Ensure healthy Iives
and promote wellbeing for all at all ages

8. Decent work and sconomic growth: Promote
sustainable economic growth, full and productive
employment, and decent work for alt

9. Indugtry, Innovation, and infrastructure:
Develop, upgrade, and retrofit Infrastructyre 1o make
them sustainable, with increased resource efflciency
and daaner technologies and processes

10. Reduced inequalities: Reduce inequality by
supporting the marginalised and disadvantaged

11. Susteinable cities and communities: Provide access
10 safe, adequate, and affordable basic services, energy,
housing, transportation and more

12. Rasponsible consumptian and production:
Ensure sustainable management and efficlent use
of natural resources

13. Climate action: Take urgent action to combat
climate change and its impacts

15. Life on land: Sustainably manage forests, combat
desertification, halt and reverse fand degradation, halt
biodiversity loss

16. Peace, justice and strong institutions: Promote
peaceful and inciusive societles for sustainable
development, provide access 10 justice for all and
builld effective, accountable, and inclusive insiitutions

17. Partnarships: Pariner with Governments, businesses,
academis, and comumunities to mobikise action for
sustainable development

QOur Approach will see the Group report progress against the chosen SDGs and we will continually monitor the UN's goals to ensure thal we are
always acling on those most relevant 1o our business. For more information on the UN SDGs, please find out more here: htips://sdgs.un.org/goals

Introducing our plans

HEALTHY PLANET IMPROVING LIVES

unk o s0Gs: [E KE B EE K unk to socs: [ [E] E2

GOOD GOVERNANCE

Link to SDGs:

We will achieve net zero carbon emissions on We will impiove Iives by contributing at least We will enhance o strategy for sustainable
Scope 1and 2 by 2030 across our operations £5k, per emplayee, of social value each year procurement by 2023 and evolve our approach
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to maintain our high standards
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Strategic Report

ESG continued

Healthy Planet

Ouraimistobecomea
carbon neutral organisation,
whilst helping clients

create safe and sustainable
places that will have long-
lasting benefits for their
communities.

HEALTHY PLANET IN 2024

96.63%

waste diversion from [andfill

Zero

pollution incidents

Zero

anvironmental legisiation breaches

3

Social Housling Decarbonisation
projects secuted with our dients
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Reducing our
carbon emissions

Qur goats

- Achieve net zero carbon emissions
on Scope 1and 7 by 2030 across
our operalions

= Aghieve net zero carbon emissions
on Scope 3 by 2045 across our
supply chaln

Our plan

— Creste & net zeso carbon wransition
plan using sclence-based targets

— Continue dischkosing our emissions,
and publicly report Oh Progress
8gainst our targets.

— Transitlon to electric vehicie Nleet
by 2030

- Continue partnership and suppori
supply chaln to achieve net zere carbon

= Support our clients in meeting
Gaverwnent Commitments

— Create an Internal plan for reducing
carbon BCross our contracts, creating
awareness and understanding with
all colleagues

Minimising waste

Our goal

= Achieva a Zero Waste Index score
of 1.5 degrees Ceisius by 2030,
fram 2021 baseline of 2.53%

Ouy pian

- Increase coleague awareness and
introduce measures o reduce waste
across all sites

= Reduce carbon through the protection
of nalural resources Dy reviewing our
waste processes

o Avoid waste by Improving the reuse of
'waste materials’

- Partriet with charilles 1o reuse and recycle
fumture and white goods, increasing the
percenage recycled yearly

~— Monitor and adopt new technologies as
they become available

-—  Waork in parinership with our National
Waste parner o ernbed improvements
to achieve Zero Waste Index score

Decarbonising homes

Qur goal

-~ By 2025 we wil 8im to be a secior
{eading provider of carbon reduction
solutions in the sacial housing sector

Our plan

—  Achieve and maintain all relevant
accreditations to demonstrate
competency and comphisnce

=~ Help our cllents measure thelr
carbon emissions and retrofit
salutions 1o deliver ¢arbon savings.

- Embed a resident first appreach to the
decarbonisation of homes (Cals >
Define > Design > Deliver > Declare)

— Use asset data to help access the
limited Ananclal resources currently
available AND leverage funding as
it becomes avaitable

- Transition ow workforce as a whole to
ensure understanding and capatility

Preventing poliution

Our goa)

— Continually evolve our approach to
mainlain zere pollution incidents and
zero erwironmenal legisiation breaches

Our pian

- Maintain (SC 001 (Environmental
Maznagement System) certification

- Work with clients and communities to
clear pofiutants from the envikonments
we work in i.e.. lilter, plastics, etc.

— Confinue activity to raise emvironmentat
awaraness within our workforce

- Maintain robust poficies and procedures
to ensure environmental compliance
and adherence with legislation

- Monlior and adopt new technologies
as they become available
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Healthy Planet:
Green space
refurbishment
in Thurrock

Mears, Thurrock Councll and the Riverside
Community Big Local have jeined tagether
with the community to take derelict and
mistreated waodland and have created the
newest green space for local people to enjoy.

Falconweod in Thurrock had sadly become
a prime spot for fiy tipping and vandalism,
meaning that this was not a space the
community could use in safety.

After being asked to help by the Council,
Mears-volunieered to parilicipate in the
project to bring this site back to life, working
with the Riverside Community Big Local.

Having reviewed the site, we drew up a list
of immed|ate tasks and asked volunteers

for help. This included installing new metal
security gales to the front and rear entrances
to protect the wood against vandalism and
also rebuilding vandalised brickwork piers.

The team was then able to remove overgrown
sheubss and weeds to enable us to proceed and
Install permanent pathways 5 everyona can
use the woodiand, Atthe end of the clearing,
we remaved over 15 tonnes of waste, including
washing machines and matiresses.

Susan Murray, Asset Investment & Delivery
Managar from Thurrock Councll, commented:
"This was a great project to participate in with
our local residents and partnering contractor
Mears. The work everyone achieved will be a
great asset for everyone in the community to
be able to enjoy.”

Andy Blakey, Chalrperson from Riverside
Comnumity Big Local, commuented:
“Falconwood was ona of the very first projects
that residents kdentified for the Riverside
Community Blg Local — Ii's an area that has
caused problems far many, marty years.

“For far toe long it has been a waste
ground, ovargrown and prone 1o fly
tipping. We really want to transforrm it into
an attractive and Inviting space thatis a
real asset for the local community.

“Everyone at the Riverside Community Big
Local is Immensely grateful to Mears for
partnering with us to help make our ambition
for Falconwood a reality.

“The help and support that Gary Luscombe ang
his colleagues from Mears have given

nas been amazing and — althcugh there [s still

a long way to go — they have helped make

the transformation of Falconwood a reailty.”
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Gary Luscombe, General Manager

of Maars, sald:

“When Thurrock asked us to pitch In and
help, we said yes immedlataly. | think we've
all been reminded over the last year of the
importance of green space and having
places where we can all appreciate nature.
Sadly, Falconwood was not In goad shape.

When we put aul the call for help, we had so
many members of the community volunteer
that we actualty had o tum people away.

it really is a fantastic example of how, when
called upon, the people of Thurrock truly
come together for the benefit of everyone.

What's next?

Now the woodiand has been restored,
Riverside Comimunity Blg Locat has
ambitious plans for the rest of the year,
Having asked residents what they would
like to see next, we are working with them
on the nexli stage of the refurbishment.

Gary Luscombe edded:;

“Without the valunteers and donations,

we could not have achleved what we have,
It's been a real pleasure to work with the
Council and the Riverside Community

Big Local project. Thank you to all the
valunteers who halped — this really is

a space for the cammunity.”
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.Strategic Report

ESG continued

Improving Lives

From a solid basefine,

our aim is to create an
environment that is 'fair

for alf’, which enables
customers, colleagues and
communities to thrive by
improved: social impact,
health, safety and welibeing,
employee value proposition
and fairness and.inclusion.

IMPROVING LIVES IN 2021
Social value:

- circa 1,500 social value projecis
— £29.4m social value impact

- Owver£2,800 Impact per employee

Mears Foundation:
— £B0k grant donations o support
focal community projects.
For more information about the
Mears Foundation please visit:
https/Aww themearsioundatian.org uk/

Heaith & safaty:
- Actident frequency rate: 0.19

Fairmess & Inclusian

—  92% of colleagues shared ED! data
- 100% of managers trained in ECA
- Gender pay gop of 22%

— Empioyee tumover of 22%
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Promoting fairess
& inclusion

Out goals

- Continually evolve a Board-driven
strategy thel ensures fairness and
inclusion far all colleagues

By 2025 we will aim 10 achieve:

— 36% of women in leadership posttions
{grede 5 +)

— 12% Group representation of biack,

Asian and other ethnicities

- Gender pey gap of19%

— Colleagues consider us aleader

Our plan

- Maximising current recrultment
processes lo ensure they are bias free
and encowage job opporiunities for al

— Publish first ethnlclty gap report, with
98% of colleagues sharing EDI data

= Achleve leading Gold standard taimess
& inclusion accreditation

- Insignt-led approach to ensuring our
warkforce reflacts aur local communities

= To eradicate under-representstion and
pay disparity ih all Jab roles

- Al colleagues across the business 1o
receiva faimess & inclusion training

- Achieve Dissbitity Confident
Employer siatus

— Dalangets to be embedded in
managers performance and
reward schemes

— D&! 'cansaldation’ trairing for
managers - periodic (every 3 years)

- Conlraciual requirement for suppliers
10 provide evidence of how they are
addressing D&

improving health & safety

Our geals

— Continuatty evolve our approsch
to maintain our high standards for
creating a safe working enwironment
for everyone:

-  Accident frequency rate
of bejow 0.25.

—  Win the ROSPA Indusiry Sector
Award, which recognises best H&S
performance in the sector, by
2030

Attracting &
retaining talent

Our goals

— Continualty evalve a cohesive strategy
for attracting and 1elalning the best
talent; enabling owr colleagues Lo thrive

By 2025 we will aim to achieve:

— Emplayer of choice recognition

-— 90% of all appreniices secure work
8t Mears or another organisation, on
campletion of their apprenticeship

— Employee tumover of 18%

Cur plan

— Develop a competitive Employee Value
Proposition, including standard and
flexible benefits

— Dekver an enhanced approach 1o 1alent
managemen

— Promote intemally and extemally the
Mears Brand and Empioyee Vaiue
Proposition

- Yesronyear growih, in pescentage.
of overall recruitment from under-
represented groups

== Implement Voice of Colleague forum,
chaired by Employee Director, to
enable even bigger empiloyee vaice

- Maintzin spproach to ensuring all
emplayees are paid the real Living
wage or above

-~= Maintain governance to ensure no
inappropriale Zero Hours contracts

- Pramcte Mears’ flexible working offer
linked t0 wellbeing o suppon attracton
and retention

Our plen

— Malintain ali ISO accreditations

— Retain ROSPA Gold Award

— Maintain a team of professionally
qualified Safety, Health and Environment
Managers lo suppart tite business.

-  Maintain robust policies and procedures

to ensure healih and safety compliance
- Conduct reguiar audits and
inspections across the business
to monitor compliance
- Manitor and irvest in new tachnoiogies
&8s they becarme avallable
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Boosting health
& wellbeing

Qur goal

- Continually evolve a Board-driven
wellbeing strategy, the importance
of which is regularly communicated
to the workforce, that ensures the
heaith and welibeing of our colieagues

Our plan

-  Mental Health First Alder in \00% of
contracts and departments

— Tailored and enhanced Employee
Assistance Programme (EAP)

— Agcess for all employee to voluntary
health services and progranmnes

«— Enhance support for vuinerable
colleagues

- Enhance flexible benefits package and
cantractual terms to support access
to opportunities

- Maintain focus on employee engagement
and help tackle the chatlenges of -
wellbeing and mental heaith

Raising social value

Qur goals
- Continually evolve our approach

to ensure that, by 2025;;

- All contracts must have a yearly
soclal value plan contributing
at least £5k. per employee, of
social value

—  We will grow Mears Foundation
grant giving 10 over £200k
per annum

Our plan

- Develop Social Return on Investmant
reparting to focus more on qualltative
outcomes and personal Impact

— Bulld on engagement with supply chain

— Year onyear increase in use of
volunteering howrs

— Lobbying Govemment for a more
transparent and consistent measure
of soclet value

Improving Lives:
Mears Group adds
to its team using
DWP’s SWAP
scheme

Mears Group, the UK’s leading housing
solutions provider, has recently engaged
wilh the Department of Work and Pensions'
(DWP} SWAP scheme to connect two
jobseekers with permanent employment

in Its Miltor Keynes call handling facility.

The DWP's SWAP — Sectar-based Work
Academy Programme — scheme connects
people trying to enter the job market with
opportunities in local businesses. SWAPs
are an opportunity for jobseekers iclaiming
Universal Credit, Jobseeker's Aliowance or
Employment and Support Allowance) to
Improve job prospects, learn new skills and
get experience of working in particular
Industries such as care, construction,

or warehouse work.

in Milton Keynes, The MK Counch
Neighbourhood Employment Project
Manager approached Mears’ customer
success manager, Claire Foden, to
collaborate on a SWAP initiative. Recognising
that attracting new talent to the housing
solutions sector is an ongolng challenge,
Claire was keen o drive the initiative forward,
support Mears' commitment to social
responsibility and secure employment for
vacamn roles within Mears Group.

At the end of the process, which included a
two-week DWP SWAP training programme
followed by Interviews, Mears offered roles
10 two individuals who have been employed
as call handlers for the past four months.

The benefits to Mears and the employees
are numerous; both individuals have
become trusted and valusbte members
of the call handling team, while gaining
valuable skills and experience that wiil

set them up for the future.
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One of them commented on how the
opportunity has positively impacted him:
‘Since jolning Mears | have been able to
settle into 8 routing, which 1s grest for my
candition. | have been identified as
someone who can progress at Mears and
am looking forward to this. Customer service
Is reafly Important to me - it's been amazing
so far” Another commented: *it is nice to be
back In work after two years out of work_ | am
lucky to have a supportive manager and
great colleagues at Mears.”

Minister for Employment Mims Davies MP
sald: °It's great to hear about people getting
Into work and progressing at Mears, with the
support of our Sector-based Work Academy
Programme, What's great about SWAPs is
that this training Is connacted to live
vacancies, offering people the best chance
at landing that all important job.

"Cur Pian for Jobs, including the SWAPs
scheme, is supporting people across the
country on their way to work in exclting
new sectors, from housing to hospitality,
by giving them the skills, experience and
opperntunities they need.”

Managing Director of Mears and MK
resident Peter Baldwin said: "l am very
proud of our new cokeagues — they have
already become much valued members
of our team here In Milton Keynes and

1 look farward (o seeing them develop.
Initistives like this should be used by all
companies — as shown In this case, we
can make a real difference to people’s
lives within a supportive emvironment.”

Claire Foden of Mears added:

"We are defighted that the SWAP scheme
has worked so well for Mears and has
resulted in themn becoming valued members
of our team. We will cortinue to engage with
SWAP and look forward o bringing more
people into the team across the UK”
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Strateglc Report

ESG continued

Good Governance

Through robust gevemance
and identifying risks and
oppartunities, the Mears
Board works to the highest
leve! of ransparency and
good gevemance. Our aim
is 10 take this appraach
throughout our business

to ensure that ethicat
behaviour, transpareticy and
openness formthe heart of
our culture at every level.

GOOL GOVERNANCE IN 2021

—= Strong balence 3. with good
cash conversion and low debt

o= LONG-drTT, Jove Fisk coNtCL
postiolio for essentil sarvices

w280 humon A breschas.

- Cvar 1O residents are past of
QU IR SN0B0AMTY Natwitk

—  Award winning CLEIOMe
Seruvny Board

= Newly retormed ESG Aavisory Board
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Protecting

Sustainable

human rights procurement

Cur gosl Our gosl

= Maiotin cur snproach 10 ensure w Define cur sirstegy or Sateinzbie
‘Wi hava no uman fghts breach: P by 1033 ang

oF BEUeS

Qur plan

~  Cortinua to conguct Usingss and
dBEvEr SECVCE In 8 wy thil tespects
and congaders human righis

defvac snd wvohe ow appreach to
PRENLEIN Cut Nigh StandBrds

Out plan
- AR Suppiiers Sighed up 10 ouf
Suppller Commiments. which ace

— Al suppliers fully compliam with MENsured 30 MonHoned snuiy
Group poicy by 2024 —  Aflcone supsihers tive successha
— Uphaid our and o Budit resulls by 2029
o masem siovery, inman talficking - Altimber products sourced from

20! childflorced labour Gertited fonysts by 2030
- Regularty monitof lsbour and payrol - O0% of 2N sOCEd DrooLLIS are
- Deiiver a package of vwiisthves thet from susiainable sowce by 2025
rBISE SWANGNEYS with employwes: - Malrtan resporsibie spproach
- G0 Grster uncirsiaading of 1he & prampt payment cade

SUpply Thain practices and procedures
of our key supDiy

Information security
and governance

Our gosf

- Cortinuslly evolve » robus: strelegy
1 ENSUIS We Caktvier 10 T8 highest
siandard, have no security breschas
and &re fulty GOPR compliant

Out plan
= Embeti a coasistent vocass io ety
and 3asess privary risks —100%

—  Ensire Our procyunsment achivity
i$ ouirome-focused with wat.
celinad deliversbley

— COntinue 10 woik wih exiemaly
aCOrecilh g on
velue {0 susiainable procurement

e Our ToD 10 Suppiers engaged mn
CoNsBorMive ESG pian

Partnerships

Dt goals
We wil continue 1o

- Work Closely wilh ow clluns snd supply
Chaln AN INCIEve DaNARShiE lenune
- WOk Clopedy with vastors and funders
- HOW CUrSaMVES 10 ACCOUR IVOLGH Scruliny

Qur plan

compliancy 50063 8l husiness sreqs — Provide secure inversiment and funding

— Alinktmation securily InCidents ane - Contmue with Your Vioice Cusiomer
A ang araes of L m Scriiny Board ~ idiepanden

2 \Cefe0 bivd actioned frameswvork for Customer angegement
= Defiver 8 paciage af Inltiotives thal = Continue with £56 Advizsory Boan

"sune and uf - g cent sovisess thatl

#cross all coleagues consructivaly Chalenge
- Maimar an inform stion Secuimty w  Consides ESG faclors across i gssats.

Managwnant Syshr that 15 certiind Inwhich wes invest by 2025

w150 77001
—  Ontain s maintal incduslry covticatons
—  [gentity 8t Mensge CyDEN 1Isks
= Dty secure nlomution syskems
10 the Group

—  FParner with Govenimenis, Businetses,
ACEGRITUA, Brd COMMuUATies 10 ensute
TES PRACICE ANd Mobilse Blan for

through out Thoug it Led der proremimie
~ continu to KK the way
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Risk, ethics &
governance

Our goal

— Maintain a robust strategy and
governance framewark to ensure we
are fully compliant, manage risk and are
regarded as a responsible business

Qur plan

= Ensure year on yesr compllance with
aif)-corruplion governance

== Continue zero tulerance to
anti-competitive behaviour

we Year on year compliance and
good practice on financlal reperting
and tax obligations

— Review and align our targets to TCFD
and UN SDGs

— Promote Executive Board and senior
management responsibllities for
governance and risk approach

— Continue independent audit and risk
assessment annually with transparent
acticn and reporting

— Provide a confidential whistleblowing
channel to encourage colleagues to
speak aut

— Optinto open carbon reporting

Continue with Mears Workforce Group,

a5 governance to main Board, leading on

all workforce practice and engagement

— Continue disciplined approach 1o
bldding and capital allocation to
maintain strong balance sh2et

“Through good governance
we know that we can
reduce risks and create
value by leading from

the front to create a
business truly based on
ethical and transparent
business practices.”

Alan Long
Executive Director

Good Governance:
Holding Mears
to account

in 2021 cwr Independent Scrutiny Board
published its first annuat report, which
highlighted the Company’s performance,
inciuding recommendations for continuing
service improvemenis.

The resident-led board forms one part of
our resident engagement model, which

has the right 1o questian any part of the
Mears business, to scrutinise how we deliver
services to the housing sector snd make
recommendations aimed at improving
customer experience, The Your Valce
Scrutiny Board reports directly to the PLC
Board and has the power (0 publish
independent public reports about Mears.

We also recognised that there may be
some Issues which impact on customers’
lives which ere outside of Mears' direct
control and the Scrutiny Board wik consider
how It can nfluence wider improvements
working with bocal councils, Housing
Associations and Govesnment, Your Voice
15 structured as follows:

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Mears Customer Scrutiny Board —

An independently chaired panel of customer
representatives warking slongside the PLC
Board and providing oversight, challenge and
support to Mears. it will be supposted and its
independence assured by the Cenire for
Public Scrutiny.

Mears Customer Champions Forum —
Made up of Mears' branch-based customer
engagement (or equivalent) leads plus other
key stakehciders such as cllent Scrutiny
Board chairs, resident association leads, and
community activists. This forum will Creale a
fink between the Scrutiny Goard and the local
involvement groups and scrutiny structures.

Mears Online Customer Network —

A virtual netwark of residents from avound the
country, who opt into providing feedback on
Mears services, provide insight into what's
important and what's not, offer opinions and
suggestions, and validate and endorse our
thinking/mew inltiatives.

You can read the Board's 2021 report here:

Mears Scrutlny Board — Annual Report
2020-2021) Mears Group PLC
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Strategic Report

ESG continued

Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disciosures

Mears is commitied to adopting the
recommendations of the Task Force on
Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD),
providing ow stakeholders with decision-use{ut
infarmation on climate related risks and
opportunities that are relevant 10 o business.
We are continuing to evolve owr climate risk
dischkasures In Une with the TCFD guidelinas.
Ouning 2021, the management ieam continued
0 focus on the implementation of TCFD.

The Graup has not caompleted scenatio
planning, and in this area the Group is not
comphian; with the TCHD recommendalions.
As part of our risk planning in 2022/23, we
will complete scenario pianning to enable

our business to mitigate chrate related risks,

Mears is not new to ESG. in fact, ESG has
abways teen st the heart of what we do.

We structure gur E5G Apprroach through our
three priorities:

sae pages 3510 4

— Healthy Planet Reducing emissions and
making & positive cantribution to our planet

- improving Lives: Making a poshive differance
by defivering great service, giving somathing

hack and treating everyone Tairly and equasty,

Sspecliic lo theil needs
- Good Governance: Running our business
In the most ethical and transparent way

Each of these s drven by an understanding that
3 company o cur Size can make an iinpact on
the communities we wark in and on the wider
wonid. We set our standards extremely high and
have & robust set of governaace structwes in
place, including independent scrutiny,

Mears will also play a crucial role in helplng o
retrofit and improve the national housing stock.
Using our internal experts, we are already
daveloping plans with our clients to achieve
Net Zero in emissions fram hausing. We see
this as a major part of our future as a business.

Cur uitimate goal 1s 1o be recognised as the

most soclally responsible business working in
the public sector.
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Governance

Disclase the organisation’s goverance around
climate related lsauss and opportunities.

Qur ESG Appraach can be viewed in full on
pages 33 to 41 and oultines Qur plans io reguce
emisslons — this being one of out three strategic
priceithes for ESG atongside improving Lives
and creating opporinities and Good Govemance.

As part of our strategy in 2021, we appointed a
new susiainability team (o provide 3 vision and
plan for us both internatly and as a contractor to
the public sectar.

The Board is focused on ensuring ihat Mears
lives by its vatues. The Board Is accounteble for
The iong-term success of the Group. setling a
framework of efective contrals which enables
risks, including cimate retated risks and
oppartunttias, 10 be assessed and managed.
Respansibikty for ESG Is embegded Inmo our
corporaie goveérmance an owned by the
Board, receiving inpuls from the Compiiance
Committee and Geaup Susteinability Team.

Our execuiive mansgemeant leads and provides
suatedic directlon tothe Group, and camies
ulimate responsibiiity for management of the
Group's activities, ESG and financial petformance.

Wider management functions throughduk the
Grganisation aiso have climate retated rales
and responsibilities. For exampie, our Meaith
and Safety lunction supports the delivery of
aur emironmentat strategy, with pacticular
fotus o wasie management and recyciing.

We will continue 10 embed climate related roles
and responsibities 1hroughoul owr functions
and operations during 2022,

Ouyr strategy will sge us:

— achieve nat zero carbon emissions by
2030 across our operalions,

— Bthieve Nt zero carbon emissions try
2045 across our value thair;

= &mbed a net zero carbon culture based on
persona! rasponsibiity, and

- Mmove o an glectric vehicle fleet by 2030,

Wa are currently concluging our Carbon Pian,
which is due for completion during the firgt halt
of 2022. This wil inciude additional Interim
milestones as we progress ta net zero carbon
emissions by 2030

We are proud o have achieved IS0 14007
({Environmental Management System)
certification and this will form & key indicator
for the Board 1o review,

See page 36

Strateqy

Disclose the astual and potenttial impacts
of climate related rishs and opportunities
on the organisation’s business, strategy
and financial planning where such
information is material.

Ciimate change presenis Mears with both
risks and apportunities,

RISKS

As nlarge manager of housing s1ock, the
Company will need o demonstrate a leading
role in ensuring our stock is #it far Net Zero,
As a cepairs and maintenance provider, we
will need to move our vehicle fizet to electric
by 2030. However this commitment is
dependent upon the infrastructure in the UK
belng available to altow our apsratives to
charge thair electric vehicias without Impacling
upon productivigy.

OPPORTUNITIES

As part of our 2025 Sirategic Plan, the Board
has directed that we will work o hecoma
leaders in cartbon reduction within social
housing and within cur organization.

The strategy planning for 2025 means that we
2re giready in a position to financially plan for
2n electric vehicle fieet, 1o mitligate the effects
of climate change on owr business and to
enhance our offer an Net Zero 1o enable us 1o
benefit from the opportunities of Net Zero.

The benefits of Net Zero are clear 1o Mears.
The retrghitting of social housing wit Decome
amajol growth areafor Mears, Our expertise
Inthis area makes US an integral pan of the
green eronomy. We have already secured our
first thrée energy efficiency projects as detaled
within the Chiel Executive Officer's review.

A further benefit will be to show Investars with
an emphasis on ESG and the green econoimy
thal Mears is Bn attraciive investiment, and our
experlice wil Dresent a competitive advantage
whan bidding for contracts.

In considering our chimate vsks and
opportunities, we have consldered short-term
risks bejween O and 2 years, medium-term
risks from 2-5 years and long-term risks beihg
quar 5 years. The Board would expectic
increase these time horizons as the Group
buiids on the recommendations of the TCFD
and completes the scenario pianning work.
At this lime, 2 periad that is significantly
graater than S years Is consitiered too fong,
qiven the inherent uncertainties invalved.
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Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures continued

SHORT-TERM RISKS AND

OPPORTUNITIES (0~2 YEARS)

Risks

- Fallure to inancially plan for upskilling
workforce in low carbon technology

— Fallure to access alt available funding

MEDIUM-TERM RISKS AND

QPPORTUNITIES {2-5 YEARS)

Risks

— Risk that supphiers will not be able to adapt
In timelrame set

= Fallure 1o analyse all contracts for business
procurement. These will all need to be
strass tested to ensure that they help us
to achieve our Net Zero goal

- Failure to begin upgrades o housing
stock we own and manage

Oppeortunities

- Help to upskil our supply chains to
reach our Net Zerg gosis

— Become the preferred supplier for Nel
Zeroin social housing stock nationwide

— Access to Government funding to
decarbonise hausing stock (see financial
planning below)

LONG-TERM RISKS AND

OPPORTUNITIES (5 YEARS AND

ABOVE)

Risks

— Transition to electric vehicle fleet will
depend on charging infrastructure

— Scope 3 is dependent on suppliers

- The UX skills shartage could affect
our plans

~— Ourincreasing housing footprint reduces
our ability to meet our goals

== Changing sources of supply, e.g., for
farestry products 1hal may be impacted
by cimate change

«— Energy and iT supply risk, where bad
weather causes widespread downtimes

- Additional maintenance pressures as 8
result of more extreme weather conditions

-= Need for greater flood protection
measures for homes as risk areas spread

Qpportunities

— Wa become the UK's leading end-to-
end carbon reduction experts with
capability to analyse existing sicck,
access funding, implement new
technologies and measyre Impact

- We support the UK skills base by
supporting our supply chains to adapt to
new skills, technologies and regulation

— Need for protection of and greater support
for biodiversity will enhance our social
value offer by greening communities

— Combatting climate ¢change will present
us with opportunities to grow our
maintenance business

~— With increasing migration we can harness
the new skilis to flll the current gap

FINANCIAL PLANNING

Qur 2025 Strategic Plan sets ont owr ambitlon
10 become leaders in carbon reduction.
Financlal planring is tied 1o our sirategy

and gs such we have giready incorporated
this angd will continue to do so Lo meet owr
goal of Net Zero for cur business by 2030.
Appointing a carbon reduction team s an
example of our investment.

To become leaders in this area, wa need
to ensure that we are able 1o access the
significant Investment coming in through
Socigl Housing Decarbonisation funds,

the Warm Homes Front and the new ECO4.

We already have an emerging ptpeline of
apportunity, although further Government
funding announcerments will influence how
fast this opportunity wilf develop, We know
that £800m will be released under the English
Social Housing Decarbonisation fund in

Aprli 2022, with a further £800m mentloned
for April 2023 (there are similar pots In the
devolved nations). In each case, this will be for
work being carried out over a 3-year pertod.
We also know there is £150m in the Warm
Homes Front for off gas properties and

April will see ECO4 launched with a potentlal
£1bn fund for housing of all types.

CARBON PRICING

As part of the scenarlo analysis, we will further
consider the impact of future carbon pricing.,
Carbon {axes have to date remained ralatively
low but are expected to Increase In the future
In line with Government commitments.

We conslider the most significant financial
impact s where the cost of carbon taxes and
levies, bath those Incurred directly by Mears
and where indirect carbon taxes are passed
to Mears through its supply chain, cannot be
passed onto customers,

RESILIENCE

We link our work to the Group's strateglc
priorities and principai risks. As part of our risk
planning in 2022/23. we will complete scenario
planning to enabte our business to mitigate
climate related risks. This will include planning
to ensure that we mitigate against risks that

the Group does not maximise opporturities
presented by ESG related changes in its
husiness environment.

See pages: 46 to 54

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Risk Management

Disciose how the organisation [dentifies,
assesses and manages climate-related risks.

The Group Sustainability Team identifles
strategic climate change risks and opportunities
facing Mears through the regular review of
Issues ang trends. Active collaboration with
external experts, and representation at
confergnces and events help o ensure
up-to-date knowledge. [dentified risks and
oppontunities are shared with the Board and
included within the strategic risk register.

As detsiled In the Risk management section
on page 46, Mears has a structured risk
management framework cperated at a
business unit, function and Group level,
The senior management team reviews and
identifies the key risks; climate related rlsks
are identified and considered as part of
that process. Climate related risks are not
considered inisolation, and the process

is integrated into the Group's overall risk
management process.

The Board has carrfed out & robust assessment
of the principal risks, including climate related
risks, facing the Group, Including those that
threaten the business mode|, sirategy and future
performance. Risks are prioritised based on
the Ilkellhood of occurrence and the severity

of the impacl on the Group. This severity can
be measured using variocus criterla such as
financlal, customer service, growth, regulstory
complance and reputational criterla. Therefore,
Mears measures more than simply the financial
impact of the risk. These scores are used o
ascalate risks and to drive the mitigation plans.

Climate change represents both fisk and
opportunity for the Group. There |5 a risk that
Mears does not identify and manage the risks
assoclated with changes in environmental
legislstion relating to housing, transportation,
and camporate reporting requirements. There is
also a risk that the Group does not maximise
the opportunities presented by energy
efficiency in the affordable housing sector.

See pages 46 to 54
Climate risks are assessed as part of our

Integrated risk management framewark as
detailed on pages 46-54
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Strategic Report

ESG continued

Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures continued

Metrics and Targets

Disclose the matrics and targets used
to assess and manage refevant dimate
related risks and opportunities where
such mation s matesial

Mears will create a net zero carbon transiion
plan, with science-based targets. We will
pubdish data in our Annual Report and on cur
ESG website, which will publicly show our
emissions, and progress againsi our largels.
We wilt develop our year on year targels for
redycing Scope 1and 2 as part of our transition
plan over 2022,

Specific 1argets include:

— lrangition to elecwic vehicie fleet by 2030:

- Wwork in parinership and support supply
chain o achieve net zere carbon;

- 100% carbon awareness training for
colleagues by 2023;

- Inwvest in carbon offsetting o balance
restdual emissions by 2G30; and

- achleve net zerc carbon emission by
2045 across our vatue chain.

We have set a small number of cimate
related metrics and targets in our Group
strategy. and included them within our wider
ESG plan, notably:

- greennouse gas (GHG) emissions, absolute
Scope 1and 2 (as detalled opposite),

- GHG emission intensity {as detailed
oppositel, and

- waste diverted from landfl (as detailed
on page 36).

We recognise the need to review our climate
largets In 2022 and 2023, and turther
peformance measures will be considered

in gue course.

The Group’s carbon emissions data for the year
s detaited opposita.

See pages: 35t0 37

44

GHG EMISSIONS
The Group's carbon emissions gata for the year is provided below.

The data set out in these labies represents emissions and eneigy use for which Mears Group PLC
is responsible ang is incarporated by raference in the Directors’ Repoit on pege 89. To calCulate
our Group emissions, we have used the man requirements of the GHG Protocot Corporate Standard.

These figures have been generated from independently provided reports of carbon gmisslons

or energy usaqe from 8 variely of sources and, where necessary, enargy usage has been
corvedted inta Sarban evmissions using the UK Government GMG Conversion Faclors for Company
Reporting 2021,

This year, we have also calcuizled our Scope 2 emissions using the market-based methodolagy
ta fecagnise the purchasing of low carboh energy.

Scope Units 200 2020
Scope 1~ UK Tarmes CChe 36397 34370
Scope 2 — UK ncation-based Tonngs COze 6,449 7376
5cope 2 - UK market-based Tonnes CO.e 5817 n/a
Scope 1 and 2 Unity 1021 2020
Intensity tonnes COe/Em revenue 4878 49.63
Energy consumpdon MWh 198,363 189,074

Our reporting follows the Greenhouse Gas Protocol Corporale Accounting and Raporting
Standard, applying the 'Finenclal Control' approach (organisational boundary),

Cur policy is 10 restate carbon and energy figures In consideration of changes in methodologies,
improvements in the accuracy, of discovery of errors in previous years’ data, No restatement has
been made this year.

Our grass carbon emissions have been classified in the fallowing way:

Scope 1- Direct emissions from: vehicle use (owned and jeased), heating fuels used in buildings.
Scope 2 - Indirect emissions from: electricity used in our buildings. We report focation-based
emissions faking imo account the UK grid average),

Scope 3 ~ indirect emissions from business (ravet by air and tax; hatei stays: water supply; ang
waste recycling and dispossl.

Out of Scope ~ Indirect emissions from: biofuel usage from all divisions In line with DEFRA
reporing guldelines.

During 2021, Mears has taken active measures 10 improve its energy efficiency, including:

= Utilising technology to minimise joumey time between all operational visits

- Expanding use of video technology 10 reduce the number of jourmeys travelled by over 75%
— Sourcing energy from renewable resources

- Working with aur Supply chain ta reduce packaging and wasie on 8 continual basis

~ Employing a Sustainability manager 1o complete a roadmap through to 2030 and beyand

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accaunts 2021



Non-financial Information Statement

Board requiremants

Stakeholders (customers,
suppliers, e1c.}

Policies and standards Additional information and risk management
which govern our approach
— Responsible Business Charter Board activities — page 70

Data Protection
Responses to Social Housing White Paper,
Procurement Green Paper and the Decent
Homes Review
— Scottish Business Pledge
- 150 44001 - collaboration in contract
management
— Monitoring right first time, customer
. complaints, customer satisfaction

5.172 statement — pages 3010 32

Critical market factors that influence
performance - psge 46

Awards and accreditations — pages 04 and 05
Market drivers — pages 20 and 21

Business model — pages 22 and 23

Customer satisfaction — page 26

Stakeholder engagement - pages 2810 29
and 71 anc 72

Environmentsl matters

— ESG Approach

FTSE4Gooc membership

ISO 14001 (Environmental Management
System) certification

ESG reporting website

£5G Approach — pages 33 (o 4

TCFD statement — pages 42 to 44

Carbon emisslons statemeni - page 44
Environment and waste recycling — page 36

I

Employees

Whistieblowing policy

Famity Friendly policy

Safeguarding '

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion
Approachto Labour Standards compliance
t aunch of a socially responsible business
plan (o attract and retain staff and go further
on our diversity and inclusion plans

2025 Strategy

Health and Safety

Red Thread Approach

RoSPA Drder of Distinctlon

Improving Lives — pages 25 and 3810 39
Gender Pay Gap Report — page 38
Governance report — page 21

Rermuneration report - pages 82 to 97
Awards and accreditations — pages 04 end 05
Health & Safety — pages 38 and 39

Human rights

Modern slavery and human trafficking
Preventing engagement of child labour
Whistleblowing policy

Family Friendly policy

— Modern Slavery Act— page 40
— ESG Governance — page 40

Anti-corruption
and bribary

Ant-Bribery & Corruption
Independent research into ethical
procurement sponsored by Meais
Responsible Business Charter

Governance - page 71
Repori of the Audit and Complance
Committees — pages 76 to 81

11

Social matters

ESG Approach

Social Value UK Certificate Level 2
FTSE4Goo0d Index

Mears Scrutiny Board

ESG Board

Social Mobility Index

ESG Approach - pages 33to 43

Awards and accreditations ~ pages 04 and 05
Governance — page 71

Stakeholder engagement - pages 2810 29
and 71and 72

Description of principal
rigks and impact of
business activity

Risk management — pages 46 10 49
Principal risks and uncertainties —
pages 50 to 54

- HBusiness model - pages 22 and 23

Description of
business model

- Husiness model — page 22 and 23

Non-financial KPis

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

- Strategic Report — page 26 -

Corporate governance — page 64

Report of the Audit and

Compliance Committees — pages 76 to 81
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Strategic Report

Risk management

Mears’ strategic objectives can only be achieved by taking an
appropriate level of risk in accordance with our risk appetite.
Effective management of risks and opportunities is essential
to the delivery of the Group’s strategic objectives, whilist
protecting our employees and other key stakeholders.

Risk management framework

Governance

Board

= Sets the tone on risk management culiure

~— Mainalns sound and effective risk management and internat
contiol systéms

— Defines risk appethe

Audit Committee (Non-Executive)

- Reviews the effectiveness of the risk management process
— Approves risk management policles and guidelines

Internal Audit

— Defines and monitors the risk manageément process 8nd
mitigation tools and actions

— Plans and executes assurance activities to ensure that there are
policies and procedures in place 10 support the effectiveness of
the Group's internaf control system

Comptliance Committee (Executive)

— Develaps and oversees implementalion of risk management
strategies and makes recommendations to the Audit Commitiee
and senlor management

- Supports the Audit and Risk Cammittee in monitaring
sustainability risks

Business Unit and Central Functions

Risk awareness embedded in day-10-0ay operations

Risk idemification and assessment performed across business
operations on an everyday basis

- Implementation of risk mitigation programmes and operationat
monitofing of internal controls

46

— I3 responsible for principal risk identification and ongaing
monitoring of the Company’s risk exposuse to ensure that material
matters are managed in alignment with strategic objectives

3rd line of defence

- Prepares regular risk and knternal control reports lor approval

by the Audit and Risk Commitiee and maimtains the Risk
Assursnce Map

— Perkyms risk analysis on growth projects, detailing the specific
conditions andg risks faced by a new project

2nd line of defence

— Supports the Audit and Risk Committee in evaiualing the Group's

risk profile and internal controls implemented by management

- The Chair of the Compliance Committee presents 10 the Board

twice a year, to provide a detailed update on the activities of
the Commiltee

1st line of defence

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021



Risk governance and oversight

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board has overall responsibility for
determining the nature and extent of risk

itis willing to accept within the agreed
strategy and ensuring thal risks are managed
effectively across the Group. Risk is a regular
agenda item st Board meetings and is clasely
aligned to strategy review. The Board also
reviews reports on the effectiveness of the
systems and processes of risk management
and Internal control.

THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee monitors the Group's
key risks identified by the risk assessment
processes and reports its findings to the
Board. It also has delegated responsibility for
reviewing in detall the effectiveness of the
Group’s system of internal control policies and
procedures for the Identification, assessment
and reporting of risk.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

Our intern al sudit plan Is devised by
understanding the sirategy, objectives ang

risk profile of the Group and considering the
other forms of management and independent
assurance before agresing what internal audit
wark Is required. This enables us 1o ensure that
our Internal audit resources target the key
areas and it also enables us to be efficient by
not duplicating other assurance activities,

The Group has engaged KPMG as an
ocutsourced provider of internal audil services.
KPMG assists the internat Group risk function

1o set the internal audit plan. This Is a dynamic
programme sel on a 3-year time horizon end
ensures cenain risks and themes are pricritised
and appropriate resources and skills applied to
those areas,

COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

The Audit Commitiee has a very active
sub-committee, being the Compliance
Committee. This reflects the significant focus
that the Group gives to dealing with health,
satety and environmental risks, The extent

10 which the full Integration of health, safaty
and environmental risks is now embedded In
the govemance structures of the Group is
hightighted by the members of the Complance
Committee, who include the Group's Chief
Executive Offlcer, Health and Safety Director
and intemal Health and Salety legal adviser.

BUSINESS UNIT AND FUNCTIONAL
RISK OWNERS

Mears has a structured risk management
framework operated at & business unit, function
and Group level. The senior management team
reviews and |dentifies the key risks which may
impact upon the achievemant of the Group's
strategic goals and will consider how these risks
are developing with changes in the operations,
markets and the regulatory environment.

The nature of the risk is reviewed, Including the
possible triggering events and the aggregated
impacts, before setting appropriate mitigation
strategies directed at the causes and
consequences of each risk. The risk is assessed
in relation to the Ikelihood of occurrence and
the potentlal impact of the risk upon the
business, and assessed against 8 matrix scoring
system which is then used to escalate risks
within the Group as appropviate. The senior
management team has responsibiity for
managing the Group's key risks.

The Group has a functional risk register and
there is a8 good understanding of the risks that
could impact tha Group, and their severity.

The Group has a positive risk culture, with a
clear tone-at-the-top being set by the senior
management team. The contral environment Is

undempirned by a detailed scheme of delegated

responsibifities that defines processes and
procedures for the approval process in respect
aof decislon making. This ensures that decisions
within the organisation are made by the
appropriate level of management.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Three lines of defence
— assurance providers

Mears operates a ‘three lines of defence’
assurance model.

Our first line of defence, cur aperational
management, have a responsibility 1o
manage day-to-day risk In their pwn areas
guided by Group policies, procedures and
control frameworks.

Our second line of defence includes our
centeal support functions, which devedop and
maintain the risk management framework
and engage with management to identify,
agree and update risk information on a
regular basls 10 review the effectiveness

of the mitigating actions and controls.

Our outsourced provider of Internal audit
services provides our third line of defence,
praviding independent assurance on
internal controls and risk management
processes. Further external assurance

is provided by our statutory auditor, In
respect of the financial statements, and
other extemal speclalists as required.
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Strategic Report
Risk management continued
Risk management process

RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

The responsibility for risk identification,
analysis, evaluation and mitigation rests with
the senior management team. This is also
responsible for reporting angd monitoring key
risks in actordance with astablished processes
under the Group operational policies.

tdentified visks are documented in rsk registers
showing: the risks that have been Identified;
charactensilcs of the risks; consequences of
the risks, the basis for determining the
mitigation strateqy; and what reviews and
monitoring are necessary. The personis)
Sccountabe 1or 355853inG ang monitoring
each risk is nated.

Wa continue to ¢rive improvements in our sk
managemer! process. We 350 review our
business model, core markets and business
processes to ensure that we have properly
Identified all risks, As part of this review,

Setting our internal
audit priorities

48

Step 8
Audit pian wnd approach
Develop an internal
augit plan

Climate related risks are considered in both the
Group and Opesational risk registers, but their
severity is not consikiered 10 be significant.
We continually review our miligating actions 1o
ensure that they are sufficient io minimise our
restdual risk. Key financlal and non-financia)
risks identified by the business from the risk
assessment processes are Coilatad and
reviewed by the Audit Committes andg are
regulany reviewed to meniler the status and
progression of miligslion plans; the key risks
are reported 1o the Board on 8 regular basls,

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND
LUNCERTAINTIES

The Board has carled out 2 robust assessment
of the principal risks facing the Group, indiuding
those that threaten the business moded, siategy.
future performance, solvency ang lquichy.

Risks have been ldentified as ‘principal based
on Lhe likallhood of occurrence and the severity
of the impact on the Group,

Stap 1 Step 2
Strateglc priorites Angiysis of risk
Prioritles: shorvmediuny Top down/botiom up

lang term risk profiting

Risk management Care controts
Refresh of principal risks, Core controls
mitigating actions, ang spot chacks
assurance feview
Step 6 Schame of Delegated
Resource and skills Fraud Risk register Authority (SODA)
Identify snd deploy team fachitation

Specific risk arsas
Sersious inciden response
Branch spot vishts lncluding
business continuity and
syh-conteactor managemeant

Information security
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Step &
Other assurance
Consider olher assurance
Processes

The Group's principal risks are identified on
the pages that follow. logether with how we
mitigate those risks. Each principal risk is
conskiered in the context of how It relates
i the achievement of the Group's strategic
abjectives. The risk discussion ncludes
assessment of gross risk and nel risk, Gross
risk reftects the exposure and risk fandscape
belore considering the mitigations in place,
with net risk being the residual risk after
ltigations. Tha movement In gross risk from
the prior year for each principal 1k has been
assessed and Is presented on the pages that
follow. Mitigations in place supporting the
management of the risk to 3 net risk position
are gis0 described far each prindpsl risk.

Step 3
Identitying pricrities




Principal Risk Heat Map: year end No. _Risk

The Group's risk register rates risks on a matrix scoring system based on their likelihood and 1 Failure 10 successfully dellver the Asylum
lmpact, L.e. potential severity. This severity can be measured using life and limb, financial, Seekers Contract from a commerdal,
customer service, growth, regulatory comphiance and reputational criteria. Therefore, Mears reputational, and operational perspeclive,
measures more than simply the financlal impact of the risk. These scores are used to escalate 2 Major breach of information or data security
risks and to drive the mitigation plans, 3 Serous health and safely fallure

Almos! certain

Likely

Likelihood of eccurrence
Possible

Unlikely

Rare

Insignificant

EMERGING RISKS

4 Falure in governance, control, processes,
systems and structure in the management-led
contracts

5 Failure ta recover operations in & disaster or
crisls (busingss continuity)

6 Pofiticat and market disruptions, for example

2 towards outsourcing

1 T Reduction (n the Group's abillty o attract and

4 a4 retain lalent

Serious damage o or loss of brand Integrity

due 1o poor management of publicity and

external communications
3 9 Serfous fallure to manage housing

9 9 & P B sub-contractors

W Riskof percetved an actual discrimination
leading ta repulational damage and finandal
penalties

Severe Gross risk
7 B High Net risk

Medium

Low

Read more in the Carporate
governance section

Minor Moderate Major Catastrophic Read more in the Report of the

Auditand Compliance Committees

Severity of impact

In addition to known risks, we identify and anatyse emerging risks and the need for mitigation as part of our existing
risk management processes. Emerging risks are events that present uncertainty. They may potentialy impact us in
the longer term but there is currently insufficient information to understand and assess the likely scate or impact, or
for the senlor management team to set out an appropriate risk response. In some ¢ases, emerging risks are
superseded by others, or cease to be refevant, as the environment in which we operate changes and evolves.

The Board has consldered the following areas and their risk to the Company:

Cavig-19 aftershocks

The risk that the Group fails ta successfully recover from the short-erm impact of Covid-19. Areas of concern
are increased health and safety risks to the Group's staff and its service users, adapting to remote workling,
and mental heslth and wellbeing.

Covid-19 has long-term implications for the Group that could resultin financial losses and limitations on future
growth, Possible scenarios include a reduction In Gavernment $pending, increased taxation, and potential
future claims from staff and service users In relation to the medical condition ‘Long Covid'.

€56

ESG presents risks and opportunities for the Group. There Is a risk that Mears does nat identify and manage
the risks associated with changes in environmental legislation relating to housing, trans portation and
corporate reporting requiraments. There s also a risk that the Group does nol maximise opportunlites
presented by ESG relsied changes in its business erwvironment.

Legislative changes

Raead more

Changes to building and fire safety legistation that résult in higher cost to compiy with requirements and
increased scrutiny from regulators,

in the Corporate governance section and In the Report of the Audit and Compliance Committees
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Strategic Report

Principal risks and uncertainties

Damage to Reputation

Damage to Reputation

Strategic prigrities

Ta be recognised as the most
trusted large private provider
working with the public sector

To have the highest levels
of customer service In the
affordable housing sector
wirere we operate

To embrace Innovatian that
drives pasitive change such
as gigital and carbon reguction

To mamtain and grow a resilient
business with long-term
partnerships, a strong balance
sheet and cash position,

along with a commined,
engaged workforce

mSK  Failure ta successfully

1 deliver the Asylum Segkers
Contract. Given the nature
of the contract, the fallure
to manage the reputational
impact of an incident or
operational or commerccial
issues remains a key risk.

0e

Strategic outcome

mSK  Major breach of information
2 or data security resulting in

negative publicity ieading to
loss of confidence in the
sector or financial penatties,

L XS

Risk Level
O Severe
@ High
-:::c Medium

T ivow

KPis associated with risk

Change in year
! - @ Increase in risk expasure

@ Reduction in risk exposure

@ No change in risk exposure
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- Warks orders completed on time % «= Number of privacy complainis
imonthly) - Response time lo deta

-~ Rigtt first tme % (monthiy} subject requests

- Customer satisfaction fmonthiy}

- Complaints (monthly]

Mirigations

— Business As Usual risk register is - Information Security team in piace.

maintained for the asylum contracl
which Is reperned to Home Office on
& manthly basis and a¢1s a8 o bask
for questioning to Mears

— Mobilisation, transition and defivery
planning led by senics team and close
attantion from Group Executive

- Weelkdy Teams calt including Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer 1o ensure all senor leam
members are aligned

- Various projects around 1T sysiem
set up, GDPR, HR related and training

Meetings are atlended by Information
Secunity Group [ISG) and information
asset Qwners of 8 maonthly basis.

The asset owners are held responsible
for their respective depariments’ actions
Penetration testing is undertaken

by an external speciallst company
Third party review and support for
trawing 1n 1erms of GDPR requirements
On some of the Group's most sensitive
congracts, the cient conducts audits that
review physical sccess, security of herd
copies of files ang IT system secunily
Caompliance with 1SO 27001
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Damage to Reputation

Damage to Reputation
and Financial Viability

Damage to Reputation

RISK Failure to manage the

3 impact of a health and
safety incident leads to
reputational damage and
high financial penalties,

L JE)

Strategic outcome

Failure in governance,

4 control, processes,

systems, and structure in
the Registered Provider of
Sociat Housing key risk.

0O

RISK Feilure to recover
5 operations in a disaster or

crisis (business continuity).

L J€E)

KPls associated with risk

— Accldent frequency rates
== Customer complaints
— Excellent service rating

Mitigations

Praperties with valld gas, electrical and
Legionedla test certificate 100% target}
Properties with up-lo-date asbestos
survey and firg risk assessment

{1Q0% target)

Tenant satisfaction (monthiy)

Customer complaints

— The amount of time since each plan
was updated

wa The Group’s Health and Safety function
provides a second line of defence
and carrles out regular branch aydits

- Monthly branch inspection of
performance against KPis with
business improvement records
issued to managers and action
completions are baing tracked

= Accidents are reported within
24 hours. Investigations ere persformed
for every case and recommendations
are provided where applicable

- Safety, Health, Environment and
Quality report submitted 10
Compfllance Commitiee covering key
areas (safety, health, environmental,
waste, quality, compliance, and trend
analysis on accident statistics)

Registered Providers have own Board
structure which Includes five Non-
Executive Directors and an independent
Chalr. Sub-Committee {Assurance and
Operations) meetings are hetd which
focus on key contrect detaits

The RPs hseve been subject to audit by
the Regutator of Social Housing
Regular Committee meetings are
held on key areas: performance
updates, customer sarvice
performance. compliance {gas,

fire, electrical and asbestos risk
assessments, and complaints update)

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 202t

- Acrisis management policy is in place
- Business continuity plen is in place for

each branch
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Strategic Report

Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Damage to Financial Viabilty  Ability to Resource

KEY nisK

Strategic prigrities

Ty be recognised as the maost
trusted large private proviger
working with the public sector

To have the highest levels
of customer service In the
atfordable housing sector
where we operate

To embrace inrovation that
Orives positive change such
as digital and carban reduction

To maintain and grow a
Tesiiant business with
1ong-term partnerships, a
strong balance sheet and

Cash posilion, along with a
Commilted, engaged workforce

6 disruptions, for example
towards outsourcing.

O

Strategic cutcome

Political and markat RiSK

Raduction in the

7 Group’s abllity to

attract and retain talent,

Rigk leval

(O severe
@ High

0:-:1 Medium

KPis assoclated with risk

—= % of surveyed clients and paiiticians
whao regard Mears as highly

Starf tumowver {moanthly}
Social velue per employee (annual)

responsible (annual) Salf-delivery % {monthiy}
T Lo — % of overat media coverage ihat % of apprentices complating their
e is positive {monthly) course and obtaming work (annual}
— Great Place to \Wark score (annuan
Change in year — % of the grade 5+ warkforce who are
@ Increase In risk exposure women {annual
@ Reduction in risk exposure Mitigations

@ No change in risk exposure
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== There is requiar Board level monitoring
of the poMical cimate

-= Requiar one-to-one meetings between

CEQ and Members of Pariament to
improve mutual undersianding

w= The business [s diversified to become

& registered provider of social housing

- Close working relationships are

developed with Local Government
organisations

A Weridorce Strategy Group consisling
of senicr employeas is in operation, to
address key matters associated with the
remit of data enalysis action planning
and Implementaticn monitoring
Rigarous process ensures that ail
annual appraisals above grade 5
{mid-management) are reviewed

by senior management team

Mears Leaming is an internal training
department used to implement
tearning and Development strategy
There is an Executive backed

culture of retaining and develoaping
the Group's 1alent
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Damage to Reputation

Damage to Reputation

Damage to Reputation
and Financial Viability

RISk Serious damage to or
8 loss of brand integrity due

to poor management of
publicity and external
communications.

Strategic outcome

RISK  Serious failure to manage
9 housing sub-contractors.

RISk Risk of perceived and actual
1 0 discrimination leading to

reputational damage and
financlal penalties.

KPis associated with risk

% of surveyed clients and politicians
wheo regard Mears as highly
responsible (annual)

% of overalt media coverage that

is positive imonthiy)

Customer satisfaction (monthly)
Complaints (monthly)

Mitigations

Self-delivery % (monthly)

— Works orders completed on time 9%

{monthiy)

— Right first time % (monthly)

Customer satisfaction (monthly)

- Complaints [manthly}

% of apprentices completing their
course angd obtaining work (annual)
% of the grade S+ workforce who are
women (annual)

Engagement of external public
relations advisary

All staff are required to follow the soclal
media policy

There ks a dedicated Group Head of
Communications

Whistieblowing policy and procedures
in place (for some potential adverse
publicity events)

Staff are given cClear directions as to
how to deal with a press enquiry

A critical control point {CCP) has been
developed which partly focuses on
Branch compliance with the Group's
sub-contractor processes

Prior 10 sub-contractor engagement;
rigorous Interview process covenng
health and safety and insurance
Mears Contract Management (MCM)
holds key sub-contractor Information
and documentation

Payment controls

Post inspection checks and monthly
performance reviews of accident
siatistics)

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Social Value Board with external
Board members

Workforce Strategy Group, consisting
of senior employees, addresses key
matters associated with the remit of
dala analysis, action planning and
impiemeniation monitoring
Investment in single HR database
(Workday) which allows for improved
analysls,

Gender pay gap is consldered as part
of the peopla plan

Remuneration Commitiee provides
govermance at executive level
Tradeswomen into maintenance and
social mobility initiatives in gperation

53

SINZWILYLS T1VIONYNIY ADNVNUIAOD FLVHOLNOD LU04AM DIDFLIYULS

NOILYWNO1IN]I HAATOHIUYHS

N

\\

A\Y




Strategic Report

Principal risks and uncertainties continued

‘Smartphone’
initiative for
Rotherham's
asylum seekers

54

The pichal engineering company AESSEAL
s pertreered with the Mears Faundation
10 heip BSyium seeier eomiporarily doused
i RO TN ko caMmUNCe with thelr
Tamilles arid support groupt.

The tw thorta funded the purch

) move than BD0 kmarichones in An
initiatve i recognises the social and
amotiondl needs for Conettivity of 8 group
1hat hes In most cases svperienced extrenme
asdship dueing N3 journey ko tha UK,

A1 sy oM lime, 3round GO0 prople,
nchuding Individuals snd family groups, are

“These ara dspmced prople and tenias
withs the 5ame neerts or emotianal dupport
ANG CONnectivity tha we all hove. 1's &
otned-up worid satd s iDhones give
T m

Teumiity anedl 300 SUPPON,” he pddicL

That charity ond thie Rotherham

2re Joinky firancing the InRiative o buy
# stackof sty leved bui fully lunclionel
smartphones that ara capabie of inteme
COonereLion and susport video caling.

This s b adidiion 1o tha supoort provided by
ol UK Ty vh arrhve It thy

nhotel of ogngr
In Rotherham while thalr esyRm ciaims se
processed. The swylvm setian coma from
witious pirt of the world, inghading &

Arcommodation, lcod and besic Sothing
#re 3uppiiey by the Home Otfice.

Moars it & provider of housing o asytwn
Gasiars in Yarkshire. The Mears Foundation
8 ot for profit chariable loundation.
which suports the communities whele
Mairt works,

AESSEAL MD Chris Rwa sakd the company
higtd about the spyhim seskers snd
wanidd (O ek ensunk thal, whotever

tha qutcame of thaie CRER 10.78men In e
LN, they retaihad positive memaries of
Rotheham rid K5 peaie.
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UK seeking gsyium on »variety of grounds.

Hewitiar Tyrws, Gonursl Mbnager of tha
Maars Foundstion, sakt: "We 8re provd to
ba parinuring with AESSEAL to peovide @
Wiy & coMmuricata 10f sovium seakars.
Whan pecile amve in the UK, oten fewing
p Werirng i 8 Hew L
seem dauming. e hopm hat by providng &
Sk 100 L2 ) Bt At 10 Sk b 1IBEVES
50101 10 ird ot bOut thar Danw Kocal ated,
tris will imel thiem ¥ setile ima fife In the UK.




Financial review

. .. This section provides further key information in respect of the financial - - -

performance and financial position of the Group to the extent not already
covered in detail within the Chief Executive Officer’s review.

ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES (APM)

The Strategic Report includes both statutery and adjusted performance measures, the latter of which are considered to be useful to stakeholders in
projecting a basis for measuring the underlying performance of the business and exclude Rems which could distort the understanding of performance
in the year and between periods, and when comparing the financial outputs 1o those of our peers. The APMs have been set considering the requirements
and views of the Group's investors and debt funders among other stakeholders. The APMs and KPis are aligned to the Group's strategy and also
form the basis of the performance measures for remuneration.

These APMs should not be considered to be e substitute for or superior to IFRS measures, and the Board has endeavoured to report both statutory
and altemative measures with equal prominence throughout the Strategic Report and financial statements.

The APMSs used by the Group are detailer] hrlow with an explanation as lu wiy management considers the APM 1o be useful In helping users to have &
better understanding as 1o the Group's underlying performance, A reconciliation is also provided to map each non-IFRS measure to Iis IFRS equivalent.

The Group defines normalised results as excluding the amortisation of acquisition intangibles and before other normalisation adjustments which
management belleves are infrequent in nature and are considerad not to be part of underlying trading. The normalised results are further agjusted
1o reflect & 19% corporation tax charge. The Directors believe this aids consistency when comparing to historical results and provides less incenttve
for the Group to participste in schemes where the primary intention is to reduce the tax charge.

A reconcitiation between the statutory profit measures and the normalised result for bath 2021 and 2020 is detailed below. -

In addition, the Group aiso provides an APM which reports results before the Impact of lease accounting under IFRS 16. Management has provided
this ahernative measure at the request of 8 number of shareholders and market analysis to alow those stakeholders to properly assess the results of
the Group over-time. In particular, the Direciors use the pre-IFRS 16 measure to generate the Group's headline operating margin; whist this generstes
a lower operating margin, it reflects how the underlying contracts have been tendered and is alse more aligned to cash generation. In addition, the
Group's banking covenants utllise ad|usted profit measurements which are reported before IFRS 16 ang stakeholders require better visibilty of the
Group's adjusted profit for that purpose.

Continuing sctivities' 201 2020

Note £°000 £000
Profitfloss) before 1ax Statutory 16,333 (15,218}
Amaortisation of acquired intangibles Note 13 7654 9526
Non-underlying items See below 1627 2279
Profit/loss before non-underlying items, amortisation of acquired intangible and tax APM 25614 B3.413)
Removal of IFRS 16 profit impact See below 2,876 18
Finance costs (non-IFRS 16) Note 5 1,48 2875
Operating profit pre-IFRS-16 before non-underlying items and amortisation of acquired intangibles APM 29,638 580
Amortisation of software intangibles - Note 13 2123 2,21
Depreciation andloss on disposal {non-IFRS 16) Note 14 5,884 5,677
EBITDA pre-IFRS 16 and before non-underlying items APM 37644 8.468
IFRS 16 profit impact See below {2.876) (na)
Finance costs {IFRS 16) Note 5 5921 73
Depreciation and loss on disposal {IFRS 16)? Npte 15 43,386 42,242
EBITDA post-IFRS-16 hefore non-underlying items and amortisation of acquired intangitles APM 85,075 56,715
Amortisation of software intangibles Note 13 (2023 2,21
Depreciation and loss on disposal {IFRS 162 Note 15 {43,386) (42,242)
Depreclation and loss on disposat (non-IFRS 16} Note 14 (5.884) 5677
Operating profit post [FRS 16 and before non-undarlying Rems : APM 33,683 6,585

t.  Operating profit/fioss) and EBITDA messures include shere of profits of associates.
2. Inctudes profit on dispasal of £27.000 (2020; £268,000).
3. Includes loss/profiY) on disposs! of £268,000 (2020: (£3.000]).
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Strategic Report

Financial review continued

The profit impact in respact of IFRS 16 is detabied below:

200 2020

£000 £'000

Charge to income statement on a posi-IFRS 16 basis [50.207) [49.365)
Charge to Income statement on 8 pre-IFRS 16 basis 147431 {48.247)
Profit impact frat the adaption of IFRS 15 (2.875) 118

Non undedying items

Nan-underlying tems are iterns which are considered outskie normal operalions. They are material 1o the resulls of the Group through either their
size or NBiUre. These items have been disciosed seperpiely o the adiusted result sbove 1o provide a better understanding 8% 10 the underying
performance of the Group.

on 2020

€000 £000

Repaymem ar watver of fudough entitiement 1627 -
Impairment of assets in the course of construction - 1,500
RestruCiure costs - bes:]
1627 2,279

The Direciors elected (o valuntarity repey to HMRC amounts previousty received of £1.1m and. in addition. 10 not submit a clalim for 8 further amount of
£0.5m accruing during 2021 ynder the Coronavirys Job Retention Scheme (furiough'). During the first lockdown, the furiough scheme was essentiat
in safeguarding the financial stability of the Group and protecting employment. However, the Directors believe that (he strong recavery of the
business in 2021, augmented by the disposat of Terraquest, means that to cantinue to dsim furdough is o longer necessary ang Is nol within the spirlt
of the legisiation, A number of Mears’ chents looked to the Group to continue 1o Liilise the furlough scheme, and much of that cos! reduction passed
to those clients 85 par of the open book reconciliation, leaving Mears Group PLC 10 subskiise this voluntary repayment.

The Directors believe 1hat the repayment of furiough should be disclosed within non-undertying items; this voluniary repayment is not a trading item
and by ils nature is umique and non-recurring. The Size of this item is considered matedal and the Directors believe it would distort the readers’
understanding of the financial rasults of the Group.

Af furlough received during 2020 was recognised within the income statearent in narmat rading, Matched against the associsted cost, and na
repaymern is intended in respect of that earlier perlod.

In the prior perlod, the Group Incurred restructunng costs of £0.8m, which were disclosed 2s nen-underlying and exchuded from the adjusted operating
profit to the extent they arose from initiatives which were sigrificant in scope and IMpact but would not form part of recuming operational activities in the
future. In addition, during that same periad, the Group recognised a £1.5m inpalment on an asset in the course of construciion belng the difference
between the 1otal cast inchuding an estimate of the costs \o complete) and the fak value of the asset The impaimment charge apolied ageinst this asset
was considered exceptional given s size and due to it relating 10 an activity which is not part of the continuing activities of the Group.

Earnings per share (EP§)
For the purposes of assessing the Group's compliance with lts banking covenants, the Group Ullises an Bdjusted measure based on EBITDA before
the Impact of IFRS 6 and before non-underlying flems which are termed as ‘exceptional iterms’ within the Group's bank fackity agreament.

A reconciliation belween the statutary measure for profit loss) for the year aitributabie 1o sharehosders before and after adjustments for bioth basic
and diyted EPS is;

Diluted {continuing
Dilyted (cortinuing) Diiuted (discominued) and discontinued)
201 2020 2 2020 2021 2020
[ [ [} P P )
Earnings per share n&0 {0.66) 059 087 1249 4.1
Effect of amortisation of acquisition Intengibles 677 862 - - 677 262
Effect of full 1ax chasge agjustment n2y nezy 032 @.6n f153) {160}
Effect of non-underying temns 17 167 — 3873 \17 [3706)
Narmmalised earnings per share 823 229 062 2.46 18.90 Q57
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Continuing and

Continuing Discomtinued discontinued
2021 2020 2029 2020 201 2020
£000 £'000 £'000 £000 €000 £'000
Profifloss) aliributable to shareholders 12,996 n78n 1122 $6,242 1418 44.46]
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles 7654 9,525 - - 7655 9525
Full tex adjusiment 1365} (2125} (36%  [I0,696) .726) (12,821}
Exceptional Costs 1318 1,846 - (42,823 1318 (40977
Normalised earnings 20,603 {2,535) 761 2723 21365 188

Net cash/{debt)

The Group excludes the financial Impact of IFRS 16 from its adjusted net debi measure. This adjusted net debt measure has been introduced to align
the net bormowing definition to the Group's banking covenants, which are required to be stated before the Impact of IFRS 16. The Group utilises leases
as part of its day-to-day business providing around 10,000 residential properties 1o vulnerable service users and key workers. A significant proportion
of these leases have break provisions and the lease terms are aligned to the Group's customer contracts to mitigate risk. The Group does not
recognise thase lease obligations as traditional debt Instruments given the Group's ability to break these leases and in 50 doing cancel the
associated lease obligation. A reconciliation between the reported net ceshidebt) and the adjusted measure is detailed below:

202 2020

Note £'000 £'000

Cash and cash equivalents 54,632 96220

Amortisation of acquired intangibles - {39,353}

Adjusted net cash/{debt) APM 54,632 56,867

Lease liabilities {current) Note 20 (41,600) {42,888

Lease liabilities (non-current} Note 20 {175.290) (166183)

Total Statutory {162,258) 152,204

Less: lease obligations (FRS 16) above 216,880 208,07

Adjusted net cashAdeti) 54,632 56.867
Amartisation of acquisition intangibles

2021 2020

£000 £'000

Amartisation charge 7654 9,525

A charge for smortisation of acquisition intangibles arose in the year of £7.7m (2020: £9.5m). This cherge predominantly relates to the MPS acquisition
in 2018, resulting in intangible assets belng identified associate with to the order book and cuslomer refationships. This MPS intangible has now been
fully written oif, The Directors estimate that, in the absence of further acquisitions, the amortisation charge moving forwards will be circa £0.3m per
annum. As detailed above, the Group adjusts for this cherge within the Group's alternative profit measure. This amortisation charge 1s very material in
size and can vary significantly based upon the Directors’ assessment of useful economic ife. The Group's shareholders and market analysts typically
add back this item in their analysis and the Group’s altemative performance measure is aligned to that. Management believes that reporting profit
figures that exciudes this item can hedp the reader to better understand the underying performance of the busimass, without any distortion as & resuit
of this charge.

DISCONTINUED ACTIVITIES

As detailed within last year's Annual Report, in December 2020, the Group completed a disposal of its entire share capital In its Planrning Solutions
business (' Terraquest’) for a headline enterprise value of £72m. The consideration peyable to the Company pursuant to the terms of the Disposal
Agreement was structured as follows:

— £56.9m payable in cash at Completion

— Theissue by the Buyer to the Company of Consideration Loan Notes with an aggregate nominal value of £3.16m, accruing an Interest rate
of 10% per annum payable on redemptlon

= The issue by the Buyer to the Company of £0.06m of Qrdinary Shares in the Buyar, representing 6.16% of the entire issued share capital

A maximum emount of £10m of deferred conskderation payable In cash conditional upon the Terraquest Group achleving an aggregate

EBITDA of £9.5m in the finencial year ended an 31 Dacember 2021, A minimum consideration of £5m was guarenteed.

The Directors are pleased that the Terraquest business, under new ownership, has performed well. The Directers have been notified by the buyer
{Apse Capial) that the acquired business delivered an EBITDA of circa £8.5m in 2021, being the eam-oul peried. The legal agreement allows Mears
time to review the basis of this result and a mechanism for resolution if there Is any disagreement. Based on the draft assessment of the Terraquest
result for 2022, deferred consideration has been fak valued at €6.5m, being an increase of £1.1m. This additlonal profit has been recognised within
discontinued activities. The deferred conslderation is payable in April 2022.
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Property. plant and equipment (PP&E) is stated st historical cost of £57.3m (2020: £64.6m) less accumnulated depraciation of £36.6m (2020: £41.0m),
giving a net camying value of £20.7m (2020: £23.6:m). Mears historically has a track record of delivering organi: growth In the core Housing
activities with a low requirement far capital expenditure. When the Group secures a new contracl, the Group will typically open an office in that
locaiity delivering services to this single client; whilst Mears will typically lease the slte office, improvements are often required lo ensure that the
propeny s set up to deliver the required services, and 1T infrastructure and equipment is also required, and all this spend |s typically capitalised.
Leasing properties for rental to tenants is a core business activity for Mears. As a result, Mears currently holds around 10,000 residential property
leases and a further 3,500 office property and vehicle leases, Broadly speaking, & lease should be accaunted for under IFRS 16 only if Mears has
the right to diract Its use, which, through its decislon miaking rights, can affect the econamic benefit derived from thal asset. Around one-half of
the Group's residential leases meet the criteria for racognition on the balence sheet. Those that do not meet the criteria are typically due 10 them
belng short term In nature, often driven by the existence of a two-way break clause (a practical expedient offered under IFRS 16 allows those
leases with a term of less than 12 months to be expensed).

IFRS 16 focuses upon a ‘right of use asset', and to complete the book-keeping, recognises a corresponding lease obilgation. The lease obligation

Is not entirely consistent with the historical definition of a liabillty; accordingly, the lease obligation is not a typical debt Instrument as Mears can

terminate a signlficant prepertion of its leases giving 30 days notice, with no more than an insignificant penalty.

Working capital balances Include trade recelvables, trade payables and inventories; further explanation is provided within the working capital

management section that follows.

The Group participstes In two principal Group pension schemes (2020: two} tagether with a further 21 (2020€: 20) individual defined benefit

schemes where the Group has received Admitted Body status in a Local Gavernment Pension Scheme (LGPS}.

=~ Pension assels of £37.7m (2020: £7.1m) which relate to the two Group pension schemes. The significant Increase In the surplus is driven by
the increase in the discount rate assumption, which reduces the carrying value of the pensian cbiigations. Positively, the focus of the pension
trusteas Is o reach a position in the medium term where bolh these schemes become seff-sufficlent.

= Pension obligations of £17.0m (2020: £45.7m) which predominantly relate to the Group's LGPS pension arangements, The significant reduction
in this obligation is driven by increasing discount rates. Whilst pensions typically have fong-term time horizons, the risks carried by the Group
assoclated with the LGPS obllgations match the time horizon of the underlying contract which, whilst not removing all risks, does reduce the
period over which a deficit can arise.

— The exposure to the Group In respect of its LGPS obligations is reduced where the Group enjoys back-10-back indemnities with iks Local
Authorlty and Houslng Association clients. These indemnities are classed as Guaraniee assets, absorbing £13.0m of pension obligations
(2020: £30.7m). Therefore, in raspect of its LGPS pension schemes, the net exposwe s £4.0m (2020: £15.0m) being the pension obligation
less the Guarantee asset. In addition, 8 number of LGPS schemes are reporting swpluses amowmting to £37.7m {2020; £41.1m) which the
Directors belleve would not be prudent to recognise as assets, but which do provide additonal headroom against future deficit.

The pension disclosure is spiit on the face of the balance sheet between non-currant assets and non-current liabikities. In addition, the pension

guarantee assets are reported separately from their associated |labilities. Where LGPS arrangements are reporting surpluses, these are not

recognised as assets.

Receivables relate to the disposel of Terraguest ard comprise deferred conslderation of £6.5m and loan noles of £3.5m as detailed within the

discontinued activities section above.

Other payables Include provisions relating 1o the Group's insurance risks and a small number of anerous contractual provisions which arlse when

the unevoidable costs of meeting contractual obligations exceed the remuneration expecied to be received.
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Strategic Report

Financial review continued

CASH FLOW aND WORKING CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Graup has delivered exceflent operating cash flows over recent years with strohg underlying EBITDA to operating cash conversion.

As highlighted in last year's repofi, and notwithstanding the strong underlying performance In the prior year, the Group did benefit from a number of
Cavid-19 redated cash inflows which would unwind during 2021 notably the VAT deferral which increased the operating cash flaws in 2020 by circa
£16m and which was subsequently settied and Is reported as an outflow in 2021. Given the unique circumstances brought by the pandemic, the
Directors believe that 1aking & combined result for the 2 year period provices siakeholders a better measwe for essessing the underying cash
performance of the business, The EBITDA to operating cash conversion for this 2 year peériod, as detalled below, was 118%,

Mears has stways fostered a strong "cash culture’, whereby the Group's ront-line operations understand that invokiing and cash coeclion are
intrinsically linked, and 1hat a works order is not complete until the monies are banked. This culture has underpinned strong cash performance over
Mmany years. The reported cash conversion has been enhanced further as the working capital absorbed within the Group’s Development aclivities,
which have been in run-oft phase for the pas| 2 years, has siarted to be released. The working caphal absorbed in the Development activities
reduced to around £12m et 31 December 2021(2020: circa £29m), & reduction by circa £17m over the fast 2 years.

2021 2020  202%2020

£'000 €000 £000

{Loss)/profit before tax 16332 015,218) - 1ns
Net finance costs 8,069 9998 13,066
Amortisation of acquisitton Imangibles 7554 9525 17180
Depreciation and amorlisation 51,382 51,630 103,022
EB/TDA 83448 55.93% 139.383
Other sdjusiments ' 6213 1608 3gs
Change In inventories 12,944 4787 prrch
Change In operating receivables (2,244 18,475 16,231
Change i1 operating gayabies (32,5731 22418 (10155¢
Operating cash fiow 60362 103223 63,585
EBITOA 10 operating cash conversion 72% 185% 7%

The Group reported an adjusted net cash position at the yesr end of £54.6m {2020: £56.9m). The small reduction predominantly reflects the unwind
of the VAT deferral, which cancelled out the free cash flow generated in the period. Whilstit s pleasing to report a strang cash position within the year
end balance sheel, of much greater significance Is the performance over the 365-0ay period. Positively, the strong year end perfoimance is alse
mirrored in the average daily adjusted net cash for the year a1 £0.4m (2020: adjusted net debt £97.3m).

2029 2020

£000 £000

Average daily adiusted net cashidebly 400 {97.300)
Adjusted net cashidebt) at 31 December 54,632 55,867

The average month end trade receivabie and trade payable balance spiit by Housing calegory reflects strong warking apital management during
the period 8ng is detailed below:

2021 2020

Receivables Payables Net working capital Recalvables Peyables Net working capita)

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Maintenance-led u20 129.5) 125 385 N2s7 128
Management-led 7 gk (138 324 [25.5) 6.9
Developmen) 26 2.8 178 30 16.0) 25.0
1815 (1551 16.5 2018 1572) 447

The core activities of Maintenance and Management have historically absorbed a relatively tow level of working capital when compared to the size
of the business and the profit generaled. This low working capital intensity remalins the ¢ase and Is reflected in the sverage month end balances
detalied above. The working capital absarbed within Management-ed activities benefitted from payments received 0t account avéraging around
£15.0m ovet the year; however, even if excluding this temporary benefit, the adjusted measure woulk] reflect sivong performance.

The Development porifolic had a strong sell-through in the period totalling £25.6m of revenues. The working capital absorbed within the
Development activity has seen a reduction reflecting excellem progress in unlocking the cash that has been absorbed in this legacy part of the
business. The working capital batance absarbed In Development as at 31 December 2021 was circa £12.0m, Management continues to expecilo
camplete the remaining unwind of the working capital absarbed in this area over the course of the next 12 months.
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Banking and finsncial covenants

The Group has a simple approach to Its debt funding errengements, holding a single revolving credit faciity (RCF} which provides a total commitment,
but allows the Group to draw down monles as reguired, mirroring an overdraft facility. Following the significant reduction in debt levels, the Directors
completed 3 refinancing, reducing the total commitment lo £70m,

The Board iy grateful for the tremendous support that has been provided to the Group by its banking partners; Barclays ang HSBC have provided
support (o the Group for many years and made additional funds available at a time of extrema uncertainty, as the UK entered the first natlonal
lackdovin: It is pleasing to refinance atlevals which are considarably lowor, whilst rotaining cignificant headroom, The refinance also saw Citl Bank:
enter the banking arrangement, and the Mears team looks forward to extending this new relationship.

The financlal covenants Incluged within the RCF, which are tested iwice-yearly on 30 June and 31 December, are detailed below:

Covenant Formulse  Covenant ratic
Leverage Consolidated net borrowing divided by Adjusted consalidsted EBITDA" 3.00x
Interest cover Adjusted consolidated EBITDA® divided by Consolidated net finance charges™ 3.50x

*  Adjusted EBITDA on a rolfing 12-month basls, pre-IFRS 16, and siated before non-underlying items and share-based payments.
" Natfinance charges comprise all commission, fees and other finance charges payable In respect of financial indebtedness. This excludes income/casts relating
1o Group pension airangemers.

The margn applied 1 graw-downs under the RCF increases Is determined by the Group’s leverage ratio at each quarler end, as delaiied below.
This margin Is payable In addition 1a the Steding Overnight Index Average (SONIA) being the Bank of England risk-free rate for Stering markets.
Given the stiong cash performance in 2021, the Board's expeciation wowld be for the margin 10 stay at the bottom end of the ratchet throughout 2022,

Leversge ratin Morgin % ps.
Greater than or equaj tg 2.50x 275
Less than 2.50x 250
Less than 2.00x 225
Less than 1.50x 200
Less than 1.00x 175
Andrew Seith

Chief Financial Officer

3N March 2022
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Strategic Repont

Financial viability review

This viability review is being compieled
following a period of almost 2 years that hag
seen the unprecedented event of a worldwide
pandemic, The Covid-19 outbreak brought
significant short-term challenges. The Group
adapted quickiy (o deliver services In a secure
and safe enviranment to protect both our
employees and service users. Whilst the
Group adapted quickly to Ind the new ways of
working, the allemalive methods of working
reduced productivity and brought incremental
costs such as PPE. Howewver, the Board takes
significant comfort from the fact thet duning this
period, where the Group wes requived to react
10 an event that was more severe than any
scenano that was previously considerad. the
Group delivered setvices safely, malimainad
nigh levets of customer satisfaction and
improved emplayee engagement, whilst from
a financial perspective delivered both a profit
and improved lguidity, Whilst this viabifity
review lnoks 1o the fulure, the recent
parformance of the business in the most
challenging of circumstances provides the
Board addiional confidence a5 ko the
resifience of the Group.

In accordance with circa 2.2 of The UK
Corporate Governance Code 2014, the
Directors are required to assess the viability of
the Group over a S.year period. A perlod of 5
years has been chasen as it reflects the
avesage contracl length, being s blend of an
average contract length of 5 years excluding
extansian optkons. Whilst the Group hatds
contracts which extenc beyond this time
horizon, a period ol greater than 5 years

was considered toc long, given the inheren
unceriainties irvolved,

The Board considered its key risks. The
principal risks are et out on pages 50 ia 54
and are those which are considered o threaten
the Group's (ulure performance, solvency

and llquidity. Risks are Identified as ‘principal’
based on the likelihood of occurrence ang

the severity of the impact on the Geoup,

A financial model has beean built on a contrace-
by-contract basis for the next 12 months and
extended for the folowing 4 years. The S-year
plan considers cagh fiows as well as financial
covenants. The forecast for 2022 s based -
upon revenues generated from axisting
customer refationships, and a business that is
generating contract margins that are In line
with recent run-rates, The foracast for 2022
assumes a modes level of new customer
revenues secured from the current bid pipedine,
but with no further growth anlicipated beyond
this firsy year.
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The base case modet forecasts & resuit for
2026, belng year 5 of the model, with revenues
and profit before tax (PBT) of £741.2m and
£29.3m respectivaly, and an average netcash at
the end of that period of £66.6m. The financial
model excitdes the Group securing wark with
new custorners beyond the first 12 monihs and
reflects some revenue reduction from existing
clients, where it Is expected that there will be no
further opportunity Upon expiry of the turent
contract. The base case model could be
considered 10 te conservatfve.

Sensithvity analysis was undertaken 10 sirgss
testthe resiiance of the Group and its business
model to the potentlal Impact of the Group's
principal risks, or a combination of those risks.
A downstde case was prepared by management
10 fiustrate the impact of adverse changes in
key variables of the base Case forecastand
projections. The downside case is intended 1o
Musirate a reasonable worst-case scenaria
which could affect solvency or liquidity in
‘severe but plausible’ scengstos.

The Directors have considered five scenatios:

— Agprolonged impact of Covid-19 unon
Mainlenance-led activities

- Significant deterforation in Group’s bidding
sucCess on contract fe-bids

- A performance faiturg on a major cantract

- Sigrificant detesioratlon in working capitat
management

— A combination of 2k of the above scenarios

The foMowing sensitivities have been applied
to each downside case;

SCENARIO 1. COVID-19 IMPACT UPON
MAINTENANCE-LED ACTIVITIES

The Covid-19 reasonabie warst-case
assumptions assume a fourth UK nationa)
lockdown in the 3-manth period between
October and December 2022, with irading

In line with that experenced batween Aprll
and June 2020, but without the benafit of

the UK Government’s Coronavirus Jab
Retention Scheme or other stmiler ¢ 3

Q2-23: A 5% reduction in revanue in Apel

and May 2023 with & return 1o the base case

in June 2023,

Key i {af output, 5 ia 1

w— A reduction in revenue, PBT and net cash
In 2022 to £769.3m (base case: £823.0m),
£174m (base case. £28 Om) and £25.7m
[base tase: £27.5m) respectively, The
slze of ihe revenue and profit shiortfall
reduces in 2023, reflecling the easing
of trading resfrictions.

SCENARIO 2. SIGNIFICANT
DETERIORATION IN GROUP'S BIDDING
SUCCESS ON CONTRACT RE-BIDS
This downside scenario assumes a negative
outcome i respecl of Housing maintenance
contract renewalis. Given the average contract
tength of circa 5 years, several ey contracts
wili corne up for reniewal aver the viablitty
review periad. The Group has a good track
record of securing work on re-bid. However,
for the purposes of this viability resiew,
management has assumed o significam
deterioration in e Group's performance in
this area, possibly folowing a significsnt event
which has impacted negatively on the Group's
reputation in the sector. The Group has
madalled 8 downside scenario where it fails
10 re-secura any mataclal contracts that come
up for re-bid during the perlod 2022 10 2025.
The impact upon revenue of this assumplion
i detailed below:

Annualvalue  Expiry
Contract £m date
Contract & £16m 2022
Contrac1 B €12m 2022
Contraci C £42m 2023
Contract D £1vm 2023
Contract £ £20m 2023
Contract ¥ £24m 2024
Ccontract G £12m 2024
Contract H R42m 2024
Total anryal
vahe In 2025 €1Mam

Following this deciine, this scenario assumes
that this period is followed by a phased
recovery In trading, as the resticlions are
gradually relaxed, Notably:

Q4-22: A 45% reduction in Maintenance-led
revertue compared to the base casa, refiecting
a further UK lockdown of equal severily o that
experienced in 02 2020.

01-23: A 18% reduction in Mairtenance
fevenue, mirroning levels reported in Q3 2020,
reflecting customers' desire (o delves some
thgh pricrity services dut equally (G defer any
spending which could in the shart lerm be
considered discretionary.

Key financial output, Scenario 2

- Revenue reduting from £823.0m in 2022
0 £555.9m in 2026, together with an
associated reduction in PBT from £28.0m
i1 2022 to £17.3m in 2025,
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SCENARIO 3. PERFORMANCE FAILURE
OF A MAJOR CONTRACT

The Directors have modelled a performance
failure in 2023 resultng In higher costs of
delivery with no recovery from the customer.
in order to illustrate a worst-case scenario, the
Directors have considered a perfarmance
tallure on the Asylum contract, being the
Group's largest single contract, which Is
expecied to account for around 15% of Group
revenues. This failure is assumed 1o be driven
by a shartage of residential housing units,
resulting in a significant increase in occupants
being placed In hotel accommodation for an
extended pericd. This senslhtivity assumes that
this performance failre begins in April 2023
with 1,000 service users being accommodated
in hotels over a perod of 12 months.

Key financial output, Scenarlo 3

— Avreduction in PBT In 2023 to £21.4m
{base case of £30.2m). The net cash
halance at 3t December 2023 also reflects
this profit reguction, reducing to £33.2m
{base case £40.2m).

SCENARIO 4. SIGNIFICANT
OETERIORATION IN WORKING
CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

This scenario assumes & significant
deterlaration in the ¢ash collection
measurements, being an increase in the time
period between the completion of works and
the recelpt of cash from the Group's clients
{which follows a process where works are
valued and involced by the Group before being
approved and settied by clients). The Group
has made significant investment Inits
operational systems which are key to ensuring
that the work delivered is identified and
invoiced correctly. The Group has an excellent
track record in managing the warking capital
absorbed. This scenario modelled a permanent
deterioration In respect of the maintenance
contract asset collection period, increasing
from 60 10 70 days. Whilst a scenario where the
Group experiences a permanent detericration
In working capital is conslidered particutarly
pessimistic, such a scenario is helpful to the
Directors to further stress test the viability
review when teking a combination of
cownside scenarios.

Key financial output, Scenario 4

- A reduction in the net cash balance at each
financial year end, reducing to £47.9min
2026 (base case £66.6m).

SCENARIO 5. A COMBINATION OF ALL SCENARIOS 1TO 4.
The Directors modelled the Impact from Lthe occurrence of all downside scenarios occurring -
concurrently. The key financial outputs from this combination are detailed below:

Scenario 5 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
Revenue £m 7693 632.5 5725 555.9 5559
PBT §m o 123 15.2 73 73
Net cashiidebt) £m 135 2.5) (5.9) (0.0} 14.9)

No mritigating actions were included within any
scenario, which was considered conservative
but not entirely realistic. Mitigating actions
available to management Include a reduction
in discretionary capital expenditure, dividend
policy and robust working capital management
around covenant test dates. In addition,
upsides that are available to the base case
include generating an improved margin at 8
local contract level over and above the current
run-rate and securing new contracl awards.

In addition to the five scenarios, the Board tested
the sensitivity of the business 1o increasing the
severity of the assumptions detailed in each case,
1o measure the tigger points at which the viability
of the Group, in the absence of further
mitigations, could be impacted.

— Scenario 1 indicates thatin the event of
a national lockdown of simiar sevarity to
that experienced in G2 2020, and In the
absence of any Government relief such as
the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme,
each trading monih reports a profit
reduction ¢f clrca £3.5m. Whilist the Group
would continue to retain strong liquidity,
the Group's interest cover covenantis
breached in the event that the Group's
pre-IFRS 16 EBITDA Is negative.

— Scenario 2 assumes that all revenue is lost
on re-bid and in isolation this would not
impact on the viability of the business.
Were the Group 10 see existing contracts
terminated before their time, this coukd
impact upon covenants and funding levels,
and could Inavitably Impact upon viability.

— Scenario 3 assumes a contract failure for
8 period of 12 months, reducing Group
profits by £1.0m per month over that
period. In the event that a contract failure
of a simllar severity extended over a longer
period, the Directors do not believe such
an event would lmpact upon the viability of
the Group In isolation but coutd impact
upon solvency and liquidity to the extent
that this mare negative outcome combined
with other negative events.

— Scenaro 4 shows a change in net cash/
{debt) by circa £18m for a change of
10 days in the contract asset collection
period. Given the significant headroom
within the existing banking facllities,
it is not considerad plausible that the
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collection period could deteriorate 10
such an extent as to resultin exceeding
the available banking faciiities.

The viability review alsc considered the
increasing risk that fines cen be levied upon
companies for non-compliance In areas such
as health and safety and data protection.
Fines are discretionary based on the nature,
gravity and culpability of the company but
fines are applied based upon a percentage
of Group revenue. In a low margin business
such as Mears, any single fine could have a
significant and proportionate impact upon
retained profits. Whilst such an event could
be damaging. It wauld not be expected o
ultimately impact on the long-term viability
of the Group. Both health and salaty and

IT and deta feature high on the Group’s

risk register, and we continually review

our mitigating actions to ensure that we
minimise our residual risk.

The Group's existing debt facilities run 10
December 2025. The future viabllity review
extends beyond this date and therefore
assumes that there will be enough appetile
from our existing or new funders o provide
the required level of funding on similar terms,
The Group reported an average dally net cash
balance of £0.5m In 2021, The future viabllity
review indicates nat cash at the point of
renewal in respact of Scenario 110 4. Only in
the case of Scenario S s a net gebt position
of £5.9m forecast at the point of ranewal.

The Directors recognise that there is naturalty
uncettainty within ary forecast and this uncertainty
Increasas as the projections cover 8 S-year
perlod. The canclusion attached to the viability
review was that there was a reasonable
expectation that the Group will continue in
operation and would be able to continue to
meet liabilities as they fall due over the S-year
period of business planning.

This Strategic Report was approved
by the Board on 31 March 2022

D Miles
Chief Executive Officer
david.miles@mearsgroup.co.uk
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Corporate governance

Our corporate governance compliance statement

This section of the Annual Report sets out how the Company is governed. it provides
biographical and service details about the Board of Directors and discusses the
composition of the Board, how that has been developed and the Board evaluation
process entered into in 2021. It discusses how the Board assures itself as to Company
performance and sets out the key areas which were subject to significant Board
review and discussion in 2021. Finally, it sets out how the Board communicated

with shareholders and key stakehotders.

. nman's intreduction P 65
Introduction to Chaiman's in e
corporate governance

Soard of Directors Page 66
Roles and responsibliities Page 68
8 ip:
oard lea‘_je,r_Sh P Corporate govarnance frameworik Page 69
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Composition, succession Baard compositian i and Svalustion age
and evaluation Report of the Nominations Commitiee Page 74
" . t anag Com, ifte
Audit, risk and Report of the Audil an phance Committees Page 76
internal controls
Report of the Remuneration Committee Page 82
Annual Report on Remuneration Page 90
Remuneration
Report of the Direclors Page 98
Statement of Directary’ responsibilities Page 100
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Chairman’s introduction

The Board continues to develop its activities and processes so as to provide effective
oversight and valuable input to the sustainable development of the business.

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to
introduce the corporate govemance report

for 2021, The overall purpose of this reportis

to brief stakeholders on how the Board
undertakes its responsibliities for the laadership
of the Company and for the promation of Its
fong-term sustainable success. During 2021, the
Board considers that it was compliant with the
principles of good govemnance set out In the UK
Corporate Governance Code 2018 (the ‘Code’).

PEOPLE AND CULTURE

Maars has a strong and distinctive corporate
culture, The Mears ‘Red Thread' underpins
how our workforce undertakes its dally tasks,
with lis emphasis on working hard, being &
role model, taking responsibility and inltiative,
and focusing on excellent customer service
- a desire not just ta do each job well but to
make a pasitive difference to customers and
communities. The wellbeing of our workforce
and our cuslomers, alongside the creation

of commerciai value for stakeholders and
sharehotders, are key ingredients (o the
Company's long-lerm sustainable success.

The promation of this Culture is an iImportant
element of the debates that take place at

each Board meeting and informs the strategic
decisions which the Board takes. At each
meeting, the Board receives reports on key
workforce developments, monthly health and
safety and compliance statistks and up-to-date
feedback from customers, both complaints

and commendations. In 2021, esch meeting
also received data on Covid infections and
disruption 1o the business caused by the
pandemic. Twice a year, the Board receives

a more detalled report on key trends in the
regulatory and compliance landscape. Similarly,
the Board raceives an in-depth report of kay
human resources developments twice a year,
Including an analysis of the annual Voice of

the colleague staff survey, data as to workforce
diversity and developments in staff training and
development schemes. Each Board meeting
also has 8 discussion faclliated by a report from
the Employee Director on cuwent issues of
importance to the workfarce. In these different
ways, the Board maintains constant oversight of
the development of the Mears culture.

STRATEGY

During the course of 2021, the Board spent
significant time examining how Mears should
best deveiop once it had completed its exit
from activitles which it had decided not to
continue and reduced Its indebtedness to
acceptable levels. This exercise, underiaken
with the help of external advisers, is discussed
further in my letier at the front of this Annual
Report. The conchusion was that Mears should
remain as a specialist provider of housing
services, largely to the public sector. Areas for
future growth will be developing homelessness
solutions for our key Local Authority customers,
executing on the very large programme of
Insulation work and other heating related
changes to the UK’s social housing portfolio
needed (o satisfy Government targets for
carbon reduction and selectively developing B
capabllity to provide services to private sector
customers on a sustainably profitable basis.

BOARD EVALUATION

During 2021, the Board underook a rigorous
external evaluation of its performance,
supported by Independent Audit Limited (LALL
1 am grateful for the objective. candid and
supportive manner in which the JAL team
approached its task. IALS reportigentified
areas of good practice and made a number of
suggestions for improvement. This is discussed
further in the Report of the Nominations
Committee. The Board will folow up on this
reviewin 2022

BOARD DEVELOPMENT

During the course of 2021, the Board
undertook an exerclse to identify and appoint
a new Non-Executive Director. This process is
discussed in more detail in the Report of the
Nominations Committee. The result was the
appointment of Angela Lockwood to the
Board with effect from 1 Jarnuary 2022,
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ESG

The Board continues to take a close Interest in
the development of the Company agenda for
improvemenits in Its envitconmental performance,
the creation of soclal value and the promotion
of good governance,

Ouwring 2021 and into 2022, the management
team has been working on a detalled plan

to give effectto the Company's ambition to
delftver operations which are net zero it carbon
emissions terms by 2030 see £5G section

on pages 3310 41).

Our commitment to soclal vajue was reinforced
by the development of the Mears Customer
Scrutiny Board, whose Chairman reports
twice-yeadty to the Mears Board about its
activitles. These involve the detalled scrutiny

of selected cperational activities throughout

the Mears Group with a view to producing
recommendations for change designed to
create incremental improvements in the quality
of service which Mears defivers 10 its customers.

We continuaed o strengthen our govemance
over the year, with rigorous planning of Board
agendas to ensure that all important aspects

of the business are examined at Board level at
least once a year, ¥ not more often. We have
strengthened the contribution of the Employee
Director at Board meetings and thereby ensured
that current workforce issues can be a point of
discussion at each meeting.

SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS

The Company. primarily through the
managementteam bt also at Chairman

level, malntains a close dialogue with its major
shareholders. Each Board meeting receives

a report on Investor relations issues, with a
discussion on changes and trends, and there

is a discussion about anything of Imprtance
that has emerged. it is important that all Board
members ungerstand the main reasons why
major shareholders are supporters of the Group
and what their key [ssues are 50 a5 10 ensure
that the volce of the owners is also brought Into
boardroom discussions and decision making.

AGM

For the first time in three years, It appears that it
will prove practicable to hald this year's AGM In
person. Accordingly, llook forward to meeting in
person any shareholders who wish to come to
the meeting.

K Murphy
Chairman
31 March 2022
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Corporate governance

Board of Directors

Kieran Murphy David J Miles AndrewCM Alan Long Angela Lockwood
Chairman Chiaf Executive Officer Smith Executive Director Non-Executive Director
Chief Financiel Officer

Age Age Age Age Age
63 56 49 59 S8
Tonure Ténure Tenure Tenure Tenure
3years 25 years (15 years on 22 years [IS years on 16 years (M years on 3months

the Board) the Board tha Board)
Sklils and experience Skills and sxpariance Skills and experience Skius and experience Sklils and experience
Kieran is a very Cavid joned Mears in Andrew pired Mears in Alan joined Mears in Angela has extensive
experienced Non- May 1996 and, priar to 1999 and, prior 10 his 2005 and, prior o his experience gained frorm
Executive Divector and his appontment ta the appointment to the appointment to the 8 cereer in housing
Chalrman. He spent Boarg in Janyary 2007, Board, was Chief Board in Aupust 2009, spanning nesrly 30
much of his executive was Managing Director Financial Officer was Managing Director years. Statting her
career warking of the Mears Social covering the Group's of the Gioup's Care career at Sundarlana
in finance. At Kleinwort Housing division. subsidianies. division, having Councll, Apgela then
Benson, he buft a Before joining Meers, Andrew gualified as a previously held the worked for Home
market-leading David held 8 seniar - Charterad Accountam pasition of Group Sales Housing and
corporate finance DpOSition with the MIME In 1894 and worked In and Marketing Direclor, subsequently joined
advisory business Group. His background professional practice Prior to joining Mears, Endeavour Housing
in the buillding and I5 in electrical poiar to joining Meass. Alan held senlor rolas Assocliation, firstly as
consiruction sector and engineering. at Britannia Buivding Housing Director and
became a member of Society, Mars and then Managing Director.
the bank’s investment Smith & Nephew., She Joined North Star
Bank Managemem in 2009, holding the
Commitlee. More position of CEQ.
recently, at Gleacher Angela hokds an MBA
Shacklock, Kleran and is a Felow of the
extended pis advisory -Chartered instituie
weank into the business of Housing.
services secior,

Principal external
appointments
Allaxis S.A ., Unhversity
of London
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Principal external
appointments
None

Principal external
appointments
Nane

Principal external
appointments
None

Principal external
appointmants

CEQ of North Star
Housing, Joseph
Rowntree Housing Trusl,
National Housing
Federation Board,
Institute of Customer
Service
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Claire Gibbard Christopher Loughlin Dame Julia Unwin Jim Clarke Ben Westran
Employee Non- Non-Executive Director, Independent Non- Independent Non- Company Secretary
Executive Director Senior independent Executive Director Executive Director and
Director, Remuretation Audit Committee Chair
Committee Chair
Age Age Age Age Age
34 69 65 62 45
Tenure Tenure Tenure Tenure Tenure
1year 2 years 6 years 2 years 18 years (7 years as
Company Secretary)

Skills and experience
Clawe joined the Group
in 2018, foilowing the
acquisttion of Mitle’s
maintenance business.
Prior to this, Clalre
worked for atocel
Authority as

well as previoushy
working al Mears for

7 years In various roles,
Clalre is currently
working as a

Customer Insight
Manager in the Group's
Marketing team and has
worked acrass a wide
range of branches and
central support.

Skills and experience
Chris is a very
experienced CEO.

His last executive role,
prior to his retirgmient In
2020, was Chief
Executive Cfficer of
Petinon Group pic, the
listed company which
owned South West
Water and the wasie
business Viridor.

He was previously CEQ
of South West Water
and before that held
roles at Lioyds Register.
British Nuclear Fuels Pic
and Magnox.

.

Skills and experience
Julia Is tormer Chief
Executive of the Joseph
Rowntree Foundation
and the Joseph
Rowntree Housing
Trust, She has
significant experience
in the housing and care
sectors, having been a
member of the Housing
Corporation Board for
10 years and Chair of
the Refugee Councll,
She was appointed
Dame Commander of
the Order of the British
Empire in Jenuary 2020
for service to civil
society.

Skills and experience
Jimis & very
experienced company
Chief Financiat Officer.
He qualfed as a
Chartered Accountant in
1984 He has spant
much of his career in
senior finance roles in
consumer facing
Industries, having been
Chief Financial Officer at
David Lioyd Leisure, JD
Wetherspoon and
Countrywide.

Skilis and experience
Benis a Chartered
Accountant and, prior
to his appeointment as
company Secretary,
was Group Financlal
Controller and Direcior
of a number of the
Graup's subsidiaries.
Ben joined the Group
in 2004, having
previously worked in
professional practice.

Principal axternal
appointments
None
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Principal external
appointments
British Water,

Water UK, Retall

Principal external
appointments
Yorkshire Water,

York St John University
Smart Data Foundry
{University of Edinburgh)

Princlpal external
appointments
None

Principal external
appointments
None
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Corporate governance

Roles and responsibilities

Role

Chairmean
Kieran Murphy

Senior iIndependent Diractor

Chris Loughlin

Independant Non-Executiva Directors

Jim Clarke

Chris Loughiin
Dame Julia Unwin
Angela Lockwood

Emplayee Director

Claire Gibbard

Chief Executive Officer
David Miles

Chief Financial Officer
Andrew Smith

Exacutive Director
Alsn Long

68

Responsibilities include:

- Promoting a cutture of challenge, debate, openness, support and mutual respect

- Leadership of the Board, satting its agenda and ensuring effective information flow
end time management

- Ensuring thai Directors contribute effectively and allocate sufficient time to the Company
o do so

w— Ensuring thal \he Board listens to the views of shareholders, the worklorce, customers
and other stakehalders

w— Ensuring thal the Board both monitors and demonstrates culture, values and behaviours
of the Group

= Ensuring that the Board determines the nature and extent of risk and reward in
sirategy execution

— Ensuring effective Board evajustion

Leading the annual performance evalvation of the Chalrman
Providing & sounding board for the Chalrman
Availabie o shareholders as a channel for them to reise Board levet issues

b1l

- Promaoting the highest standards of integrity, probity ang corporate governance
thraughout the Group

Canstructively challenging decisions proposed by the Executive Directors
Ensuring stakeholder views are debated and cansidered

Agsisting in developing proposals on strategy

Contribuling 1o the pesformance evaluation of the Chawman

Briefing the Board on decisions made and key ssues from each Committee Chair

[ O B

Promoting the highest standards of integrity and probity

Assisting in developing propasals aon strategy

~ Asststing the Boand (o receive fll, open end honest insight and views fromits
workfotca on how strategic initiatives are being implemented

- Helping to provide the wider warkforce with a better understanding of how the

Board operates

-= Managing the day-io-day running of the business in line with the strategy and objectives
set by the Board

= Ensuring the Board is supplied with suficient and appropriate informaticn on a timety basis

Leading the business within the scope set by the Board

Developing strategy and setting objectives to meet the Sroup strategy approved by

the Board

Managing the Group's cperations 10 ensure they meet the risk appetite set by the Board

Supporling the Chiel Exacutive Officer in developing strategy and meeting objectives
Bringlng 2 commercial end financial perspeciive lo the Board

L eading the finance function and establishing strong centrol processes

Managing the treasury activities in accordance with the cedit risk appetile sel by the Board
Supporting the Chief Executive Dficer with investor relstions

Leading the devalopment of talent within the finance function

Supporting the Chief Executlve Officer in develaping strategy and meeting objectives
Supporiing the Chiel Executive Officer In managing external communications and
investor relatlons

- Setting the Group sociel value policies and proceduies

-= Leading the operational leadership and development funclion of the Group
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Corporate governance framework

BOARD ATTENDANCE

During the course of the year, there were
11 scheduled end 4 unscheduied Board
meetings, 8 Audit and Risk Committea
meetings, 6 Remuneration Conwnitiee
meetings and 4 Nominations Committee
meetings, with full attendance.

INDEPENDENCE AND

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

The Board reviews the independence of

its Non-Executive Directors as part of the
annual evaluation process. The Nominations
Committee also considers this as part of Its
ongoing review of the Board composition.
The Board considered all Non-Executive
Directors to be independent.

The Board operates a palicy to identlfy and
manage situations declared by Directars In
which they or thek connected persons have,
or may have, an actuel or potential conflict of
Interast with the Company. No Director conflict
situation currently exisis or existed at any time
during the year,

INDEMNIFICATIONS OF DIRECTORS

In accordance with our Articles of Association
and to the axtent permitted by the laws of
England and Wales, Directors are granted an
indemnity from the Company in reéspect of
llabilitles Incurred as a result of the position in
office. However, our indemnity does not cover
Directors or officers in the event of being
proven of acting dishonestly or fraudulently.

BOARD AND COMMITTEE
GOVERNANCE

The Board Is the principal deciskon making
body of the Company. Certaln matters, for
example relating o strategy, financisl struciure,
communications and policy approvails, are
matters reserved for the Board to decide.
Authority for other specific matters is tormaliy
delegated by the Board to three Boarg
Committees — Audit, Remuneration and
Nominations — and 10 executive management.

During the course of 2021, following an
independent appraisal of the effectiveness

of the Board, an exercise was undertaken tc
review and update the documents which set
out the role of the Board, the Chairman and the
CEO/executive management and to review the
matters reserved for Board approval. The full
text of these documents can be found on the
Group website,

A summary of the roles of each element
of aur corporate governance regime is set
out opposite.

THE BOARD

The key purpose of the Board ts collectively 1o
lead the Company and to promaoie its long-term
suslainable success, SO generating value for
shareholders and other stakeholders, and
contributing to wider society. The principal
responsibility of the Chairman is to lead the
Board and to ansure Its effective operation.

The Board's key functions are:

8 leadership: establishing Company purpose
and values, strateqgy, financial structure,
adequacy of human and financial resources,
and workforce policies;

b) oversight: of corporate practice
and behaviour, financial controls,
implementation of workforce pokcies,
risk and management performance,
and succession;

¢} relstionships: understanding views of
shareholders, other stakehoifders and the
warkforce, and the means to influence
those views; and

d} decision making: to lake effective decislons
on those matters réserved lo it, ensuring
It has the appropriate mix of skills and
experence and the information, time
and resources to do 50.

The matiers reserved for decision by the
Board are:

a) swralegy and management: approval
of the strategic plan and annual budget,
any changes in the scopa of activities
and review of performance against plans;

b} financlal structure, capitel allocation,
dividend policy and listing;

¢) epproval of financial and other major
communications and resolutions for
general meetings;

d} approval of major contracts;

¢) changes to the composition of the Board
and Its commiltees and appointment of the
external auditor;

fi remuneration and other corparate
palicles; and

g) risk appetite and review of strategic risk.

The Board's activities in 2021 are set out on
page 70. The composition of the Board and
the evaluatlon process undertaken during the
yearis set out on page 73, The Chairman's
review of 2021 is set out on pages 06 to 08 of
this Annual Report,

The Audit Committee

The key purpose of the Audit Committee is to
assist the Boardin Its function of oversight of
risk, financial controls and reporting.

The Commitiee:

&) oversees the development of the
Company’s strategic risk reglster and
makes an assessment of the effectiveness
of the Company’s risk management,
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b) assesses the Company's financial systems
of control, accounting policles and key
judgements, and compliance with
regulaiory requirements;

c) oversees the work of both the internal and
external auditors; and

d} reviews the Company's policies on fraud,
bribery, whistleblowing, etc.

A repoit of the Audit Committee’s activitles in
20211 set out on pages 76 to 81

The Remuneration Committee

The Committee’s key function is 1o determine
the Remuneration Policy for executive
management and oversee the appropriateness
and effectiveness of Group-wide remuneration
policies. It.

a) determines the remuneration of Executive
Directors and the Chairman;

t) reviews and decides on awards under all
share incentive schemes;

c) reviewsthe application of pay and penslon
paolicles across the Company; and

di reviews Group-wide human resources
strateqy.

The report of the business of the Remuneration
Committee in 2021 is set out on pages B2 to 97,

The Nominations Commitiee

The Committee reviews the composition,
structure and size of the Board and oversees
the process of recruitment to the Board. It also
reviews executive management succession
plans. A report on its activities in 2021 s set out
on pages 74 and 75.

The Chief Executive and executive
management genarally

The CEOQ has responsibility for the day-to-day
oparatians of the Group and autharity for all
decisions which are not reserved to the Board
or its Committees. The key rale of the CEQ ista:

a) ensure that the resources of the Company
are effectively directed to the execution of
the agreed strateqy, that key performance
metrics are in place and that progress
against those metrics is measured and
reparted to the Board;

lead, inspire and support Company
employees, through developing a high
performing management team and effective
Company-wide communication;

¢) lead the Company's relationships with
shareholders, custamers, suppllers, other
stakeholders and the wider community; and
ensure that adequate processes are In
place to manage risk.

b

-

d

The CEQ's report Is set oul on pages 10 to 15 of
this Annual Report.
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Corpotate governance

Key Board activities

ACTIVITIES OF THE BOARD IN 2021
The Board mel a total of 15 imes in 202, of
which 1 ware planned meetings and four were
shorter ad hoc discussions convened during
the year o discuss particular topics. As in
2020, proceedings of the Board were
significantly affected by the Covid pandemic
and it did not prove possible  meet
collectively in person on a regular basis
until after the summer. All of the meetings
were aitended by all of the Directors.

While ali Board membars agree that the quality
of Board discussion is typically better when

we meel in person, the Board has noted that

it has proved perfectly practicabie to take
effective decisions whike being required to
work remotely. Accordingly, the Board resolved
at the start of 2022 1o have some meetings

togeiher and spome remotely, taking inta
account the recommendations of the
exiemal review of Board effectiveness.

The Board agenda i5 set by the Chairman
with support from the Company Secietery.
Early In 20621, a plan was produced and
approved by the Board which set out the
proposed particular discussion areas for
each meeting. Inevitably, the plan evolved
and changed during the year.

Al evary planned Board meeting, each of the
Executive Directors and the Employse Director
provides a report andlor a verbal summary In
relation to the activities for witich they have
responsibility. In addition, the Board receives
verbal updetes from the chairs of each of the
three Board committees on activity which has

occurred since the last Board meeting. Finalty,
the Board recetves & verbal repor on any site
visits undertaken by the Chairmam or other
Non-Execuiive Direciors since the last Boad
meeting. [n this way, the Board is assured thai
at gach meeling it is provided with an
up-to-date understanding of strategic and
sector related developments, aparational
issues and suctesses, major contract
performance, customer feecback, healtt and
safety performance, financial matlers, irvestor
relatlons, workforce issues, successes and
awards, progress of new business wins,
communications, marketing and Influencing.

The table below sets out the other substantive
matters with which the Board deailt during 2021

Strategy and performance Finance and tisk Feople Statutory and governance

- Development of a 5-year Group — Review of the strategic = Deep dive reviews af health - Approval of the Compary's
steatagy and focused risk register, following and safely issues and Annual Report, AGM
discussian on issyes and recommendations from internal performance dotuments and resohtions,
opportunities reiated to the audit and the Audit Committes .. Review of workforce survey prefiminary and intetim financial
fequirement for carbon Review and approval of the data and trends statements and ad hoc trading
reduction, an opponunities in Campany’s Insyrance — Review ofthe ESG Strategy statements
the private rented secior and programme, reflecting (see ESG section on pages - Approval of certain Group
on fiture KPi measures Group risk appetite 3310 45} policies including in relstion
Deep dives into the operations Review of & valuation af the — Review of pay and the Gender o going concern and
of the housing maintenance Group prepared by the Pay rapert, following discussian viability assessment, tax
business, the housing with care Company's agvisers and of al Remuneration Committee and modern siavery
portfolio and the asylum S1OCK market perspectives - Deep dive on kay workforce — Approval of \he dividend policy
COMracts Appraval of a debt refinancing policles and issues and of propesed dividend
In-depth review of the package —= Review of senior managemaent payments
T lunctian and key Approval of the ennual budget successlon following discussion — Review of the independent
related issues for 2022 at Nominaiions Committee repart on Board governance
Review of the report of — Approved the appoiniment on a practice
the Mears Customer new Non-Execitive director with —  Appraval of updated
Scrutiny Board eflect from 1 January 2022, documents setling out those
Review of the proposed- foliowing a process mn by the matters reserved for the Board,
Scotuish business charter Nominaions Commitiee Remymeration Commiitee lerms

of reference and the roles of the

Board, Chairman and CEQ

/70
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Stakeholder engagement

BOARD ENGAGEMENT
WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

Within the Strategic Report, we detad how
we engage with cur key stakeholders, and
explain how each stakeholder group Impacts
upon our business model and our abllity

to deliver against our strategic priorities.

The Board recognises that engagement

with key stakeholder groups strengthens

ouwr relationships and is an ongoing part of
the operational management of the Group.
This Includes empioyee surveys, Assessments
of customer satisfaction and ongoing
conversations with regutators and non-
govemmental orqanisations. The Board
recelves regular ypdates from senior
management on insights and feedback from
stakeholders, which allows the Board 1o
understand and consider the perspettives
of key stakeholders in decision making.

The table below sets out the different
stakeholders with whom we engage

and how the Baard monitors these
Important retationships.

Description

Clients

Tenants and
customers

Communities

Colleagues

Suppliers

Shareholders and
debt funders

The Company |s committed to mainiaining goad communication with nvestors.
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How the Board is kept informed

Executive 1eam has dally cantact
with key clients

Regular discussion of key issues
at each Board meeting

Access to externsl press and
news flow

. Monthly customer performance
statistics, Including satisfection, -
- complaints and compliments
* Executive Director attendance.
. attenan panel meetings &

Customer Scrutiny Board:

* Monthty socisl valug measures

Socisl Value Annual Repart

— Close monitoring of staff surveys

Monthly People KPls
Employee Director

Engagement with supply chain

Investor roadstiows and
investor briefings

- Shareholder feedback

gathered bi-annually

Analyst research notes

Reqular dialogue with
shareholders ang funding banks
Engagement with supply chaln

Read more

Page 28

Page 28

Page 29

Page 29

Page 22

Page 72
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Corporate governance

Stakeholder engagement continued

INVESTOR MEETINGS

Investor meetings are predaminently attended
by the Group CEQ, CFO and Head of invesior
Relations, although other senlor Executives
may atlend. There is an active programme of
cammunication with existing and potential
shareholders, with ‘City Days’ schaeduled on a
monthly basis {cutside of closed periods) which
grovides any shareholder an opportunity fora
meeting with management. There is increased
dialogue fofiowing the publication of final and
Interim results, which is facilitated through a
series of formsal presentations, and management
affocates a full weel at thase times to ensure
all shareholders can be accommuadated.

The Chairman s atso avajlable for discussions
with sharehalders as and when they s wish
and a number of such discussions took place
during the year,

Tha Chair reguiarly engages with majer
sharghoiders to canvass thelr views on
goversance and performance ygainst
stralegy. Cominittee Chairs will engage
with shareholders where a parucular
matter retates Lo their area of responsibilivy,

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
Shareholger participation at #ach AGM is
usually encouraged. Given the restrictions
caused by the Covid-19 pandemic, special
measures meant that no sharehokders were
sbie o attend the 2021 AGM in these unique
circumstances, Ful details of the 2022 AGM
witl be set out in the Notice of Meeting.

In normal circumstances, all sharehofders

ANNUAL REPORY AND OTHER
COMMUNICATIONS

The Board malitains regulsr contact through
Ihe provision of the Annual Repon, regular
Interim Reparts and regular trading updales,
This mformation can be found on the Group's
webstle fwww.mearsgroup.co.uk).

CORPOQRATE WEBSITE

The Group website has a dedicated investor
section which provides an overview of
Mears, whilst also providing access to histonc

Annual Reports and shareholder presentations.

The Gmoup reguisry recefves and responas o
questions raised by small private shaneholders
through the invesior enguiry portal within the
Group's webslte.

The Group 8iso has regular dialogue with s
banking pariners. The Growp refinanced its
debt faciities in December 2021, putting in
plece & £20m unsecured revolving credit
facility. The Divectors were pleased to extend
the close relationship with Barclays and HS8C,
which have both baen banking partness lo the
Gioup for over 20 years. The Direciors were
also delighted to include Citi Bank in the new
arrangement and look forward 1o building an
thet pasinership in the future.

2021 investor relations
programme;

JANUARY
~ Shareholder calls available on request

FEBRUARY

- Notr-holder investor {virtual) roagdshow

— Chatrman's {virtusl) roadshow with top
shareholders

MARCH
= Pre-close traging update followed by
cans with major shareholders

APRIL
— Close period

MAY
— Preliminary cesuits for FY2020 released
follawed by full investor (virtual) roadshow

JUNE
-~ AGM and trading vpdate lollowed by
calis with major shareholders

JULY
— Close period

AUGUST
- Intedm resuits for H1FY 2024 released
followed by full fvirtual} investor roadshaw

SEPTEMBER
are imdted to aitend the Company's AGM, - ES6 consultations with arajor shareholders
at which paint they Nave the opporiunity
ta meet the Board and raisa questions. OCTOBER
Sharehaiders wha are ynabie to attend are - Ad hac non-holder (virual)
invited 1o emaif questons in advance to investor meetings
company.secretary@®mearsgroup.couk
NOVEMEER
Holding at Hoiding et - Trading update fcllowed by calls
March 2022 April 2021 with major shaceholders
Sh ing over 2% of ismred share copitat % L1
Shareholder Value Management 03% 9.8% PECEMBER
Fidelity Mansgement & Research S.9% 00%
Premier Miton B.2% -
Mpjedie Assel Management 78% 82%
Heronbridge investmant Management . 6.5% 5.0%
Columbia Threadneedle Investments 5.3% 5%
LOYS 51% 51%
Huntington Partners 4.3% 33%
Dimensional Fund Acvisors 43% AT%
PrimeStone Capita! - 123%
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Board composition, development and evaluation

1. COMPOSITION AND DEVELOPMENT
It is critical to the success of the Board that

it has the optimal mix of skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity to produce an
informed debate and a high quality of decision
making. Directors offer themselves for re-
election annually, The Board considers that
each of the Non-Executive Directors apphies
their time and experience so as to make 8h
effective contribution to the dellberations of
the Board,

&) Independence

In accordance with the Code, the Chairman
was independent at the time of his
appointment in January 2019, The other three
Nen-Executive Directors {Julia Unwin, Chrig
Loughlin and Jim Clarke) are ak considered to
be independent for the purposes of the Cade.
The three Executive Directors and the
Employee Director {by virtue of her
employment In an executlve role within the
Group) are not considered to be Independent.

At the start of 2021, both Roy Irwin and Geraint
Davies served as Directors of the Company
and both were considered to be independent.
Both stood down from their positions at the
Annual General Meeting In June.

The Company considers that It has been in
compllance with the Code reguitements as
to Independence throughout 2021.

b) Tenure

All Directors are subject o annual re-election
by sharehoiders at the Annual General
Meeting. The length of service of each
Director as at the end of 2021 Is set out

In their biographies on pages 86 and 67,

c) Skills and experiance

The Nominations Committee reqularly
assesses the skills and experience mix of

the Non-Executive Direclors. More information
on this pracess in 2021 Is set outin the Report
of the Nominations Comimitiee.

The Board requires a range of views, skills

and experience in arder to ensure thatit Can
effectively challenge mansgement's ideas and
delivery but also contribute positively 1o
Company strategy and corporate development
more generally. The balance of those skills
and capabilities is kept under review o ensure
that the Board can supply eflective leadership
and that, In particular, it has both extensive
commercial private seclor experience ang

a gaod understanding of the dynamics and
processes which drive the behaviour of it§
client base.

Set out below is a self-assessment of the skills
mix of the six Non-Executive Directors:

Skils and experience mix of the
Non-Executive Directors

Customer knowledge
Service sector experience
Finance

Human resources

Strategy

Investor relations

Senior executive leadership
Risk management

Business development

Gy pdn [ 0| djln)ds | & j00 |5

Operations

This assessment underpinned the decision
making behind the recruitment of a new
Non-Executlve Director in the secand half of
2021, a process discussed In the Nominations
Committee report on pages 74 and 75.

d} Diversity

As atthe end of 2021, the Board had eight
Directors, two of whom were female. Of the
Non-Executive Directors (Including the
Chairman), three were male and one female.
There are currently no Directors from an ethnic
minority background. The diversity mix was a
factor in the approach taken to the recruitment
of a new Non-Executive Directorin 2021, which
is discussed further in the Nominations
Committee report on pages 74 and 75.

To consolidate the Board's focus on diversity
and Inchuslion, a seminar was held In spring
2021, coordinated by Jane Farrell of EW Group,
which examined 8 number of aspects relevamnt
to the oversight of a large commercial business
such as Mears.

Mears will work to secure balenced boards W
broaden the range of perspeclives and
expertise, and ultimately benefit the services
and cllents we seek to support.

We will follow the principles set out inthe FTSE
Warnen Leaders review, which alms to increase
opportunities for women at the top of Britain's
largest companies.

e) Induction

In view of the intended appointment of a new
Non-Executive Director, the Chairman and the:
Company Secretary reviewed and updated the
Company's induction programme. This now
provides for a comprehensive serles of
meetings with each of the Directors and senior
managers In the Group, access to the key
Board and Committee papers prepared and
discussed over the last 12 months, plus 8
programme of visits to some of the Group's
key operating locations.
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f) Commitment

The Directors, Executive and Non-Executive,
are required to devote as much time as is
reasonably required to discharge their duties
effectively and the Board is satisfied that the
Directors do so. This 15 iliustrated by the fact
that in 2021 all of the Directors were In
attendance at all Board meetings, whether
planned or ad hoc. Similar levels of attendance
were in evidence at meetings of the Board
sub-commiittees, each of which are now
attended by all Non-Execulive Directors.
Directors wishing to take up additional extermal
appointments require the permission of the
Board, acting though the Chairman.

g) Processes

All Directors have access to the Company
Secretary. who is responsible for ensuring
compliance with law and regulaiion and that
Directors are kept abreast of changes in
relevant corporate legislation. Directors,
callectively or individually, have access though
the Company Secretary 10 appropriate external
professionel advice should that be needed.

The Board operates a policy to identify and
manage sitvations declared by any Direclor In
which they or their connected parties have, of
may have, an actual or potential conflict of
interest with the business of the Company.

No such situation currently exists or existed

in 2021

In accordance with the Articles of Association,
and to the exient permitted by law, Directors
are granted an indemnity from the Company in
respect of liabilities Incurred as a result of their
position in office. The indemnlity does not cover
Directors or offlcers in the event of their
behawving fraudulently or dishonestly.

2. EVALUATION

During the course of 2021, an independent
evaluation of the effectiveness of the Board
and its commitiees was undertaken by
Independent Audit Limited. A description of this
process andthe outcomes is setout in fullin
the Repon of the Nominations Commitiee.
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Corporate govermance

Report of the Nominations Committee

This report sets out

the key matters
which were
addressed by the
Committee in 2021.

Meeting sttendance

CLoughtlin

K Murphy

J Unwin

G Davies

JClarke

R Irwin

SN EIEIELE

K Murphy
Chalirman

74

As foreshadowed in last year's report, ane of
the main tasks fos the Committee in 2021was
the setection of 8 new Non-Executive Director,
consequent o Lthe retirements of Geraint
Davies and Roy Unwin.

Te commence this process, the Commitiee
reviewed the mix of skills and experlence

at Non-Executive Director level, taking

into account Geraint and Roy's departure,

In discussion, the Commitiee concluded that
we required an Individual with en excelient
understanding of the dynamics and operations
of the arganisations which ane the key
constituents of Mears’ currént cuslomer base.
The ideal candidate would demonstrate
effective leadership a1 Board leve), having
held one or more leading executive pasiions
in a Local Authority, operational Governmeant
departmeni or Houslng Association. The key
requirement would be an ability to bring that
knowledge of Mears” customer base to make
an eftective contribution (o strategic debate,
with a clear undarstanding of the drivers of
customer behavigur and how that cauld be
matched with Mears' deskre for growth and
value. it was ais0 important that the successful
candidate be aware of and empathedic to
Mears' comporate culture.

The Commitiee was also conscious of the

need (0 cominue to broaden the diversity

of backgrounds around the boardroom tabfe
and this was explicitly reflected in the choice of
recruitment consulant made for the assignment
and in the brief given to that adviser.

The Committee interviewed flve candiiates for
the role, chosen from a longer list of passible
appointees, and selected Angela Lockwood.
Angela is Chief Executive Officer at North Star
Housing, a successiul medium sized Housing
Association based in Stockton on Tees which
won Investors in People UK 2021 Platinum
Empliayer of the Year for smaller oigenisations.
Angela has extensive experience galned from
# career In housing spanning nearly 30 years.
Starting her career at Sunderland Council,

Angela worked lor Home Housing and
subsequently joined Endeavour Housing
Association, firstly as Houslng Direcigr and
then Managing Director. She joined North Star
in 2009. Angela holds an MBA, is & Fellow of
tha Chartered Institute of Housing, a Board
member of the Joseph Rowntree Houslng
Trust, 8 member of the National Housing
Federation Board and a Vice President of the
Institute of Customer Service. Angela joined
the Mears Board wilh effect from 1 January
2022 and has begun an extensive induction
programme with & series of meetings and visits.
o Group opevatians,

The gther major task for the Commitiee in 2021
was to undertake an Independent evaluation
of the effeciuveness of the Board and Its
committees, In accordance with the Cade.

This review was postponed from 2020,

Independem Audh Limiied was appoinied in
May 2021 ta undertake such & review. 1AL has no
other connection with the Company and this is
the first thme it has evaluated the Mears Board.
IAL undertook a comprehensive review
covering af aspects of Boarg and Committee
effectiveness. The reviewers attended Board
and Committee meetings in person and virtually
during the summer, reviewed a full cycle of
Board information and held one-to-one
discussions with ail of the Directors, a enge of
other senior executives and the external auditor.
IAL reported 1o the Boacd in Seplember 2021,
attending an in-person mesting. All Disectors
had an opportunity ¥ discuss the findings, ask
the reviewers guestions and constder \he
direction of future Board development.

The review concluded that the Board had
undergane considerable change in the last
twa years, with the Chair having extensively
changed both the composiion of the
non-execulive team and the planning of
Board agendas. Much had been improved
over that pericd and there was the potential
Ior further improvement.
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Strengths of the Board

Areas for Board development

Stable and long-
standing executive
team with etfective
oparations! controf
of the husiness

More effective
scrutiny, with aversight
of and input to strategic

and financial ssues

Strong focus on
customers, workforce
lxsues, health and safety,
compliance and
corporate culture

Skilled chalring and
good quaiity debate
and chalfenge on a
range of mojor topics

The Empioyes Diractor
provides a valusble
smplcyae parspective
and heips reinforcs the
waorikforce volce

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Key areas for
development

A stronger focus on cffective
cammunication with more time
spent together if possible

The review highlighted a number of areas for the Board to focus on in 2022,

Action taken/
to be taken

Halding more Board meetings in person,
moving Committee meetings to different
days, regular Non-Executive group
discussions befare Board meetings

and, over thme, mave visits by Non-
Executives to operations

Clearer documentation of the role
of the Board, its committees, the
Chairman and the CEO to facilitate
collective working

Revlewing and agreelng documents
setting out the respective roles of the
Board, committees, Chalrman and CEQ.
These documents can be viewed on
the websile

Clearsr plan for axecutive succession
combined with further considaration
of the roles of the most senior
managers below Board level

Substantive discussions held about
executive regrganisation, the recruitment
of a new senior commerctai director

and continuing discussion on senior
executive succession

Maintain focus on strategy and
on the use of KPis and risk analysis
and assessment

The Board will review the S-year plan In
spring 2022, examine the Group's carbon
reduction plan and continue its
discusslon of KPl reporting

Clarification of the role and
contribution of the Emplayee Director

Ensuring that each Board meeting has
an agenda item for the Employee Director
to report on her activities and key issues

Mofe work need’s 1o be done and the Board intends to ungertake an internal self-evaluation
during 2022.

In addition to its assessment of the Roard, 1AL also provided input to the review of the Chairman
conducted by the Senior Independent Director.

The terrns and conditions of each of the Non-Executive Directors are avallable for inspection at
the AGM and can be made avallable lo shareholders on requestlo the Company Secretary.

K Murphy
Chairman, Nominaticns Committee
31 March 2022
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Corporate governance

Report of the Audit and Compliance Committees

This report sets out

the key matters
which were
addressed by the

Committee in 2020.

Masting sttencencs

J Clarke

C Loughiin
JUnwin

8/8
j:6:3

44

G Davies

44

J Ciarke
Audit Committee
Chalrman

76

This report sets out how the Committee has
fuitiled its responshilities during the year and
in elation to financisl reporting mattars, the
sigrificant issues that were considered and
how they were addressed.

1 my First year 85 Chakrman of the Audlt
Commitiee, | am plgased 10 present (he
summary of the work of the Committee

over the (ast 12 months.

As detafed in st year's report, the Commitiee
appoinmed Ermst & Young LLP [EY} as the new
extemal auditor Bng the first year of the new
audit engagement went wel, hut was made
mate challenging by the restrictions placed

on office working through the pandermic.

The Caommittee Is pleased with the progress
of EY in its second year, with uch of the
leaining and knowledge accumulated In the first
year dllowing a more focused audit approach,
with cominyed leverage of data-analytics toals
to dedver an efficlent process.

The Committee has reviewed the significant
financlal reporting matters snd judgements
identified by the management team and EY
through the awdit process. and the approach
to addressing these is detslled an pages 78
and 79 of this report.

The 2021 tinancis| year was relatively
siraightforward when compared to the previgus
two years, witich had encountered » aumber of
cisposals [Domitliary Care and Terraguest),
steps taker to exif the Devalopmant activities,
significant new accounting standards {FRS 16
‘Leasas'} and the unique challenges
ancountered at the start of the pandemic,

By contrasy, 202 was a period of stabiity and
strengthening: the areas within the financial
statements requirdng significant estimates and
Judgement are not new 10 the management
team or any of the Commiitee members,

The continuation of the pardemic ensured
thay the fight against Covid-19 and the
necessity 10 keep our people and customers
safe remained one of the primary concerns of
the Campllance Committee throughout 2021,
The ever-changing environment meant ther2
were challenges across our enthe range of
operations, most notably (n asylum suppont
and care services, whilst the Group's decislon
1 take A very caytious apprasch {o the
refaxation of controfl measures linked to \he
relurn o busingss as usual’ meant we were
able to quickly respond o the threat posed
by the Omicron varlant.

The everincreasing importance of data
security is a key strategic cansideration foe

the Group and in this regard, the Comphance
Committee’s role has recenily been widened
ta encompass greater scrutiny of this essential
area maving forward inte 2022, 10 enhance the
fevel of information avaiable 10 the main Board.

tn relatlon to risk management aryd internat
contro’s, the Board and Audit Commitice are
mindful of the importance of cantinuing to
improve both ¢ontrol and output in this area.
The work carmied out durfng 2021 is detailed
within this report. The co-sourcing between
the intermal Mears team and KPMG has
celivared a high quality output and exceltent
vahe, allowing KPMG to bring in specialists on
8n ad hac Hasis rathes than adding fulk-time
empioyment for what acé mainfy ‘task and
finish’ projects. The gverall lead for our
internal audit work continues to sit with KPMG,

Our reguiar programme of meelings and
discussions, supported by our interactions

with the Company's management, and exiernal
and Intemal auditors, and the quality of the
reporis and lnformation provided 10 us, enable
the Commitiee members o effectively
discharge their duties and responsibiilties.
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HOW THE AUDIT

COMMITTEE OPERATES

The Commitiee pravides Independent

review and manitoring of the risk management
and control procedures within the Group.

Each Committ@e member is independent and
has broad commercial experience. im Clarke
Is 8 Chartered Accountant and has significant
recent and relevant financial experience,

most recently at Countrywide as Group CFO.
Chris Loughlin has held a number of CEQ and
COO0 roles within large, quoted entities and
brings broader, more operationalty focused
commercial expertise. The final Committee
member, Julia Unwin, has held senior roles
within housing and care sectors which bring
industry specific expertise, whilst also currently
engaged by the Financlal Reporting Council.

During the year, the Commitiee heid eight
meetings. These meetings were also attended
by the Group Chief Executive Offteer, the
Chief Finandiat Officer, and the Group
Chairman. The Internal and extemal auditors
were invited to all meetings. The Company
Secretary acls as secretary (o the Committee.

The Audit Commitiee Chairman fmeets wih
the external avditer and lead internal suditor
regularly throughout the year.

COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

In addition, the Audit Committee has a

very active sub-commitiee, belng the
Compliance Committee. This reflects the
significant focus that the Group gives to
dealing with health, safety, and environmental
risks. The Compliance Commitiee is a
sub-committee of the Audit Committee and is
chaired by Jason Burt, the Group Director of
Health, Safety and Compliance, a former
specialist heatth and safety lawyer. He has

an extensive and detalled working knowledge
of the Issues which can adversely impact the
efficiency of health, safety and compliance
governance systems and cause and drive
regulatary prosecutions and employers’

and public liability claims. The extent to

which the full integration of health, safety

and environmental risks is now embedded

in the governance structures of the Group is
highlighted by the members of the Compliance
Committea, who include the Group's Chief
Executive Officer, Health and Safety Director
and internal Health and Safety legal adviser.
Others are called upon to attend as required.

The Committee’s terms of reference are
avaliable on the Company's webslte and
on request from the Company Secretary.

Main activities of the Committes during the year

Internal audit

— Reviewed and monltored progress against
2021 Internal audit plan

— Reviewed the quality and effectiveness
of the outsourced arrangement

— Reviewed the internal audit plan for 2022

Risk management

— Received réports from the Chair of the
Compliance Committee

— Reviewed and approved the Group's
risk register

- Reviewed and validated the effectiveness
of the Group’s system of internal controls

== Moniored fraud reporting and incidents
of whistleblowing

- Oversight and monitering of the Group’s
compliance with the Bribery Act

Financial performance

— Reviewed the basis of preparation of the
fingncial statements as a going concern
and the long-term viability review

- Reviewed and discussed reports from
the CFQ on the financial statements
and considered the significant
accounting judgements or where
there is estimation uncertainty

— Considered reports from the external
auditor in respect of the suitabllity of the
accounting policies and the integrity of
the financlal reporting

- Reviewed the 202t Annual Report
and Accounts and provided a
recommendation to the Board that, 85
a whole, they complied with the 2018
Code principle to be fair, balanced,
and understandable, and praovide the
information necessary for shareholders
1o assess the Company’s position,
performance, business model
and strategy

External auditor

— Agreed the audit fee for the year
ended 31 December 2021

— Rewiewed the proposed audit plan
for the 2021 statutory audit

-~ Reviewed recommendations arising
from the 2020 statutory audit

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021
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Corporate governance

Report of the Audit and Compliance Committees continued

We considered the aspects of the financlal statemenits that required significant accounting judgements of where there is estimation uncertainty.
These are explaiied in greater detaii within the notes 10 the financial siatements. The Audit Commitiee recejved detalled reposts from the CFO
and the exteimal auditor on these areas and other matters which they believed should be drawn to the attention of the Committee,

The Corninittae discussed the range of possible trestments both with management and with the external auditor, confirming that the judgements
madge by smanagement were robust and supporiable. For all the significant issues detalled below, )t was conduded that the tresimeni adopted was
the maost apprepriate.

Read more as to how this key issue was

Signiticant issue addr in the financlal stalements

Lease actounting IFRS 16 was adapted with effect from 1 January 2019 and The Commitiee chakenged management in respect of the
has proved & difficult standard to implement snd one which  pracesses and controls that were in place throughout the
has required significem changes ¢ tha systems and year o ensure the completeness of the right of use assel
day-to-day processes. and lease obligations, The Cammittee recagnised this to be

a high risk area given the high number of new jeases being

Under IFRS 16, § lessee will recognise its right o use a incepted and the complexities of iFRS 16,
leased gsset along with a lease liability representing its
obfigation to make lease payments. On inception of a The Committee has reviewed the assumptions and key

new lease, a gt of use 8ssel and lease obligatian areg Judgéments piovided by management, inchsding the
measuted at the present value of the luture lease payments  additional detall provided, resulting from the extensive
discounted using the Group's incremental borrowing rate. review and reassessment of the process in respect of
The depreciation cost of the newly recognised 'ighitof use  lease identiffication.

assel’ will be charged to the proiit within cost of sales or

administrative costs, whilst the interest cost of the nawty The Committee recognises that lease actounting IS very
recognised Hability will be charged to net finance COsts. significant 1o Mears and Is a key area for slakeholders to
On the basis that depreciation is required to be charged tully understand.

on a straight-line Dasls, whilst interest is charged on a

reducing balance basis, this results in a higher overall The completeness of the lease abligation is identifted as a key
charge being applied to the income staternent in the early  sudit area and EY has provided further detail as to how this
years of alease, with this Impact reversing over the later mattes was addressed dufing its auditwork on page 108,
years. The profit impact over the life of a lease 15 neutral '

and IFRS 16 has no impact on predax cash flows.

Lease accounting is critical to Mears given the Group holds

more than 13,500 leases across its portfolio of residentiat

properties, offices, and vehicles. The most significant and

complex category relates 1o the Group's portfolio of

residential properties, which comprises approximately

10,000 leases; whiist the Group endeavours to standardise

the farm of leases, operational demands dictate that many

leases have specific wording to address the specific

operational need and aiso (0 manage the associated

operatonal and financial risks.
Determination of the At 31 December 2021, the Grayup reported a net retirement  The Committee reviewed the key assumptions proposed by
amount of the Group's benefit surpius of £20.7m, being the difference between the managemant, notabiy assumplions in respect of discount
retirement benefit fair valye of the scheme assets less the present value of the rate, RPY, CPL and future salary increases, which are detalled
abligations benefits expected to be paid to members of the schemes.  In nate 28 16 the consolidated financial statemants,

This assessment requires an assumption to be made in

respéct of mortality rates and fulure Infletion rates which Given the lechnical nature of this area, the Commitiee

will result in an increase in future benefits received by placed refiance upon the work of AoN., which ik engaged

members. This also requires an appropriate discount rate la suppart management in setting assumptions and

1o calculate the pragent value of these future abfigations for  consalldating information prepared by the respective

the future payments. Where the Group has a contractual scheme actuaries in respect of each of the defined benefit

right to recover the cosls of making good any deficit pension schemes. The accounting for defined benafit
pension scheme, the fairvakre of that asset has been pentsion schemes is aiso kenlified as a key audit area
recognised and disciosed. and EY provides further detail as 10 how this matier was

addressed during ts aucit work on page 106.
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Read more as to how this key issue was addressed
in the financial statements

Assessing whether the
Group has the power
to contrel in respect of
a beneficilal interest in
49% of the shares in a
company, Haydon
Mechanical and
Electrical LLC

An investor, regardless of the nature of its involvernent with
an entity, is required to determine whether it is a parent by
assessing whether it controls an investiee, Aninvestor
coritrals an investee if and only if the investor has power over
the investee, In assessing whether it has power, an invesior
considers only substantive rights refaling to an investee. For a
right to be substantive, the holder must have the praciical
ability 1o exercise that right,

The Group holds a beneficial interest in 49% of the shares Ina
company, Haydon Mechanical and Electrical LLC [Haydon
LLC"), registered in the UAE. Whils! the Group took active
steps to dispose of Haydon LLC in 2016, certain completion
conditions assodated with the sales transaction have not
been met, and the beneficlal Imerest in Haydon LLC hes as
such been retained by the Group. EY has Identiied this as 8
significant controf deficiency.

Haydon LLC ceased trading during 2017 and repaorts a net
labifity posiion. The carrying value of the Group's investment
in this sssodale has previously been reduced to &nll, and the
Directors do not believe that the Group has incurred any legal
or constructive obligations on behalf of this associate.

The Commitiee reviewed and considered the key judgements
by management. In assessing whether the Group has the
practical abllity to have power over the investee, the Directors
have considered several operational, kega! and regulatory-
barriers which prevem Mears from exercising s rights.

These barriers Included the absence of suitable ndividuals
willing t0 provide an executive management service and
restrictions placed upon the trade licence.

The Directors have therefore taken the judgement that Medrs
does not have the practical ability to direct the activities of
Haydon LLC and as such does not meet the criteria for control.

The judgement of the Directors was supported by external
legal advice which confirmed the significant restrctions
preventing the Group from exercising its rights.

The commitiee took comfort from the additional work camied
out by EY, and that they Independenily reached the same
conclusion to that reached by the Executive Directors

and Committee.

Goodwill impalrment

At 31 December 2021, the Group reported goodwill with

a carrying value of £119m. For the purposes of assessing
impairrment. management identified two separaiely
tdentiflable cash flows which are termed as cash-generating
units {CGUs). The two CGUs identified are the continuing
Care activities referred to as "Housing with Care’) and the
Group's other Housing activities. Determining whether
goodwill is impaired requires an estimate of the value in use
of each of ithe CGUS ta which goodwill has been allocated,
The value-in-use calculation Involves an estimate of the
future cash flows of the CGU using the current one-year
budget, extrapolated for five years 10 December 2026,
requiring a medlum-term growth assumption and a generel
terminal growth rate, and an assessment of an appropriate
discount rate 10 calculate present values. The Commiitee
took comfart from the fact that there was significant
headroom when reviewing any Impaiment in the prior year.

The key assumptions, and a discussion of how they are
established, as welt as the sensitivity analysis are described
In note 12 t¢ the consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

Revanue is recognised In accordance with IFRS 15 ‘Revenue
from Conltracts with Customers”. IFRS 15 provides a single,
principles-based. five-step model to be applied to all sales
contracts. tis based on the transfes of control of goods and
services to customers. The accounting policy within note 2
10 the consolidated financlal statements sets outthe
principal types of contracts and how the revenue is
recognised in accorgance with IFRS 15,

Determining future contract profitabllity requires estimates
of future revenues, costs to complete, stage of completion

of certain contracts and the recovery of work in progress,
mobllisation costs and contract assets. Each contract 1s
treated on its merits and sublect to a regular review of

the revenue and costs to complete that contracL In making
these assessments, there Is a degree of Inherenl uncertainty.
The Group utillses the appropriate expertise in determining
these estimates and has well-established internal controls

o assess and review the expected outcome.

The Audit Committee addressed this area of judgement
in the following ways:

— The Committee reviewed the key Judgements report
prapared by management, which provided a detailed
explanation in respect of the valuation of unbiled
warks and the recognition of revenues,

== The Committee took comfort from the contract
management system which s central in generating
the valustion of works (both billed and unbilled) and
the integrated process that follows to ensure an
accurate cut-off so that revenue is appropriately
matched to cost. EY carried out substantive testing
ol the amounts recoverable on contracts, adopting
a8 blend of risk-based and random sampling
approaches to lesting, and provided detailed
feedback to the Committee in this area.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021
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Corporate governance

Report of the Audit and Compliance Committees continued

COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES
The primary fogus of the Compiiance
Commiltee during 2021 was directed towards
the folowing areas:

— Monitosning and review of the Group's
policies in relation to health, safety and
enviconmental (HSE) matters.

= Review of HSE risks and risk assessments
on the Graup risk registar and mitigation
actions and conlirols relsted therelo,
Including sub-contracior controls and
related procurement.

- Providing an operational focal polnt and
report for KPMG, the Group's independent
inlemnaj auditor.

~— Consldering any other significant HSE
matters, including emerging risks and
unforeseen risks as they arose.

- Providing greater scrutiny on data security
and enhancing the leve! of Information
available 1o the main Board.,

The contnuation of the pandemic ensured that
the fight sgainst Covid-13 ang the necessiy to
keep our people and customers sale remained
one of the primary concerns of the Compliance
Committee throughout 2021. The everchanging
environrment meant thare were chalenges
2CTOsS our entire range of operations, most
notably in asylum suppori and care services,
whilst the Group's decision to take a very
cautious approach 1o the relaxation of conirol
measures [inked to the retum to ‘business as
usual’ maant we wene able to quickly respond to
the threat posed by the Dmicron vadant, kn all,
the Group performed exceptionally well during
these challenging times.

The Asyium Accommodaltion and Support
Conitract was alsc a key area of focus as its
operational challenges were impacted by the
unprecedented increase in the number of
ssylum seekers anlering the country,
necessitating further relfiance on hotel-based
accommodation. The Compliance Committee
provided support and guidance to the relevant
teams, Wnked tc the procurement, maintenance
end day-to-day running of the same and
implemented enhanced governance protocols
o ensure compliance with the Group's ktermal
procedures and wider reguilatory obligations.

The Compliance Commitiee also worked
closely with the team mobilising the Ministry

of Justice CAS2 contract, to ensure robust
governance policies and procedures weare
embedded into the contract delivery. [n this
regard, the Group's knowledge. expertise, and
experience derived from managing the Asylum
Accommodation and Support Contract was
exteptionally beneficial and was a key elemem
in the very successful deployment of services
during the latter part of the year.

80

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board s responsible for eslablishing the
Graup's overall risk appetite and ensuring that
the Group has in place an adequate system of
intemal controls. Howeveyr, in accordance with
the requirements of the Financlal Reporting
Councit’s Guidance on Risk Management,
Internal Control and Related Financial and
Business Reporting, the responsibifity of
montioring and reviewing the Integrity and
effectiveness of the Group's oversil systems
ofinternal contrals and risk management has
been delegated 10 the Commitiee.

The Cornmittee alsa provides the Board with the
assuranca that the risk management and internal
controls systems, Including stwategic, financial,
operational, and compliance conliols, are
sufficiently robust to mitigate the principal and
emerging risks that may impact the Company.

The syslem of internal controts Is designed 1o
manage rather then eliminate the risk of failure
1o achieve business objectives and can only
provide reasonable, but not ebsolute, assurance
ageinst material misstatement or loss. tincludes
all controls Inchuding financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management
procedures. These inciude haalth and safety,
people, iegal compliance, quality assurance,
Insurance, and security, end reputational,

social, ethical, and environmental risks,

The Group’s pringipat risk report captures and
assesses the principal risks facing the Group.
This farms par of the Group’'s framework for
determining risk and risk appetite. This document
ls updated reguiarty and Is considered at both
Commitiee and Board ievel throughout the
year. Further detalls sre included within the
Strategic Report on pages 46 to 54.

The inlesnal audit funclion cammies out work
across the Group, provikiing Independent
assurance, advice, and insight 1o help the
organisation accomplish its objectives by
bringing a systematic, discipiined approach to
evaluating and improving the effectiveness of
risk management, control, and govemance
processes. in December 2021, the Audit and
Risk Comimitiee agreed the FY21 audit plan to
be undertaken by the internal audit team,

The sudit plan coverage is based on risk,
strategic priorities, and consideration ofthe
strength of the contrat environment. The intemal
audit function prepares audit reporis and
recommendations following each audit, and
appropriate measwees are then taken o ensure
that all recommendstions are implemented,
Significant issues, if any, are raised at once.
Thera were no such 15sues in 2021,

The Board has reviewed these procedures and
considers them approprlate given the nature
of \he Group's opevations. The Commitiea is
pleased with the additional support provided
try KPMG,

The Board has adopted a scherna of
delegated authority, with defined flnanclal
and other authorisation limits and setting
procedures for approving capital and
investmeni expendiiura, The Board also
appraves detalled annual budgets.

It subsequently reviews performance against
targets sat forth in these pians and budgets.

Throughout the year, the Group's principst
rigks have been ragularly reviewed by
management to provide assurance on the
robustness, Integrily, ang effectiveness of the
systerns in place, including thase that coutd
threaten Its business madel, operations, future
performance, solvency, and liquidity.

The Board 3iso seaks o ensure thal a sound
system of intemal conirols, based on the
Group's poficies, standards, and procedures,
is in place In all material assoclote and Joink
arrangement entities. Our systems of intemal
<ontrols and risk management are designeg
lo identify. mitigate, and manage rather than
eliminate business risk and can anly ever
provide reasohable, and not absolute,
assurance against material financial
misstatement or fraud.

The system of internal cantrols encompasses
the culture, behaviours, organisation design,
policles, standards, procedures, and systems
thar, taken together, facilitate its effective and
efficient operation, These internal controls
are based orn the “three lines of defence’
principles as detailed on pages 46 and 47

of the Strateglc Repoit.

The Company’s risk-based internal audit
programme for 202t wes consldered and
approved by the Committee In December
2020. This programme was developed further
during the year to consider the Company’s
principal risks and to identify where they
primanty occur in the businass; through
discusslons with the Committee and senlor
management; by recognising changes within
the Group and the external environment; and
with consideration to prior audit coverage.

{o approving the 2021 audit programme, the
Commitiee considered the coverage of the
principal risks by the proposed audits. It was
agreed that primary focus for 2021 shauld ba
on the fallowing areas:

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021




RISK MANAGEMENT

— Refresh of principal risks, mitigating
actions, and assurance review

— Fraud Risk register facilitation

CORE CONTROLS
— Core controls 5pot checks
— Scheme of Delegated Authorlty

SPECIFIC RISK AREAS

— Manegement of key contracts

~— People management and HR procasses

— Legal and compliance framework

— Branch spot visits including business
continuity and sub-gontractor management

— T systems, controls, and security

There has been good sponsorship of irternal
audit fram the senior management team and It
is pleasing to observe the positive lone at the
top In terms of openness to discussion of
issues, agreement of action plans and a
commitmenit to doing the right thing.

From the core controls work completed to date,
no high priority gaps were identified; however.
in a few areas there is 8 need to ensure that
processes are being followed and for control
activity to be formally documented and
evidenced. This is also impaortant within the
wider regulatory context where there are
emerging requirements for public interest
entities to have a documaented control
framework and in due course an articulated
Audit & Assurance Policy.

There Is a culture across the Group of active
manitoring by executive and senior
management. Our focus this year was on
management’s oversight of branches.
Internal audits were carfied out on two key
contracts and a further three branch audits
were completed, and the themes [dentified
during those audits will be developed further.

The 2022 programme was considerad and
approved by the Committee in December 2021
and performance against this pian wili be
reported in next year's Annual Report.

The Company has In place internal control and
risk management systems in relation to the
Company's financidd reporting process and the
Group's process for the preparstion of the
consolidated inancial statements which are
produced by the Group finance function, which
is responsible for the review and compilation of
reporis and financial results from each of the

operaling subsidlaries in accordance with the
Group reporting procedures. The consolidated
financlal statements are supported by detaled
working papers. The Audit Commiltee is
responsible for overseeing and monitaring
these processes, which are designed to ensure
that the Company complies with relevant
regulatory reporting and filing requirements.

As at the end of the period covered by this
report, the Audit Commitiee, with the
participation of the Chief Executive Officer
and the Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the
effectiveness of the design and operation of
disclosure controls and procedures designed
to ensure that information required to be
disclosed in financial reports is recorded,
processed, summavised, and reparted within
specifled time periods.

We have conducted an annual review of the
effectivenass af our risk management System
and intemal control systems In accordance with
the UK Corparate Govemance Code. Part of this
review Involves regular review of our financlal,
operational and compkance controls, following
which we report back to the Board on our work
and findings as described above. This aliowed
us 1o provide positive assurance to the Board to
assist i in making the statements that our risk
management and intemal conirol systems are
effective, as required by the UK Corporate
Govemance Code.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

The external auditor engagement was
re-tendered in 2020, at which point EY was
appointed, replacing Grant Thornton UK LLP,
which had been appointed since 1996,

The Senior Statutory Auditor, Paul Maplesion,
Is required to rotate after a maximum of five
years, the year ending December 2024,
belng his last possible fingncial year.

The Commitlee expects that the next tender
date will be no later than 2030 in accordance
with the current regulation that requires a
tender every 10 yesars.

Annually, the Committee reviews the externat
auditor's audit plan and reviews and assesses
information provided by it confirming Its
Independence and objectivily within the
context of applicable regulatory requirements
and professional standards.
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The Committee also reviews the sudltor's
effactiveness, which involves assessment

of the auditor by the Committee and key
Executives; and confirmation that the auditor
meets minimum standards of guallfication,
independence, expertise, effectiveness,
and comrmunication. These assessments
are carried out prior to the Committes
recommending 1o the Board that the external
auditor be proposed for reappoitment at
the Company's AGM,

EXTERNAL AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE
AND NON-AUDIY SERVICES

The Company has adopted a strict policy of
prohiblting the external auditor from carrying
out non-audit services, to safeguard audit
objectivity and Independence. The Committee
is responsible for approval of all non-audit
services provided by EY; however, this is in
exceptional circumstances anly. In such an
exceptional avent, the Audit Committee would
approve such work only where the Company
would be disadvantaged by engaging an
alternative provider, for instance where EY
possesses a detailed knowledge of the
structure of the business ar an understanding
of the markets within which the Group
operates. No non-audit services were
provided by EY during 2021,

J Clarke

Audit and Compliance
Committee Chairman
jimclarke@mearsgroup.co.uk

31 March 2022
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Corporate governance

Report of the Remuneration Committee

This report sets
out the key matters
which were
addressed by the
Committee in 2021.

Metting ettendance

C Ltoughln

J Unwin

J Clarke

R irwin

K Murphy

HEIEIHIE

C Loughiin
Remuneration
Committee Chairman
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Desr shareholders

1 am pleased to present the Directors’
Remuneration Repaort for the year anded
31 December 2021,

This report is made up of three parts:

— This Annual Stalement, where | set out
details of the key decisions of the
Remuneraticn Committee and the business
context within which they were laken.

— AR abridged version of the Director's
Remuneration Policy. which was spproved
by sharehotders in June 2020,

o= The Annual Report on Ramuneration,
which sets cut details of [j) remuneration
eamed by Directors and the knk between
Company performance ang pay Inthe year
ended 31 December 2021 and (i) how we
intend to implement the Directors'
Remuneration Policy in 2022.

There will be an advisory shareholdervole on
the Annual Statement and the Annual Report
on Remunaration at the 2022 AGM,
Shareholders approved the current Dikectors’
Remuneration Policy 81 the 2020 AGM and this
is intended 1o apply for a three-year perdod up
to the 2023 AGM.

Business context

2021 was a very sirong year for the Group.

We entered the year in a lockdown which
restricted our activities, but by the haif year,

much of the business had retumed 1o aimast,
nomat operations and confractusl conditions.
Activity continued to bulld thraughout the second
half of the year and this resulted in higher work
volumes and a more active bidding process.

As mentioned In the Chairman’s letter earlier
in this Annual Repaort, our resillence in
performance Is down to three main factors.
Qur stalf have been exemplary dusing the year,
a continuation from 2020. They have
demonstrated extraordinary dedication and

a daar focus on service and delivering for

our customers. OQur strength of customer
relationships has led (o effective cooperative
warking between cllent and provider. Finally,
our IT platform has been integral to defvering
our high quality, responshve service.

This is reflected in our Anancial results, with
revenue iNcredsing by 9% ta £87Bm, wiilch is
very dose to pre-pandemic revenue in 2019,
Adjusted PBT increased to £25.6m and we
ended the year with a net cash balance of
£54.6m. Underlying cash conversion of over
100% in the last lwo years has, along with
strategic disposals, transformed the-Group's
financlal position and created the curment
position of balance sheet sirength which Mears
Is determined 1o retain Into the future, In 2021
we reinstated the dividend and the Board has
proposed a final dividend of 5.50 pence per
share, bringing the 1otal dividend for the year
lo 8.0 pence per share.

For the third successive year we have secured

our place in the Sunday Times Best Companies

kist of top 25 large companies to work for in the

UK, with our 2021 scare higher than the

previous two years, Our staff and therafore our

employee Propasition is very important lous
and during the year, following feedback from
employees, we have implemented the
following initiathves:

— improved holigey and sick pay for front line
operatives.

— Buliding the workforca of tomorrow,
through Investing In apprentices,
supporting the Kicksiart programme and
crealing Neéw entry leve! roles to drive
soclal mobility,

- Introducing flexibie benefits and enabling
a better balance between home and
office working.

— Providing excellent communication and
suppoart srcund Covid and malmtaining the
highest standards of internal
communication more broadty.

= Increasing invastment in staff, through
bespoke training such as our Emerge
development programme, for staff
looking o frogress to Senior
management positions,

— Weremain gne of the very few Listed
Companies with an Employee Director
on the Maln Board,

- Extemally appoinied Social and Diversity
Impact Board and accredited by the
Housing Diversity Network, Including
grawing the number of women In
management positions and reducing the
gender pay gap. We will publish our first
‘ethnicity gap’ report by the end of 2022.
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— Providing comprehensive mental heaith
and wellbeing support, especially given
the difficult situations many of our staff
face on a day-to-day basis.

INCENTIVE OUTCOMES FOR 2021
Annual bonus

As set out in the business context section
abowve, the Group continued to make good
progress against its key strategic objectives,
focusing on core housing actlvities and
reducing indebladness.

The 202t annual bonus was based 40% on
Group profit before tax, 30% on average daily
net debt and 30% on strategic objeclives
refating to customers, employees and the
generation of social value. These targets were
set early in the year and were not adjusted at
any point thereafter. The achlevements against
the \argets were as follows:

— Profit before tax (80%)

— The Group delivered adjusted profit before
tax on all activities of €26.5m, which was
within the target range of £23.tm to £28.Jm.
This is assessed on all activities comprising
aPBAT of £25 6m on continuing activities,
additional fair value of £1.1m from the sale of
Terraquest. and a sundry loss of ©C.2m in
respect of the discontinuecd Care activities

Average daily net debt (30%)

— The Group reported a small datly net cash
balance, meaning the threshold and stretch
target of £64.4m and £43.9m of average
dally nel debt respectively was achieved

- Employee engagement, customer
satistaction and soclal value
generated (30%)

— Our employee engagement criterion was
measured by reference to inclusion within
The Sunday Times best companies to work
for, which was achieved

-= The customer satisfaction criterion was
assessed differently this year 8s a result
of the pandemi¢ impacting upcn our
Interaction with the client. Mears has
adopted alternative methods of working
since the onset of covid-19, with the
primary focus being on ensuring the
safety of our employees, customers, and
service-users. Uitimately, the accident
frequency rate which includes all measures
with regard our working practices and
provisions of delivering essential services
throughout the pandemic, it s the most
retevant measure of success In 2021,

The Groupis dellghted to report an
AFR of 0.19 {ahead of target of 0.24).

— The social value generated was In excess of
£3.000 per employee, which was above the
maximum stretch target of £2,794 which
required 20% growth cn the prior year

Ovarall, the strong performance over the year
sesulted in a formulsic bonus outcome of B8%
of the maximum, 67% of the bonus will be paid
in cash, with the balance ceferred in shares for
three years.

The Remuneration Commitiee believes this
outcome Is appropriate and fully reflects the
strong financial and operating performance of the
Group durinig the year. As a reminder, prior {o
2021, the Remuneration Commitiee had apphed
significant negative discretion on the formulaic
bonus outcomes for financial years 2018, 2019
and 2020, Such discretion was not deemed
necessary in respect of 2021 performance.

LTIP outcome

There were no long-term incentive plan (LTIP}
awards capable of vesting for performance
ending in 2021. The first awards to be granted
during the year under the LTIP adopted as part
of the Directars’ Remuneration Policy approved
at the 2020 AGM were made In June 2021

and these will vest in June 2024,

Update on 2020 annual bonus

As set outin last year's regort, the annual
bonus for 2020 was scaled back to reftect

a number of factors. The resulting bonus
outcome was 46.6% of salary. In accordance
with the agreed Policy, one third of the bonus
was deferred in shares and the remainder,
which should have been paid in ¢ash shortly
after the 2020 year end, was withheld by the
Company. The Commiitee determined that this
withheld cash amount would be released st an
appropriate time tn 2021, taking into account
business recovery and the impact on our
shareholders. Following the recovery of the
business, the cash element was released to
the Executive Directors in October 2021.

Mears-wide pay review

At 8 time wien unernployment is low and where
compelition for resowrces labour is high, ithas
never been more important for Mears to continue
its commitment to being a great place to work for
our staff, Mears s committed! to fine tuning our
empioyee brand proposition, emphasising more
clearly the benefits of worldng for Mears. We will
continue our prograssive approach of enhancing
packages to enhance retention.

Given the significent cost of living increases
pressures being encountered by our staff,

we were very focussed on directing as

much of the increase to the lowest pald,

The outceme of the 2022 pay review was 8
4% Increase applied to the first £40.000 of
basic pay for all our employees {except where
certain employees pay Is inked to national

or local agreements). The weighted sverage
Increase in base salarles across the group
has been calculated as circa 3.4%. induding the
mangatory requirement to epply Statutory
Living Wage Increases which predominantly
relates to our Housing with Care activities,

APPLYING THE POLICY IN 2022

Base salaries

The Commitiee has agreed that the Executive
team will have a £1,600 Increase, being i line
with the workforce, from 1 April 2022 who were
awarded a 4% pay increase, but capped al
£1,600. The Committee intends to review base
salary positioning later in the year, with any
proposed increases disclosed in next year's
repon and applying from 1 April 2023,
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Annual bonus 2022

Following on fram the above, the Commiltee
has considered both the measures and targets
for 2022. We have decided that all measures
should remain the same for 2022 a5 was the
case In 2021, Similarly, the Committee has
decided that the same weightings applied to

—each-performance target will remalin-the seme—

as the previous year, baing profit before tax
(40%), average daily net cash/{debt) (30%).
customer satisfaction (10%), employee
engagement (10%) and the generation of soclal
value (10%). The specific targets for each of
these measures have also baen set to reflect
the achievements in 2021. The actual targets
for 2022 and performance outcomes will be
reported in next year's report In 2023,

LTIP 2022

The second awards under the LTIP adopted
as part of the Directors’ Remuneration Policy
approved at the 2020 AGM will be made in
2022 at alevel of 100% of salary to each of
the Executive Directors. The LTIP consists

of two measures, being EPS growth and total
sharehoider return (TSR) measured relative to
the FTSE SmallCap (excluding Investment
trusts, financlal services and natural resource
companies). The Committee will consider
return on capital employed (ROCE)
performance in assessing the outcome for the
EPS component and the Commiittee has the
ability to reduce the vesting outcome If
performance Is inconsistent withthe
performance of the business or individual
during the three-year performance perlod.

Pansion

Pension contributions for the current Executive
Directors for 2021 will be 15% of salary.

This contribution level will reduce from 15% of
salary to a level aligned with the workforce by
1January 2023. The contribution leve! for any
new Executive Director hires will be aligned
with the warkforce immediately on jolning.

Concluslon

The last two years have been challenging for
many businesses. The Group hes performed
well in the unforeseen circumstances and has
made strong progress In delivering against its
strategic priorities. The protection of our staff,
of our customers, and our shareholders and
other stakeholders, while re-shaping the
business, have been our priorities.

| believe the Committee has put its mind to the
matter of Executive Pay matters in a serlous and
thorough way and has been faithful to the Policy
that we consulted with our shareholders onin
preparation for its adoption this time iast year.

| am happy to receive feedback from the
Company's shareholders. Please gel In touch
with me direct, or via the Company Secretary.
Ben Westran.

C Loughlin

Remuneration Committee Chairman
I March 2022
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Corporate governance

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

REMUNERATION FRAMEWORK —~ AT A GLANCE
The following section Sets out Sur rermuneration framework, 8 sumrmary of how our Policy wes applied In 2021 in the context of our business
performance, and from page 95 detalls of hiow the Committee intends lo implement the Policy in 2022

STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT OF REMUNKERATION

The Committee believes Lt Is Important that, for Executive Directors and senior management, a sigafficant proportion of the remuneration package
should be performance relsted. and the performance conditions spplying to incentive arrangemants shouid support the delivery of the Company's
strategy. The following table sets ouf how the annual bonus scheme and LTIP refiect the Group's strategic priorities:

Qur strategy
Deepening Increasing quality Growing sad Developing Continue
our cllent e improving our peaple ® inn
relationships our business
How we have measured progress against these objectives
— Exceptiona health and safety performance, with the Group being — Continue to unwind the Group’s Housing Development activities

awarded its 19th ¢conseculive ROSPA Gold Award and retaining its with & positive impact to net debt
place on RaSPA's Order of Merit. — Top 2% Sunday Times ‘Best Companies’

-  fmprovement in Group aperating proft margins

How are our strategic objectives linked to our incentive plan

Annual bonus {capped at 100% of salary; 67% paid in cash, 33% deferred shares)

Adfjusted Average Customer Empiloyes Sodal valle
operating profit dalty net debt satisfaction engagement 0%
{40%) {30%) ’ {10%} Ho%)

LTIP {capped at 100% of salary with 3-year performance targets)

Total shateholder Earnings per
retum share
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TAKING ACCOUNT OF THE UK CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

In implementing our Policy during the cowse of 2021 and In planning for its implementation in 2022, we have been careful to take full account of the

provisions of the Code and it will continue to be & key touchstone for the Committee. In summary. with regard to how we have sought to comply with

the six factors cutlined in Provision 40 of the Code, we believe the following are worthy of particular note:

= Clarity — the Policy is well understood by our Directors and has been clearly articulated to shareholders and proxy voting agencies.

Simplicity — the remunevation struclure Is simple and transparent and we have purposefully avoided any complex structures which have the

potential to deliver unintended oulcomes.

— Risk — our Policy and approach to target setting seek ta discourage any inappropriate risk-taking. A balanced scorecard of financial and
non-financial objectives applies 1o the annuat bonus scheme and the targets are appropiiately stretching, to mitigate the risk of Inappropriate
actions being taken, Malus and claw back provistons apply.

— Predictability — executives' incentive arrangements ate subject to individual participation caps. An indication of the range of values In packages
is provided In the reward scenario charts on page 88. Delerred bonus and LTIP awards provide alignment with the share price and their values
will depend on share piice at the time of vesting.

= Preportionallty —there Is a clear link between Individual awards, delivery of strategy and our long-term performance,

— Alignment to culture - pay and policies cascada down the organisation and are fully aligned to Mears' culture.

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION POLICY - A SUMMARY

The Directors” Remuneration Policy was approved by shareholders at the 2020 Annual General Meeting and is intended to apply for a petiod of
thrge years including the 2021 financ)al year. An abridged version of the Policy which sets out the key aspects Is sef out below (to include updated
charts ilustrating the application of Remuneration Policy in 2021) and the full original Policy can be found in the 2019 Annual Report and on the
Company website.

REMUNERATION POLICY TABLE
The 1able below sets out the key elements of the Paolicy for Executive Directors:

Performance measures

Objective and
link to strategy Operation Maximum opportunity and agsessmant
Base salary Salaries will ba efigible for increases during the  The Committee isguided by  Not applicable.
The purpose of the base three-year period that the Remuneration Policy  the general Increase for the
salary is to: operates. The Committee reviews base salaries broader employee population

annually with any change typicatty effective but may decide 10 award a

== help recrult and retain

from 1 Apil

lower increase for Executive

individuals of the Directors orindeed exceed
necessary calibre to The Committee will retain the discretion 1o this ta recognise, for example,
execute the business increase an indivicual's salary where there an increase in the scale, scope
strategy: is a significant difference between current or responsibility of the role

— reflect the indlviduals levels and a market competitive rate. and/or to take into account
experience, role and When determining base salarles and whether  relevant market movements.

contribution within the to increase levels the Commiitee will take the
Group; and following Into consideration:

- ensure falr reward for
‘doing the job'. — the performance of the individual Executive

Director:

e the individual Executive Director's
experience and responsibilities;

- the impact onfixed costs of any increase;

« pay and conditions throughout the
Group, and

— the economic environment.

When setting the salary levels for the Executive
Directors, in addition to the factors summarised
above, salary Jevels peid by companles of a
simiar size ang complexity to Mears are taken
Inta account.

Maears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021
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Corparate governance

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

Objective and link to Performance measures
steategy Operation Maximum opportunity and assessaant
Pension The Company may contribute directy into an The current Executive Not applicable.
To provide a framework (Q occupational pension scheme @n Executive Directors receive a contributian
save for retirement that is Director's personat pension} or pay 8 salary of up 1O 15% of salary.
appropriately competitiva, supplement in Reu of pension. if appropriate,
a salary sacrifice arrangesent can apply. Any new Exgcutive Director
Qnly the base salary is pensionable. appointments ta the Board
after 1 January 2020 will
receive a pension contiibution
(in percentage of salary termns)
in ling with the prevaling
contribution for the majority of
the Mears workforce. 2020 wili
receive 8 pensiof contribution
{in percentage of salary lemms)
in line with the pravailing
contiibution for the majority of
the Mears workforce.
Annual borus Bonus measuras and largels are reviewed Maximum bonus potential is Bonus performance measwures
To reward and Incentivise the  annually and any payout is determined by the capped &1 100% of salary for are set annudlly and will be
achievement of annual \argets Committes after the end of the financial year, Executive Directors, predominantly based an

linked to the delrvery of the
Company's strategic priorities
for the year.

86

based on performance againss targets set for

the one-year financial period.

Up to 67% of any bonys that becomes payable
15 paid In cash with 1he remainter deferred into

shares for three years.

Deferrad bonus share awards typlcally vest

subject o continued employment.

fndividuals may be able ta recaive a dividend
etjuivalent payment on deferred bonus shares at
the tirne of vesting equal to the value of
dividends which would have accrued during the
vesting period. The dividend equivaient paywment
may assume the reinvestment of drvidends on &

cumuiative basis.

In the even thal there was (i} & matesiat
misstalement of the Company's results; (W a
miscalculation or an assessment of any
performance conditions that was based on
ncorrect information; (K} misconduct on behall
of an individual; (v} the occurrence of an

insolvency Or adminisiration event; {v)

reputational damage: of (v} Serious health and
safety events; malus and/or Clawback provislons
may apply for three years from the date of
payment of any banus or the grant of any

deferred bonus share award.

challenging financial vargets set
infine with the Group's sirategic
privritles and tailored 10 each
incividuat role as sppropriate; for
example, 1argets relating to
adjusted earnings. For a minority of
the bonus, strateglc or aperational
objectives may oparate,

The Committee hag the discretian
1o vary the performance measures
used from year 1o year depending
on the sirategic priarities at the
slart of each year. Detalls of the
perfocmance meadsures forthe
relevant financial year wif be
provided in the Annual Repact on
Remuneration and aciusl largets
will be disclosed retrospectively.

For financial targets, and where
practicable In respect of operstional
or sirategic largets, bonus starts o
dcorue once the threshold arget is
et fup 10 20% payable} ising on a
graduated scake ta 100% for sweich
performance.

The Committee may adjust bonus
oulcomes, based on the
application of the banus formuls
set al the stant of the relevant year,
if it considers the quantum to be
nconsisient with the performance
of the Company, business ar
Indivichsal during the year. For the
avoidance of doubt this can be to
zero and banuses may not exceed
the maximum levels detailed
above, Any use of such discretion
woult) be deailed In the Anyal
Report on Remuneration.
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Objective and link to
strategy

Operation

Maximum oppertunity

Performance measures
and assessment

Benefits

To provide benefits that are
valued by the recipfent and are
appropriately competitive.

The Executive Directors may receive benefits
including 8 Company-provided car or an
aliowance in lieu, life assurance and private
medical Insurance. Other additional benefits
may be provided where appropriate. Benefits in
kind are not pensionabie.

Beneflt values vary year on
yaar depending on premiums
and the maximum polential
value is the cost of these
provisions.

Not applicabte.

Long-term incentive plan

Its purpose Is 1o incentivise
and reward the dellvery of
strategic priorities snd
sustained performance over
the longer term.

Ta provide greater aignment
with shareholders' interests.

The LTIP provides for awards of free shares (le.
either conditionsl shares or nit or nominal cost
options) normally on an annual basis which are
eligible to vest after three years subject to
continued service and the achievement of
challenging performance conditions. It is
anticipated that the fiwst award under this scheme
for current Directors will be made in 2021,

Vested awards are subject 1o a two-year
post-vesting holding period. In exceptional
circumstances such as due to regulatory or
legal reasons, vested awards may aiso be
settled In cash.

Divideng equivalent payments may be
made on vested LTIP awards and may
assume the reinvestment of dividends,
on a cumulative basis.

In the event that there was (i} a material
misstatement of the Company’s resuis: {li) a
miscalcuiation or an assessment of any
performance canditions based on incorrect
infarmatlon; {lil) misconduct on behalf of 2n
individual; {iv) the occurrenca of an insolvency
or administration event; (v} reputational damage,
or [vi) serious health and safety events, malus
andfor clawback provisions may apply for three
years from an awsard becoming eligible to vest.

In any financial year,
performance shares with a face
valuve of up to 100% of satary {or

150% of salary on an exceptional

basis, such as In recrultment
cases) may be granted to an
Executive Director.

The actual grant level will take
Into account the share price
performance of the Group and
the number of awards made In
previous years.

The actual grant level will take
into account the share price
performance of the Group and
the number Of awards made in
previous years.,

The Commitiee may set such
performance conditions on
LTIP awards as it considers
appropriate reflecting the
medium-term prigrities of the
Group. The choice of measwres
and their welightings will be
determined prior to each grant,

Up to 25% of ewards will vest for
threshold performance with full
vesting taking place for equalling,
or exceeding, the maximum
performance targets. No awards
vest for performance below
thveshold. A gradualed vesting
scale operates between threshold
and maximum perfarmance levels.

The Committee may adjust LTIP
vesling outcomes, based on the
resyit of testing the performance
condition, i it considers the
quantum to be inconsistent with
the performance of the Company,
business or individual during the
three-year performance pericd.
For the avoidance of doubt this
can be o zevo. Any use of such
discretion would be detailed In the
Annual Report on Remuneration.

All-employee share plans
Encourages employees to own
shares in order to increase
alignment over the longer term.

Ali employees are eligible to participate in the
Company's Share Incentive Plan (SIP} and share
save plan (Save As You Earn).

Under the terms of the share save plan, all
employées can apply for three or five-year
options to acquire the Company’s shares priced
at a discount of up 1o 20%.

Under the terrns of the SIF, the Company

can chaose to ofler free shares, partnership
shares, matching shares {up to two for one on
any partnership shares purchased) and/cr
dividend shares.

In addition, the Company operates 8
discretionary unapproved share plan and
a Company Share Option Plan {CSOP).
No awards 1o Executive Directors are
propesed under these plans.

Undet the SIP, share save plan
and CSOP, the maximum
amount is equal to the HMRC
limits set from time 1O time,

Not applicable.
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Corporate governance

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

ILLUSTRATIONS OF APPLICATION OF REMUNERATION POLICY

The Company’s Remuneration Policy results in a sigrificant proportion of remuneration recelved by Executive Directors beling dependent on
Company performance. The composition and total velue of the Executive Directors’ remuneration packeges for minimum, on-target and maximum
performance scenarios, along with a maximum performance scenario with a share price growih assumption inciuded, are set out In the graph betow.

ASSUMPTIONS:

= Minimum performance includes onty fixed pay (hase salary for 2022, the value of 2021 banefits as per the single figure of remuneration table and
a 15% salary pension contribution).

— On-target performance includes fixed pay and assumes an snnugt bonus payout of 50% of maximum and 25% vesling of 2 100% of salary grant of
LTIP awards. 'd

—  Maximum performance includes fixed pay and assumes full bonus and 100% LTIP vesting.

— Maximum performance with share price growth as per maximum but with 50% share price growth assumed on LTIP awerds.
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CHAIR AND NON-EXECUTIVE IMRECTOR FEES
The Board as a whale is responsible for setting the remuneration of the Non-Executive Direciors, other than the Chalr, whose remuneration is
determined by the Committee and recommended to the Board.

The table below sets out the key elements of the Policy for the Chair and Non-Executive Directors.

Qbjective and lInk to strategy

Operation

Maximum opportunity

Performance measures
and assessmant

To provide compensaiion that
attracts individuals with appropriate
knowledge and experience.

Fee levels are reviewed periodically
taking Into account independent
advice and the time commitment

required of Nen-Executive Directors.

The fees paid to the Chair and the
fees of the other Non-Executive
Directors alm to be competitive with
other listed companies which the
Commitiee (in the case of the
Chairman) and the Board fin respect
of the Non-Executive Directors)
conslder 1o be of equivalent size
and complexity.

Non-Executive Directors recelve a
base fee and add|tional responsibility
fees for undertaking the role of Senior
Independent Ditector or for
membership and/or chairmanship of
certain Commitices,

In exceptional crcumstances, if

there is a temporary yel material
increase In the time commitment for
Non-Executive Direciors, the Board
may pay extrs fees on a pro-rata
basis to recognike the additional
workload involved,

The Chair receivas a single fee and
does not receive any additional fees
for membership and/or chaimmanship
of Commitiees.

Non-Executive Directors slso
receive relmbursement of
reasonable expenses (and any tax
thereon}incurred through
undertaking their duties and/or
Company business.

Any increase in Non-Executive
Director base fees or additional
responsibility fees may be above the
level awarded to other ernployees,
given that they may only be

Non-Executive Olrector fees
are not performance related.
Mon-Executive Directors do
not receive any variable
remunecstion element.

reviewed periodically and may need .

to refiect any changes to time
commitments or responsibikties.
The Company will pay reasonable
expenses Incurred by Non-
Executive Directors.

Current fee levels are set out in
the Statement of Implemantation
on page 95.
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Corporate governance

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATION
This section of the Directors' Remuneration Report contains details of how the Company's Directors’ Remuneration Policy was implemented during
the financial year ended 31 December 2021 and how iLwill e implemented for the fallowing year.

SINGLE TOTAL FIGURE OF REMUNERATION (AUDITED]

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The remuneration of Exacutive Directors showing the breakdown between elements and comparative igures is set out below. Figures provided
have been calculated in accordance wilh the regulations.

Fixed
Execuitve Director Texable and bene:iz Annual Long-term  Varlatile pay Total
E000) Yeas Satary' behefits' Pensgion” sub-towal bonus?  intentives sub-totai  remuneretion
O 4 Mikes 20 400 25 6Q 485 353 - 353 838
2020 393 26 59 477 123 - 123 600
2021 267 f 40 EL] 235 - 235 553
ACMSmith 2020 262 ) 38 30 82 - 82 392
2021 218 n 33 262 193 - 193 455
Akong 2020 2 15 32 26) 67 - 67 328

1 Benefitsincluged 8 COmpany-provided Car or an alowance in lley, e asturance and private medical Insurance.
2 Execuytive Direciery recehnad a cash allowance In Neu of pension,
3  Full delatls Of the annual bonus ocutcomes are set cutin (he section Dedw.

ADDITIONAL DETAILS 1N RESPECT OF SINGLE TOTAL FIGURE OF REMUNERATION TABLE (AUDITED)
The performance measures and targets for the annual bonus for the year ended 31 December 2021 &e detailed below.

The annual bonus measures chosen for 2021 were Gependent upen achievement of a number of targexs detaied below; 70% of the annual bonus was
finked to financial measures with the remaining 30% based on strategic objectives relting to customer satisfaction, employee engagement and monetary
soci3l value generated. The acnal performance achieved In respect of the annuel benus for 2021is also summarised below Bgainst each larget

Thresnold Maximum
%ot %of Threshold Actush
Walghting maximum maximum target Maximum  pérformancs o Bohwus outcome
Measure _[%af saary) ayabl for 201 for 2021 201 % of salary}
Adjusted Group operating prai® 40% 20% 100% £230m £28.3m £26.5m 3%
Average daily nel debt® 30% 20% 100% £64.4m £43.9m {£0.5m) 0%
Achieved,
Customer satisfaction®® 10% 20% W00% nfa n/a sea below 0%
Employes engagement; Sunday Timas, Best
Big Companies score Danuary 2022 10% 20% 100% £59.2 875 &2 2%
Creation of social value 0% 20% 100% £2,540 £2.794 £2,B00 10%

i Adjusted Group profit before 1ax is stated before the amoriisation of acquisition inlangibies and non-undertying tems. it s s5sessed an ail activities compeising a PET of
€25 6m on Continuiig activities, addtional {air vatue of §14m frarn the sake of Terraquest durng 2071, and a loss of £0.2m In respect of the Shcontinued Care activities,

B} Average cally net dety is derfved from 365-0ay Bverage bank sialemen batance. The oulcome for the year was a positive cash average dally cash posigion,

#) The Customer saillsfaction criterion was assessed diferently this yess 8¢ p result of the pandemic impacting upon ous Interaction wilh the clterk. Mears hes sdopled
aiternative meinods of working since the pniset of cavid-19, with the primary focus being on ensuring the safiety of our employees, Customers, and service.users.
Uttimartely. the accidlent frequency rate which includes all measures with regard our working praclices and povisions of delivenng essential Servwices thioughaut the
pandemic, it s the most redevant measun of success in 2021, The Group reparted an AFR of 019 (sheed of target of 0.24).

] The employee engagemert Measuns is set 8gainst the overad scone swarded b0 the Groun by the Sunday Times in the Best Companies awards.

&1 Sacial vale (s independe ity assessed Wifising & Sockl vaiue messurement t0of and is expressed 3£ an gmount genevated per ampioyee.

The annua! bonus mechanism resuited in an aggregate bonus entitiement across the thvee Executive Directars of £767,000 which is included within
the singie total figure of remuneration, Two-thirds of this emitlement is paid in cash and one-third of the bonus enlitlement will be deferred jn sheres

for a perad of (hvee years.

SO
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS' SINGLE FIGURE

The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors showing the breakdawn between elements and compatative figures is shown below. Figures provided

have been celculated In accordance with the regulations.

Variable
Cheirman and Non-Executive Salary/ Taxable Fixed pay Antual Long-term pay Total
Diractor (£'000) Year fees'  benelits Pension  sub-total bonus incentives sub-total  remuneration
K Murphy 202 160 - - 160 - - - 160
K Muphy 2020 147 - - 7 — - — 147
4 Urmin 202 63 - - 63 - - - 63
J Urwin 2020 55 - - 55 - - - 55
4 Clarke 2021 68 — - 68 - - - 68
JClarke 2020 52 - - 52 - - - 52
€ Loughiin 2021 70 - - 70 - - - 70
C Loughiin 2020 56 = - 56 - - - 56
C Gibbard® 2021 56 - - 56 - - - 56
C Gibbard? 2020 23 - - 23 — - - 23
G Davies' 20 as - - 38 - - - 38
G Davies' 2020 69 - - &9 - - - 69
JBurt 2021 - - - - - - - -
JBurt! 2020 18 - - 18 — - ~ 8
A Hillerby* 2021 — - - - - - - -
A Hillerty? 2020 1 — — 1 — — — 1
R Irwir' 2021 43 - - 43 - - - 43
R Irwint 2020 78 - - 78 - - - 78
C Glbbard? 2021 56 - - 56 - - — 56
C Glbbans® 2020 23 - - 23 - - - yx]

Vailations belween the figures above and the approved fee rates relale Lo the part-year impact for changes in the Committee membership.

1 JBunstepped down from the Baard in March 2020.

2 AHMerby stepped down from the Board in February 2020.

3 R rwin and G Davies stepped down from the Board in June 2021.
4

To reflect the challenges the business encountered during the Covid-19 lockdown. the Non-Execwiive Directors elected to take 8 20% reduction In fees between

April and October 2020.

SHARE AWARDS MADE DURING THE YEAR
The following LTIP awards were granied on 10 June 2021

Face value Number Thresholdvesting  Maximum vesting End of
Diractor as % of salary Face velue' of shares {% of face value} (% of face value) performance period
D J Miles 100% £402 444 213876 25% 100% 31 March 2023
A C M Smith 100% £268332 142,603 25% 100% 31 March 2023
A Long 100% £219.544 16,675 25% 100% 31 March 2023

1 Theface valye of the awards is based on a share price of £188.2p, being the 3-day average share price directly prior to the grant of the award.
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Corporate governance

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

The awards have been granted in the farm of nominal cost options and will normally became exercisabie on 10 June 2024, Awards may became
exercisable subject to the achievement of reiative TSR (50%] and EPS (50%) performance conditians

Descrigtion Waeigtrting Caicuiation Targets
Total sharehoider  50% Relfative TSR versus the constitwents of the FTSE SmakCep Threshofd: Median (25% vests)
retum {excluding invesimeni trusts, finandial servicas and natural resources Maximum: Upper Quadtite (100% vests)

companies) measured over a thiee-year performance period.

Eamings 50% Adiusted EPS arget relating 1o the 2023 tinencial year None of this part - Threshold: 20 pence {25% wesls}
per share of the award will vest if 2023 EPS Is less than 20 pence; 25% shall vest  Maximum: 25 pence {(00% vests)
for EPS of 20 pence, increasing to full vasting for 25 pence or higher. The
Cormmittee will cansider ROCE performance dver the performance
pericd and may reduce the EPS vesting autcome if the Committee is not
satisfied that the feved of EPS vesting is justified on account of the
Group's ROCE aver the performance pefod.

In addition, the Committee retains discretion 1o reduce the overall LTIP vesling level if it considers that the underlying business performance of
the Company does not justify vesting (taking inio consigeration a range of factors, nduding, for example, ROCE performance). f the Committee Is
not satfsfled that the formuiaic vesting outcome is akigned with undevlying Group performance then it may reduce [potentially lo zerco) the vesting
outcome. Awards granieg 10 Executive Direciors aire additionaty subject 10 & 1wn-year iolding penoo folowing 1he vesting date.

Awards granted lo Executive Directars are additionally subject 1o a two-year holding pedod following the vesting date.

The Iollowing delerred honus share awards were granied dwring the year In respect of bonus earned for pertormeance In the 2020 Financiat vear:

Djrector Dme of gram ber of defe thares g o' Vesting date

D J Miles 10 June 2021 32,245 10 June 2024
A C M Smith 10 June 2021 21,499 10 June 2024
A Long 10 June 202 17580 10 June 2024

1 The lace vaive of the swafts is based b » share price of 188. 2p, being the 3-day sverage share price dirsctly priod 10 the grant of the aweid.
Awards were granted in the form of nomins) cost options,

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' SHAREMOLDING AND SHARE INTERESTS (AUDITED)
Direciors' share interests as al 31 Decamber 2021 are set cut below:

Number of Dptioes Options subject Unvested Total

beneficiatly vested but not ioperformance  deferred bonws Interests heid
Director owned shares exerclaed conditions awards at year end Sh 5 met?
D JMiles . 336,769 ~ 213,876 32,245 582 890 173% of salary, quideling not met
A C M Smith 199333 - 142,603 21499 363435 155% of salary: quidetne not met
Along 92.957 - 16,675 7590 127292 95% of salary; guideliae not mel

There were no changes 10 the hoidings set out above trom the perod 3t December 202110 date of sign off,
No Non-Executive Direcior holds an interes? in shares,
The current Executive Direc1ors each have & shareholding requirement of 400% of salary. As at 31 December 2021, based on benaficlally owned

shares and deferred bonus awards jon 8 net of 1ax bagis), D J Miles, A C M Smith and A Long had shareholdings equal 1o T73%, 155% and 35% of their
base salares {pased on g share price of £1.88),
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SHAREHOLDER DILUTION
In accordance with the Investment Association's quidelines, the Company can issue 3 maximum of 10% of lts issued share capital in a rolling 10-year
period o employees under ali its share plans. In addition, of this 10% the Compary can issue 5% to satisfy awards under discretionary or Executive

plans. The Company operates all Its share plans within these guidelines.

PERFORMANCE GRAPH AND TABLE (UNAUDITED)
The graph below shaws the Group's performance, measured by TSR, compared with the constiuents of the FTSE All-Share index and the FTSE
All-Share Support Services Index over the past 10 years, The Company is a constituent of both indices and these peer groups are considered to
provida relevant comparisons,

The table below shows the Chief Executive Officer's remuneration package over the past 10 years, together with incentive payout/vesting as

compared to the maximum opportunity,

Single figure Long-term Incenive vesting {ss
of tota! remuneration Banus payout (es % maximm opportunity}

Year Name 4_5‘_000) % maximum nm_nl‘t_ﬂ-
2021 D JMiles 238 88% -
2020 D J Miles 600 47% -
2019 D JMiles 469 - -
2018 D JMiles 455 - -
2017 D J Miles 443 - -
206 D J Mites 436 - -
2015 D J Miles 436 - 20%
2014 D J Miles a2 - 35%
2013 D J Miles 825 — 100%
2012 0 J Mites 409 - -
201 0 J Miles 384 - -
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Corporate governance

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

PERCENTAGE CHANGE IN REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS COMPARED WITH OTHER EMPLOYEES (UNAUDITED)
The 18ble below compares the percentege change in the remuneration of the Directors with that of the wider employee population 071 the Jast
wo years.

Remuneratlon

Salarytee Benelits Gonusiincentives

2074 2020 2024 2020 2031 2029
D JMies 20% 2.0% (4%} - 187% -
AC M Smith 20% 2.0% 22% -~ 187% -
AlLong 2.0% 2.0% 27 - 187% -
¥ Murphy - ~ - - - _
G Davies' i - - - - - _
J Unwin - - - - - -
R irwin? - - - - - —
C Loughiin - - - - - -
JClarke - - — — - -
C Gibbatg? 2.0% 20% - - - -
All employees’ salaries 2.0% 2.0% — - - -

1 G Davies, R frwin stepped down from the Boord in June 2021, Percentage change cakuiation incudes part-year remuneration in 2021

2  Rinwin stepped down fram the Board on In June 2021, Pecentage changs cakculation lnciudes part-yesr remuneration in 2021,

3 Percentage change In Non-Executive Direcior fees is adiusted 1o exclude the voluntary election in 2020 10 1ake a 20% reduction In fees betwean April and
October 2020 1o reflect she challenges faced by the business from Covid-19, The percemage change reflects any chenge in entilement as compared Lo the
sCtunl redunersiion recelvea.

CEO TO EMPLOYEE PAY RATIO (UNAUDITED)
The tabte below sets qut the ralio between the total pay of the CEC and the total pay of the employees al the 25th, S0th {median) and 75th
percentiles of the workforce,

Year Method  25th percerttile Median _ 75th percentile
202 B 287 278 22)
2020 g 231 211 131

The 25th, S0th and 75th percentite ranked indhdduals have been lientified using the gender pay gap survey deta for 2020, 1.e. as allowed for
under method B of the UK reporting requirements. This was deamed to be the most reasonable and practical epproach to identifying the relevant
individuals for the purposes of this tisclosure. The day by reference to which the 2510, S0th and 75th percentile emplovees were determined
was 22 March 2022, The CEQ pay Tigure is the total remuneration fNigure as sat out In the single figure able on page 90 and equivalen figures
{on a full-time equivalent basis) have been caicutated for the retevant 25th, SCth and 75th percentlle emplayees. The Remungration Committee

is comfortabie that the resulting calcuiations ere regrasentative of pay levels at the respective quartiles.

The mﬁl pay and benefits figuies used to calculate the ratios lor each of the 25th percentila, median and 75th percentile employees are £28,244,
£30,146 and £37.870 respectively. The salary element for each of these figures are £27,616, £29,379 and £35,733 respectively.

RELATIVE IMPORTANCE OF SPEND ON PAY (UNAUDITED)
The 1able below sets out the relative impoctance of spend an pay in the financial year and previous financial year compared wilh ather disbursemeants
from profit.

Disbursements
Disbursements from profit in
from profitin pravious
Rnancla! year financist year
202 2020 %
Significant distributions £'000 £op0 change
Tota! Directgrs’ pay 243 1Le 8%
Proftt distributed by way of dividend” 8.875 -
Oparating profit before non-underiylng items fconlinuing activities) 33,686 £.585 511%

" Profit gistibuted by way of dividend Inchedes proposed final dividend of 5.500 pes shate.
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Followiny the uncettainty surrounding Cavid-19, the Board proposed that no dividend be paid in respect of the 2020 financial year, An interim
dividend n respect of 2021.0f 2.50p was paid to shareholders and the Directors recommend 8 final dividend of 5.50p per share.

DETAILS OF SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

Director Date of contract/letter of appointment Notice pariod by Company of Director
Executive

D J Miles June 2008 Twelve monihs
ACM Smith June 2008 Twelve months
Along Apgust 2009 Tweive months
Chaitman/Non-Executive

K Murphy January 2019 Six months
G Davies October 2015 Six months
J Unwin January 2016 Six months
R brwin - February 2017 Six monihs
J Clarke Juty 2019 Six motiths
C Loughlin September 2019 Six months
C Gibbard September 2020 Three months

PAYMENTS TO PAST DIRECTORS AND PAYMENTS FOR LOSS OF OFFICE [AUDITED}
Thera were no payments for loss of office or to past Directors during the year.

STATEMENT OF IMPLEMENTATION OF REMUNERATION POLICY IN THE 2022 FINANCIAL YEAR

Executive Directors

Base salary

The salary entitlerments for the forthcoming year (which effective from 1 April of @ach year, and for the following 12-months) are set out below:

2022 2021 %
Executive Director £ £ change
D J Miles, 404,044 402,444 0.4%
A C M Smith 269,932 268332 0.6%
Along 221044 219,544 07%

The salary Increase for 2022 is effective from 1 Aprit 2022 and matches the general workforce increase of 4% apptied on 1 Aprll 2022, but capped at
an increase of £1.600 for any single individual.

Pansion

Details of pension contributions for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out below:

Executive Dirgctor Pension
D J Miles 15%
ACM Smith 15%
Along 15%

The curreri Executive Directors’ pension contribution rates will be reduced to the majority workforce rate of circa 6% of base salary from 1 January
2023. New Directors appointed (o the Board will have a contribution no higher than the workforce rate on joining.

Annus! bonus 2022

The maximum bonus potantlal will be 100% of salary and will be dependent upon the following performance measures:

— Profit before tax (40%)

— Netdebt (30%)

— Strategic objeclives (30%) relating to customer satisfaction (10%), employee engegement (0%} and monetary soclal value generated (10%)

These strategic cbjectives, which will be bultt around the Group's strateqy for customer success and supported by our independently chaired
Customer Scrutiny Board, reflect the Group's cammitmenit 1o serving our clients and customers; to further developing our social value offer to add
value in the communities we serve; and to secuwring high levels of positive employee engagement through net promoter scores and validation by
external accreditation.

In addition, health and safety will apply as a discretionary underpin and, before any bonus becomes payable, the Committee witl cansider health and
safety performance over the year and will have the power to reduce the bonus outcome if standards are below expectations.

Any bonus payable will be delivered in a mix of cash (67%} and deferied share awards {33%) which will vest after three years from grant.
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Corporate governance

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

LTIP for 2022

The second LTIP award under the new plan edopied as part of the Directors’ Remuneration Palicy at the 2020 AGM will be made in 2022,
Iti5 Intended that awards will be made at Y00% of salary 1o each of the Executive Direciors. The measures and targets will be as follows:

D Weighting G i Turgets

Toial shareholder returm 509% Relative TSR target against the consituents of the FTSE Threshold: Wedian (Z5% vests)
SmalCap {exciuding investment trusts, financial services  Maximum: Upper Quartile {100% vests)
and natural resources companies) measured over o

three-year performance peniod.
Earmings per share 50% Adjusied EPS 1avget refating to the 2024 finsicial yearle.  Threshold: 21 pence [25% vests)
the third year of the three-year performance periad. Meximum: 24 pence 100% vests}

The Committee wil consider ROCE performance over the
performance pericd and may reduce the EPS vesling
outcame if the Committee is not satisfied thai the level of
EPS vesting is justifiad on account of the Greup's ROCE
over the petfarmance pericd.

The Remuneration Committee beiieves the use of TSR and EPS provides an appropriale balance between focusing on share price recovery and
delivering financial returns.,

Vesting will be on a pro-rata basis between Lhe threshold and mastimum vesting figures. in addition, the Cammittes retains discration 1o reduce the
overall LTIP vesting level if it considers that the underlying business performance of the Company does hot Justily vesting (\aking into consideration
arange of lacters, including, for example, RQCE performance). if the Committ2e Is not satisfiad that the formulaic vesting outcome Is afigned with
underlying Group performance then it may reduce (patentially o zero) 1he vasting outcome,

Any shares which vest from this award wilt be Subject 1o & two-vear post-vesting holding periad.

Non-Executive Directars
The following table sets qut the fee rates tor the Nan-Executive Directoars (which elfective from 1 Aprl of each yaar, and for the following 12-months):

2022 2021 :hm:
Chairman fee 161,600 180,000 ™
Base fee 51,600 50,000 32%
Committee Chakman fee 15,000 15.000 —
Commiitee membership fee 5,000 5,000 -

The salary incraase for 2022 Is effective from 1 Ageit 2022 and matches the general worklforce increase of 4% applied on 1 Apnil 2022, but capped
at anincrease of £1,600 for any single individua),

ROLE OF THE COMMITTEE AND ACTIVITIES

The Commilttee determines the total indhviduai remuneration packages of each Executivé Director of the Group and certain other senicr employees
{end any exit lerms} and racommends to the Board the framework and broad polides of the Group in redation 1o Senior Executive remuneration.
The Committiee determines the targets for all of the Group's performance related remuneration and exercises the Board's powers in relation to all
of the Group's share and incentive plans. The terms of refesence of the Comimitiee are avalable on the Comparny's websile.

There is a tonmal and transparent procedure for developing paiicy on Executive remurteration and for determining the remuneration of ingdnadual Directors.
The Remunetation Camimittee is responsitie for:
-~ determining and agreeing with the Board the hioad Remuneration Policy for:
— the Chalrman, the Execulive Directors and senior management; and
— the Executive Disectors” remuneration and other benefits and terms of employment, including performance related bonuses and share
options; and
— #pproving the service agreements of each Execulive Direcior, Incluging iermination arrangements.

Na Director is invoived in determining his/her own remuneration.
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Durlng the year ihe Commiliee addressed the fellowing main toplcs:

-- Undertook a comprehensive review of Executive Directors’ remuneration which culminated in the preparation of 8 revised Remuneration Palicy
which was put to shareholders for approval at the 2020 AGM.

— Reviewed tha pension contributions of the Executive Diractors 1o align the contributions to the workforce level by 1 January 2023,

— Sought the views of aur major shereholders and the maln voting agencias as part of a comprehensive investor consultation exercise 1o Inform
the design process for the revised Policy which was approved at the 2021 AGM. ’

— Reviewed guidance from Invesior bodies and Inslitutional shareholders.

- Assessed whether our remuneration framewark is appropriately aligned with our culture and values, and motivates our leaders (o achleve the
Group's strategic objectives.

— Reviewed ang gpproved the remuneration peckages for aur current Executive Directors.

~ Finaksed the annual bonus payments for the 2020 financlal year o the Executive Directors {which Included ihe exercise of negative discretion
to reduce the formulaic outcome from 85% 0f maximum to 46% and the annual bonus plan for the 2021 financial year.

COMPOSITION OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The members of the Committee dixing the year were Chris Loughlin {Chair), Julia Unwin, Jim Clarke and Kieran Murphy. Roy irwin stepped down
from the Board and the Committee in June 2021,

SUPPORT TO THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

By invitation of the Committee, meetings are aiso attended by the Company Secretary (who acts as secretary to the Committee} and the HR Director,
who are consulted on matters discussed by the Committee, unless those matters relate to their own remuneration. The Committee is authorised to
take such interngl and external advice as it conslders appropriate in connection with carrying out its duties, including the appointment of its own
external remuneration advisars. During the year, the Commitiee was assisied in its work by FIT Remuneration Consultants LLP. FIT was sppointed

i 2019 following & tender process and has provided advice in 2021 in relation to general remuneration matters and the review of the Remuneration
Policy. Fees paidto FIT In relation lo advice 10 the Commitlee in 2021 were £44,398 (excluding VAT). FIT did not provide any other services to the
Company. FIT Is 8 member of the Remuneration Consultants Group and, as such, valuntarity operate’s under the Code of Conduct in reletion 1o
executive remuneration consulting in the UK. The Committee is satisfied that the advice it received from FIT is objective and independent.

STATEMENT OF VOTING AT GENERAL MEETING
The tabie below Shows the valing outcome in respect of the ramuneration related resolutions at the 2021 AGM.

e Votes for % Votes against % Votes withheid
To approve the Remuneration Policy 70,850,552 77% 21,665,055 23% 1,788,687

The significant vote against the Annual Report on Remuneration at the 2021 AGM was primarily 8s 8 result of the dissatisfaction with the performance
ofthe Company - al that time - of 3 small number of significant shareholders. The Remuneration Commitiee engaged in exiensive consultation with
sharehoclders aver the application of the Remuneration Policy during the year and refined the application of that Pokcy In ine with the feedback
received, The Commintee also engaged with shareholders ahead of the AGM and endeavoured to explain the context around Its application of the
Policy. Given the range of views which were expressed by shareholders, It was not practicable to reflect them allin designing the terms to apply the
Policy. The Committee recagnises the need to continue (o engage with shareholders over the coming year #nd will do o, in addition to continuing to
monitor evolving views and market practice.
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Corporate governance

Report of the Directors

The Directors present
their report together
with the consolidated
financial statements
for the year ended

31 December 2021.

a8

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal actwvities of the Group are
the provision of a renge of autsourced
services to the public and privata sectors.
The principal activity of the Company Is 1o
act as a holding company.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Comparty is required (G S&t out & fai
review of the business of the Group during the
reparting petiod. The information that fulfils

this requirement can be found in the Strategic
Repor, Chief Executve Officer’s review and
Financisl reviaw. The results of the Group

can be found within the consolidated income
statement, Information requited o be disclosed
n respect of emissions and future developments
5 Included within the Strategic Report.

DIVIDEND

No dividend has been declared in respeci of
2020. Following ihe impact on the business
from the Covid-19 pandemic, the Board ook
steps to protect its fquidity and is grateiul

for the strong support of the majority of
shareholders for the actions taken by the
Diraclors during this perlod of uncertainty.

An intarim dividend in respect of 2021af 2.50p
was pald 16 sharehoiders in Octaber 2021,

The Directors recommend a final dividend of
5.50p per share for payment in June 2022,
This has not been included within the
consolidated fingncial statements as no
obligation existed at 31 December 2021,

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Detaits of thae Group's COrporate governance
are sel out on pages 64 to 57,

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

We focus on a range of key Indicators 10 assess
our performance, Qur perfarmance ingicalors
ara both financial and non-financial and ensure
that the Group targets TS resources around its
customers, employees, operations and finance.
Collectivety they form an integral part of the
way that we manage the business (o deliver

our strategic goals. Our primary performance
ndicators are detalled on pages 26 and 27,

DIRECTORS

The present membership of the Hoard Is set
oul with the biographical detsll on pages 66
and 67.

Roy Irwin and Gerairnt Davies did nat offes
themiseives for re-etection at the 2021 AGM
and ceased to be Directors in June 2022.

In line with cuscent practice, all of the DireClors
wili retlire and, belng eiigibie, offer themseives
for re-election at the AGM in June 2022,

Any person appointed by the Diractors must
ratire at the next AGM but will be eligibie for
re-election at that meeting.

The beneficial Interests of the Directors in the
shares of the Company at 31 December 2321
are detailed within the Remuneration Report
on page 92.

The process governing the appointment and
replgcement of Direciors (s detafled within the
Report of the Nominations Commitiee.

AMENDMENT TO ARTICLES

OF ASSOCLIATION

The Company's Articles of Association can be
amended onfy by a special resolution of the
members, reguiring a majority of not less than
75% of such members voting in petson or

by proxy,

SHARE CAPITAL AUTHORISATIONS
The 2021 AGM heid in June 2021 authorised:

= the Diractors 1o 2llot shares within defined
fimits. The Campanies Act 2006 requires
direciors to seek this suthority and,
foltlowing changes to Financial Services
Autharity (FSA] rules and institutional
guidelinas, the authority was limited lo
one third of the Issued share capital, &
total of £369,606 plus an additional ane
third of Issued share capita of £369,606
that can only be used for a rights Issue or
simiar fundraising;

— theDirectors to lssve shares ot cashon 8
non-pre-amptive basis. This authority was
limited 1o 5% of the issued share capital of
£55.440 and is required to faclitate
technical matters such s dealing with
fractional entitlements or possibly a smal
placing; and

- the convening of general meetings [other
than an AGM) on 14 days' notice.

Section 307A of the Companies Act 2006
proviges tha! listed companies must hold
general meetings (other than annual
general meetings] on 21 days’ notice
unless the members of that company pass
3 special resolution agreeing (o & shorter
notice period which cannot be any less
than 14 clear days. L is therefore necessary
for the Company to pass this resolution
aliowing the Company to Continua to hold
general meetings (other than annual
general meetings} on not less than 14
clear dayg notice,
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Further details of these authorisations are
avaifable In the notes to the 2021 Notice of
AGM. Shareholders are also referred to the
2022 Notice of AGM, which contalns similpr
provisions In respect of the Company's equity
share capital.

AGM

The 2022 AGM will be held on 17 May 2022,
A formal Notice of Meeting and Form of Proxy
will be issued in advance. The ondinary
husiness 10 be conducted will include the
reappointment of all Directors.

‘' PRINCIPAL RISKS AND

UNCERTAINTIES

Risk is an accepted part of doing business,
The Group's finandal risk management is
based on sound economic objectives and
good corporate practice. The Board has overall
responsibility for risk management and internal
controls within the context of achieving the
Group's objectives. Our process for identifying
and managing risks is set out in more detall
within the Corporate Governance Statement.
The key risks and mitigating factors are set out
on pages 50 to 54. Details of financial risk
managemaent and exposure to price risk, credit
risk and liquidity risk are given in ncte 23 to the
financlal statements.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Group Is party to significant contracts,
The Directors da not consider thal any one
of those contracts is essential In its own right
to the continuation of the Group's activities,
As detalled within the Strategic Report on
pages 62 and 63, the Directors completed a
long-term assessment of the Group's financial
viablliity and the loss of 8 numbes of key
contracts was modelied as one possible
downside scenario but the Group remained
viable In such an event.

PAYMENT POLICY

The Company acts purely as a hoiding
company and as such Is non-rading.
Accordingly, no payment policy has been
defined. However, the policy for Group
trading companies Is to set the terms of
payment with suppliers when entering intp
atransaction and (o ensure suppliers are
aware of thase terms. Group trade creditoes
during the year amounted to 33 days
{2020: 59 days} of average supplies

far the year.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group is financed through both equity
share caphal and debt. Detals of changes to
the Company's share capital are given in note
25 1o the financlal statements. The Company
has a single class of shares — ordinary 1p
shares — with no right to any fixed Income and
with each share carrying the right {o one vote
at the general meetings of the Camparny.

Under the Company’s Articles of Association,
holders of ardinary shares are entitted to
participate in any dividends pro-rata to their
holding. The Board may propose and pay
Interim dividends and recommend a final
dividend for spproval by the shareholders at
the AGM. A final dividend may be declared by
the shareholders in @ general meeting by
ordinary resolution but such dividend cannot
exceed the amount recommended by

the Board.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDINGS

As at 9 March 2022 the Company has been
notified of, or is aware of, the shareholders
holding 2% or more of the issued share capital
of the Company. These shareholders are
detailed on page 72.

DISABLED EMPLOYEES

Applications for employment by disabled
persons are always fully considered, bearing in
mind the aplitudes of the applicant concemned.
in the event of members of staff becoming
disabled, every effort Is made to ensure that
thelr employment with the Group continues
and that appropriate training is emanged. It is
the policy of the Group that the training, career
development and promotion of disabled
persons should, as far as possible, be identical
to that of other employees.

GHG EMISSIONS

The Group’s carbon emissions data for the
year s provided within the Task Force on
Climate-related Anancial Disclosures

on pages 42 to 44,

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

AND CONSULTATION

The Group has received recognition under
the ‘Investors In People’ awerd, The Group
continues to Invohve Its staffin the future
development of the business. Information is
provided to employees through a daily news
emall, a quarterly newsietter posted out to all
stafl, the Group webslte and the intranet to
ensure that employees are kept well informed
of the performance and objectives of

the Group.

CRESY

CREST is the computerised system for the
setdement of share dealings on the London
Stock Exchange. CREST reduces the amount
of documentation required and also makes

the rading of shares faster and more secure.
CREST enables shares to be held in an electronic
farm instead of the iraditional share certificates.
CREST s voluntary and shareholders can keep
their share certificates if they wish. This may be
preferable for shareholders who do not tradie In
shares on a frequent basis.
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GOING CONCERN

The Directors consider that, as at the date of
approving the Minancial statements, there s a
reasonable expectation that the Group and
Company have adequate resaurces to continue
in operational existence for the period {o atteast
30 June 2023. When making this assessmenl,
management considers whether the Group will
be gbte o maintaln sdequate liquidity headroom
above the leve! of its borowing faciiilies and 1o
operate within the financial covenants
applicable to those facilities, which will be
measured at 30 June 2022, 31 December 2022
and 30 June 2023, At 31 December 2021, the
Group had £70m of committed bomowing
faclliies, maturing in December 2025; however,
no amaount was drawn on the facility.

The principal borrowing facilities are subject to
covenants, as detailed within the Financial
review section of the Strategic Report.

The Strategic Report also details the principal
risks and uncenalnties and how the Group
manages Iis risks. The Graup has modelled its
cash flow outlook for the period to 30 June
2023 and the forecasts indicate significant
Hiquidity headroom will be maintained above the
Group's borrowing facilities and that financial
covenants will be met throughout the perod,
including the covenant tests at 30 June 2022
and 31 December 2022,

The Group has carried out stress tesis against
the base case 1o determine the performance
levats that would result in a breach of covenants
or a reduction of headroom againstits
borrowing facliitles to £nil. The Directors have
modelled a number of downskle scenarios,
which are covered in more detait in the Financial
viability review section on pages 62 and 63,
After making these assessments, the Directors
consider any scenario or combination of
scenartos that could cause the business to be
no longer a going concern to be implausible.
The Directors have a reasonable expectation
that the Company and its subsidiarles have
adequate resources to cantinue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future.
Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going
concern basis In preparing the Annuat Report
and Accounts.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young LLP offers itself for
reappointment as auditor In accordance with
Section 489 of the Companies Act 2006.

By order of the Board

B Westran
Company Secretary
ben.westran@mearsgroup.co.uk

31 March 2022
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Corporate governance

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The Diredtors are required to prepara the
financial statements for the Company ang the
Groug at the end of each financial year in
gccordance with afl eppiicable laws and
regulations. Under company law the Ditectors
must not approve the financial statements
unless they are satisfied that they give a true
and falv view of the state of affairs and profit or
loss of the Group and the Compary for that
period. In preparing these financial statements,
the Directors ere required 1o:

~— selact suitable accounting policies and
apply them consistently;

— make judgements and accounting
estimoles that are reasonable;

- State whether the consolidated financial
statements have been prapared in
accordance with UK-adopted Imernations!
accounting standards (IFRS) and in
conforrmity with the Companies Act 2005;

- state for the Company financial statements
whether United Kingdom Accounting
Standards and apphcable law, including
Financial Reporting Standard 101 "Reduced
Disclosure Framework' (FRS 101, have
been followed, and

- pregare the Nnancial statements an the
golng concesn basis uniess tis
Inapprapriate to presurne that the Cornpary
and the Group wil continue in business,

The Direclors are responsible for ensuring that
the Group keeps proper accounting records
which disclose with reasonable accuracy the
financial postion of the Group and the Company
to anable them to ensure that the fAinancial
stalernenis comply with the Companies Act
2006 and, as regands the consolidated financial
statements, \FR3s. The Directors ara also
respansibhe for the system of imernal control, for
safeguarding the assets of the Gmup and the
Compary, and taklng reascnable steps lo
hrevent snd detect fraud and other iregularities.

100

Under applicable law and regulations, the
direttors are alse respensible for prepating @
strategic report, directors’ report, direciors’
remungration report and corporgle govemance
statemant that comply with that law and those
reguiations. The Directors are responsible for
the maintenance and integrity of the corporate
and fingncial information included on the
Compary's website.

The Diracloes confim that:

~— 50 far as each Director is aware thene IS na
ralevant sudit informapon of which the
Company's auditor is unaware; and

- lhe Directors have taken all the steps that
they ought 1o have taken as Directars in
argler to make themsehes aware of any
relevant sudit information and 1o establish
that the audites is aware of that information.

Tne Directors are sesponsibie for the
maintenarce and integiity of the comarste and
financial Information included on the Company's
website. Legisiation in the United Kingdom
governing the preparation and dissemination of
financial stalements may differ from legistation in
ather jurisdictions.

The Board confirms that to the best of
its knowledge:

— Ihe finandial sistements, prepared in
accordance with the applicable set of
gsecounting standards. give a true and fai
view of the assets, labifies, financial
posttion and grofit or loss of the Goup and
the undenaxings Incluged nthe -
consolidation taken as a whole! and

- the Annual Report includes 3 fair review of
the development and perdformance of the
business and the position of the Group and
the undertakings included in the
consalidation taken as a whole, togathet
with a description of the princips! isks and
uncerteinties that they face.

The Directors are responsible for preparing the
Annual Report In accordance with applicable
law and regulstions. The Board cansigers the
Annugl Report and Accounts, taken as a whole,
is fair, palanced and understandable and that it
provides the information necessary for
shareholders ¥ 3ssess the Group's
performance, business model and strategy.

On behalf of the Board

ACMSmith
Chief Financial Officer
andrew.smith@mesrsgroug.oa.uk

31 March 2022
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Financial statements

Independent auditor’s report to
the members of Mears Group PLC

OPINION
In our opinion:

— Mears Group PLC’s group financial statements and parent company financial statements (the “financlal statements”) give a true and fair view
of the state of the group’s and of tha parent company's affalrs as at 31 December 2021 and of the group’s profit for the year then ended;

— the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK adopted international accounting standards;

— the parent company financlal statements have been properly prepgred In accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice; and

= the financial statements have been prepared In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the finenclal siastements of Mears Group FLL (the ‘parent company’} and its subsidiaries {the “group’) for the year ended 31 December 2021
which comprise:

Group Parent company

Consolidated statement of profit ¢r loss for the year then ended Balance sheet as at 31 December 202

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year Staternent of changes In equity for the year then ended
then ended

Consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2021 Related notes 110 16 to the financial stalements including

a summary of significant accounting polidies

Consolidated cash llow statement for the year then ended
Consvlidated statemant of changes In equity for the year then ended

Related notes 110 31 o the financlal statements, including a summary
of slgnificant accounting policles

The financlal reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial statements is applicable law and UK adopted
internationat accounting standards. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the parent company financial
stalements is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards. including FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework" (United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

BAS!S FOR OPINION

We conducted our audlt in accordance with Intemational Standards on Auditing [UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applcable law. Our responsibilliies under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibitities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obialned is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

INDEPENDENCE

We are independent of the group and parent In accordance with the ethical requirements thal are refevant to our audit of the financial statements
in the UK, induding the FRC's Ethical Standard as applied to listed public interest entities, and we have futfilled our other ethical responsitiliities
In accordance with these requirements.

The non-audt services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical Standard were not provided to the group or the parent company and we remaln independent
of the group and the parent company in conducting the audit.

CONCLUSIONS RELATING TO GOING CONCERN

in auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concem basis of sccounting in the preparation of the
financial siatements is appropriate, Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the group and parent company's ability to continue to adopt the
going cancern basly of accounting Included:

— testing the clerical accuracy of the model used to prepare the group's going CONCern assessment.
- assessing the reasonableness of the cashilow forecast by analysing management’s historical forecasting accuracy. We evaluated the key
assumptions underpinning the group's forecasts by proposing alternatives, reflecting the uncertainties arising from Covid-19 and the recent
events in Ukralne, and challenging management’s pasition.
— considering whether the group's forecasts In the going concern assessment were consistent with other forecasts used by the group in its
accounting estimates, including goodwill Impairment.
— challenging, basad on our own independent analysis, whether the severe downside cases prepared by management could lead either to
aloss of liquidity or a covenant breach and whether these scenarios were plausible. Our assessment included consideration of the Impact
and ieliheod of menagement's scenarlas as follows, including a combination of them:
= the loss of significant customer contracts
— future Covid-19 restrictions and the likelihood of government suppaort in this respect
— a performance failure on & major contract
— considering the mitigating actions that management could undertake in a savere but plausible downside scenario and challenging their feasibility.
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Financial statements

Independent auditor’s report to
the members of Mears Group PLC continued

-— Considering, Independently, a *reverse stress-test” scenario that would lead to elther 310ss of bquidily or 4 covenant breach and concluding that
sych a scenario would be iImplausible based on evidence oblained and our understanding of the business. Our reverse stress-test scenario
utilised manegement's scenarios and additionally incorporated that there would De no Gavernment support in the forecast lockdown betwean
October and December 2022,

— We aiso confirmad the cash position at 31 December 2021 by agreeing ta confimmations received directly from the bank, as well as availabitity
of debt fadilities and considered their undertying terms, including cavenants, by examination of executed documentation.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not ideniified any material uncertainties relating to everits or condiitions that, individually or
collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group and parent company's ability 1o continue as a going concern for a period 1o 30 June 2023.

In relation o the group srd parent company's reponing oh how they have applied the UK Corporate Governance Code, we have nothing materal
10 add of Graw altention to in relatian 1o the directors’ stalement in the financlal Statements about whether the directors considered It appropniate
io adopt the going concern basis of accounting.

Qur responsibfiities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern ang described in the relevant sections of this report.
However, because not al futyre events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is nat & guaraniee as to the group's ability 10 continue
a5 & going concern.

OVERVIEW OF QUR AUDIT APPROACH

Audit scope — We performed an audit of the complete Rnancial information of 3 componenls and sudit procedures on speciic
balances for a further B components,

The components wheve we performed full or specific audit procedures accounted for 100% of Profit before 1ax,
100% of Revenue and 100% of Toal 1

Management override via topside adjustmems posted to accrusls and provisions through the financial statement close
process and consclidation process

Appropristeness of lease accounting vnder IFRS 16

Valuation of the Group snd parent’s defined beneflt pension obligation and valuation of haid 1o value scheme assets
Appropriatenass of revenue recognition Including coniract scoounting, conract assets, and contract accruals
Intended disposal of Haydon Mechanical & Electrical LLC ("Haydon UAE™)

Overall Group materfailty of £1.1m which reprasents 5% of normaiised profit before tax from continuing aperations.
We used profassional judgment to determine materiality given the impact of Covid-18 on the group’s retevam
materiaity measures.

|

Key audit matters

Materiglity

AN OVERVIEW OF THE SCOPE OF THE PARENT COMPANY AND GROUP AUDITS

Talloring the scope

Cur assessment of audh risk, our evaluation of matenality and our atocation of performance materlality determine cur audit scope for each company
within the Group. Taken together, this enables us 1o form an opinlon on \he consolidated financial statements. We 1ake inlc account size, risk profile,
the arganisation of the group and effectiveness of group-wide contrgls, changes in the business envirohment and other factars such as recent
Irternal audit results when assessing the level of work to be performed at eath company.

In assessing the risk of materlal misstatement to the Group financial statements, and to ensufe we had adequate quantitative coverage of significant
accounts in the financiat statements, of the 15 reporting camponents of thre Group, we selected 10 components Covering entities within the UK and
t component based in the Channe! lslands, which represent alt the business units within the Group.

Of the 1Y Group components selecied, we perdformed sn audlt of the complete financial informatian of 3 components {"full scope components’)
which were selected based on thelr size or fisk characteristics. For 8 componems ("specific scape companents™, we performed sugii procedures
on spacific accaunts within that component thal we considerad had the potentisf for the greatest impact on the significant accounts in the financial
statements elther because of the size of these accounis or thelr risk proflie.

The reporting components where we performed audit procedures accounted for 100% (2020: 100%) of the Group’s profit before tax, 100%
12020: 99%) of the Group's Revenue and 100% (2020: 97%) of the Group's Total assets Far the cutrent year, the full scope compenents
contributed 79% (2020: S6%) of the Group’s profit before tax, 79%{2020: 88%) of the Graup's Revenue and 82% (2020: B7%| of the Graup's

Totsl assets. The speciiic scope companent contributed 21% (2020: 49%) of the Group's profit befare 1ax, 20% (2020: 11%) of the Group’s Revenuve
and 18% [2020: 4%) of the Group's Tolal assets. The audit scope of thase components may not have included testing of all significam accouns of
the component but will have contributed 10 the coverage of significan accounts tested for the Group.

Ofthe remaining 4 components that togethes represent (ess than 1% of the Group's profit befare tax . None are individuatly greater than 1% of the

Group's profit belore tax . For these Components, we performed other procedures, incuding analyticsl review, testing of consclidation journals
and inefrcompany eliminations to respond to any potential risks of material misstatement 1 the Group financial staterments,
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The charts below illustrate the COverage obtained from the work performed by cur audit team,

Changes from the prior year
The total coverage from full and specific scope components was at similar levels to the prior year.

2021 2020
Full scope 3 7
Specific scope 5
Remaining componems 4 8
Total components 15 20

The reduction in companents compared 10 the prior year {which inciuded 1in fuk scope, 3 in specific scope and 1in remaining componenis) reflects
3 entities disposed of in 2020 and a rationalisation of components. The chenges in the current year reflect 3 {ull scope entitles In 2020 moving to
specific scope In 2021, and 3 remaining companents in 2020 moving 1o specific scope In 2021, This ensurad that in assessing the risk of material
misstatement we had adequate quantitative coverage of significard accounts in the Group Financial Statements.

Involvement with compenant teams
All audit work performed for the purposes of the audit was undertaken by the Group audit team.

CLIMATE CHANGE

There has been Increasing Interest from stakeholkders as 1o how climata change will impact Mears Group Plec. The Group has delermined that the
most significant future impacts from climate change on its operations will be from the need to move tc an electric vehicle leet for repairs and
maintenance wark, and the need for “retrofitting” of sacial housing to be compliant with climate-related measures leg replacement of gas bollers)
These are explained on pages 42-44 in the required Task Force for Climate related Financial Disclosures and on page 49 in the risk management
section, which form part of the “Other information,” rather than the audited financial statements. Our procedures on these disclasures therefore
consisted solely of considering whether they sre materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowiedge cbtained in the course

of the audit of otherwise appear to be materially misstated.

As explained in the Basis of Preparation note on page 17 of the accounts, governmental and societal responses to climate change risks are still
developing, and are interdependent upon each other, and consequently financial statements cannot capture all possible future outcomes as these
afe not yet known. Our audit effort in considering climate change was focused on ensuring that the effects of any material climate risks disclosed on
pages 42 and 43 have been appropriately reflected In assat values where values are determined through modelling future cash flows end in the
timing and nature of liat#itles recognised. The Direclors have assessed that there were no material impacts of climate change in determining asset
and liabllity veluations and the timing of future cash flows to be incorporated Into these accounts. We also challenged the Directors’ considerations
of climate change in thelr assessment of going concern and viability and associated disclosures.

Whilst the Group has stated its commitment (o the aspirations of the Paris Agreement to achieve net zero emissions by 2050, the Group is currently
unable to determine the full future economic impact on their business mode|, operational plans and customaers to achieve this and therefore as set
aut above the patential impacts are aot lully Incorporated In these financial statements.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audlt matters are those matiers that, In our professional judgment, were of most significance In our sudit of the financial statements of

the current pericd and inciude the most significant assessed risks of materlal misstatement (whether of not due to fraud) that we identifled.
These matters included those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing
the efforts of the engagement eam, These matters were addressad in the context of our audil of the financial ststements as a whole, and in
our apinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Financial statements

Independent auditor’s report to
the members of Mears Group PLC continued

Key observations communicated
Risk Qur response 1o the risk to the Audit Committae
Managemant override vis topside We performed dudi procedures over this fisk area centrefly, coverlng both We conclude that based on the audit
S P d to it and  full BNd SPeCIiic scope Companents. procedures performed, manual
provistons through the FS close journal entries, top-side consolidation
process and consolidation process We watked through the financial statement clase and comatidation adjustmenits, judgementsl proviskins
Processes 10 assess the design and implementation of key controls. and accnsals are appropriate.
Refer o the Accounting policies in
Nate 1 of the Consolidoted Financial We mdepéndenty verified the results and belances of the consolidated Qur procedures did not Identity any
Stotemens (poge 117) entities by agreeing the results and balances inciuded in the consolidation ingtances of management avenide af

Thare is 2 1evel of complexity within
the busi which high
volumes of manual journal entries,
and top-side adjustnents in prepandng
he consolidated financial statemems.
This inCreases the rick that
management will post an emongous
journal that will materially sffect the
financial statements.

There are also & number of provisions
and accruals at year end that are
based on management estimation.

direcily 10 the audited results and balances for all lull snd specific scope
components.

‘We obtalned an understanding of ak matedal y d financial stat W
close and consolidation journai entries posted and specifically tested a
sample of the Journals to supporting evidence.

We have further tested joumnal entries throughout the audit process using
ow dala anatytics genecal ledger analyser tools 10 ideniify and investigate
unyusyal items having considered criteria thay we believed indicated a higher
tikelihoogd of materlal misstatament.

We identified 3 journal source types that in our judgemernt may De more
suscepiiie (0 management Gverride. We 2ssessed that size was an
mpartant factor in retation 10 the risk of Managedment owerride and therelore
tested &l journals In these source types over £110,000 affecting accruals and
pravisions in the month of December 2021 as we assessed that there was
grester Hsk of mar  overrida closa to the year-and date,

We elso tested the same journal source types 10 the ssme thveshaid in
Jenubry 2022 to understand Il ihese were any unusual amendments which
should have been reflecred in the 2021 finkncial statements.

We untlerstood the nature and appropiteness of material round sum amounts
in accruals and provisions at the year-end. We ensured we undersiood the
reason lor significant movements In provisions and acoualy from the prior year
and chailenged management whene there had been no movement. Our work
InChucke comoborating the year-end aCCrusls and provisions 1o supporting
Information, locking back g1 priky year ko assess manegement’s bilty 1o
estimae and chalienging the mest significant assumptions.

Al audit work in relation fo this key audit hatier was underiaken by the

contryls gthaugh we did [dentily that
thede is & need to improve imemal
review and spproval DIDCRS3ES.

Group 1eam.
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Risk

Qur response to the risk

Key observations communicated
10 the Audit Committee

Appropriataness of lease accsunting
under IFRS 16 (right of use asgets
Group 2021 £204.9m Group 2020
£200.0m, lease liabliities Group
2021 £216.9m, Group 2020 £209.1m,
right of use assets Pargrt 2004
£21.4m Parent 2030 £48.4m, loase
liahilities Parent 2021 £21.7m, Parent
2020 £18.9m)

Refer to the Auolt Committee Report
{poge 78} Accouniing policies (page
134) and Note 15 and Note 20 of the
Consolidated Financiol Statements
{poges 134 and 141 respectively)

The accounting of IFRS 16 Is complex
and requires a number of estimates
and judgements. The most significant
estimate |5 the discount rate
(incremental Barrowing Rate, "IBR') to
apply ta each iease. Key Judgemanis
are made when assessing whether
leasing arrangements fall within the
scope of IFRS 16 and In determining
the appropriate lease term at the
ingeption of the lease where leased
assets are subject to extension or
termination options, Further, tha
group has a high volume of leases,
some of which are complex in nature,
and the group uses a combingtion of
manuat bespoke excel modelling
templates and an off the sheif
software package to derive the

RO asset and lease liabllity values
for the ROU asset categories.

Due to the significant financlal
statement Impact of IFRS 16, the high
level of estimation and Judegment
required in determining the
appropriate accounting treatment, and
tha manusl modelling of the Impact on
some lease categories, we thergfore
identified IFRS 16 as a significant risk.

We performed audil procedures over this risk area which covered 100% of
the risk amount.

Owr pracedures included:

Assessing management's process: We gained an understanding through a
walkthrough of the process and controls management have in place over
the compiateness of IFRS 16.

Key estimate: We have assessed the appropriateness of the IBR by
reviewing management's methodology. With the support of our Corporate
Treasury speciallsts we reperformed the calculations and challenged their
vahdity by comparing to observable market rates.

Key jJudgments: We challenged the key judgements and assumplions used
by management in relation to assessing whether leasing arangements fall
within the scope of IFRS 16 and in determining the appropriate lease term at
the Inception of the lease where ieased assets are subject to extension or
termination optlons, by inquiring of management, Inspecting Audit
Committee and Board minutes, and selecting a sample of leases, inspecting
the amangement terms and reaching anindependent opinion on the IFRS 16
accounting treatment.

Tests of detall: We assessed the completeness of the poputation of leases
by selecting @ sample of lease payments made during the year, and post
year end.through to 31 January 2022, from the appropriate income
statement general ledger codes (which includes all lease payments made
during the year prior 10 the reversal of ROU assets), obtalning and Inspecting
a copy of the underdying lease contract and independently assessing
whether management's lease identification basis Is aigned with IFRS 16, by
tracing the assat through to the correct ROU modelfensuring not Included
within any ROU modaels, Further, we obtained and inspected third party
statements from the vehicle lessors and third perty returns from those where
the leasa completion pathway sits autside of the Immediate Mears function,
and ensured that these recanciled to the undertying IFRS 16 lease data.

We considered whether any reconciling difference may indicate a
completenass issue.

For a sample of leases, we assessed the measurement/valuation ofthe
underlying lease data by checking the key inpuls used in the madels to
original contract or other supporting data and recalculating the right of use
ssset and corresponding lease Kability.

We mterrogated the Integrity and mechanical accuracy of tha bespoke excel
modeliing templates used to derive the IFRS 16 Journals for vahicles,
residential property used directly In the business and some of the residential
property sub-leased to customers, through the application of our EY Al
Spreadsheet anatyser which highlights, amongst other things, complex
sheets, hardcaded items, inconsistencies in the logical design, unexpected

formula changes, and by searching the models for potential duplicate assets.

During the year management transitioned the office leeses and leases for
same of tha residentlal property sub-leased 0 customers from their
bespoie manual excel madets to an off the shelf lease accounting software
package. We assessed the completeness and accuracy of the transition by
reconciling the 20211otal opening position for each leas« category to the
2020 total closing position and selecting a sample of leases and agreeing
the key inputs from the underlying lease sgreement to the [ease accounting
software package. The integrity and mechanical accuracy of the software
package used to derive the IFRS 16 Journals for office and MHM fixed leases
was validated by independently calculating the cash Nows for a sample of
Jeases and comparing the output to the output from the software package.

We considered the adequacy of IFRS16 disclosures, Including sensitivity of
the lease liabllitles lo the key assumpiions.

All audit work In relation to this key audit matier was undertaken by the
Group engagement leam with assistance from our valuation specialists.

of IFRS 16, Leases.

Based on our sudit proceduras
performed we conclude the key
estimates and judgments
underpinning the IFRS 16 right of
use assets and lease liabllities are
appropriate and the disclosures
within notes 15 and 20 ase in
accordance with the requirements
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Financial statements

Independent auditor’s report to
the members of Mears Group PLC continued

Key observations communicated
Riak Our response to the risk 16 the Audit Commitiee
Valuation of the Group and parent’s  We performed audit procedures aver this risk area centraily, which covered The two Group Schemes and the

defined benefit pension ocbligation
(Group 2021: net surplus £20.2m,
20207 net deficit £38.5m Parept
2021 nut surplus £1.8m, 2020: net
deficit £3.8m) and valustion of hard
to value schems sasats (Group
2021: £419.3m, 2020: £429.31m,
Parent 2021: £19.7m, 2020: £18.6m)

Refer to the Augit Committee Report
{poge 78: Accouniing policies (poge
150} ond Note 28 of the Consolidoted
Fingncial Stotements {poge 150).

The Group opercles g number of
defined benellt pension schermes
Group schemes)ond is on admilied
body of other defined benefit pension
schemes [LGFS)

Suljective lon using ph
actuariel assumptions:

A gross defined benefit pension
liability of €434 9m was held at

3 December 2021 {2020; £501.4m} in
respect of afl defined benefit pension
schemes. Small changes it the
assumptions and estimates used to
value the Group's and Parent's
pension cbiigation (before deducting
stheme assets) would have

8 significant effect on the carrying
value of those pension obligations.

The effect of these matiers 15 that,

as part of our risk assessment, we
determined that the Group's and
Parent Company's pension obligation
has & high degree of estimation
uncertainty, with a potential range of
raasonable putcomes grealer than owr
materiality for the financial statements
as a whole. The flnancial statements
(note 28) discloses the estimation
unceriainty idenlfied by the Group
and company.

Valuation of defined benafit
penslon atgets:

The fair value of the defined pension
scheme assetls in aggregate as al

31 Decembar 2021 was £492.9m
{2020 £473.9¢1). Judgement is
applied in valuing the mare comgplex
level 2 and 3 Group schemes’ assets,
while the LGPS assels are estimated
by rolfing farward the published asset
position from the previous year using
market index retrns aver the period.

100% of the risk amount.
Qur procedures included:

We have undersiood management’s process and methodalogy for
calculating the pension Yiabllity for each scheme, including discussions with
management's extermal actuaries, walkthrough of the processes,
understanding the key Inputs and the desigh and implementation of key
contrals. We performed a fully substantive audit approach rather than testing
the operating effectiveness of key Controls.

We have assessed the independence, objectivity and competence of the
Grour's extemal actuades, which induded understanding the scope of services
being provided and considening the approprateness of the quaifications of the
external actuary:

With the support of our pension actuarial speciaiists, we dssessed and
chalienged the appropristeness of the assumptions adopted by the
Directors by comparing them to the expectations af our pension actuarial
specialists which they had derived from broader maret dats.

We tasted a sampie of the membership deta used by lhe achuaries 1o the
Group's reconds. We direcily confirmed the existence and valuation of
pension schame assets with asset managers and custodisns for Group
Schemes and analysed the movements on assels for LGPS. With the support
of our valuation and acluarial spedalists we independently challenged the
valuation of herd to value scheme assets by performing detailed testing an 3
sample of level 2 and level 3 Group scheme's gssets and the LGPS assels.
Wa identified market indices that most accurately refiect the expected
performance of the fund (hased on the undertying Investment/asset portfolio
of the fundj for 2021, Using the sultabie/frelevant market index, we set an
expecilation of the performance of the fund in order o deteimine the
expected value of the fund as at 31 December 2021 We then compared the
expected value of the fund as a1 31 December 2021 to the value a5 at

31 Decarmber 2021 a8 per the rwestment manager o determine whather this
met our expectations.

‘We considered the adequacy of IAS 19 disclosures, incduding sensitivity of
the obligation ta the key assumplions.

All audit work In reistion to this key audit matter was undertaken by the
Group engagement team with assistance from our scluarial and vahuation
speciatists.

LGPS all have different scheme
Habiiity durations. However, the
financiet assumptions have bean
sel consistently across the Group
Schemes and LGPS basedon a
weighted average duration of all
Schemes. The saldry increase
assumption which is linked ta RPI is
optimistic. There is sufficlent scope
within the other assumptions which
fall within a ceniral range or have
been assessead and seton an
appropriste basis 1o offsel this.

As such, we conclude that overall
mansgement's actuarlal
assumptlons are within an
acceptabie range.

We hove noted balow, for the
assumptions that are assessed
sgainst p specific range. owr ranges
compared io management's
assessment:

Discount rate:; 1.70%-2.00%
Mears rate: 2.00%)

RP1 infiation: 3.00%-3.70%
Maars rate: 3.00%).

We conciude that group scheme
assets were under-valued based
on external confirmations recelved.
Management made adjustments to
incraase the group scheme asset
values by £0.62m to refiect this,
Cur westing dic nat identify any
other material misstaternents.

We are zatisfied with the
adequacy of disclasure within
the financial statements.
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Kay gtasrvations communicoted
Risk Qur response 1o the rxk 1o the Audh Commizes
Approprioteness of revenirg Wy performed aucit procedures gwer this risk ares which covered 100% Far the yesr 1o 3 December 2023,
racognition incudion contract af the itk Amount. we conclude that basad on the
socounting, contract assets and sudll procadures performed,
accrusle {Group wll ghs of tha TROGHHIGN Process for all revenue transactions have baen
QL EBTBAm, Group revenue agésaamﬂﬁmgg aad implememation of key recogniSat Arrapristely.
2020: £805.5m) CONRrols. Ow procedures did not Idantiy
instancas of insppropriate
Rufer it the AR Commizes Report  'We usad data anaivsls kysts an 100% of reverua [ransactions Inme yesrm  managerhenl override in the
{poge 75 Atcounting policies [noge 1est tha corretation betwean reven mgaousa. d cesh recelpisio racogniion of revanue acss
HEkane Nate 3 oF the Consolitared  vertyLhe of Ea ¥ detalls on non- the Group.
Finencls! Statements poge 19) 1) entres by der o angd
explanal S:m_ﬂs 83555% Eﬂ_ﬂosa.g_u&.ﬂa:cn Wo are satisfled with the sdequacy
Mears has 4 differeri key révenue 15 10 that revari @ had Soen 2pprop ly recegnised. of disciosura within the finenc sl
sireams, egchwith Its own revenus statamenis.
accouniing polkcy. D g the we the schodule of contract assety and selected a u__au_ng.
amountof revenue to be recogalsed B___._.wnnr_nias.tg range of cL1 testing tmechold 1o include a
requires mansgerment 1o maka f ur ietabillty, We b the ity o qB_.E.wn
significer? judgements and esUmates  assets balances by feference (o cost balenoe sheed cash cofiectian,
in the apptication of IFRS 15, tho staga ogﬁsaﬁﬂﬂa;ﬁ-sniﬂaﬁny.ﬁgﬂﬂﬂu n’s
of ol cestein L] quantily survayuar.
1he recoverebiBty of WP, mobilisation
costs sndd contract assets. E aﬁd.aﬂﬁﬂnuﬁiﬂa?ais stomars or Group's
yor, wo nquired the reasonfr -
There Is considered to be o risk éggggggﬁggnza
of male:lat ervor ang 5
Jveirida in making 1his Bssessment,

Wa challenged the estimatad contract tast 1o compieie Including Seiring
ovidence Uﬂ_uvoaos._:nnvm:n ent conciusions where relgvent (e

5_?.505580_* d o sub: challerging the
Eﬂwﬁ_ﬂ_gwﬂga—n!u-r
We he'd meaiings with the in-howesa fegal 4 gt d the boatd

magting minutes to identfy and assess the impact of sny grgoing disputas
tnrelstion 1o e mcoverabilly of the contrect exsats batance md

challenged the onhe y of such cortraci assets
whara they had been recognised.
For d 3ompte af cantracts, whare th d margin Is nepsth

hafle the of their snemus

contracts provision.

For s sampiaof we direct confirmations {0 verify thelr

contraci trade terms with Masrs.

We h of contrect
89%:33:85519585 year !.naa_gas“zwa&

and, abiained supporing gvidence for & sampie of trarsactions and ansured
that the ravenue Is recngnised In Accoidancs with FRS 15,

We salected & sentplo of revenus VENSACHcns recowed befora and after
yeat ang i verify that the d pgen Intha
period,

Wae selected o sempla of credi notes issued afler vear-end and obtained
documentation to verfy the revenus sdjustments gt year end had bean
recordern eppropnatety

We pssessed the sdaquacy of Grougy's disclosured In aceondance with the
requiremants of tFRS 1S,

A8t medll wark b ratation to this kay sudik matier wes undertzken by the
Group enpag sam.
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Financial statements

Independent auditor’s report to
the members of Mears Group PLC continued

Key obrervations tommiunicated
Risk Our response 1o the 1isk 1o the Audit Coramittee
ntended disp of Hay We performed audit procedunes over this Hsk area which covered We conclude that whilst Mears has
Macharnical & Etectrical LLC consideration of the key judgemenits refaling to Mears' substantive right, and  1he right to contral Haydon UAE,
“Haydon VAE™) praciieal abillly io control Haydon UAE and whether any abillity should be there are barriers preventing cantrot
recogrised by Maars Group Pic In cespact of clalms ledged against the ang! therelore the antity nes not

Refer 1o the Augiit Committee repon

{ooge 79) ond the Accounting policies

bosis of preporotion jpoge 119}

The 2016 annual report and accounts
reflected Mears' Intanged disposal
{Quring 2016) of 48% of iis beneficial
interest in the shares of Haydon

Mechanical & Elactrical Contracts LLC
{"Haydon UAE") leaving Mears with 2 1

% Interesl. The legal ownar of the

shares i§ Haydon UK Limited {"Haydon
UK. 1 was brought o owr attention in

iate 2021that the transier of sharas
from Haydaon UK {and Mears'
beneficial interest] o the Intended

acquirer did not complete as intended.
due to 3 falure to complete al aspects

of the required fing processes in the
LAE, and therefore Mears has

retained its full 49% beneficial interest

In the shares of Heydan UAE.

As a resuit of the fatied share transfer,
Mears cootinues o hold the Aght 1o
controd Haydon UAE (by virtue of its
beneficial IMeresi In the shares and
powers set under the Memorsndum
of Assaciation). We have therefore
considered what the appropriate
accounting is and whether any priar
year adj t3 resLrt.

Haydon UAE entity

We nave oblained and inspecied refevant third party documentskion and
confirmed dealls 1o the company's analysis.

We have challenged management's cONCILSions relating 10 thelr spfiity 1o
control the Haydon UAE entity In the current and priey years and whethe!
there is any further Sability 1o be recognised or gdisclosed.

With the support of EY Law Dubai, we have independently challenged
management's udgemants retating 1 the exisience of operational, legal
and requistory barisrs lo exercising thelr right to control Haydan UAE.

We have also independently considered, with gdvice fram EY Lew Dubs,
the Hicetihoad of sy further labliity arising on Mears lram the Haydan UAE
entity.

We have canfumed ali other dispoesals in the last 10 years have taken pisce
as intended by checking cument ownership details (o ndependent third
party informatian.

Wa considered the sdequacy of disciosura in the basis of preparation note
in the accoums and considered whether any further disclosures in the
accounts were required.

All 8UGTL work in relation 10 this key audil matter was undertaken by the
Group engag 1t team with € fram aur EY Law speciahsts.

been consolidated. We have also
concluded that Mears' exposure
to any further lability 1s remaote.

We are salisfied that al othey
disposals made by Mears I the Jass 10
yeers have laken place as intended.

As referred o in the Augit
Committee Report (page 79} the
failure 10 complete all necessary
requirements for the disposal
transaetion o be effective
highlighted 2 significant

contral defictency.

We are satishied with the adequacy
of disclosura within the financial
statamenits.

In the pricr year, our sudior's report included key audit matters in relation to 8} dispasal sccounting including recogritian of profit on disposal and
contingent considerstion and bj first year audit ransition including assessment of opening balances. In the current year, thesa weren't considered
ey audit matters since there were no disposals and this was the second year of our audl,

OUR APPLICATION OF MATERIALITY
We apply the concept of materiglity in planmng and perfofming The audil, in evaluating the effect of entified misstatements on the sudit ang

in forming oy audit gpinion.

Materiality

The magnitude of on Gmission or misstatement thot, indiviguolly or in the Ggaregate, could reasonobly be expected to influence the economic
gecisions of the users of the fingncial slotements.

Materiaby provides a basis for detenmining the nature and extent of owr sudh procedures. We detemined maleriality for the Group to be £4.1 million
{2020: £1.1 million}, which Is 5% (2020; 4.75%) of normalised profit bafore tax from continuing operations. Matetality in 2021 was based on our
judgement of nornalised eamings of the Group from cominuing operations. To form the basis of this assessmeni we have considered the average
profit before tax fram continuing operations for finandsl years 2018, 2019, 2021 and the foracas profit Dedore 1ax for finandial year 2022.

Financiel year 2020 was exckided due to the significant impact of Cavid-19 on profit before 1ax fram continuing operations.

We determined materiality for the Parent Company to be £1.1 milfon (2020: £1.1 mition). which is 1% (2020: %) of net assets.

During the course of our audit, we reassessed initial matedality and adiusted our finat mataniality to reflect the fina profit before tax for 2021,
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Perfarmance materiality
The appticotion of materiolity ot the individuo! account or balance level. it is set ot on gmount to reduce toan appropriotely fow level the probability
that the oggregate of uncarrected and undelecied missiglements exceeds materiality.

On the basls of our sk assessments, together with our assessment of the Group's overall control environment, our judgement was thet performance
materiality was 50% (2020: 50%} of our planning materiality, namely £550,000 (2020: £550,000). We have set performance materiality st this
percentage due to differences identified relating to both the current year and prior year.

Audit work at companent locations for the purpose of obtaining audit coverage over significant financizl statement accounts is undertaken based

on a percentage of total performance materiality. The performance materizlity set for each component is based ¢n the relative scale and risk of the
component to the Group as a whole and our assessment of the risk of misstatement at that component. In the current year, the range of performance
materiality allocated to components was £55,000 to £412,500.

Reporting threshold
An amount below which identifled misstatements are considered as being clearly trivial.

We agreed with the Audit Commitiee that we would report t them all uncorrected audit differences In excess of £55,000 {2020: £55,000),
which is set at 5% of planning materlality, as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualilative grounds.

We evaluate any uncorrected misstaterments against both the quantitative measures of materislity discussed above and in light of other relevant
qualitative ¢considerations n forming our opinion.

OTHER INFORMATION

The other Information comprises the information included In the annual report set aut on pages 1to 100, including the Stralegic Report, setouton
pages 1o 63, Corparate Govemance, set out on pages 64 to 100, and Shareholder information, set out on pages 168 10 169, other then the financial
statements and our auditor's report thereon. The directors are responsible for the cther Information cantained within the annual report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated In this report, '
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, In dolng so, consider whether the other information Is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit or otherwise sppears to be materially misstated. If we Identify such
material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise 1o a material misstatement

in the financial statements themsetvas, i, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there IS a material misstatement of the other
Information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report In this regard.

OPINIONS ON OTHER MATTERS PRESCRIBED BY THE COMPANIES ACT 2006
In our opinion, the part of the directors’ remuneration report 1o be sudited has been properly prepared In accordance with tha Companies Act 2006.

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

= the information given in the strstegic repart and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared
is consistent with the financlal statements; and
= the sisategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legat requirements.

MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE REQUIRED TO REPORT BY EXCEPTION
in the light of tha knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and its environment oblained in the course of the audit.
we have not identified materlal misstatements in the strategic report or the directars’ report.

We have nothing to report in respect of tha following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to repodt 1o you If, in qur opinton:

— adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parant company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us; of

= the parent company Anancial siatements and the pant of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are notin agreement with the
accounting records and returns, or

— certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

— we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit
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Financial statements

Independent auditor’s reporit to
the members of Mears Group PLC continued

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
We have reviewed the directors’ statement in retation to going concern, longer-term viability and that pant of the Corporate Govemance Statement
relating to the group and company’s compliance with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code specified for gur review by the Listing Rules.

Based on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we have concluded that each of the lkowing elemems of the Corporate Governance Statement
is materially consistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obiained during the audit:

— Directors' statement with regards to the appropriateness of adopting the going cancem basis of accounting and any material unceriainties
identified set out on page 99,

Directors’ explanation as 1o fts assessment of the company’s prospects, the period this assessment covers and why the period is appropriate

set out on page 62 t0 63,

Director's statement on whether it has a reasonable expeciation that the group witl be able to continue in operation and meets Its Eabilites

set out on page 99,

Diractors' statement an fair. balanced and understandabie set out on page 77,

Board's confirmation that it has carried out @ robust assessment of the emerging and principal risks sef out on pages 4610 53:

The seclion of the annual report that desciibes the review of effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems sel out on page 77, and;
The section describing the work of the audit committee set out on pages 76 to 81

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

As explained more fully In the directors’ responsibilities statement set ut an page 100, the directors sre responsible for the preparation of the
financial stalements and for being satisfled that they give a true and fair view. and for such Internal Control 8s the direciors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstalement, whether due 1o fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group and parent company's abllity te continue a5 a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters refated 1o going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the group or the parent COMpany of to cease aperations, or have na reslistic altermative but 1o do so.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financlal statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud oOr error, 8nd 1o issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinicn. Reasonable assurance Is a high level of assurance, butlsnot a
guarantee thay an audit conducted in accordance with 1SAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered matevial if, individually or In the aggreqaie, they could reasonably be expected ta influence the sconomic
decisicns of users taken on the basis of these finandal statements.

Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting Irregularities, Including fraud

trregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-complience with laws and regulations. We design pracedures in line with our responsibillties,
outlined above. to detect iregularities, including fraud. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not
detecting one resutting from error, as fraud may invoive defiberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through
cobusion. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below.

Howewver, the primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud rests with both those charged with governance of the comparty and management.

— We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the group and determined that the most significant
are those that relate 1o the reporting framework (FRS, FRS101 and the Companies Act 2006, the Financial Reporting Councll (FRC) and the UK
Corporate Governance Code) and the relevant tax compliance regulations in the UK.

— We understood how Mears Group PLC is complying with those frameworks by reading internal policies and assessing the emity level control
anvironment, inciuding the level of oversight of those charged with govemance. We made enquirtes of the Chair of the Audit Camnmittee, the
group's legal counsel and internat audit of any known instances of non-compliance of suspected non-compliance with lsws and regulations.

We comoborated our enquiries theough review of cormespondence with regulatory bodies. We designed our audit procedures 1o identify
non-comphance with such laws andg regulations identifled in the paragraph above.

— 'Wa assessed lhe susceptibility of the group's financis statements 1o material misstaternent, Including how fraud might occur by conskiering the
programs and controls that the group has established to address risks idemtified by the enttity, or that otherwise prevent, deter and detect fraud,
how senior management monitor those programs and controls, evaiuating conditions in the context of Incentive and/or pressure to commit fraud,
considering the opportunity 10 commit fraud and the potential raticnalisation of the fraudulent act.

— Based on this understanding we designed our audit procedures to identify non-compiiance with such laws and regulations. Our procedures
involved making enquirles of senior management, including the Group Finance Dicector, Comparty Secretary and Chair of the Audit Committee.
As well as atendance and enquiry at meetings, our procedures invalved a review of minutes of board meetings, Ilernal audit reports, and other
committee minules to identify any non-compliance with laws and requlations. We planned our sudit procedures to identify risks of management
override, wested higher risk journal entrles and performed audit procedures 1o address the potential for management bias, particularly over areas
invohving significant estimation. Further detall of our approach 1o addrass the identified risks of management averride are set cut in the key audit
malters sectlon of cur repoxt.

A further description of our responsiblfities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financlal Reporting Council's website at
httpscthwww fre org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor's repon.
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OTHER MATTERS WE ARE REQUIRED TO ADDRESS

— Following the recommendation from the audit committee we were appointed by the Board of Directors of Mears Group PLC on 9 September
2020 to audit the fingncial statements for the year ending 31 December 2020 and subsequent financial periods. This appointment was approved
by the shareholders at the annugl general meeting an 22 June 2021. The period of total uninterrupted engagement Including previous renewsls
and reappointments is 2 years, covering the years ending 31 December 2020 to 31 December 2021,

— The aodit opinion is consistant with the additional report to the audit committee.

USE OF OUR REPORT

This repart is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006, Our audit work
has been undertaken so that we might state to the company's members those matiers we are required o state to them in an auditor’s report and for
no other purpose. To the fullest extent permilted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibliity to anyone other than the company and the
company’s members as & body, for our audit work, for this repor, or for the opinlons we have formed.

Paul Mapieston (Senior statutery auditor)

for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP, Statutory Auditor  EXNST % Xagng LLP
Bristol Ernst & Young LLP (Jun X7,2022 13:53 GMT+1)

31 March 2022
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

For the year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020
Note £'000 £'000
Profit for the year 14,263 44,801
Other comprehensive income:;
Which will be subsequently reclassified to the Consolkdated Statement of Prefit or Loss:
Cash flow hedges:
— Qains/losses) ariging in the year 23 1,023 (1139)
- reclassification to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 23 (85) 354
(Decreaselincrease in deferred tax asset in respact of cash flow hedges 24 (178) 149
Which will not be subsequently recdlassified ta the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss:
Actuarial gainfloss) on defined benelit pension scheme 28 S9.721 1914}
Pension guarantee asset movements in respect of actuarial (gain)icss 28 (19,018) 10,024
[Decrease)increase in deferred lax in respect of defined benefit pension schemes 24 ({8,809} 1727
Other comprehensive income for the year 32,654 (7599
Total comprehensive income for the year 46,917 36,802
Attributable to:
Owners of Mears Group PLC 45,773 36,520
Non-controlling interest 144 282
Totst comprehensive income for the year 46,917 36,802
Total comprehensive incoma for the year attributable to owners of Mears Group PLC arises from:
Continuing operations 45,651 87z
Discontinued operations 1122 56,241
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to owners of Mears Group PLC 46773 36,520

The accompanying accounting policies angd notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Financiai statements

Consolidated balance sheet
As at 31 December 2021

2021 2020
Noie E'D0O £'000
Assets
Mon-current
Goadwill 12 18873 18,873
intangible assats 3 6610 15.205
Property, plant and equipment W 20712 23600
Right of use sssels 15 204,949 200,041
Investments 16 m 966
Loan notes 3 3.47% 3)0
Contingent cansideration 23 - 543
Penslon and ather employee benefits 28 37651 7068
Pension guarantee assets 28 12975 0705
Deferred tax asset 24 - 3320
405,959 408369
Current
Inventories 7 22,869 3,258
Trade and other receivables 18 148,305 139,884
Current 1ax assets 2454 358
Cash and cash equivalents 23 54,632 96,220
227,960 267720
Total assets 633,919 676,089
Equity .
Equity sttritutabie to the sharetalders of Mears Group PLC
Called up share capital 25 109 100
Share premium account 82,265 82,225
Share-based payment reserve 4,33 1312
Hedging reserve 23 - 760
Merger reserve FA: 1,1 78H
Retsined eernings 07578 63.536
Total equity attributable to the shareholders of Mears Group PLC 200,236 155,393
Non-controlimg interest a2 €58
Total aquity 201038 156.051
Uabhities
Non-cumrent
Long-term borrowing and overdrafls 23 - 39,353
Pension and other employee benefits 23 16,995 45,853
Deferred 1ax Rabliities 24 8,676 -
Interast rate swaps px| - 462
Lease labilities 20 176,290 166,183
Non-cutrent provisions 22 3,800 3,667
202761 25538
Current
Trade and other payables ] 184,047 221029
Interest rate swaps 23 - 459
Lease labilities 20 41,600 42,889
Provisians 2 4,473 344
Current lighilitles 230120 264.720
Total liabititles 432,881 520,038
Total equity and liabllities 633,919 676,089

The financial statements were approved and authonsed for issue by the Board of Direclors and were signed on its behalf on 31 March 2021,

D J Miles A C M Smith - Y
Director Director ﬂ/ M
Company number. 03232863 d j miles {Jun 19,2022 13:34 GMT+1)

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of Ihese financial statements.
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andrew smith (Jun 19, 2022 21:11 GMT+1)
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Consolidated cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020

Note £'000 £000
Operating acthvitias
Resull for the year hefore tax 16,333 (15.218)
Adjustments 26¢ 65,902 72,761
Change in inventorles 12,944 4787
Change in irade and other receivables {2,244) 18.475
Change in trade, other payables and provisions (32,573) 22418
Cash inflow from operating activities of continuing cperations before taxation 60362 103,223
Taxes paid (3.752) 41
Net cash infiow from operating activities of continuing operations 56,610 103,264
et cash inflow from operating activities of discontinued operations 9 59 2527
Net cash inflow from operating activities 56,669 105,791
Investing activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment (7.587) (5.065)
Additions to other intangible assets (1482) ana
Proceeds from disposals of property. plant and equipment 46 17
Cash Inflow in respect of property for resale - 4618
Loans repaid by relaled parties A 500 10
Olstributions from associates 15 1108 -
Intares! recelved 413 86
Net cash outfllow from Investing activities of continuing operatlons {6,702} (2,054
Net cash inflow from investing activities of discontinued operations 500 54612
Net cash (outhiowlinflow from investing sctivities (6.202) 52.561
Financing activities
Proceeds from share Issue 40 4
Net cash movement in revolving credil facillty (40,000) (84.684)
Discharge of lease kabilities (40,258) {39.958)
Interest paid (8,844) {10,056
Dividends pald — Mears Group shareholders (2773) -
Net cash outflow from financing activities of continuing operations {51,835) {134.704)
Net cash outflow from financing activitles of discontinued operations g {220) {489)
Net cash outflow from financing activities (92,05%) (135193}
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 56,220 73,061
Nel{decreasa)increase in cash and cash equivalents (91,588) 23159
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 54,632 96,220
The Group cansiders its revolving credit facility to be an integral part of its cash management.
— Cash and cash equivalents 54632 96,220
— _Revolving credit facility - 39353
Cash and cash aquivalents, including revolving credit facility 54,632 56.867

The sccompanying accounting policies and notes form an Integral part of these financial statements.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

115

FONVYNYIADD JLVHOLHNOD d40d3N D1DE1VHILIS

SLNINILYLS TYIDINVYNId

NOILYWUOIN] HAQTOHANVYHS

A\ Y

\Y




Financlal statements

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2021

le 1o equity sharehoiders of the Company

Share-
Shere based Non-

Share pramium payment Hedging Mesger Retained controliing Total

capital account reserve reserve reserve earnings. interest equity

£000 £'000 £000 €000 £000 £000 000 £000
At1January 2020 105 82224 2421 24 12,956 13,840 B5) 18,337
Net result for the yeas - - - - - 44519 282 44,801
Other compeehensive income - - - (6:38) - (1363) - 7999
Total comprehensive iIncome
for the year -~ — - {638) - 37156 282 (36,802)
Deferred tax on share-based
payments . - - - - - 0 - 10
Issue of shares 4 1 - - - - - 5
Share options — value of
employee services - - 1029 - - - - 1.029
Share oplions — exercised or
lapsed - - {2139 - - 2138 - -
Non-coatrolling Interest
eliminated on disposal )
of subsidiary - - - - - - {132 132y
Transactlons with non-
cortrolling interests - - - - - (593) 593 -
Transter of realised profits - - - - [4.985) 4985 - -~
At 1Jenuary 2021 1108 82,225 1392 {760} 791 63,536 658 156,051
Net result ior the year - - — - - “wne 04 4263
Other comprebensive Mcome - - - 760 - 31,854 - 32654
Total comprehensive income
for the * year - - - 260 - 46,013 s 46,917
Oevferred tax on share-basad
paymenis - - - - - 228 - 228
#4sue of shares - 40 - - - - - 40
Share options - value of
empigyee services - - 575 - - - - 575
Share options — exercised or
lapsed - - (574} - - S - -
Dividends - — - - - @773 - (2773
At 31 Docember 2021 1309 82,265 1313 - 1971 107578 202 201,038

The accompanying accounting poficies and notes form an integrel pant of these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements — Group
For the year ended 31 December 2021

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Accounting policies are detalled in thelr respective notes, where relevant. Policles that are not specific to a particular note are detailed below.

Basis of preparation

The consolidatad financlal statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with Intemational Accounting Standards in conformity with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and United Kingdom adopted internatianal accounting standards. The financial statements are prepared
under the historical cost convention as modified by the revalvation of contingent conslderation, derivative finandal instruments and share-based
payments. They are presented in Sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (K000}

The accounting policies remain unchanged from the previous year except for the modification of a number of standards with effect from 1 January 2021,
The adogption of these amendmenis had no material effect on the Group's financial statements.

The preparation of financlal statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of estimates and judgements that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the year, Aithough these estimates are
based on management’s best knowledge of the amounts, actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates. The most significant estimates made
by management in these financisl statements are set out in the accounting policies to which they relate,

Government and societat responses to dimate change are stlll developing and are interdependent upon each othes, and consequently financial
statements cannot capture all possibie future outcomes as these are not yet known. There were no materisl impacts of cimate change in determining
asset and liability valuations and the timing of future cash flows 1o be incorporated into these financlal statements.

Mears Group PLC is incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales (registration number 03232863). its registered office and principal place of
business Is 1390 Montpellier Coun, Gloucester Business Park, Brockworth, Gloucester GL.3 4AH. Mears Group PLC's shares are listed on the Main
Market of the London Stock Exchange.

Basis of consolidation

The Consolidated Balance Sheet inciudes the assets and liabilitles of the Compsny and its subsidiaries and Is made up to 31 December 2021.
Entities for which the Group has the ability to exercise control over financial and operating policies are accounted for as subsidiaries. Control is
achleved where the Company has existing rights thal give it the current abliity te direcl the activities that affect the Company’s returns and exposure
or rights 1o variable returns from the entity, Interests acquired tn entities are consofidated from the effective date of acquisition and interests sold are

consolidated up to the date of disposal.

All significant intercompany transactions and balances between Group enterprises, including vnrealised profits ansing from intra-group transactions,
are eliminated on consclidation; no profit Is taken on sales between Group companies.

Non-controliing interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group's equity thereln. Non-controlling
interests consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the originail business combination and the non-ceniroling shareholders’ share of
changes in equily since the date of the combination. Tolal comprehensive Income is atiributed ta non-centralling interests even if this results in the
non-controling interest having a deficit balance.

A Joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have Jolnt controf have the rights to the nel assets of the arrangerent. Assoclates are
entitias over which the Group does not have control, but has significant influence. Investments in joint ventures and associates are accounted for
using the equity method of accounting. Under this method., the Group's share of post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the Consolidated
Statement of Profit or Loss: the Cost of the irvestment in a given joint venture or assoclate, together with the Group's share of that entity's post-
acquisition changes 1o shareholders’ funds, is included in investments within the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Going concern

The Directors consider that, as at the date of approving the financial statements, there is 8 reasonable expectation that the Group and Company have
adequate resources to continue in operstional existence for the pericd to at least 30 June 2023 When making this assessment, management considers
whether the Group will be able to maintain adequate liquidity headroom above the levei of its borrowing facilities and to operate within the financial
covenants applicable to those faciities, which will be measured at 30 June 2022, 31 December 2022 and 30 June 2023, At 31 Decembaer 2021, the
Group had £70m of committed borrowing facilities, maturing In December 2025; however, no amount wes drawn on the facility. The principal borrowing
faciities are subject 1o covenants, s detailed within the Financial review section of the Sirategic Report. The Strategic Repart 2150 details the principal
risks and uncertsinties and how the Group manages Its risks. The Group has modeiled its cash flow outiook for the period 10 30 June 2023 and the
farecasts indicate significant llquigity headroom will be maintained above the Group's borrowing facilities and that financial covenanis will be met
throughout the period, including the covenant tests at 30 June 2022 and 21 December 2022.

The Group has carried out stress tests against the base case 1o determine the performance levels that would resultin a breach of covenants or a
reduction of headroom against its borrowing facilities to £nil. The Directors have modelled a number of downside scenarios, which are covered in
maore detsll in the Financial viabllity review section an pages 62 and 63, Afler making these assessmenis, the Directors consider any scenario of
combination of scenarios that cauld cause the business to be no longer a going concern 1o be implausible, The Dkectors have a reasonable
expectation that the Company and its subsidiaries have adequate rescurces to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.
Accordingly, they continue 1o adopt the going concem basis in preparing the Annual Report and Accounts.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

1. ACCOUNYING POLICIES CONTINUED

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The acquisition method kvolves the recognition at fait vaiue of all identifiable
assets and labllities, including contingent liabMties of the subsidiary at the acquisition Qate, regardlass of whether or not they were recorded in the
financial staternents of the subsidiary prior to acquisiion. On Initial recognition, the assets and llabiiities of the subsidiary are included Inthe
Consolidated Balance Sheet at thelr fair vaes, which are also used as the bases for subsequent measurement In accordance with the Group
accounting policles. Goodwill is stated after separsting out identifisble inmangible assets. Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition cost aver

the fair value of the Group's share of the Identifiable net assets of the acquired subsidiary at tha Gate of acquisition,

Where applcable, the consideration far an acquisition Includes any assets or Labllities arising from a contingert consideraton arrangement,
measured at falr value st the scquisition date. Subsequent changes in such fair values are adjusted against the cost of acquisition where they resull
from adduional information obiained up to one year from the acquisition date about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

Al other subsequent changes in the fair value of contingent consideration classified as an sssel or liabikty are recognised In ccoroance with JIFRS 9
In the Consolidated Siatement of Profit or Loss.

For transactions with non-controfling parties that do not result in a change of control, the difference belween the fair value of the consideration
P and the dmount by which the non-controlling Interest Is adjusied is recognised In equity.

Any business camblaations prior to 1 January 2010 were accaunied for bt accordance with the standards in place at the time, which differ in the
following respects: ransaction costs directly attrioutable to the acguisition formed part of the acquisition costs: contingent consideration was
recognised if, and ontly if, the Group had 8 present gbligation, the ecanamic outfiow was more likely than not 3nd a relable estimate was
determinable; and subsequent adjustments ta the contingent cansidaration were recognised as part of goodwill.

Fair value
The Group measures certain assats and lfabikties at fair value on 8 recurring Das(s, including its interest rate swaps, coatingent consideration and
assets in the Group's defined benefit pension schames.

Trade and other receivables. rade and other payables and other losns are initially measured at falr value and are subsequently held a1 amortised
cost. Other assels are measured at falr value when they are assessed for impalrment or on classification as held for sale,

Fair value is the price that would be received to sall an asset or paid to transter a labliity In an arderly iransaction between markel pariicianis atthe
measurement dete. The Group uses valustion techniques that maximise the use of relevant observable Inpuls using the following vatuation hierarchy,
ordered from highest 1o lowest pricrity:

Level 1 ~ Quoted prices in active markets for idenlical assets or liabilities,

Levei 2 - inpuis other than quoted prices included in kevel 1 thal are ocbservable either directty or indirecily.

Level 3 - Uncbservabie inputs, typically derived from the Gioun's own Information with any necessary adjustments 1o ellminate factors specific @
the Graup.

For assets and Uabilitles measured at fak value on a recurring basls, the Group detérmines whether transfers have occurmed betwaen levels inthe
higrarchy by assessing the lowest level input that is significan to the mast recent measurement.

Details of the particular vaiuation techniques used by Ihe Group are grovided b1 the relevanl notes for each type of asset or liablliity measwured a8 fair vahe,

Use of judgements and estimates

The preparation of financial staternents requires mansgement to make estimates and judgements that affect the reported amounts of assets 8nG
Habiities and disclosure of contingent assets and Habiltles at the date of the finandal stalements and the reported amaunts of incorme and expenditure
during the reported period. The estimates and associated judgerments are based on historical experience and various other factors that ere believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which farm the basis of making judgements about carrying vahies of assets and flabilitles that are
not readily apparent from ather sources.

The estimates and underlying judgements are reviewed on Bn ongoing basis. Revisions © accountng estimates are recagnised in the period in

which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period. or in the pedod of the revision ang future periots if the revisian affecls both
current and fulure periods,
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In the preparation of these consolldated financial statements, key estimates and judgements have been made by management concerning whether
an entity should be consalidated, provisions necessary for certaln liabiiities, estimates used |n forecasts used to assess future profitability, the
discount rates used and other judgements when recognising right of use assets for lease accounting, the iming of revenue recognition, the
recovarabllity of contract assets and work In progress, actuarial estimates in respect of defined benefit penslon schemes, the fair value of contingent
consideration in respect of disposed entities and other simiar evaluations. Actual amounts could differ from those estimates. Further details of key
estimates and Judgements are pravided in the appropriate notes, with the exceplion of the consolidation jJudgement described below.

The Impact of Covid-19 has been considered when making the estimates and judgements above. The global and locat effects of the pandemic have
primayily affected the discount rates used for lease accounting as well as the assumptions of discount rate and inflation rate used in cakulating the
Group's liebilities in respect of defined beneflt penslon schemes.

Consolidation judgeament

An Investor, regardiess of the nature of its involvement with an entity, s required Lo delermine whether it is 8 parent by assessing whether it controls
an investee. An invesior controls an Investee W and only If the investor has power over the investee. In assessing whether it has powes, an nvestor
considers only substantive rights relating to an investee. For a right to be substantive, the holder must have the practical ability 1o exercise that right.

The Group holds a benefidial interest in 49% of the shares in 8 company, Haydon Mechanical and Electrical LLC [Haydon LLC). registered In the UAE.
In assessing whether the Group has power over the invesiee, the Directors have considered several operational barriers which prevent Mears from
exercising its rights. These barriers Included the absence of suitable individuals willing to provide an executive management service and restrictions
placed upon the trade licence. The Directors have therefore taken the judgement that Mears does nat have the practical abllity to direct the

activitles of Haydon LLC and as such does not meet the criteria for contral. The results of the entily are therefore not cansolidated within the

financial statements.

Haydon LLC ceased trading during 2017 and reparts & net liability position. The carrying value of the Group's investment in this associste has
previously been reduced to £nll, and the Directors do not belleve that the Group has incurred any legal or canstructive obligations on behalf of
this associate.

New standards and interpretations not yet appliad

A number of standards heve been modified with effect for accounting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2022. These include IAS 37 ~
‘Cost of Fulfiling a Contract’, IAS 16 — 'Proceeds Sefore intended Use’ and other existing standards adising from the Annual Improvements to IFRSs
2018 — 2020 cycle. None of these amendments are expected (0 have a material effect on the Group's financial stalemens.

2. REVENUE

Accounting pollcy

Revenue is recognised in accordance with IFRS 15 'Revenue from Contracts with Customers'. IFRS 15 pravides a single, principles-based, five-step
model 1¢ be appiled to al sales contracts. It is based on the transfer of control of goods and services to customers, The detail below sets out the
principai types of contract and how the revenue is recagnised (n sccordance with IFRS 15.

Repair and maintenance contracts
For contracts In this category, the customer raises orders on demand, for example Lo carry out responsive repais, Revenue is derived from a mixture
of lump-sum perlodic payments and task-based payments depending on the terms of the Individual contract.

Where 2 lump-sum payment Is In place it may cover the administrative element of the contract or may cover the majority of the tasks undertaken
within that contract with exclusions 1o this bieing charged in addition to the lump-sum charge. For the works covered by the lump-sum payment, the
performance obligation is being avallable to deliver the goods and services in the scope of the contract, not the performance of the individual works
orders themselves. Revenue s recognised on a stralght-line basis as performance obligations are being met over time.

Far works orders not covered by a lump-sum payment, each works order represents a distinct performance obligation and, as the customer controls
the asset being enhanced thraugh the works, the performance obligation [s satisfied over time. Each works order can be broken down into one or
more distinct tasks which are elther complete or not complete. The stage of completion of the works order Is assessed by looking at which tasks are
complete. Tha transaction price for partly completed warks orders is recognised as cost phus expected margin. The transaction price for completed
works arders Is the invoice value, which is typically determined by a pricing schedule referred to as a Schedule of Rates that provides a transaction

price for each particular task.

Some contracts may include an element of varlable revenue based on cenaln KPis. These are recognised either at a point in time or over time,
depending on the nature of the KPl and the contractual agreement In which It s contained. Where there Is uncertainty in the measurement of variable
consideration, at both the start of the contract and subsequently, management will consider the facts and circumstances of the contract in determining
either the most likely amount of variable conskderation when the outcome Is binary, or the expected velue based on a range of possible considerations.
Included within this assessment will be the extent to which there Is a high probability that a significant reversal In variable consideration revenues will not
occur once the uncertainty is subsequently resolved, This assessment will include consideration of the following factors: the total amount of the variable
consigeration; the proportion of consideration susceptible 1o jJudgements of customers of third parties, for example KPis; the length of time expected
before resolution of the uncertainty: and the Group’s previous experience of similar contracts.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

2. REVENUE CONTINUED
Property income
Where the Group is acting as principal, lessor cperating lesse revenue is recognised in revenue on a straight-line basis over the tenancy.

Where thae Group is providing 2 management sefvice, Mears recognises ravenue as an agent (the net management fee) on a straight-line basis.
Where significant initial costs are required to make good the housing to perform Housing Management activities, the costs directly attriibutable to
the initia) upgrade will be recognised as costs incurred to fulfil a contract and held within curtent assets, 1o the extent that it (s determined that
costs are recoverable,

Whare the Group s providing an accommadation and support service, revenue is recognised at a pointin time for each night that the accommodation
Is occupled.

Some contracts may Include an etement of variable revenye based on certain KPis, This is recognised on the same basis as above.

Whene the Group enters Into amangements with customers for the provistan Of housing, an assessment is made as to witether tiis income

is recagnised under IFRS 15 or IFRS 16, The contract between the Group and the customer is deemed to contaln a tease where the contract conveys
the right to control an identified assat for a petiod of time in exchange for consideration. Inthis instance, the rantal income 1S recagnised on a
straight-kne basis over the life of the lease. All such sub-leased residential property jeases are classified as operating leases. Revenue In respect of
sub-leased residentiai property is disciosed separately.

Care services

The standalone selling prices for providing care are overtly stated in the contract, and the method of application of the rate of tharge is on a unit of
time basis, usually expressed as a rate per visil. Revenuve wlil be recognised In respect ofihis singla performance obiigation, by reference to the
chargeable rate and time for completed care visits in the period.

From time to time, care contracts with customers include a fixed fee per perlod for perfonming a consistent scope of care services. For these contract
types, the revenue recognition is consistent with lump-sum payments included in repair and maintlenance contracts, as descrived above,

Mobilisation

Across all revenue types, where a contract includes a mobilisation element, consideration s initialy glven 1o whether the mobilisation element
contains any discreta performance obligations. If this is the case, an element of the total coniract price is allocated to thase performance obligations
and recogmised elther at a paint In time or over ime, depending on the nature of the performance obligation. Mobilisation income is included in the
revenue category to which the contract relates.

Where amounts are received far mobillsation elements that are rot performance cbligations, these amounts are allocated to the performance
obligations Inthe contract to which they relate.

No revenue was recognised during 2021 In respect of mobilisation performance cbkgations.

Contracting projects

For contracting projects, the contract states the scope and specification of the construction works to be carried oul, for a lixed price. Mears is
continuously satisfying this single performance obligation as cost is incuired, determinlng progress against the perfermance obligation on an input
basis. The customer controls the site or output as the work is belng performed on it and thevefore revenue s recognised over tlime where there is an
enforcenble right 10 paymen for works completed 1o dale and the wovk completed does not creste an asset with an elternative use 10 The Group.
An assessment is made of costs incurred 1o date snd the costs required to complete the project. If 2 project 15 not deemed ta be profitable, the
unavoidable costs of fulfilling the cantract are pravided for immediately. This category absa includes construction contracts where an end customer
has not yat beean identified and the revenu# Is recognised at the point of sale of the property, rather than gver time.

Other
From time 10 time, the Group recetves revenue that does not fall within any of the categories abeve but ks not Individuaity significant engugh to require
a specific policy. In these cases, the revenue |s considered separatety and recognised in acoordance with IFRS 15,

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Contract recoverability

Determining future contract profilablity requires estimatas of future revenues and £osts o complete. In making these assessments there is 8 degree
of inherent uncertainty. The Group utilises the appropriate expertise in determining these estimates and has well-astablished internal contrals 1o
assess and review the expectad oyutcame.
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Critical judgements in applying the Group's accounting palicies

Revenue recognition

The estimation techniques used for revenue and prefit recognition in respect of contracting and varlable consideration contracls require
Judgements to be made aboul the stage of completion of certain contracts and the recovery of work in progress, mobilisation costs and contract
assets. Each contraci is treated on its merkts and subject to a regular review of the revenue and casts to complete that contract.

The Group's revenue disaggregated by pattern of revenue recagnition is as follows:

2021 2020
£000 £'000

Revenue from contracts with customers
Repalts and mainte: once 481,647 449974
Contracting 101,589 103,643
Property Income 240,641 19918
Care services 19,448 19,825
Other 295 109
843,628 773,269
Lease Income . 34,792 32,548
578,420 805,817

Al of the ahove categories fall exclusively within the Housing segment.

A totai of £13.2m of revenue was recognised in respect of the balance of contract liabilities at the stan of the year (2020: £2.1m).

Repairs and maintenance and care service revenue is typically involced between one and 30 days from comptetion of the performance obligation.
Contracting revenue is typically Invoiced based on the stage of completion of the overall contract. Property incame Is typically involced monthly In
acvance. Payment terms for revenue involced are typically 30 ta 60 days from the date of involce.

A maturity analysis of future minimum lessor income as at 31 December is shown in the table below:

20 2010

£'000 £'000

Less than 1 year 7,535 7963
Between1and 2 years 2,365 2,938
Between 2 and 3 years . 2,060 2,385
Between 2 and 4 years 1750 2,087
Between 4 and 5 years 1,544 1,683
Qver 5 years 812 2,296
16,086 19,352

3. SEGMENT REPORTING

Accounting policy .
Segment Information is presented In respect of the Group’s operating segments based an the format that the Group reports to its chief operating

decision maker.

The Group considers that the chief operating decision maker comprises the Executive Directors of the business.

The Group had one continuing operating segment during the year:

= Housing -~ following the disposat of the Group's domiciliary care operations, il services provided by the Group fall within this segment.
This includes housing repairs and maintenance services, a full housing management service and Care services directly related to
housing provision. '

All of the Group's activitkes are carried out wilthin the United Kingdom and the Group's principal reparting to its chiel operating decision maker is not
segmented by geography, As such, the resulls for the Group 85 8 whole represent the results for the single segment.
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Financial staterments

Notes to the financial statements ~ Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

3. SEGMENT NEPORTING CONTINUED

AX revanug and el NON-CUEN 835415 orise within the Unind Kingtom. All of the revenu reported ks exunal to e Group. The Group's iargest

singi cusiormer relationship i5 1 19apect of the Asylum Accominodetion and Support Contract with the Home Dffce. AL the tme gl this congract

W WON, thie Group expecied 10 repor Shimial (evanues of Brosad E120m, which wouki, undey Hormal CoRItbNa, AMOUNL 15 Maund 15% of Goup

revehuars, The AASC contracLhies i evited vok & sasuit of 8 backing Enked 1 he chalkenges of Cavia-19. Ay g mautt, this.
MO d fox cnmr 20% of Groug In 2021 and this elevaled Position hes continued o 2022, i the anger torr,

this contract 18 impacted 1o neciuok back Gown 10 8 normal lvel, NG other customar COMENses More than SO%. of reparlad revenue.

& DPENATING COSTS
Operating costS, relaiing 10 conlinung scivitles, incluce the folloing,
nzr 00
[ £000
Shars-based payrnenis ETS %3
Depreciation N Ag009 47608
Impaiman of bued sasers - 1500
af acquisition angith 1864 5%
Amariisaton of othar Inpiies 2 2am
m 2
Fors payabie for pudit and non-sudn vervices uring the yonr wene a5 lafows.
o 2010
£o00 000
i respect & continung Bctnties.
Fows piypbie 10 the BUAROC 0T e st of the GICLD'S financisl Natemens wo <]
Othar fous paysid 1o the sudior i respact o
-~ Suditing of sengunts of subgidisny inde rlaidng s Durusant to legisislion 00 485
— 0N feus i respact of the 2020 sudk s -
Foes prystie 10 the puditor i respact of discontinued scivities - 70
Totel audfion's remuneraiion 1,023 £85
5, FINANCE INCOME AMD FINANCE CO3TS
o 2030
00 £'000
Interest chare bn oversicatts sod loans {408} R663
{rierest Charge: On hedged fiemns am @54
imarest on lease obigerionts [ -] [rars ]
Qtheq Inietest m 1]
Finsce Costs oh bayriciaans, overdrefts end leases AT o159
Inigst chame on definect benafit pension cbilgsuon r20] JAEP ]
Total iNBNCR COSLS W04 (0.29y
Intares! oM resylting from shart.sem bank deposts t 6
Witw3t INCOme iestiting (e défieed Dene® pansion 8338} 0 P )
f of hedge s -
Okher intergst Micome s 3
Finance income: os Fizl
Nelfinsnce charge ] B¥%y
Gy M 103583 o NRTIOBG Tems GO0 0 Dher h e
Gainsfiosses) adsing i the yetr xas 3%
Reclassi W the Consafidated 5 of Frodk o Loss _ I
Changys In maric-io-maviat af intevast raty Swaps g (k]
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6. EMPLOYEES
Staff costs during the year were as follows:

2021 2020
£'000 £'000
Wages and saidries 166,304 161128
Social security Cpsts 18,425 17,380
Other pension Costs . B)552 9.454
191,281 187,962

wages and salatigs are presenicd net of Coronaviius Job Retention Scheme of £nil (2020: £15.7m). )

The average number of employees of the Group during the year was:

) 2021 2020
Site workers 2873 3474
Carers 664 703
Office and management 1,860 2450
5,397 6,327

7. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION
Accounting pelicy
All share-based psyment arrangements are recognised In the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS 2.

The Group operalas equity-setiled share-based remuneration plans for its employees. All employee services received in exchange for the grant of
any share-based remuneration are measured 2l their fair values. These are indirectly determined by reference to the fakr value (excluding the effect
of non-market-Dased vesling conditions] of the share options awarded. Their value is determined at the date of grant and is not subsequently
remeasured umiless the conditions on which the award was granted are modified. The fair value at the date of the grant Is calculated using the Monte
Carlo option pricing model (2020: Black-Scholes) and the cost Is recognised on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. Adjusiments are made 1o
reflact expected and actual forfeliures during the vesting period. For Save As You Earn {SAYE) plans, employees are required to contribute towards
the plen. This non-vesting condition is taken into account In calculating the falr value of the option at the grant date.

All share-based remuneration is ultimatety recognised as an expense in the Consolidated Statement of Prafit or Loss. For equity-settied share-based
payments there is a carmesponding credit to the share-based payment resarve,

LUpon exercise of share options, the proceeds received net of any direclly attributable ransaction ¢osts up 1o the nominal value of the shares issued
are atlocated to share capltal, with any excess being recorded as share premium.

As at 31 December 2021 the Group maintained four {2020: four) active share-based payment schemes for employee remuneration.

Details of ihe share options cutstanding and movement during the year are as folows:

2021 2020
Waighted Waighted
average average
execcise exercise
Number price MNumber price
QOperating segments ‘000 p 000 P
Qutstanding &t ¥ January 5,292 k| 3325 27
Granted 544 1 4,004 93
Forfeited or lapsed {965) m 1,647 - 240
Exercised (44) 92 (3904 7
Ouistanding at 31 December 4,827 1o 5,292 13

The weibhled average share price at the date of exerdse for share options exercised during the perled was 195p. At 31 December 2021, 0.5m options
had vested and were still exercisable at prices between 1p and 42%p. These options had awelghted average exercise price of 284p and a weighted
average remaining contractual life of 6.7 years.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

7. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION CONTINUED

The fair values of options granted were determined using the Monte Cario option pricing model (2020 Black-Scholes). Significant inputs into the
calcutation include the market price at the date of grant, the exercise price and share price volatiity. Furthermaore, the calculation incorporates an
estimate of the future dividend yield and the risk-free Interest rate. The share price volalility was determined from the daily log normal distributions
of the Company share prica over a period commensurate with the expecied lile as calculslad back from the date of grant. The risk-free interest

rate utilised the 2ero-coupon bond yield derived from UK Government bonds as al the data of calculation for a life commensurate with the expecied
life. Adjustments are made 1o reflect expected and actual forfeitures during the vesting period due to failure to satisfy service conditions.

There were 0.54m options gramed dunng the year and 0.97m options that lapsed during the year. The market price at 31 December 2021 was 189p
and the range during 2021 was 148p 10 224p.

All share-based employee remuneration wil be settled in equity. The Greup has no fegal obligation 1o repurchase or settle the options.

The Group recognised the following expenses related to shara-based payments:

2021 2020
£900 £'000

Giving rise 10 shase.based payment reserve.

- SAYE 295 682

- CSOP 123 347

— LTIP 84 -

— DsBp s3 -
57% 1022

The Group is curmently running four active schemes, detalled below:

Share save plen {Save As You Earn)

Options are available to al employees. Options are granted for a period of three years, Options are exarcisatle at a price based on the quoted
market price of the Company's shates at the time of invitatton, discounted by up to 20%. Optlons are Kirfeited if the employee leaves Mears Group
before the aplions vest, which impacts on the number of options expected to vest. If an employee $WPS saving but conlinues in employment, this 1s
treated &s 8 cancéation, which results in an acceleration of the share-based payment charge,

Company Share Option Plan

The Company operates a discrelionary unapproved share plan and a Comgany Share Option Plan. Options are exercisable at a price below market
value atthe date of grant and often at nominal value. The vesting period is three years. if the options remain unexercised after a period of 10 years
frorn the date of grant, the options expire, Options are forfeiled if the employee leaves Mears Group before the options vest. No awards to Executive
Directors are proposed under thesa plans.,

Long-term incentive plan
The LTIP provides for awards of free shares (1.e. efther conditlonal shares or nll or nominal cost options) normaly on an gnnual basks which are eligible
1o vesi afier three years subject to continued service and the achlevement of challenging performance conditions. The first award under this scheme
was made during 2021. Options are granted under this scheme to key senior management subject (0 petformance conditians as detalled on page 92
of the Remuneration Report.

Deferred share honus plan (DSBF)

The deferred shate bonus plan relates to Annuai Bonus payments where typically 33% are deferred inio shares and vest subject o continuad
employmant. individuats may be able 10 receive a dividend aquivalent payment on defered bonus shares at the ime of vesting equai ta the vale of
dividends that wouid have accrued during the vesting period. The dividend equivalent payment may assume the reinvesiment of dividends on 2
curmulaiive basis. Clawback provisions may apply for three years fram the date of pasyment of ary bonus of the grant of any deferred bonus share award.
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8. TAX EXPENSE

Accounting policy

Current tax assets and/or liabilities comprisa those obligations to, ar claims from, fiscal authorities that are unpaid at the balance sheet date. They are
calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable 1o the accounting perlads to which they relate, based on the taxable profit for the year.

Where an ilem of income or expense is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss, any related tax generated is recognised as a
component of tax expense |n the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss. Where an Item Is recognised directly 1o equity or presented within the
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, any related tax generated Is treated similarly.

Deferred taxation is the tax expected to be repayable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the financlal statements and corrasponding lax bases used in the computation of taxable profit and Is accounted for using the balance sheet
ligbitity method.

Deferred taxation liabilities are generally recognised on all taxable temporary ditferences in full with no discounting. Deferred taxation assets are
recogrised (0 the extent that it Is prabable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utllised.
However, deferred tax is not provided on the initial recognition of gaadwill, nor on the initial recognition of an asset or lisbitity, unless the related
transaction is a business combination or affects tax or accounting profit.

Deferred taxation is calcilated using the tax rales and Iaws thal are expected to apply in the perlod when the liablity is settled or the asset is realised,
provided they are enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheel date. The carrying value of deferred taxation assets is reviewed at each
talance sheet date and regyced to the extent that it Is na longer probable that sufficlent taxable profits will be available against which taxable
temporary differences can pe utilised. Deferred tax is charged or credited to either the Consolidaled Statement of Profit or Loss, the Consolidated
Stetement of Comprehensive Income or equity to the extent that |t relates to items charged or credited. Defarrad tax relating to ltems charged or
credited directly o equity |5 also credited or charged 1o equity.

Tax recognised In the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss:

2021 2020
£'000 £'000
United Kingdom corporatian tax 2,407 (785)
Adjustment in respect of previous periods {450) 674
Total current tax charge/{tredit) recognised in Consalidated Statement of Profit or Loss 1957 my
Deferred taxation charge;
= ondefined benefit pension obligations 154 167
- Onshare-based payments - 101
= Oncapital aliowances 806 (26}
— on amortisation of acquisition intangibles 1,372} 0553
— anshort-termtempotary timing differences (45) 44
— Oncorporate tax losseg 1,003 (324}
- oOthertiming differences (80} 43
== Slatutory rate changes 742 o -
Adjustment in respecl of previgus periods 3 {1,314}
Total deferred taxation recognised in Consalidated Statement of Profit or Loss 1,235 {3.096}
Total tax charge/{credit} recognised in Consolidated Statement of Profit or Less on continuing operations 3192 (3.207)
Total tax (creditychaige recognised in Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss on discontinued operations (182) ]
Total tax charge/{credit} recognised In Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 3,010 3.086)
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements ~ Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

B, TAX EXPENSE CONTINUED
The charge for the year can be reconciled to the result for the year as folows:

] 2020
£'000 £'000
ProfitAioss for the year on continuing operations before tax 16,332 (15,218}
Prafit for the year oh discontinued operations before tax 940 56.933
Result for the year before tax 17273 415
Result for the year multipfed by standard rate of corporation tax In the United Kingdom for the period of 19.0%
(2020:19.0%) 3,282 7926
Effect of- .
~= expenses nol deductible for tax purposes 3z 142
- fixed asset impairment - 285
-~ netproceeds of dispossls of subsidiarles not subject 1o tax (209) (9760)
w income not subject to tax - {248)
— taximpact of employee share schemes ©2 20
- lax losses Aol previously recognised in deferred tax (593) {35)
— Impact of statutory rate changes ’ 742 -
- _adjustment in respect of prior perlods (635) (1.597)
Actusl tax charge/{tredit) 3.0t (3.088)

Deferred tax is recognised on Bolh temporary dilferences between 1he treatment of items for tax and acCounting purposes. Deferred tax on the
amartisation of acquisiion intangibles Is a temporary difference and arises because no 1ax refief is due on this kind of amortisation.

Tax losses generated in previous years which are expectad (o be utiiised against future profits are recognised as a deferred tax asset and
8 subsequent charge arises as those |osses are utiised. No deferred tax asset is recognised in respect of losses of £25.5m (2020: £29.0m) across
several entities in the Group a3 it is not expected that ihey will be sligible ta be utilised against profits in the fulure.

Defarred 1ax s 8ls0 recognised on short-tent Wemporary timing differences, primarity relating to provsions. These differences are expected
1o reverse in the foliowing year snd arlse because tex raliaf is only avallable when the casts ate incurred.

Capital ahowances represent lax relief on the acquiskion of property, plant ang equipment and are spread over several years at rates set by
legisiation. These dilfer from deprediation, which is an estimate of the use of an item of property., plant and equipmant over its useful life. Deferred tax
is recogrised on the diterence between the remaining value of such an asset for tax purposes and its Carrying value in the accounts.

The UK Budget 2021 announcements on 3 March 2021 Included messures to supgport economic recovery as & resuit of the ongoing Cavid-19
pandemic. These Included an increase to the UK's main corporation tax rate ta 25%, which is due to be effective from 1 April 2023. These changes
were substantively enacled at the balance sheet date and hence have been reflected in lhe measurement of deferred 1ax balances at the period end,
0 the extent those balarices are expected to impact on cument lax after 1 April 2023,

The following tax has baen charged to other commprehensive income or equity during the year:

200 2020
£000 £000

Deferred tax chargefcredit) recognised in ather comprehantive income
— ©On defined benefil pension obligations 8,809 072n
— on cash flow hadges T (149)
Total deferred tax charge/credit) recognised In other comprehensive income 8,987 0.876)
Deferred tax recognised directly in equity
Deferred tax credit:
— _on share-basad payments (228) gL
Total deferred tax recognised In equity (228) 10
Total tax L
Total curent tax 1775 10
Total defemmed tax 9,994 {4982
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9. DISCONTINUED ACTIVITIES
During 2020, the Group completed the disposat of its Domicilary Care business 8nd disposed of its Planning Solutions business,

A small amount of income and expenditure were Incurred in respect of the Domicllary Care business during 2021, primarily for transitional services as
a result of the separation of the disposed business from the contlnuing business. These transactions are recognised in discontinued operations.

In addition, the consideration for the disposal of the Planning Solutions business included a contingent element to be received in April 2022
The fair value of this contingent cansideration has been reassessed at 31 December 2021 and the resultant profit has been recognised in
discontinued operations.

The results of the operations which have been included in the consolidaled financlal stataments are as follows:

2021 2020
£'000 £000

Revenue and profits )
Sales revenue 57 35,388
Costof sales (53) {20787
Adminisirative expenses (1] {1.738)
Profft on dispossf - S4.0M4
increase in falr value of contingent consideration 1100 -
Finance costs ] @)
Profit for the year before tax on discontinued operations 940 56,933
Tax on discontinued aperations 82 (1))
Profit for the year after tax an discontinued operations - 1122 56,812

The resutts of all disposed businesses prior to their disposal are presented within discontinued cash flows In the Consalidated Cash Flow Statement.

The resuits of the operations which have been Induded in the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement are as follows:

2021 2020

£'000 £000
Operating actlvities
Result for the year before tax 2940 56,933
Net finance costs 3 4
Share-based payments - 36
Deprecigtion and amortisation - 1,004
Net profit on disposal of investments - (58,993)
Fair value movement {1300) -
Change in operaling recetvables - 586
Change in operating payables 34 2,962
Net cash (outflow)inflow from operating activities before taxation (123) 2,532
Taxes paid 182 i3]
Net cash inflow from operating activities 59 2,527
Inveating activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment - (305)
Additions to other intanglble assats - R4
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries 500 63,676
Net cash disposed of with subsidiaries = {5,618
Net cash inflow from investing activities 500 54,612
Financing activities
Discharge of lease llabilities 217 {485)
Interest paid 3) {4)
Net cash outflow from financing activities {220) {488}
Netincrease in cash and cash equivalents 339 56,650
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Financiatl statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

10. DIVIDENDS

Accounting policy

Dividend dlatributions payable 10 equity shareholders ate included In "Current financisl liabilites’ when the dividends are approved in a genetal
meeting prier to the balance sheet date,

The Iollowing dividends were pak! on ordinary shares in the year:

20 2020

£'000 €000

Final 2020 dividend of Op {2020 fine) 2019 dividend of Op) per share - —
Interim 2021 dividend of 2.5p (2020 intedm 2020 dividend of Op) per share 2773 -
2,773 -

No dividend was declarad In respect of 2020, An inlerim dividend in respect of 2021 of 2.50p was paid 1o shareholders in Oclober 2021,
The Dirsctors recommend a final dividend of 5.50p per share. This has not been included within the consolidated financial sialements as no
obligatian existed at 31 December 2021,

H. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Contihuing
Continuing Discontinued and discontinued

20N 2020 201 2020 2021 2020

e [ e [ [ 2

Eamings per share "nrz2 (10.66) 1o S0.87 12.73 40N

Riluted vamings per share 150 _{10.66) 0.99 5087 1249 401

The calcuation of EPS is based on 2 weighted average of ordinary shares in issue during the year. The diluted EPS is based on 8 welghted average of
ordinary shares calculated in accordance with IAS 33 Earnings per Shere’, which assumes that ail iutive options will be exercised, 1AS 33 defines
diulive pptions a3 those whose exercise would decresse parnings per share of increase loss per share from continuing operations.

2021 2020

Million Mithon

Weighted average number of shares in issue: 1no.93 no.56
—_Oilutive effect of share options " 213 -
Weighted average number of shares for calculating ditted eamings per sharé ’ nios .56

As the Group made a loss from continuing operations Juting 2020, there weare no dilutive oplions during that period. The number of antidiutive
potential shares not included In the sbove table for 2020 was 0.39 miltian,
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12. GOODWILL

Accounting policy

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents any excess of the cost of the acquired entity ovar the Group’s interest in the fai
value of the entity's identifiable assets and Nabilities acquired and Is capitalised as a separate item. Goodwill is recognised Bs an intangible asset

Under the business combinations exemption of IFRS 1, goodwill previously written off directly to reserves under UK GAAP is not recycled to the
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss on calculating e gain or loss on disposal,

Impairment

For the purposes of assessing impsirment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifisble cash flows: CGUs. Asa
result, some agsets are lested Individually for impairment and some are tested at CGU level. Goodwill Is alocated 1o those CGUSs that are expected to
benefit from synergies of the related business combination and represent the lowest level within the Group at which management monitors the
related cash flows.

Goodwill or CGUS that include goodwill and those intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impakment at least annually.,
Al other Individual assets or CGUs are tested for impairment whenever events or chenges In circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable.

An impairment loss Is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss for the amount by which the asset's or CGU's carrying amaunt
exceeds ils recoverable amount. The recoverable amount Is the higher of fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs Lo seil, and value in use
based on an internal discgunted cash flow evaluation. Impaliment losses recognised for CGUs, to which goodwill has been allocated, are credited
Initialty to the ¢arrying amount of goodwill Any remaining Impakment toss is charged pro-rata to the other assets In the CGU. With the exception of
goodwill, all asets are subsequenily reassessed for ingications that an impairment loss previously recognised may na longer exist.

Goodwill
seiging on. Purchased
consolidation goodwill Totat
£'000 £'000 £000
Gross carrying amount
At January 2020 114,954’ 8250 123,204
Reclassification 4,208 {4,208} -
Disposat of subsidiary {4.331) - 433
At 1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021 14,83 4,042 18,873
Accumulated impabrment losses
At 1 January 2020, at 1 January 2021 and at 31 December 2021 - - -
Carrying smount
At 31 Docamber 2021 114,83 4,042 118,873
At 31 Decembey 2020 114,831 4042 18,873

Goadwill on consolidatian arises on the excess of cost of acquisition over the fair value of the net assets acquired on purchase of a company.

Purchased goudwill arises on the excess of cost of acquisition over the fair value of the net assets acquired on the purchase of the trade and assets
of a business by the Group.
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Filnancial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

12. GOODWILL CONTINUED

Goodwill ts not amortised but is reviewed for impairment on an annyal basis or more frequently if there are any indications that goodwitl may be
impatred, Goodwilll acquired in B business combination s allocated 1o groups of CGUS accarding to the level st which management monitors that
goodwill. Goodwill is cared at cost lass accumuiated impaicment lossas.

The carrying value of gopdwill is allocated 10 the foflowing CGLSs:

Goodwit
arislng on FPurchased
i goodwil Totat
. €000 £'000 £005
Hausing 95,742 4042 99784
Housing with Care 19,088 — 19,089
114,831 4.042 18,873

Housing with Care 1s delivered through two standalone subsidiaries ofthe Group and inclides those actlvities that inciuge an element of persanal
care as part of the service 1o the end user. The cash tlows in respect of these 1wo subsidiaries are separately identifiaple and hence this is 2 CGU in
its own right. All other activities fall within the Housing CGU.

An asset is impaired if the carmylng value exceeds the CGL's recoverable arnount, which s based on value in use. Al 31 December 2021 impairment
reviews were performed by comparing the carrying value with the value in use for the CGUs to which geodwill has been allocated.

The value In use for each CGU IS cakcutatad from the Buerd-approved one-year budgeted cash flows and extrapolated cash flows for the next four
years discounted at a post-tax discount rate of over a five-year period with a terminal walue. The impairment reviews incomporaled a teeminal growth
assumption, which is conservalive when compared with the UK long-term growth raie and the underlying demographics, which will be positive fos the
Groyp's care markets.

The estimated growth rates are based on knowledge of the individual CGL'S seclor and markel and represent management’s base level
expeciations fof future growth. Changes io revenue and direct costs are based an past experience and expeciation of future changes within the
markets of the CGUs. All CGUs have the same access 1o the Group's tressury function and borrgwing arangements 1o finance thelr operations.

Meanegemen] considers 1hal reasonably possibie changes in these assumptions would not cause 8 CGU's carrying amount 1o exceed its
recoverable amaunt.

The rates used were as follows:

Volume Terminal

Post-tayx Pre-thx growth rate growth

discount rste discount rate {years 1-5) rawe

Housing 9.00% 1.50% 2.00% 170%
Housling with Carg 200% n.45% 200% - 1720%
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13. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Accounting policy

In accordance with IFRS 3 {Revised) '‘Business Combinations', an intangible asset acquired in & business combination Is deemad to have a cost to the
Group of its fair value at the acquisition date. The fair value of the intanglble asset reflects market expectations sbout the probability that the future
economic benefits embodied in the asset will flow (o the Group, Where an intangible asset might be separable, but only together with a related
tanglble or intangible asset, the group of assets Is recognised as a single asset separately from goodwill where the individual fak values of the
assets In the Group are nol reliably measurable. Where the Individual fair values of the complementary assets are reliably measurable, the Group
recognises them as a single asset provided the individual assets have simllar useful lives. intangible assets are amortised over the useful economic
life of those assets.

Development costs incurred an software development are capitalised when all the following conditions are satisfied:

— Completion of the software module is technically feasible so that it will be available for use,

== The Group intends to complete the development of the module and use it

-~ The software will be used in generating probabte future economic benefits.

— There are adegquate technical, financisl and other resources {0 complete the development and 10 use 1he software.
- The expenditure atiributable to the software during its development can be measured reliably.

Costs incurred making intellectual property available for use (Including any assoclated borrowing costs) are capitalised when all of the foilowing
conghtions are salisfied:

Completion of the data set is technically feasible so that it will be avalleble for use,

The Group intends to complete the preparation of the data ang use it.

The data will be used in generating probabie future economic benefits.

There are adequate technical, financial and other resources 1o complete the data set and to use iL.

The expendilure attributable to the intellectual property during its development can be measured reliably.

Development costs nol meeting the criteria for capitaiisation are expensed as incuited. Careful jJudgement by management is applied when
deciding whether the recognition requirements for development costs have been met. This is nacessary as the economic succaess of any
development Is uncertain and may be subject 10 future technical problems at the time of recognition. Judgements are based on the information
available at each balance sheet date. In addition, all internal activities related to the research and development of new software are continually

maonitored by management.

The cost of an internally generated Intangible asset comprises all directly attributable costs necessary 10 create, produce and prepare the assetto be
capabile of operating In the manner intended by management. Directly attributable costs include employee costs incurred on software development.

Amortisation commences upon completion of the asset and is shown within other administrative expenses. Unltil the asset is avallable for use an
completion of the project, the assets are subject to Impairment testing only. Development expenditure is amontised over the period expecied
tobenefit.

The iIdentiflatde Intangible assets and associaled pedods of amortisation are as folows:

Crder book — over the period of the order book, typically three years
Client relationships - over the pericd expected to benefit, typicatly five years
Supplier relationshlps - aver the period expected to benefit, typically two years
Development expénditure — over four to flve years, straight line

Softwarg — 25% p.a, reducing balance

The usedul economic lives of inlangible assets are reviewed annually and amended if appropriate.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

13. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS CONTINUED
Acguisitlon imtangibles

Totat
- Client Qrder Supplier scquisition  Develagiment Total
relstianships - book  relationshias  intangitles  expenditure  Intangibles
£000 £'000 £'000 £000 £000 £000
Gross carrying amount
At 1 January 2020 €5,987 17ra PALF4 85,929 22998 108,827
Additiong - - - - 4858 4,858
Disposal of subsidiaries - - - ~ {7.896) {7895
At 1January 2021 65967 17770 2172 85,929 19.960 105,889
Additions - — = - 1182 1182
At 31 December 2021 - 65,987 17770 2972 85,93% A2 07,01
Accumulated amortiastion
Al 1January 2020 61,43t 13,580 1089 66100 4,185 80,285
Amonisation charge for period 8351 538 €50 9,526 2625 1215
Disposal of subsidiaries - = = - (752 1752)
AL1Janyary 2021 59782 4105 1739 75,626 15058 90,684
Amartisation charge for peniod 3.556 3665 433 2654 2123 9777
At 31D ber 2021 63,338 7R 2372 83,290 17181 400,461
Carrying amount
At 31 Decamber 2024 - 2,649 - - 2649 3,961 5,810
Al 31 Decembear 2020 6,205 3,665 433 10,303 4,902 15,205

Development expenditure is an intemally developed intangible asses and relates largely o the development of the Group's Housing job management
system. Development expenditure Is amornised over its useful economic life of 5.0 years, The weighted swerage remaining economic life of the asset
is 34 years (2020: 3.1 yesrs).

All amortisation is included within other administrative expenses.

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Accounting polity

ems of property, plant and equipment ere stated at histarkcal cost, net of depreciation. Historcal cost includes expenditure that is directly atyibutable
to the acquisition of the items. Subsequent costs are included in (he asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, onfy
when itIs peobable that futste economic benefits associated with the item will fiow into the Group and the cost of the itlem can be measwed reliably.
&l othes repairs and maintenance are charged to the Consolidated S1atemeant of Profil or Loss during the financial beriod in which they are incurred.

Freehold Jand is not gepreciated, Depreciation on oiher assets is calcuisted to write down the cost less estimated residual value over their estimated
useful ecohomic bves. The rates generally applicable are:

Freehold bulkdings ~ 2% p.a, straight line

Leasehold improverments ~ over the periad of the tease, straight tine
Plant and machinery - 25% p.s..reducing batence

Equipment - 25% p.a., reducing balance

Fixtures and fitings — 50% p.a, siraight line

Motor vehicles — 25% pa, reducing balance

Residual values are reviewed annually and updated If appropriate, The carrying value ks reviewed forimpairment in the period if events or changes in
clrcumstances indicate the carnyng value may nol be recoveraple. An asset’s Carmyirg value is writien down immediatety o its recoverable amount i
the asset’s carying amount is grealer than its esiimated recoverable amount.
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Gains and losses on dispesals are detarmined by comparing the proceeds with the cairying amount and are recognised within administrative
expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Profil or Loss.

identifying whether thare are indicators of Impairment in respect of property, plant and equipment involves some judgement and a good

understanding of the drivers of value behind the asset. At each reporting period an assessment is performed in order 1o determine whether there are
any such indicators, which involves considering the performance at bath a contract and business level, and any significant changes to the markets in

which we operate. This is not considerad to be a critical judgement or an areg of significant uncertainty.

Fixtures, Assets
Freehotd Leasehokt Plant and fittings and Motor undaer
property  improvements machinery equipmant vehicles construction Total
£'000 £000 £'000 €000 £'000 £000 £'000

Gross carrying amount
At 1 January 2020 822 22497 2,933 47.440 1,008 4726 79426
Additlons - 2,969 28 846 - 113 4,956
Disposals (6) (6.080) {159 (10,755) {24) -~ (17,06}
Reclassification - (104} - 104 - - -
Disposal of subsidiaries - {241 761 (2,005) - - {3.0070
Transferred from disposai group 1o 129 - 17 - ~ 256
At 1January 2021 926 18170 2,049 35,647 984 5,839 64,615
Additions 1o 5,225 9 2051 - 216 7602
Disposals - - (500) (8,343) - - (8,843
Transfer 1o inventorias - - - —_ - {6,055) (6.055)
At 31 December 2024 1,027 24,395 1,558 29,388 984 ~ 57,319
Depreciation
At 1January 2020 48 12,824 213 3n35 ag2 - 53,100
Previded In the year 28 2,226 214 3205 7 - 5,680
Eliminated on disposals )] (6,080) (135) {10,496} (23) -~ (16,7404
Impairment - - - - - 1500 1500
Reclassification - 2 - @) - - -
Disposal of subsidiares (102) 641 {1.808) - -~ [2.551
Transferred to disposal group - 18 ~ 8 - - 26
At1January 2021 68 8,888 1,551 28042 986 1,500 a.05
Provided In the year 30 3241 ns 2,222 L) - 5615
Eliminated on dispossls - (426) (8,098} - - {8,524)
Transfer 10 invenlories - — - — - {1.500) (1,500}
At 31 December 2024 o8 12129 1,243 22166 aTt - 36,607
Carmrying amount
At 31 Decembier 2024 929 12,266 S 7489 13 - 20,M2
Ar 31 December 2020 858 10,282 498 7505 18 4,339 23,600

During the yesr, the property previously presented as an asset under construction was reclassified to inventories as it is now expected io be sold ta &
third party on completion, rather than ysed within the business.
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Financia! statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

15. RIGHT OF USE ASSET

Accounting policy

Where an asset Is subject to a lease, the Group recognises a right of use asset and a lease lability on the balance sheet. The right of use asset is
measusred at cost, which matches the initlal measuremen of the lease liabliity and any costs expected at the end of the (ease, and then depraciated
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The ease liabillty is measured at the present value of the fulure Jease payments discounted using the Group's incramental borrowing rate.
Lease payments Include fixed payments, variable payments based on Bn Index and payments arlsing from options reasonably cenain to
be exercised.

The Growp has elecied to account for shorl-term leases and Ieases of iow vaiue 8ssats ysing the practical expedients. instead of recognising a right
of use ssset and a lease liabllity, the payments In relation to these are recognised Bs an expense In profit of loss on a siraighl-ine basls over the
lease term.

On the statement of financial position, right of use assets and lease liabllities are presented separately.

Critical judgements in applying the Group's accounting policles

The Graup holds more than 15,000 leases acress its portfallo of residentlal properlies, offices and vehicles. Whilst the Group endeavours

10 standardise the form of lesses, operatignal demands dictste that many leases have specific wording to address particular cperational needs and
also ta manage the associgted operational and financial risks. As such, each lease raquires individual assessment snd the Group is required (o make
key jodgements which include:

the identification of a lease;

assessing the right to direct the use of the vrdedying asset;

delerrnining the lease term; and

the assessment as 10 the tevel of future lease payments, including lixed and variabie payments.

The most typkcal challenges encountered and which form the key judgements are:

where the leasa contains a one-way no-fault break In Mears' favour, the Group measures the abligation based on the Group's best estimate of s
future Intentlons;

where & unilateral break is in place, assessing whethes the lease can be terminated with no more than an insignificant penalty;

where the lessor has a right of substitution meaning that the lessor can swap one preparty for anather without Mears™ approvat,

where Mears does nol in practice have the right 1o control the vse of the asset and the key dedision making rights are retained by the supplier;
where a wider agreement for a supply of services Includes s lease component which meets the definition of a lease under IFRS 16 and

e assessmant of the fixed lease payments where the kease obiigation to the landiord Is based on 8 pass-through arrangement in which Mears
only makes lease payments 10 the owner 10 the extent that the property is oCcupled and 10 the extent thal rents are received from the tenant.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Adaitions and remeasurements O right of use asSets in respect of lease agreements are équivalent to the present value (or change i present vaiue)
of the relevant lease obligation, Uriless there is an interest rate implicit in the lease itself, the Group's In¢rémental Borowing Rate (IBR) Is used 1o
calculate the present value of future leese payments. Estimation is required in deriving an appropriate IBR. The Directors believe that the best
approximation for IBR Is the cuerently spplicable margin from the grid comained within the Group's RCF agreement, added to an appropriate base
rate. For the current periad, that base rate was LIBOR, as that was the base rate under the RCF agreemenit throughout the year. For 2022, the base
rate will switch to SONIA as that is the Base rate under the new RCF agreement. finalised in December 2021. This change Is not expected to have 8
material impact on the calkculation of IBR.

The above represents a chahge in estimation methodology for IBR fram that used during the previous year. In 2020, the Group had o low [evel of
headroom on its RCF and a reduced ability for additional borrowing. h was therefore not considered apprapriate at that Ume 0 utilise the RCF rate.
Instead. the Direclors determined a synthetic credit rating and used this to select appropriste corporate bond yield curves at varying tenars to
determine an appropriate IBR for leases entered into during the year.

The Directors believe that the methodology appiedin 2021 is both a simplification of and an improvement to the method applied in the prioe year.
Given the significant reduction in the Group's leverage, tha RCF would now be utitsed o fund the undertying assets were the Directors to choose to
purchase rather than kease. The RCF rates are real commercial rates of interest that the Group has access ta and therefore represent more rediable
nformation on which 1o base this estimate. The sensitivity of the lease fiability to the assumptions used In these estimations is indicated in note 20.

Investment property

Included within right of use assets are cestsin properties classified as Investment properties in accondance with IAS 40. These properties are heid
primarily in arder to earn rentals. The Group has chosen 10 apply the cost model (o all investmént property and iherefore measurement is in line with
IFRS 18 as described in the Leased assets accounting policy.
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Properties that generate remals but are primarily held for the provision of soclal benefits are not considered to meet the definition of

imvestment property.
Assels that are Assets that sre used
sub-leased to customers divectly withir the business
- Investment | Residential Residentis!
' -property - property B property Offices  Motor vehicles Total
£'000 . £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Gross carrying amount o - A
At1January 2020 T 27052 ) -‘115,5_§2 : 42,352 11,961 32102 229,066
Additions” " T 2,999 33462 1479 887 46,603
Disposals - (6.552) (507 (1105) {2.330) (10.554)
Disposal of subsidiaries - - - 1,259) - {1.25%9)
At 1 January 2021 27528 12,039 75307 1076 37906 263,856
Additions* a7 5824 29,646 1262 12,895 50,044
Disposals - 4.674) {1,487 {910) {19,761 {26.832)
At 31 Decomber 2021 27.945 13189 103,466 11428 31,0430 287,068
Depreciation
Atd January 2020 1509 1,874 3,460 3282 10,557 30,682
Provided In the year 1521 10832 16,292 2753 nn2 42,510
Enminated on disposals - {5.555} (140) (1.063} {2.215) {8.973
Disposal of subsldiaries - - - {304} - {404}
A1 January 2021 3,030 7151 19,612 4568 19,454 63,815
"Provided In the year 1553 8,609 21589 17 292 43413
Eilminsted on disposals -~ (4140} 795} 913} {19.2654) {25109
At 31 December 2021 4,583 21,620 40,408 5,399 10 82115
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2021 23362 9,569 63,060 6,029 20,929 204,949
At 31 December 2020 24,498 94,888 55,695 6,508 18,452 200,041

' Additions indudes both new undertying sssets snd remeasurement of Lhe right of use asset for changes in the lease terms.

Investment property included sbove represents properties held by the Group primarily to earn rentals, rather than for use in the Group's other
gctvities. The amount included in lease income in note 2 In respect of these properties is £1.7m (2020: £2.9m). Direct operating expenses arising from
investment property that generated rentat income during the period was £3.3m (2020: £3.4m}. The camrying value of the right of use asset in respect
of investment property is considered 1o be approximatety equal 1o its fair value.

16. INVESTMENTS
Accounting policy

Investments include those over which the Group has significant influence biut which it does not control. These are categorised as assaciates, ILis
presumed that the Group has significant influence where it has between 20% and 50% of the voting rights in the Investee unless Indicated otherwise.
The Group also holds Investments in joint ventures where the Group and other parties have joint control over thelr activities.

The basis by which assoclates and joinl ventures are consolidated in the Group financial statements Is through the equity method, as outlined In the

basis of consolidation.

In additlon to associates and joint ventures, the Group holds investments In entities over which it does not exert significant Influence. These are

accounted for at fair value through profit or loss.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

16. INVESTMENTS CONTINUED

Other
A . Tatal
£'000 £000 £'000

ALY January 2020 . 536 - 536
Share of profit 1,056 ~ 1056
Distributions received (68 - 691
Acquisition - 65 65
AL1January 2021 901 65 966
Share of profit 855 - 855
Distributions received {108} - 0108}
At 31 Decambar 2021 648 65 3

On 9 December 2020, as part of the disposal of the Group's Planning Sclutions business, the Group acquired 6.16% of the ordinary shase capital of
Mason Topeo Limlted, the new owner of the dispased business. This imvestment is presemed in Other investments and is mandatorily held at fair
vale through profit or loss. There have been no changes In the fair value of the Investment during the yeer (2020. none).

Associates
Set oul below Is the investment in an associate as at 31 December 2021, which In management’s opinlon is significant to the Group:

Carrying value
Nature of Proportion Country of 202 2020
relationship hasd regisiration £'000 £'000
Pyramid Plus South LLP Asscclate 30% Engiand and Wales 548 oM

Pyramid Plus South LLP is a repairs ang maintenance service provider that is central (o one of the Graup’s contraces.

During the year, the Group recefved distributions of £1:m [2020: £0.7m] from Pyramid Plus South (LR Summarised financlal infarmation for Pyramid
Plus South LLP far the ysar is shown below:

2021 2020
£'000 £'000
Revanue and profits
Revenue 19,866 18,413
Expenses 17010 n4.895)
Profil for the vesr 2,849 358
Other comprenensive income - -
Total comprehensive income 2049 3518
Share of profitat30% - 855 1056
Net assets
Non-current assels - -
Current assets €488 6,275
Current iabilities 4290 (3.257)
Noa-current Habilities . - 4
Total assels less total Habilities 2207 304

Cash and cash equivalents of £1.9m (2020: £0.9m) were included in current assets abave,
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The subsidiary undertakings within the Group at 31 December 2021 are shown below:

Proportion held Country of registration Nature of business
3¢ Asset Manasgement Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Careforce Group Plc 0O% Engiand and Wales Dormant
Evolve Housing Limited 50% England and Wales Dormant
Helkim Group Limited 100% Engtand and Wales Dormant
Helcim Homes Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Let to Birmingham Limited 100% England and Wales Housing management services
Manchester Working Limited BO% tryfand and Wales Maintenance services
Mears Direct Limited 80% England and Wales Dormant
Mears Energy Limited 100% England andt Wales Dormant
Mears Estates Limited 100% England and Wales Grounds maintenance
Mears Extra Care Limited 100% England and Wales Provision of care
Mears Facility Management Limited 100% England and Wales Oormant
Mears Home Improvement Limited 00% England and Wales Maintenance services
Mears Homecare Limited 100% England and Wales Prowvision of care
Mears Homes Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Mears Housing Management Limited ’ 100% Englend and Wales Houslng management services
Mears Housing Management {Holdings) Limited 100% England and Wales Intermediate holding company
Mears Housing Ponfolio Holdings) Limited 100% England and Wales Intermediate holding company
Mears Housing Ponfolio (London) Limited 100% England and Wales Dormsnt
Mears Housing Portfolio 1 Limited 100% England and Wales Donmant
Mears Housing Portfolio 3 Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Mears Housing Portiolio 4 Limited 100% England and Wales Propetty acquisition
Mears Insurance Company Limited 99.99% Guemnsey Insurance services
Mears Learning Limited 90% England and Wales Cormant
Mears Limited 0o% England and Wales Maintenance services
Mears Modular Homes Limited 00% England and Wales Dormant
Maars New Homes Limited 100% England and Wales Hause building
Mears Scotland {Housing) Limited 100% Scotland Dormant
Mears Scotland (Services) Limited 66.67% Scotland Dormant
Mears Scotland LLP 66.67% Scotland Maintenance services
Mears Social Housing Limited 0o% England and Wales * Dormant
Measrs Supported Living Limited 100% Scotland Provision of care
Mears Wales Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
MHM Property Services Limited 100% England and Wales Maintenance services
Morrison Facllities Services Umited 100% Scotland Maintenance services
MPM Housing Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
MPS Housing Limited 00% England and Wales Malnienance services
OA&T Developments Limited 100% England and Wales Housing menagement services
Omega Housing Limited 100% England and Wales Housing registered provider
Plexus UK {First Project} Limited 100% England and Wales Housing regisiered provider
Scion Group Limited 100% England and Wales Dommant
Scion Property Services Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Sclon Technical Services Limited 100% England and Wales Maintenance services
Supporta Limited 100% England and Wales Donmant
Tando Momes Limited 100% England and Wales Housing management services
Tando Property Services Limited 100% England and Wales Housing management services

All subsidiary undertakings with the exception of Evaive Housing Limited prepare accounts to 31December. Evolve Housing Limited prepares

accounts to 30 June In line with its historical accounting reference date.
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Financiat statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued

For the year ended 31 December 2021

16, INVESTMENTS CONTINUED

The Group includes the folicwing three subsidiasias with non-controlling interests: Manchester Working Limited, Mears Leamning Limited and Mears
Scotland LLP, The table below sets out selected finandial information In respect of those subsidiaries:

2021 2020
£000 £'000
Revemie and profits
Revenue 54,447 46,586
Expenses and taxation (54,539 (47,685}
Profit for the year {92) 0059
Qther comprehensive expense C - —
Totsl comprehensive income 2 {1.095}
ProfitAkess) for the year allocated lo non-contoliing interests 1“4 (68}
Total comprehensive expense alioceled 10 non-controhing interests - -
Notassety
Non-current assets 1”8 305
Current assets 14,985 17538
Current ibilities (10339) {12,899
Non-current habllties {1393) tLa29
Yotal assets less total labllitles 343 3523
Equity sharehciders' funds 2529 2,865
Non-¢controlling nterests 802 658
Totel equity 3,431 3,523

The following UK subsidiaries will lake advantage of the audit exemption set out within Section 478A of Ihe Companies Act 2006 for the year ended
31 December 2021, except MPM Housing Limited, which will take the same exempticn fof the 15-month period ended 31 December 2021:

Registration

number

3C Asset Management Limited 02859913
Let to Birmwngharm Limited 08757503
Mears Estates Uimited 03720903
Mears Extra Care Limited 03689426
Mears Homecare Limited 02744787
Mears Home \mprovement Limited QIMEST7
Mears Housing Management (Holdings) Limited 04726480
Mears Housing Portiolio fHoldings) Limited 0908305
Mears Housing Portfoko 4 Limhed 10952906
Mears New Homes Limited 08780829
Mears Supported Living Limited 5C662805
MHM Praperty Services Limited 07448134
MPM Housing Umited 03528320
O&T Cevefopments Umited 05692853
Scion Group Limited Q3905442
Scion Technicat Services Limited Q3671450
Tardo Homes Limited 09260353
Tando Propeny Services Limhed 07405764
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17. INVENTORIES
Accounting pelicy
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost s the actual purchase price of materials.

Work in progress Is included in inveniories after deducting any foreseeable losses and payments on account not matched with revenue. Work in
progress represents costs incurred on speculative construction projects where a customer has not yel been identifred. Work in progress is stated at
the lower of ost and nel realisable value. Cost comprises materials, direct labour and any sub-contracted work that has been incurred In bringing the
Inventories and waork in progress to their present location and condition.

a0 2020

£000 £'000

Materials and consumables 1,650 3568
Work in progress 1,218 27700
22,869 31258

The Group consumed inventories totalling £167.3m during the year (2020: £163.3m). No tiems are being carried at fair value less costs to sel
{2020: €nil).

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Accounting palicy

Trade recetvables represent amounts due from customers in respect of invoices raised. They are inltially measured at their transaction price and
subsequently remeasured at amortised cost.

Retention assets represent amaunts held by customers for 8 period following payment of invoices, (o cover any potential defects in the work.
Retention assels are inctuded In trade receivables and are therefore initially measured at their transaction price.

Conlract assets represent revenue recognised in excess of the totel of payments on account and amounts invoiced.

Critical judgements and key sources of estimatien uncartainty

The estimation techniques used for revenue In respect of contracling require judgements to be made about the stage of completion of certain
coniracts and the recovery of contract asgets. Each contract is treated on its merits ang subject to a regulsr review of the revenue and costs to
complele that contract. Contracl assels represent revenue recognised in excess of the tolal of payments on account and amounts Involced.

However, due o the estimation uncertainty across numerous contracts each with different characteristics, it Is not practical to provide a quantitative
analysis of the aggregated judgements that are appilad, and management does not believe that disclosing & potential range of outcomes cn a
consolidated basis would provide meaningful Information to a reader of the accounts.

202 2020
£000 £000

Current assets:
Trade receivables 28,51 39831
Contract assels 97,690 88,594
Contract fulfiiment costs 1,242 1,408
Prepayments and accrued income 8277 6,517
Contingent consideration 6,531 500
Other debtors 5,004 3,034
Tots! trade and other receivables 148.305 139,884

Included in trade recaivables is £4.9m (2020: £4.7m) in respect of retention payments due In more than one year.

Trade receivables are normally due within 30 ta 50 days and do not bear any effective interest rate, All trade receivables and accrued income are
subject to credit risk exposure.

The maximum exposure 1a credit risk in relation to trade receivables and accrued income at the balance sheet date is the fair value of trade
recelvables and accrued ingome. The Group's customers are primarily @ mix of Local and Central Government and Housing Associations where credit
risk is minimat. The Group's customer base Is large and unrelated and, accordingly, the Group does not heve s significant concentration of credit risk
with any one counterparty.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES CONTINUED

The amounts presented in the balance sheat in refation to the Group's rade recelvables and accruad income balances are presented net of loss
afewances. The Group measures loss allowances al an amount equal 1o ifetime expected tredit losses using both quantitative and qualiistive
informalion and analysis based pn the Group's hisionical exparience, and forward-looking information.

The ageing analysis of trade recelvables Is as follows:

202t 20206

Gross Expeciad Carrying Gross Expected Carrying

amourm due credit losa value amauni due credit loas value

000 £000 £000 £000 €00 £'000

Not past due 7641 {110 26531 33,2719 22y 32557
Less than three months past due 2,063 {329) 16824 5496 (479) S.017
More than three months past due 5873 (5.467} 406 922 6.964) 2,257
Totai trade receivables 5577 {7.008) 28,571 47996 B165} 39831

For expected credit kosses with large organisations, such as Government bodies or Housing Assaciations, axpected credit losses are cakulated an
an individual basis, 1aking account of all the retevant feclors appiicable lo the amount autstanding. The Group has no history of defaults with these
types of customers, so expecied credit losses relate to specific disputed bafances,

For individual tenent custamers, expected credit losses are Calculated based on the Group's istorica) experience of defeult by applying
a percentage based on the age of the customer’s balanca.

The movement in expected cradit ioss during the period ™ shown Delow:

on 2020

£'000 £000

Ag at 1 January 8165 2

Changes in amounts provided %6 2,958
Amaounts uliksed {1.355) £.915)
Ag at 31 December 2,006 BIES

The movement in contract assets during the pertod is shown below:

2024 2020

<000 £000

As 211 January 28,594 10,263
Recognised an campletion of performance cbiigations 643,528 773.269
Invoiced during the year (634,59 {794.938)
As at 3V Decembey 97,680 88,594

Cantingent consideravon of £6.5m (2020: £0.5m) \s conskiaration recelvable in respect of the dispasal of subsidiaries. The 2021 balance is In respect
of the disposal of the Group's Planning Solutions business in Oecembar 2020. The 2020 balance was in respect of the disposal of the final element of
the Group's Domiciliary Care business in September 2020, This balance was recetved in il durng 2021,

inchudes in other debtors is an amaunt of £2.9m {2020 £nil) recoverable from the Group's fronting nsurers. An equal and opposie amount is also
Included within ether creditors,

19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

o0 2020
£000 £000

Trade payables 68,555 na4Mm
Accruals 51,343 42797
Social security and other taxes 29,724 34983
Contract labiities 17243 25,330
Other creditors 5582 3,208
184,047 2029

Due to the short duration of rade payables, management canskiers the Cafrying amounts recognised in the Consoficated Batance Sheetto be a
reasonable approximation of their fair value.
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The movement In contract liabilities during the period is shown below:

2021 2020

£'000 £'000

As at1January 25,330 2n2
Revenue recognised in respect of contract [labilities (13.197) {212}
Payments recelved in advance of performance obligations being completed 15,710 25330
As al 31 December 27,843 25,330

Contract fiabilities relate to payments received from the customer on the contract, and/or amounts Invaiced to the customer in advance of the Group
performing its abligations on contracts where revenue is recognised elther over time or at a point in time. These amounts gre expected to be
recognised within revenue within one year of the balance sheel date.

Included in other creditars is an amount of £2.9m (2020: £nil} payable to the Group's franting Insurers. An equal and opposite amount is also included
within other debtors reflecting the subsequent reimbursement due to the Group's insurance captive.

20. LEASE LIABILITIES
Lease ligbilities are separately presented on the face of the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as shown below:

2021 2020

£000 £'000

Current 41,600 42 888
Non-current 178,290 166182

216,890 209.0N

The Group had not commitied to any leases which hac not commenced at 31 December 2021. The majority of the Group's property leases contain
variable lease payments that vary annually either by reference (o an index, such as the Consumer Prices Index (CPf), or based on market conditions
each year. The potential impact of this variation depends on future events and therefore cannot be quantified, but the Group would typically expect
commansurate ad|ustments to Income derived from these properties.

A smaller number of property leases contain termination or extension options. Management has assessed whether it is reasonably certain that the
fonger term will apply. In some cases, 8 portfolio of leases with simitar lease terms is considered together and, where a rolling notice period is
available to the Group, an everage expected lease Iife may be applied.

The Group has elected not to recognise a lease kability for short-term leases and leases of low value. Payments made under such leases are
expensed on a straight-line basis. Certain leases incorporate variable lease payments that are not Included in the measurement of ease liabities in
accordance with IFRS 16. The expense relsting to psyments not included in the measurement of the lease Eability is as follows:

2 2020

£000 £'000

Short-term leases ) 46,780 45,846
Low value leases 879 839
Variable lease payments 1,550 2737

The portfolio of shorl-term leases to which the Group is commilted at the end of the reporting period Is not dissimiler 1o the portiolic to which the
above disclosure relates.

Other disclosures relating to lease liabilities are provided in the table below:

20 2020

Note £000 £000

Depreciation of right of use essets during the year 6 43413 42510
Additions during the year 16 50,044 46,603
Carrying value at the year end 16 204,949 200,00
Interest on lease Habllities during the year — continuing activitles 5 6,982 23
Totat cash outflow In respect of leases during the year 26 47399 47470

The Group's lease liabllities &re subject to changes in certain key assumptions In estimating the IBRS used to calculate the liabiities. The 1BRs used
during the year ranged from 2.11% to 3.54%. The impact of an increase In all IBRs applied during 2021 by 0,5% s a €0.6m reduction in the lease Nability
and 8 £0.1m reduction in profit before tax.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

21. PROVISIONS
A summary of the movement In pravisions dwing the year is shown below:

Onevous
coniract Property Legal

provisions provisi trovisk Total

£'000 £'000 £000 £'000

At 1 January 2021 344 - - 344
Utifised during \he year (232 - - 232
Provided during the year 1,288 730 2343 4,361
At 31 December 2021 1,400 T30 2343 4473

The provision of £0.2m at | January 2021 was in respect of property costs related 16 the discontinued care business. The remaining £0Im of this
provision is expected to be utllised within one year,

At 3 December 2021, the Group identified 8 small number of maintenance contracts where (he estimate of unavoidabile costs of meeting contractual
obligations exceed the remuneration expected ta be received. These have been categorised as onerous contracts. n each case, the Group has
triggered the contractual break Clavse and the respective contracts will conciude during the course of 2022; a provision of £1,.3m hss been made for
the remaining Metime Josses on those conlracts.

Propery provisions heve been recognised during the year in respect of the expected costs of reinstating several properties o their ofiginal condition.
These are expaected to be utiiged within one year.

Legal provisions relate to sub-contractor and employee related legaf claims which are also expected 10 be ulilfzed within one yaar.

22, NON-CURRENT PROVISIONS

Accounting policy

The Group self-insures certain fieet and liabity +isks. A provision for claims Incurred but not received is recognised In respect of these potential
clalms. The value of this provision is estimated based on past experience of claims.

2021 2020
E'0DO £'000
Nan-curment provisions 3,800 3667

Nan-current provisions represent seff-insured claims incurred but nat yet reported. £1.7m of the peovision was utilised duting the year and £1.8m of
additional amounts were provided. The timing of the utilisation of the provision is uncertsin a5 it depends upon the timing of InSurance claims against
the Group. However, the majority of the Carrying value is expected 1o be utilised in more Ihan one year and, 83 such, the provision is considered 10 be
non-gurrent,

23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Accounting policy

The Group uses a limited number of finandal instruments comprising cash and liquid resources, borrowings, interest rate swaps and varnous tems
such as trade receivabias and trade payablas that arise directly fram its operations. The main purpose of these financial Instruments Is 1o finance the
Group's operations. The Group seeks 1o finance lis cperations through a2 combination of retsined eamings and borrowings and investing surplus cash
on deposit. The Groyp uses financial Instruments 1o manage the interest rate risks arising from its operations and ssurces of finance but has no
interests in the rade of financial instruments.

Financlai essets and Rshilities are recognised In the Consclidated Balance Sheet when the Group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. The principai financial assets and liabilties of the Group are as follows:

Financial assets
trvestrments in unlisted equities that do not convey control ar significant influence over the mderlying entity are recognised 2t fair value. They are
subsequently remeasured at Iair volue with any changes being recognised In the Consalidated Stetement of Profit or Loss.

Contingent consideration is held by the Group in order to collect the assaciated cash flows but until the amount Is determined, these are not solety
payments of principal and iterest and therefore these assets are measured both initially and subseguently at fair value, with any changes being
recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss.

Loan notes are held by the Group in order ta coliect the assogiated cash flows and nat kr trading. They are therefare initfaily recognised at fair valve
and subsequently measunad at amortised cast, less any proviston for impairment.
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Financial assets generated from goods or services transferred to customers are presented as either rade receivables or contract assets. All of the
Group's trade receivables are short-term in nature, with payments typically due within 60 days of the works being performed. The Group's contracts
with its customers therefore contain no significant financing component.

Mears recognises a loss sllowance for expected credit losses on financial assets subsequently measured &l smonlised cost using the ‘simplified
approach’ individually significant balances are reviewed separately for impaikment based on the credit terms agreed with the customer.
Other balances are grouped inlo credl! risk categories and reviewed In aggregate.

Trade recelvables and cash at bank and in hand are non-detivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Trade receivables are Initially recorded at fair value net of transaction costs, being invoiced value less any provisional estimate for
impairment should this be necessary due to a loss event. Trade receivables are subsequently remeasused at invoiced valua, less an updated
provision for impairment, Any change in their value through Impairment or reversal of impairment is recognised in the Consotidated Statement of Profit
or Loss.

Cash and cash equivalents Include cash at bank and in hand and bank depasits available with no notice or less than three months’ notice from
inception that are subject 10 an insignificant risk of changes in value. Bank overdrafts are presented as current kabllities 1o the extent that there s no
right of offsel with cash balances. The Group considers its revolving credit facility to be an integral part of its cash management.

Following Initial recognition, finandial assets are subsequently remeasured at amortised cosl using the effect|ve inlerest rate mathod.

Financial liabilities
The Group's financial liabllitles are overdrafts, trade and other payables and interest rate swaps. They are included in the Consolidated Balance Sheet

line itams ‘Long-term borrowings end overdrafts’, ‘Trade and other payables’, ‘Interest rate swaps' and "Other payables’.

All Interest related charges are recognised as an axpense In 'Finance cosis’ in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss with the exception of
those that sre directly atiributable to the construction of a qualifying asset, which are capitalised as part of that asset,

Bank and other bofrawings are initially recognised at far vehie net of transaction costs. Galns and losses arising on the repurchase, settiement or
cancellation of liabilities are recognised respectively in finance income and finance cosis. Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the
period In which they are incurred with the exception of those which are directly attributabile to the consiruction of & qualifying asset, which are
capitalised as part of that asset.

Trade payables on normal terms are not interest bearing and are stated at their fair value on initial recognition and subsequently at amortised cost.

Derivative financial instruments
The Group uses derivative financial Instruments 1o hedge Its exposure to interest rate risks ansing from operational and financing activities.

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially and subsequently at fair value, with mari-to-market movements recognised In the
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss except where cash flow hedge accounting is applied.

The fair value of interest rate swaps is the estimated amount that the Group woulkd receive or pay to lerminate the swap at the balance sheet dale,
taking into account current interest rates and the cumert creditwarthiness of the swap counterparties.

In accordance with its reasury policy. the Group does not hold or issue derivative financlal instruments for trading purposes.

Hedge accounting for interest rate swaps

Where an interest rate swap 1s designated as a hedge of the variability in cash flows of an existing or highiy probable forecast loan interest payment,
the effective part of any valuation gain or loss on the swap instrument is recognised in other comprehensive income In the hedging reserve.

The cumulative gain or loss s removed from equity and recognised In the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss at the same time as the hedged
transaction, The ineftective part of any gain or less is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Prafit or Loss Immediately.

When a hedging instrument or hedge relaticnship Is terminated but the hedged transaction Is still expected to accur, the cumulative gain or loss at

that point remains in equity and is recognised In accordance with the above policy when the transaction occurs, If the hedged transaciion is no longer
probablie, the cumuialive unrealised gain or loss recognised in equity Is recognised In the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss Immediatety.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued

For the year ended 31 December 2021

23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

Categoarles of flnancial instruments

2021 2020
£°000 £'000
Non-current assets
Fair value (level 3)
investmenis — other investments 65 &5
Contingent consideraton - 5431
685 5496
Amortised cost
Loan notes 3ATS 3360
Currant ssasts
Fair vatue (fovedl 3)
Contingent consideration 6531 -
Amortised cost
Trade receivables 2851 3983t
Deferred consideration .- 500
GCiher gebtors 5,004 3034
Cash al bank and In hand 654,632 965,220
88,207 139,585
Non-current llahifities
Fair valua (lovel 2)
Inerest 1ate swaps - effeciive - (479}
Interest rate swaps — ineflective - 7
Inerest rate swaps - (462]
Amortised cost
Long-term bomrowing and ovardrafts - {35,353
Lease liabliiies {175,29Q) 66383}
H75,290) (205.536)
Current Eabifties
Fair vaiue {level 2)
interest rate swaps ~ effective - |4B4)
Interast rate swaps ~ ineffective - 25
interest rale swaps - #59)
Amortised cost
Trade payables (69.555) ful¥an]
Lease habllites {#1,600) (42,288)
Other crediors (5,582) [3.208)
(16,737 {160.807
(193748) (219.023)

The amouni recognised as an aliowance far expected cradit iosses on trade receivables during 2021 was £0.2m (2020: £3.0m}.

The IFRS 13 hierarchy levat calegorisation relates o 1he extent the fair value can be detarmined by reference 10 comparable market vaiues.

The dassihications range from level 1, where instfuments are quoted an &n active market, through 1o level 3, where the assumptions used to afrive at
falr value do not have comparabie markel data,

The fair values of interest rate swaps have been calculated by a third party expert discounting estimated future cash flows on the basls of market
expectgtions of future interest rates lievel 2).

The amount of contingent consideration receivabie is typically determinad by future expected profits of the sold businesses. The fair value

of conmtingent consideration has been calculsted by management by reference to the draftincome and expenditure of the disposed business during
2021 and the terms of the sale (leval 3} Where 8ppropriate, the fair value of contingent considaration s discounted at the Group's weighted average
cost of capital. A £0.m increase in the 2021 profits of the disposed business would increase the fair value of contingent consideration by £0 3m.
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The increase in the fair value of contingent consideration of £1.10m (2020: £0.04m) during the year was racognised (i the Consolidated Statement of
Profit or Loss.

The fair values of investments In unlisted equity instruments are determined by reference to an assessment of the fair value of the entity to which they
relste. This is typically based on a multiple of eamings of the underlying busingess.

There have been no transfers between levels during the year.

Fair value Information
The falr value of the Group's tinancial assets and liabilitles is as disclosed above and approximates to the book value.

Financial risk management

The Group's activities expose It 10 a varfety of financial risks; market risk (Including interest rate risk and price risk}; credit risk; and liquidity

risk. The main risks faced by the Group relate to the availability of funds to meet business needs and Lhe risk of credit default by customers.

The Group's overall tisk management programme focuses on the unpredictabifity of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effecis
an the Group's financial performance.

Risk managemenrt is carried out under policies and guidelines approved by the Board of Directors.

Borrowing facilities
The Group's borrowing facilllies are drawn on as required 1o manage its cash needs. Banking facilities are reviewed regularly and extended and
replaced in advance of their expiry.

During the year, the Group agreed a replacement borrowing facity of £70.0m with Barclays Bank PLC, HSBC Bank PLC and Citi, of which £nil was
utilised at 31 December 2021,

The facilities comprise a commitied four-year £60.0m revolving credit facility and an unsecured overdraft facility of £10.0m. The entire amount of both
elements was undrawn a1 31 December 2021,

Oetails of the Group's banking covenants are provided on page 61.

{ntarast rate risk management

The Group finances ils operations through a mixture of retained profits and bank borrowings from major banking institutions at floating rates of
interest based on SONIA. During the year, the Group setiled its outstanding interest rate swaps due 10 Its reduction in borrowing requirements and
consequential ineffectiveness of the hedging relationships.

The Group's policy Is ta accept a degree of interest rate risk, provided the effects of the various polentlal changes in rates remain within cenain
prescribed parameters.

Etfective interest rotes
The Group's overall average cost of debt was 2.3% during the year to 31 December 2024{2020: 2.4%).

Cash flow hedging reserve

The cash flow hedging reserve comprises all gains and losses arising from the valuation of interest swap contracts which are effective hedges and
matwe after the year end. These are valued on a mark-to-market basls, accounted for through the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
and recycled through the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss when the hedged item affects the Consclidated Staternent of Profit or Loss.

Movements during the year were:

£000
At January 2020 124)
Amounts transferred to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 354
Revaluations during the year {1139)
Deferred lax movement Lii)
At1 January 2021 (760)
Amounts transferred to the Consolidated Siatement of Profit or Loss (85)
Rewvaluations during the year 1023
Deferred {ax movement (178)

At 31 December 2021 -
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

23, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED
Al 31 December 2021 the Group had minimai expasure to movements in imerest rates as it had no drawn borowings.

1fthe interest rates had been 0.5% higher and all other varables were held constant. the Group's profil before taxation fot the year ended
3) December 2021 and reserves would have decreased, by £0.2m (2020: £0.6m).

Liquidity risk management

The Group seeaks to manage liquidity risk by ensusing sufficient fiquidity is avaiabla to meet foreserable needs and to invest cash assels safely
and profitably,

Management monitors roling forecasts of the Group's liquidity reserve (comprising undrawn borrowing faciities and cash and cash equivalents) on
the basis of expected cash flows. This i generafly camied out at a Jocal level In the operating companles of the Group In accordance with the practice
and limits set by the Group. These Umits vary by locallon and 1ake into secount the liquidity and nature of the market in which the entity operates.

The quantum of committed borrowing facilities of the Group is requtarly reviewed and is designed to exceed forecast peak gross dabit levels:
For shori-term working capital purposes, the Group utiises bank overdrafis as required. These facllities are regularly reviewed snd are renegotialed
ahead of their expiry date.

The table below shaws the maturity profile of the Group's financial llabilties:

Whhin 1 yasr 1-2 yeurs 2-5 years Cver S years Tatal
£000 £°0b0 £'000 £'000 £'000

2021
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Bank bofrowings - - - - -
Trade and other payables ' 5437 - - - 18137
Lease kabilities 42302 30769 63,899 123,394 260,364
Derivative financial Habilities
Interest rate swaps — effective - - - - -
2020
Non-derivative flnancial labilities
Bank barrowings - 39,353 - - 39353
Trade and other payables 17,919 3667 - - 121,586
Lease babilties 55237 377 54,724 21603 26539
Derivative financial Habliitles
Interest raie swaps — effective 459 246 216 - aN

Credit risk msnagement
The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to Its trade receivables, contraci assets and work in progress.

Trade receivables are normally due within 30 16 60 days. Trade ano oiher receivables included In the Consolidated Balance Sheet are sisted net of
an expected credil loss pravision which has been estimated by management following & review of individual recelvable accounts. There is no
Group-wide rate of provision and provision made for debts that are overdue Is based on prior default experience and known factors st the batance

sheel date. Recewables are written off against the expected credit loss provision when management considers that the debt is no fonger
recoverable.

Housing customers are typically Local and Central Govesnment and Housing Associations. The nature of these customers means that credit risk is
minkmal. Othe: trade receivaties contain no specific conceniration of credit risk as the amounts recognised represent a large numbers of receivables
fram various customers.

The Group continually monitors the position of majer customers snd incorporates this information inta its credit sk controls. Externai cradit ratings
are oblained whete appropriate.

Details of the ageing of tracda receivables are shown in note 18.
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Loan notes receivable

The loan notes Included within non-current assets were recelved as part of the disposal of the Terraquest Group. They are repayable in December

2028 and accrue interest at 10% per annum,

Deferred and contingent consideration
The table below shows the movements in deferred consideration receivable:

Daferred Contingent Totat

£'000 £'000 £'000

At 1 January 2020 4618 - 4618
Increase due o disposal of Domicillary Care businesses 1,500 - 1,500
Fair value of contingent consideration on disposal of Planning Solutions business - 5.395 5365
Movement in fair value of contingent consideration - 36 36
Received dusing the year (5.618) — (5,618
Al 1 January 2021 500 5,431 S.931
Movemaent in fair value of contingent consideration - 1100 1100
Recelved during the year {500} - {5008
At 31 Decembar 2024 - 6,531 6,53

The balance of contingent consideration is expected to be received in April 2022,

Capital management
The Group's obleclives when managing capital are:

stakeholders;

- 10 provide 8n adequate relurn to shareholders by pricing products and services cdmmensuraleiy with the level of risk; and

— 10 maintaln an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

1o safeguarg the Group's abllity to continue as 8 going concem, so that it can continue to provide returns for sharehoiders and benefits for other

The Group sets the amount of capltal In propertion to risk. The Graup manages the capital structure and makes adustments 1o it In light of changes in
economic condilions and the risk characteristics of the undertying assets. in arder to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the

amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to sharehalders, Issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The capltai structure of the Group consists of net debt as disclosed below and equity as disclosed In the Consoldated Statement of Changes

In Equity.
2021 2020
£'000 £'000
The Group considers 1ts revolving credit facility 1o be an integral part of its cash management:
— Cash at bank and In hand 54,632 96,220
— Revolving credit facifity - {29,353)
64,632 56,867

Cash and cash aquivalents, including revolving credit facility
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

24. DEFERRED TAXATION
Deferred tax Is calculated on tiemporary differences under the liabllity method.

Deferred tax refates 10 the fofiowing:

Consolidated statement
Balance shiet of profit or lozs Other movemants

At 31 A3

Decambet Decamber
2021 2020 2021 2026 2021 2020
£'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £000
Pension schemes (8,315} 1,497 {1.003) %7 (3.8309) 1726
Share-based paymenis S8 281 i) ioD) 228 10
Cash-flow hedges -~ 78 - - (78 49
Tax losses 249 1279 {1,020) 1,215 - -
Provisions 19 76 73 (143 - -
Acquisition imangibles {662) {1L875) 1,213 1553 - -
Capual allowances 647 1323 (676) 439 - -
Leases 568 561 107 33 - -
(6,676) 3320 (1237 3,092 8759 1,885

Other movements are tecognised In the Consolidated Swtement of Comprehensive Income, except these in respect of share-based payments ’
which are recognised in the Consalidaled Staternent of Changes in Equity.

In accordance with IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payment’, the Group has recagnised an expense for the consumption of employee services raceived
as cansideration for share options granted. A tax deduction wil not arise until the aptions are exercised. The tax deduction in future periods is

depandent an tha Company's share price a! the date of exercise, The estimated future tex deduclion is based on the options' Infrinsic value at the
balance sheet date.

The cumulative amount cradited to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss is limited to the tax effect of the associated cumutative share-based
payment expense. The excess has been credited directly to equity. This is presented In the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

In addition o those recognised, unused ax lasses totaling £25.5m (2020. £29.0m) have not been recognised as manasgement does not censider that
itis probable that they wifl be recovered.

Intangible assels acquired as part of a business combination are capitalised 8l falr value at the date of the acquisition and amartised over thelr useful
gconomic lives. The UK 1ax regime calculates tax using the individual financlal stalements of the members ol the Group and aot the consolidated
accounts, Hence, the tax base of acquisition intangitte assets arising on consokidation is &nd. Furthemmore, no UK tax refief is avallable on the malority
of acquisition ntangibles within individual entities, 5o the tax base of these assets ks aiso fnil. The estimsted tax effect of this £nll tax base is
accounted for as a deferred ax liability which Is relessed over the period of amertisation of the associsled acquisttion intangible asset,

25. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Classes of reserves
Shave capital represents the nominae! value of shares that have been issued.

Share premium represents the difference between the nominsl value of shares issued and the total consideration received.

Share-bazed payment resetve rapresents emnpioyee remunearation which is credited to the share-based peyment reserve until the relatad share
oplians are exercised. Upon exercise the share-based payment reserve is ransferred to retaingd eamings.

The cash flow hedging reserve comprises ali gains and losses arising from the valuation of intenest swap cantracts which are effective hedges and
mature after the year end. These are valued on & mark-ta-market basis, accounted for thiough the Consclidated Stalement of Comprehensive Income
and recycled through the Consolidatad Statement of Profit of Loss when the hedged item affects the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss.

The merger reserve relates 1o the difference between the nominal value and total considesation in respect of scquisitions, where the Company was
entitled to the merger relief offered by the Companies Act 2006.
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Share capital

2021 2020

£'000 £000

Allotted, called up and fully paid
At 1 January 110,881,897 (2020: 110,490,459) ordinary shares of 1p each 1109 1105
Issue of 44,613 (2020; 351,438) shares on exercise of share options - 4
At 31 December 110,926,510 (2020: 110,881,857) ordinary shares of ip each 1109 1109
During the year 44,613 {2020: 391,438} ordinary 1p shares were issued in respect of share oplions exercised,
26. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
The following non-operating cash flow adjustments have been made 1o the result for the year before tax:

2024 2020

€000 £000
Depreciation 89,024 47688
impairment of fixed assets - 1500
Loss on disposal of assets 245 23
Amortisation 777 1736
Share-based payments 7S 9493
|1AS 19 pension movement 933) 878
Share of profits of associates (8s%) (365)
Finance iIncome {835) (86)
Finance cost 8,904 10,186
Total 65,902 72,761
Movements in financing Habilitkes during the year are as folows:
Revolving Lease
credit facllity labiities Total
£'000 £'000 £'000

At1January 2020 124,047 205175 329,222
Inception of new leases - 48,603 46,603
Termination of leases - (.61 (.61
Interest 2 7254 9,965
Arrangement fees expensed during the year 515 - 515
Disposal of subsidiaries - {880} {880
Cash outflows including in respect of interest (87.920) {47470) (135.380)
At January 2021 39353 209,01 248,424
Inception of new leases - 50,044 50,044
Termination of leases - {1.750) (1780}
Interest 965 6,955 7921
Arrangement fees expensed during the year 047 - 647
Cash ouiflows including In respect of interest (40,966} (47.430) {88,396
At 31 Dacember 201 - 216,890 216,890

27. DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES

No disposals of subsidlaries were made during 2021. During 2020, the Group disposed of its Scotland Domiciliary Care business in the form of Mears
Care (Stotland) Limited and its Planning Solutions business in the form of Terraquest Solutions Limited and Portalplanquest Limited.

During 2021, the deferred consideration of £0.5m in respect of the sale of Mears Care {Scotland} Limited was received in full.

The contingent consideration In respect of the disposal of the Planning Solutions business is carried a1 fair value 8s a current debtor and is due to be

recelved in April 2022, The fair value was estimated to be £6.3m as at 31 December 2021{2020: £54m).
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

28. PENSIONS

Accounting policy

Retirement benefit obligations

The Group operates both defined benefit and defined contribution pension schemes as folows:

Definad contribution pensiona
A defined contribution plan Is a pensian plan under which the Group pays fixed contributlons to an independent entity. The Group has no legal
obligations to pay further contributions after payment of Lhe fixed contribution.

The contributlons recognised in respeci of defined contributlon plans sre expensed as they fall due. Liabilitles and assets may be recognised if
undetpaymment or prepayment has occurred and are included In current liabfiitles or current assets as they are normally of a shortterm nature,

The assets of the schemes sre held separately from those of the Graup in an indegendently aaministared fund.

Detined bensfit pensions
The Group contributes to defined benefll schemes which requite contributions to be made 1o separately administered funds.

A defined banefit plan is 8 pensian plan that defines an amaunt of pension benefit that en employee will tecetve on retvement, usually dependent on
one or more factors such as age, years of service and salary, The legal abligations for any benefits from this kind of pension plan remain with the
Group, even if plan assets for funding the defined benefit plan have been set aside.

Scheme liabilitles are measured using the orojected unil funding methad, applying the principal actuarial assumptions at the balanca sheet date.
Assets are measured at markel value. In accordance with IFRIC 14, ihe asset that I$ recognised is restricied to the amount by which the 1AS 19 service
cost is expected, over the ifetime of the scheme, 1o exceed funding cantributions payablke in respect of accrulng benefits.

Where the Group has a contractusl obligation to make good eny defict In s share of an LGPS but also has the right to recover the costs of making
good any deficit from the Graup's client, the fair value of that guarantee asset has been recognised and disclosed. Movements In the guaraniee asset
ase taken 1o the Consolidaled Statement of Profil Gr Loss and to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive income to match the movement in
pension assets and labikties, .

The Group recognises the pension fiability and guarantee assets separately on the face of the Censolidated Balance Shest.

Actarial gains and losses are takea o the Consolidated Statement of Camprehensive Income as incurred. For this purpose, actuartal gains and
losses comprise both the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions and exparience adjusiments arising because of differences Detween the
previous actuarial assumptions andg what has actually occurred.

Other movements in the net surplus or deficht are recagrised in the Consolldated Statement of Profit or Loss, Including the current service cost, any
past service cost and the effect of curteilments or settiements. The net interest cost is alse chacged 1o the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss,
The amount chargead to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss in respact of these plans is included within aperaling costs.

When the Graup ceases its perticipation in a defined beneflt pension scheme, the difference between the carrying value of the scheme as calculsied
on an lAS 19 basts and any deficit payment or surplus receipt due are recognised in the Consolidatad Statement of Profit or Loss a3 a setilement.

The Group's contributions to the schéme are paid in accordance with the rules of the scheme and the recommendations of tha scheme actuary.

Defined benefit assets

Scheme assets for LGPS have been estimated by oling forward the published asset pasition from the previous year using market index relurns over
the periad. This is considered 10 provide a good estimate of the fair value of the scheme assets and the vatues will be updated 10 acials each time a
trienaial valuation takes place.

Defined benefit liabilities
A number of key estimates have been made, which are given below, and which are largely dependent on faclors outside the control of the Group:

— Inflation rates;

— mortality:

- discount rate: and

= sdlary and pension Increases.
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Detalls of the particular estimates used are included in this note, Sensitlvity analysis for these key estimates Is included below,

Where the Group has a contractual obligation 1o make good any deficht In its share of an LGPS but also has the right to recover the casts of making
good any deficit from the Group's client, the fair value of that asset has been recognised and disclosed. The right to recover costs is Imited to exclude
situations where the Group causes the scheme to incur service costs in excess of those which would have been incurred were the members
employed within Local Government. Management has made judgements in respect of whether any of the deficit is as a result of such situations,

The right ta recovar costs Is atso limited to sitvations where the cap on employer contributions to be suffered by the Graup Is not set so asto
contribute to reducing the deficit In the scheme. Management, in conjunction with the scheme actuaries, has made judgements in respect of the
predicted future service cost and contributions to the scheme to reflect this in the falr value of the asset recognised.

Key sources of ectimation uncertainty

The net position on defined benefit pension schemes Is a key source of estimation uncertainty. Given the importance of this area and to ensure
appropriate estimates are made based on the most relevantinformation available, management has continued 10 engage with third party advisers in
assessing each of the underlying assumpiions. The discount rate is derived from the return on corporate bond ylelds, and whilst this is largely
abservable, any change in discount rates in the future could have e material impact on the carrying value of the defined benefit obligation, Similarly,
Inflation rates and mortality assumptlons Impacs the defined benefil obligation as they are used to model future salary increases and the duration of
pension payments, Whilst current assumptions use projected future Inflation rétes and the most up to date information available on expected
mortality, if these astimates change, the defined benefit obligation could also ¢change materially In future periods.

Defined contribution schemes

The Group operates a defined contributlon Group personal penslon scheme for the benefit of certain employees. The Group cantributes to personal
pension schemes of certain Directors and senior employees. The Group operates a stakeholder pension plan available to all employees. During the
year, the Group contributed £4.0m (2020: £4.5m) to these schemaes,

Defined benefit schemes
The Group participated in 23 (2020: 23) principal defined benefit schemes on behalf of a number of employees which require coniributions to be
made to separately administered funds.

These pension schemes are operated on behalf of Mears Limited, Morrison Facliities Services Limited and their subsidiary undertakings. The assets
of the schemes are administered by trustees in funds Independent from the assets of the Group.

The Group schemes are no longer open to new members and have No particular concentration of investments, so expose the Group only Lo
typical risks assodlated with defined benefit pension schemes Including the risk that Investments underperfarm compared with movements in the
scheme kabilities.

{n certain cases, the Group will participate under Admitled Body status in the LGPS. The Group will contribute for a finite perlod up untll the end of the
particutar contract. The Group is required to pay regular contributions as detailed in the schame's schedule of contributions. In some cases, these
contributions are capped and any excess can be recovered from the body from which tha employees onginally transferred. Where the Group has a
contractual right to recover the costs of making good any deficitin the scheme from the Group's client, the fair value af that asset has been
recognised as & separate pension guarantee assel Certain judgements around the value of this asset have been made and are discussed in the
judgements and estimates disclosure within the accounting policies.

The disclosures in respect of the two (2020: two) Group defined benefit schemes and the 21 (2020: 21} other defined benefit schemas in this note
have been aggregated. Details of movemenis in pension guarantee assels are presented In & separate table and the disclosures for 2019 have baen
re-presented In the same way In order to aid compatability.

Costs and liabilities of the schemes are based on actuarial valuations. The latest full actuarial valuations for the schemes were updated to
31 December 2021 by quakfied independent actuaries using tha projected unit funding method.
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The amounts recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Prafit or Loss are as foflows:

201 2020
Group Othear Group Other
seh t Tota! schemas schemes Total
£'000 £000 £'000 €000 £000 £900
Current service cost 2154 4,277 6,431 2,029 4,244 6,273
Settlement and curtaliment . - (ean (687) - 22) 22
Administration costs 545 - 545 375 - 375
Total operatlng charge 2,699 3590 6,289 2,401 4,222 6,626
Net interest (69) 282 13 {208} 466 260
Effects of limitation of recognisable surplus related
to net Interest - 152 152 — 56 56
Total charged to the rasult for the year 2,630 4,024 6,654 2158 4,744 6,942
Cumulative actuarial gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income (OC)) are as foltows:
2024 2020
Group Other Group GOther
schemes schemes Total schemes sthemas Total
. £000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £°000
Return on plan assets in excess of that recorded In
net interest 12,093 1,691 23,784 21,081 20766 41,847
Actuarial gain arising from changes in :
demographic assumplions 292 1,001 1,293 1693 8,364 10,057
Actuarial gainfloss) arising from changes In
financiat assurnptions 17.044 31,648 48,692 (25,060) 62337 (87397,
Actuarial gainfloss) arising from Rabitity experience 4,364 8.032 12,396 (350) 25,300 24,950
On scheme transfar - - - - (1Y) (157
Effects of limitatlon of recognisable surplus related
to OCl movements - {26.444) {26,444) - (B.414) (8.414)
Total gains and losses recognised in CCI 33,793 25,928 59,721 (2,636) {16,478} (1914
Changes in the prasent value of the defined benefit obligations are as follows:
2o 2020
Group Other Group Othar
schemes schemes Totai scheims sthames Total
£000 £'000 £'000 £000 £000 £'000
Present value of obligations at 1 January 181584 320186 501370 156,379 327460 483,839
Current sarvice cost 2454 4277 6431 2,029 4,244 6,273
Interest on obligations 2,813 3808 621 329 5,974 9.5
Plan participants’ contributions 236 540 776 264 763 1,027
Benefits paid {5,026) (6,348) (11,374) {4.445) (8185} (8,635)
Contract transfer - @212) (2,212) - (42.595) {42,595)
Settlements - 3.742) (3,742) - hag) 144)
Actuarial gain arising from changes in
demographic sssumptions (292) (.o0n (1.293) 0.693) {8.364) {0,057}
Actuarial {gainyloss arising from changes in
financlal assumptions {17,044) {31,648) (49,692) 25,060 62,337 87397
Actuarial {gain)ioss arising from lisbility experience {4.364) {8.032) (12.396) 350 (25,300) {24,950}
Present value of obligations at 3{ December 159,261 275828 435,089 181184 320,186 501,370

Mears Greup PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021

153

4043 21031VNLS

SANANIALYLS TVIONVYNLY

SONYNEIACD JLVNOLUOD

- 3

- .

NOILYWHOEN] HIATOHIANYHS

\




Financial statements

- "
Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021
28. PENSIONS CONTINUED
Chenges in the fair value of the plan assets are as follows:
2021 2020
Graup Othes Group Cther
Total schamaes schemes Totat

£°000 €000 £000 £'000 £000 £'000
Fair value of plen assets at 1 January 185,436 288,431 473,827 163,250 303,464 45614
Expected retumn on plan assels 2.482 31526 6,008 3,447 5,508 8,955
Employers Contributions. 2,236 3279 5518 2213 1805 . 4020
Plan participants’ contributions 35 540 e 264 763 1027
Benefits paid (5.026) (6,.348) M3 {4.446) 1489 8,635
Scheme administration costs (545) - (545) @75} - 375)
Caontract transfer - {1.553) {1,553) - (39,836) (32.836)
Settlemenls - (3,055) 3,055) - 122 22y
Retum on plan assets above thal recorded in
netinterest 12,093 681 234 21081 noa8 42)79
Falr value of plan assets at 31 December 196,912 296 5M 493,483 185,436 288 A% 473827
Changes [n the falr vaiue of guarantee assets are as ollows:

20 2020
€000 £'000

Fair value of guarantea assels at1January 30,705 2380
Transferred in on scheme entry 870 -
Transferred out on scheme exit (6.3691 5.173)
Recognised in the Consolidatad Siatement of Profitor Loss
Guaraniee assel movement In respect of service cost 1707 1626
Guarantee asset movement in respect of net interest 240 418
Recognised in other comprehensive income
Guarantee asset movemen! in respect of acluarial losses (19,018) 0,024
Fair value of guarantee assets at 31 December 12,975 30795

Funding arrangements s1e agreed for each of the Group's defined benefit pension schemes with thelr respective trustees. The employes's
contributions expecied o be paid during the financial year ending 3 December 2022 smount ta £3.5m.

Each of the schemes manages risks through & variety of methods and strategles 10 limit gownside In falls in equity markets, movement in inflation and

movement in inteérest rates.

The Group's defined benefit abligation 1S s@nsltive to changes in cariain key assumptions. The sensitivity anatysis below, prepared using the sama
methods and assumptions used above, shows how a reasanably possible increase of decrease In a panlicular assumption, Inisolation, results In an
Increase or decrease in the present value of the defined banefit obligation as at 31 December 2021,

(ncramse

£°000 £'000

Rate of inflation ~ decrgase/increase by 0.1% £280 72596
Rate of Increase in salaries — decrease/increase by 0.1% (1.344) 1,344
Discount rate - decrease/increase by 0.1% 8.450 (8,441
Life expactancy — decreaselincrease by 1 year 08,403} 18.402
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29. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
The Group had no capital commitments at 31 December 2021 or at 31 December 2020.

30. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group has guatanteed that it will complete certain Group contracts that it has commenced. At 31 December 20211hese guarantees amountedto

£15.7m (2020: £14.7m).

The Group had no other camingent liabilities at 31 December 2021 or at 31 December 2020,

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Identlty of related parties

The Group has a related party elatlonship with its pension schemes, its subsidiaries and its Directors.

Pension schemes
Details of contributions to pension schemes are set outin note 28.

Subsidiaries

The Group has a centrat treasury arrangement In which all subsidiaries participate. Management does not consider it meaningful to set out details of
transfers made In respact of this treasury arrangement between companies, nor does it consider it mearningful to set out detalls of interest or dividend

payments made within the Group.

Transactions with key management personnel
The Group has identified key management personnel as the Directors of Meers Group PLC.

Key management personnel held the following percentage of voting shares in Mears Group PLC:

2021 2020

% %

Directors 0.6 06
Key management personnel’s compensation is as follows:

2021 2020

£'000 £'000

Salaries Including social security costs 1659 2,063

Contributions to defined contribution pension schemes 134 3

Share-based paymaris 146 340

1,939 2,534

Further details of Directors' remuneration are disclosed within the Remuneration Repart.
Dividends totaling £0.02m (2020: £nil) were paid to Directors during the year.

Transactions with other related parties

Al the beginning of the year the Group was owed £0,5m (2020; £0.5m) from YourMK LLP, an entity in which the Group Is a 50% member. TS loan was

repald in full during the period.

During the year the Group provided mainienance services to Pyramid Plus South LLP. an entity in which the Groupis a 30% member, iotalling €10.2m
(2020: £7.5m). At 31 December 2021, £1.0m (2021: £0.9m} was due to the Group In respect of these transactions. Pyramid Plus South LLP aiso made
recharges of certain staff costs to the Group totalling £0.2m (2020: £€0.0m). There were no amounts outstanding at 31 December 2021In respect of

these recharges (2020; £nill.
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Financial statements

Parent Company balance sheet
As at 31 December 2021

2024
202 {restated”)
Note £'000 £000
Non-cuirent assets
Inangibie asseis: goodwill - -
Right of use assels 6 N7 1246
Investments 7 138398 139398
| ogn notes n are 360
Pension and other emiployee benefits 15 1,920 -
Deaferrad lax asset - na
166,211 162.417
Currant assets
Debtors 8 45933 37612
Cash at bank and in hanrd 549 21451
46,582 59,073
Creditors amounts falling due within one year 9 71.216) {30194
Net currant (linbilities)/ t 124,6348) 28,879
Tots] 8o3ms less current Nabilies ws77 184,296
Creditors: amacunts lalling due aftar more than one year 0 {15.492) “49.919)
Provisiont for labilities
Pension bability 15 -~ (2.816)
126,085 138,567
Caplisl and reserves
Called up share capital 12 1109 1169
Share premium account 82,265 82,225
Share-based payment reserve 1,313 1312
Hedging reserve - (76Q)
Profit end loss account 41398 54,675
Sharsholders’ funds 126,085 138,561

*  Detalls of the reclassilication in respect of 2020 are included n note 1

The Parent Company has taken sdvantage of Seclion 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and has not included its own profit and kiss sccount in these
financlal statements. The Group profit (2020 loss) for the year includes a loss of £15.2m {2020: profit of £30.9m) which Is recognised within the
fnancial statements of the Company,

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2022,

D J Mites & C M Smith 4 Y .
Director Director 2
Company number; 03232863 djmites (Jun19,2022 1334 GMT+1) andrew smith (Jun 19, 2022 21:11 GMT+1)

The accompanying actounting policies and notes form an inegral pan of these financial statements.
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Parent Company statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Share-
Share based
Share premiven payment Hedging Retained Total
capital account reserve resanve © gamings exquity
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000
At 1January 2020 1105 82224 2421 {124) 22,874 108,500
Net result for the year - - - - 30936 30936
Other comprehensive expense - - — {636) 1.273) (1.909)
Total comprehensive expense for the year - — - {636) 29,663 29,027
Issue of shares 4 1 - - - 5
Share options - value of employee services - - 1,029 - - 1029
Share options — exercised, cancelled or lapsed - - (2,138} - 2138 -
At 1 Janusry 202t 1109 82,225 1312 760} 54,675 138 561
Net result for the year - - - - {15.229) - (15229)
Qther comprehensive expense - - - 760 4151 4.91
Total comprehensive (expense)incame for
the year = = - 750 {1.078) (0.318)
lssue of shares - 40 - - - 40
Share options — value of employee services - - 575 - - 575
Share options ~ exercised, cancelled or lapsed - - (574) - 574 -
Dividends - — - - (2773 (2773}
At 31 December 2021 1109 82,265 1,313 - 41,396 126,085

The accompanying accounting polickes and notes form an integral part of these financial statements,
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Company
For the year ended 31 December 2021

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES |
Accounting poticles are detalled in their respective notes, where relevant. Policies that are not specific to @ particular note are delailed below,

Statement of compliance
Mears Group PLC is a public Umited company incorporated in England end Waies, Its registered affice Is 1390 Monipetier Court, Gioucester Business
Park, Brockworth, Gloucester GL3 4AH.

Baais of preparation

The tinanciel statements have been prepared In accardance with applicable United Kingdom accounting slandards, including FRS Y01 and the
Companles acl 20086. The fingncial sialemants have been prepared on the historkal cost basls except for the modification to a fak value basis fos
certein financial instruments specified in the accounting policies below, The findncial statements are presented in Sterling.

The financial staterents have been prepared on a going concern basis, Further details of the considerations made by management when making
this assessment are provided in note 1 of the notes to the Group financial statements.

The Company has taken advamage of the exemption In Seclion 408 of the Companies Act 2005 from disclos::ng 1ts Individual profit and loss account.

The Company has (aken advantage of the reduced disclosures for subsidiaries and the ultimate parent provided for in FRS 101 and has therefore nol
pravided a cash flow statement or certain disclosuras in respect of share-based payments.

The principal accounting polickes of the Company ere set aut betow. These policies heve been applied consistently 10 all the years presenied, unless
otherwise stated.

Government grants

Goveroment grants are recagnised where there i$ reasonable agsurance that the grant will be received, and all atlached conitions will be compiied
with. When the grant relates 10 an expense ftem, it is recognised as Income on 3 systematlc basis Over the pariods that the related costs, for which itis
Intended 1o compensale, are expensed.

During the priar periad, the Group benefittad {rom receipts from the UK Government under tha Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme. in &ccordance
with FRS 101, amounts received were presented as other income.

Deferred taxation

Deferred tax is recognised on all timing differences where the transactions or events that give the Company an obfigation 10 pay more tax in the
fulure, of a right o pay less tax in the future, have ocourred by the balance sheet date. Deferred 1ax assels are recoghised where it is more likely than
not that they will be recovered, Deferred tax s mepsured usng rates of tax and laws that have been enacted or subsiantivety enacted by the batance
sheet gate.

Critical Judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
Criticat judgements in applying the Company’s accounting pakcies and key sources of estimation uncertainty are disciosed in the Group's
accounling policies.

2. RESULT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR
This result for the year is stated after charging autitor's remuneration of £150,000 (2020 £130,000) releting to audil services.
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3. DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES

Employee benefits expense:
2021 2020
£000 £'000
Wages and salaries 13,283 13,189
Social sequrity costs 1,510 1665
Other pension costs 512 412
15,305 15,266
A Caronavirus Job Retention Schenme grant of £ni (4U20: £0.6m) was recognised as other income.
The average number of employees of the Company during 1he year was:
2021 2020
Number Number
Management 287 308
Remuneration in respect of Directors was as follows:
200 2020
£'000 £'000
Emoluments 1,427 1821
Pension contriputions to persanal pension schemes 134 Bl
Gains on exercise of options 146 340
1,707 2,292

During the year contributions were palid 16 personal pension schemas for three Direclors (2020: three).
During the year no Directors (2020; three) exercised share options.
4_SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION

Accounting policy
All share-based payment errangements thet were granted after 7 November 2002 are recognised in the financial statements.

The Group operates aquity-settied and cash-setlled share-based remuneration plans for its employees. All employee services received In exchange
for the grant of any share-based remuneration are measured at thelir fair value. These are indirectly determined by reference to the fair value of the
share options awarded, Their vaiue Is determined at the date of grant and Is not subsequently remeasured unless the conditions on which the award
was granted are modified. The fair vaiue at the date of the grant is calculated using the Black Scholes aption pricing madel and the cosl is recagnised

on & stralght-line basis over the vesting period. Adjusiments are made to reflect expected and actual forfeitures during the vesting period.

Share-based remuneration in respect of employees of the Company is Uitimately recagnised as an expense in the profit and loss account. For
equity-settled share-besed payments there is a coresponding credit to the share-based payment reserve, for cash-settled share-based payments
the Company recognises a liabifity at the balance sheet dale. The Company operates share-based remuneration plans for employees of subsidiaries

using the Company's equity Insiruments. The fair value of the compensation given In respect of these share-tased compensation plans less

payments received from subsiciaries in respect of those share-based payments is recognised as & capital contribution.

Upon exercise of share oplions, the proceeds received, net of any directly attributable transaction costs up 1o the nominal value of the shares issued,

are allecated to share capilal with any excess being recorded as share premium.

As at 31 December 2021 the Group maintalned four share-based payment schemes for employee remuneration. The details of each schama are

included within note 7 to the consolidated financlal siatements.

Ak share-based employee remuneration will be settled In equity. The Group has no legal obligation 10 repurchase o settie the optlons,
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Company continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

8. DIVIDENDS
The following dividends were paid an ordinary sharas in the year:

2021 2020

£'000 €000

Final 2020 dividend of Qp (2020: final 2019 dividend of Op) per share - -
knterim 2021 dividend of 2.5p {2020: interim 2020 dividend of Op) per share 2773 -
2773 ) ~

Nao dividend was declared in respect of 2020, An interim dividend in respect of 2021 of 2.50p was pald to shareholders in October 2021,
The Directors recommend a finai dividena of 5.50p per share. This has not been included within the consolidaled financial swiements as no
obligation existed at 31 December 2021,

6. RIGHY OF USE ASSETS

Accounting policy

Where an asset Is subject 10 a lkease, the Company recognises a right of use asset and a lease liabllity on the Datance sheet, The right of use assel ls
measured at cost, which matches (he (nitial measurement of the fease éabllity and any cosis expected al the end of the lease, and then Jepreciated
an a stralght-tine basis over the lease term.

The lease tiability Is messured at the present value of the future lease payments discounted using the Group's hcremedtal borrowing rote.
Lease payments include flxed payments, variable payments based an an index and payments arising from options reasanably certain 1o
be exerclsed.

The Group has elacted 10 accoum for short-term leases snd leases of low value assels using the practical expedients. Instead of recognising a right
of use asset and & lease fiabllity, the payments In rédation 1o these ate recognised as an expense in profit or K555 on a straight-ing basis over the
lease tarm.

On the stalement of financlal position, fight of use assets and lease liablities are presented separately.

Offices  Motor vehicles Tote)
£'000 £000 €000

Gross carrying amount
At 1 January 2020 ms 3209 33224
Addttions ' 12 8187 8199
Disposals 08 _  R3%0 (2.408)
At 1January 2021 109 37.906 39,015
Additions® e} 12,896 12,886
Disposals 6 9769 09842)
At 31 Dectmbier 2021 1018 37,041 32,059
Deprecistion
At1Janvary 2020 N9 0,557 06
Provided in year Fit] nmnz 1326
Efminaied on dispasais (18) {2,215) {2,233
Akl January 2021 415 19454 19.869
Provided in the year 197 2921 10oh8
Eliminated on disposals [ip)] (19,264} (19,345)
At 31 December 2021 53t .t 10,642
Camrying amount
At 31 December 2021 487 20,930 21417
At 31 December 2020 694 18452 13146

©  Additions indudes both new underlying assets snd remessurement of the right of use sssel for changes i the leasa terms.
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7. FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS
Accounting pollcy

Investments In equity shares which are not publicly raded and where fair value cannot be measured reliably sre measured at deemed cost less

impairment. Dividends on equity securities are recognised Inincome when recetvable.

Investment

in subsidiary

undertakings

£000

A1 January 2020 39,583

Capitalisation of loans with subsidiaries 110,000

Disposal of subsidisry {10.250)

Retention of holding in disposed subsidiary 55

At 1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021 139,298
Details of the subsidiary undertakings of the Company are shown in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

8. DEBTORS

2020

2021 frestated)

£'000 £'000

Amounts owed by Group undertakings 38528 31724

Other recelvgbles 7405 5,888

45,933 37612

Amounts owed by Group undertakings are repayable on Gemand. Expecled credit [osses are assessed on an individual basls, taking into account all

the relevant factors in respect of the counterparty.
Detaits of the reclassification In respect of 2020 are included in note 11

9. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

2021 2020
£'000 £°000
Trade creditors 12,855 15,478
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 49,455 4123
Interest rote swaps - 459
Accruals 1727 751
Corporation 1ax 346 579
Lease obligations 6720 8768
Other payables "3 36
218 30194

10. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE IN MORE THAN ONE YEAR
2021 2020
£000 £'000
Bank borrowings - 39344
Lease obligations 15.012 10oN3
Interest rate swaps - 462
Deferred tax 480 —
15,492 49,919
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Company continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

11. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Accounting policy

Financiaf asse{s and Kabilities ane recognised in the Consolidated Batance Sheet when the Company becomes party t0 the contractual provisions of
the Instrument. The principal financlal assets and liabilitles of the Company are as follows:

Financial assets

Bask financial assels, including trade and other receivables, amounts due to Group compantes and cash and cash eguivalents, are Initially
recognised at transaction price, uniess the arrangement constitutes a financing iransaciion. where the transaction is measured at the present value of
the future receipts discaunted at a market rate of interest.

Such assets are subsequently carried al amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Al the end of each reporting period financial assets measured at amonised cost are assessed for objective evidence of impairment. If 2n asset is
impaired the impakment loss is the difference between the canying amaynt and the present valua of the estimated cash flows discounted at the
asset’s original effective interest rate. The impalrment kiss is recognised in profit or 1055,

Financial assets are derecognised when (a) the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or are seitled; (b) substantialty all the risks
and rewards of the ownership of the asset are transferred lo ancther party: or {c) despite having retained some significant risks and rewards of
ownership, control of the asset has been transferred 10 ancther party which has the practical abiity to untiawerally sedl the asset 1o an unrelated third
party without imposing additionaf restrictions.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank snd in hand and bank deposils avalable with no notice or less than three months’ natice from
inception thst are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Bank overdrafits are présented as current liabilities to the extent that thera Is no
right of offsat with cash balances.

Financis! labllities

Basic financial iabliities, Including trage and other payables, and amounts payable to Group companies that are classified as debt, are initlally
recognised at transaction price, unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the gebt instrument is measured at the present
value of the future receipts discounted at a market rate of interest.

Bank borfowings are non-basic financial iisbiities and are initiaWly recognised at fair value, being the present value of fulure payments discounted at a
market rate of interest. Bank borrowings are remeasured at fair value.

Derivatives, including interest rate swaps. are nhot basic financial nstruments.

Dertvatives are initially recognised at faic value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and sre subsequently remeasured at their fair value.
Changes in the fair value of derivatives are recogrised in profit or loss in finance casts or finance income as appropriate, unless they are included in a
hedging arrangement.

Financial iabllities are derecognised when the Kability Is extinguished, that is when the contyaciual obligation is discharged or cancelled or expites.

Offsetting
Financlal assets and liabikilies ace offset and the net amaounts presented in the flnancial stalements when there is @ legally enlorceable right 1o set off
the recognised amownts and there Is an Inlention 1o settle on a net basis or 1o realise the assel and settie the liabiMty simuttaneoushy.

Hedge accounting for interest rate swaps
The Company apphes hedge accounting for transactions entered into ta manage the cash flow exposures of bormawings. interest rate swaps are held
0 manage the nterest rate exposures and are designated as cash flow hedges of fioating rate barmowings.

Changes in the fair values of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges, and which are effective, are recognised drectly In equity. Any ineflectiveness
nthe hedging refationship (baing the excess of the cumulative change In fair value of the hedging Instrument since inception of the hedge gver the
cumulative change in the fair vatue of the hedged item since inceplion of the hedge) is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss.

Thie gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to the Consaiidated Statement of Profit or Loss when the hedge

relationship ends. Hedge accouniing is disconlinued when the hedging instrumeni expires or no Jonger meets the hedging critera, the forecast
transaction is no longer highly prabable, the hedged debt instrument is derecognised or the hedging insirument is terminated.
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The Company has the following financial instruments:

2020
200 {restated)
£000 £'000
Financial assets that are debt instruments messured a8t amortised cost:
- Loan notes 3,476 3J60
- Amounts owed by Group undertakings 38,528 3724
-~  Other receivables 7405 9,048
Flnancial Bebililies lhat are measured at tair value through other comprehensive income:
- Interest rate swaps - {921
Flnanciat kabilities that are measured at amortised cost:
- Bank borrowings - (39.344)
— Trade creditors (12,855) {15.478)
- Lease obligations 21,732} (18.881)
= Amounts owed to Group undertakings (49,455} {4123
- Other payables (113) [36)
{34.748) (34,851

There have been n changes during the perlod or cumutatively in the fair value of bank borrowings attributable to changes In the credit risk of the
instrument. The change attributable to changas in own credit risk is not material due to the short life of individual draw-downs within bank borrowings.
The difference between the Carrying amount and the amount expected 10 be paid at maturity is not material due to the short life of individual
draw-downs wilhin bank bofrowings.

The Company paid a margin cver and above LIBOR on bank borrowings. The margin is based on the ratio of Group consolidated net borrowings to
Group consuidated ad|usted EBITDA and could have varied between 1.35% and 2.2% during the year. In December 2021, the Company agreed a
new borrowling facility based on SONIA; however, the facility had not yet been utilised at the year end.

During the year, tha Company settied all outstanding interest rate swap instruments due to its reduced borrowing requirements.

During 2021, a hedging gain of £1.0m (2020 loss: £1.1m) was recognised in other comprehensive income for changes in the fair value of the interes!
rate swap end £0.1m of income (2020: £0.4m of expense) was reclassified from the hedge reserve to profit and loss.

The Company seeks 1o manage liquidity risk by ensuring sufficient liquidity is available o meet foreseeable needs and to invest cash assets safely
and profitably.

Managemant monitars roling forecasts of the Group and Company’s Rquidity reserve {comprising undrawn borrowing facilities and cash and cash
equivaients) on the basls of expected cash flows. The quantum of cormmitted borrowing facilities of the Group and Company is reguiasly reviewed
and is designed 10 exceed forecast pesk gross debt levels. For short-term working capital purposes, the Group and Company utllise bank overdrafis
as required. These fadilities are reqularly reviewed and are renegotisted ahead of their expiry date.

Loan hotes -
Loan notes are held as a result of the sale of the Company's holding in TerraQuest Solutions Limited during 2020. The notes are repayable on the
esrlier of the onward sale of that business or in 2028, They attract interest al ¥0% per annum, payable on settiement of the loan notes.

During 2021, these noles were reclassified from current to non-current assets. in line with their expected maturity. This reclassificetion is presented as
a restatement in the Balance Sheet and has no other impact.

12. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

201 2020
£000 £'000

Allotted, called up and fully paid
At 1 January 110,881,897 (2020; 110,490,459) ordinary shares of p each 1109 1108
Issue of 44,613 (2020: 391,438) shares on exercise of share options - 4
At 31 December 110,926,510 (2020: 110,881,897) ordinary shares of 1p each 1109 1109

During the year 44,613 (2020: 391,438} ordinary 1p Shares were issued In respect of share options exerclised.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Company continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

12. SH.ARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES CONTINUED
Classes of reserves
Share capital repiresents the nominal value of shares that have been Issued.

Share premium represents the difference between the nominal value of snares issued and the 1otal consideration received.

Share-based payment tesenve represents employee remuneration which Is credited o the share-bosed payment reserve unlil the reia1ed share
oplions are exerclsed. Upon axercise the share-based payment resene is transterfed to retained carnings.

The cash flow hedging reserve comprises all gains and losses arising from the valuation of interest swap contracts which are effeclive hedges and
mature aiter the yeat end, These are valued on a mark-10-mariet basis, accounted for through the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive income
and recycted through the Consolidated Statement of Proflt or Loss when the hedged item affects the Consolidated Statermnent of Profit or Loss.

13. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
The Company had no capital commitments at 31 December 2021 or at 31 December 2020.

14. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Cormpany has guaranteed that it will complele certain Group contracts that s subsidiaries have commenced. At 31 December 201 these
guarant¢es amounted to £15.7m {2020: €14.7m). '

The Company is 8 partficipant in the Group's RCF agreement and, as such, hes provided aull guarantee In respect of amounis drawn under this
faciily. The total facility 1$ E70m {2020 £145m} of which none [2020: £40m) was drawn st the baldnce sheet date.

The Company had no other comingent liabilities at 31 December 2021 or at 31 December 2020.

15. PENSIONS

Accounting policy

Defined contribution pension scheme

The pensian cosls charged against profits are the contributions payable wo Individuat policies In respecl of the accounting period.

Defined benefit pensions
The Company contributes to defined benefit schemes which requing contributlons to be made to separately administered funds.

A defined benefit plan is g pension plan that defings an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receve on retrement, usually dependent on
one of more factars such as age, years of service and salary. The legal obligations for arny benefits from this kind of pension plan remaln with the
Group, even if plan assets for funding the defined benefit plan have been set aside.

Scheme kabilties are measured using the profected unit funding method, applying the principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date.
Assets are measured at market vakie. The asset that is recogrised is restricted 1o the amount by which the service cost is expecied, over the lifetime
of the scheme, to exceed funding contributions payable In respect of accruing benefits,

Acwarlal gains and losses are taken (o the Consolidated Statemant of Comprenensive Income as incurred. For this purpose, acluarial gains and
losses comprise both \he effects of changes In actuanal assurmptions and expefience adiustments ansing because of diftarences between the
previQus actuarlal assumptions ang what has actually occurred,

Other mavements in the net surpius or deficiht sre recognised In the profit and Joss accoum, including the current Service Cost, any past service cost
and the effect of curtaliments or setlements. The inlerest Costs less the expected réturn on assets are 8's0 charged 10 the Consokdaled Statemen of
Profit or Loss. The amount charged 10 the Consolidated Statement of Profit of Loss in respect of these plans is Included within operating costs.

The Company's contributions to the schemes are paid in accondance with the rules of the schemes and the recommendations of the actuary.

Defined contributian schemes
The Cornpany contribuies to the personal pension schemes of cerlain employees.

Defined benafit scheme
The Company operales a defined benefit pension scheme for the benefit of cenaln employees of its subsidiary companies. The assets of the
schemes are administered by trustees in a fund independent from the assets of the Comparty.

Costs aad liabiiities of the scheme are based an actuarial valuations. The actuarlal valuations were reviewed and updated 10 31 December 2021by a
quaiified ingependent actulry using the projected unit funding method.
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The principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date are as follows:

20 2020
Rate of increase of salaries — first year 3.00% 2.85%
Rate of Increase of salaries — second year 3.00% 2.85%
Rate of Increase of salarles - long term 3.00% 285%
Rate of increase for pensions in payment — based on RPEwith a cap of 5% 290% 285%
Rate of Increase for pensions in payment — based on RPtwith a cap of 3% 2.35% 2.35%
Discount rate 2.00% 135%
Retall prices inflation 3.00% 285%
Consumer prices infiatian 2.60% 245%
Life expectancy for a 65-year-old male 21.0 years 21 years
Life expectancy for a 65-year-old female 23.9 years 24,0 years
The amounts recognised in the Parert Company Balance Sheet and rajor categorles of plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets are:

2021 2020

£'000 £'000

Quoted assets
Bonds 337 3,865
Propery 853 558
Other assets
Muiti-asset funds 16,272 15,364
Alternative asset funds 2,208 2,039
Retum seeking funds 338 410
Derivatives 564 733
Cash and other 1.251 275
Investment Rabilities
Derivatives (34) {194)
Group's estimated asset share 24824 23,050
Present value of funded scheme Nabilities (22,904) (25,866)
Funded status 1920 (2.816)
Related deferred tax (Babilityiasset {asaq) 535
Penslon assetAliability) 1,440 {2.281)
The amounts recognised In the profit and loss account are as follows:

2021 2020

£'0060 £°000

Current service cost 8 13
Administration Costs 167 77
Totel operating charge 175 s0
Net interest 37 28

12 18

Total charged lo the result for the year

Mears Group PLC Annuat Report and Accounts 2021

165

LUOd3H DIDILVHILE

FONVYNAIAOCD FLIVHOLHDD

SLNAWILYLS TVIONVNId

NOILYWNOdNI YAATOHINYHS

A\ Y

\ Y

A\




Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Company continued

For the year ended 31 December 2021 -

16. PENSIONS CONTINUED

20 2020
000 £'000
Present value of obiigations st 1 January 25,868 22,350
Current service £os: 8 3
Interest on obligations 345 463
Plan participants’ contributions 2 2
Benefits paid (535) (624)
Acuwarial (gain}ioss arising frosm changes in demogeaphic assumptions (302) 216
Actuarial {gain)ioss arising from changes in Tinancial assumptions 2,420) 3813
Acluadial lossAgain) arising from liability experence 40 671
Present value of abligations at 3 December 22904 25,866
Changes in the fair vaiue of the plan assets are as lallows:
2021 020
£'000 £'000
Fair valuse of plan assets a1 1 January 23,050 204972
Expecied return on plan assets 308 435
Employes’'s contributions 3 252
Pian participants’ contributions 2 2
Benefits pald {53%5) (624)
Adminisiralion cosis Hen (2]
Return an plan assets above that recorded in nel interest 1,935 2,090
Fais value of pian assets at 31 December 24,824 23,050
The movements in the net pension lability and the amount recognised in the Parent Company Balarce Sheet sre as follows:
2003 2020
£'000 £'000
Deficit In schemes a1 1 January (2.816) h378)
LCurrent service cost [ ] =
Adminisiratiart costs nsn on
Contributions n 252
Other finance cost an 28]
Actuarial gainfloss) arsing from changes in demographic assumptions 403 [216)
Actuanial galnfkoss) arising from changes in financlal assumpticns 2420 {3,613}
Actyarial (logsygain arising from Rabifty experience (&0 67
Return on plan assels above that recorded in net interest, 1,936 2,090
Deficit in schemes st 31 December 1920 2.818)

Ne employer’s contributions are expecied o be paid during the financial year ending 31 December 2022,
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Shareholder information

Five-year record (unaudited)

COMSOLIDAYED STATEMENT OF PROFIT QR LOSS (CONTINUING ACTIVITIES)

2021 1020 01 2018 2017
(cantinuingl  (continuing}  {continuing) A fatt acrivides)
£000 £000 £'000 £'000 £000
Revenus by business segment '
Housing 878,420 805,817 881457 7n88 66121
Care - ~ > ‘ - 134,063
Continuing @ctivilies 878,420 805,817 881,457 771861 300184
Gross profit 180,487 156,287 206309 184,928 223702
Operating profit before acquisiton intangible amortisation and
exceptional costs 33,683 5528 40229 39,093 3951
Exceptiona) items {1827 2,.279) 2.018) {5.657) -
Operating profifioss) 24401 {6,276} 28089 29,608 28513
Profit/floss) for the year before tax %333 n5.218) 20.253 27377 26484
Profit/loss) before 1axation before acquisition intangible
amortisation ang exceplional costs 25,615 3.4 32,393 36,772 3722
Earnings per share
Basic Nnirzp 00.66)p 15720 219p 20.28p
Diued M.50p (0.66p 1564p NI8p 2010p
Normalised 18.23p 2.2%9p 2374p 27700 28.05p
Dividends per share 3.0p 00p 365p 12.40p 12.00p
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
201 2020 2019 2018 017
{continuing) {continuing) f ing) [ ing) (8l activities)
€000 2000 £'000 £'000 £000
Non-current asseds 405,958 408369 409151 304,54% 264567
Currem assels 227964 267720 284230 244272 ma43a
Current habitities (30,1201 (255,318 3826329 (222,908} (198,678}
Non-current iabilities {202,761 {264720) (248,715) (115,632) {67738)
Total equity 201,033 156.051 18,337 210,280 209.590
Cash and cash eguivalents, end of yeas 54.633 56.867 {50,986) 65.904) {25789}
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Shareholder and corporate information

Financial calendar
Annual General Meeting
17 May 2022

Registered office

1390 Montpelier Court
Gloucester Business Park
Brockworth

Ghoucester GL3 4AH

Tel 01452 634600
WWW.Mearsgroup.co.uk

Campany registration numbar
03232863

Company Secretary

Ben Westran

1390 Montpellier Court
Gloucester Business Park
Brockworth

Gloucester GL3 4AH

Tet 01452 634600

Bankers

Barclays Bank PLC

Wales and South West
Corporaie Banking

4th Floor, Bridgewaler House
Counterslip

Finzels Reach

Bristot BS168X

Tel: 0800 2851152

HSBC Bank PLC

West & Wales

Corporate Banking Centre
3Rivergate

Temple Quay

Bristol BS16ER

Tel: 0845 583 9796

Citi Bank pic

25-33 Canada Square
Canary Wharl

London

EH45.8

Tel: 020 7500 5000

Solicitors
Travers Smith

10 SnowHill
London ECIA 2AL

Tek 020 7295 3000

Auditor

Emst & Young LLP
Registered Auditor
Chartered Accountants
The Paragon
Counterslip

Bristol BSY&BX

Tel 0117 9812050

Registrar
Neville Registrars Ltd

Neville House

Steelpark Road
Halesowen

West Midlands B62 8HD

Tet 01215851131

Corporate brokers
Peel Hunt

Moor House
20 London Wall
London EC2Y SET

Tel: 020 7413 B900
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Interret

The Group operates a website, which can be
found atwww.mearsgroup.co.uk. This site s
regularly updated to provide information about
the Group. in particular, al of the Group's press
releases and announcements can be found on
the site.

Registrar

Any engulries concerning your sharehoiding
should be addressed to the Company's
registrar, The registrar shauld be notified
promptly of any change {n a sharehoider's
address or other details.

Investor relations

Requests lor further coples of the Annual
Report and Accounts, or other investor
relations enquiries, should be addressed to the
registeredoffice.

Consultancy, design and production
www.luminous.co.uk
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